
 
Neuadd y Sir 
Y Rhadyr 
Brynbuga 
NP15 1GA 
 
 

County Hall 
Rhadyr 

Usk 
NP15 1GA 

 
Tuesday, 8 December 2020 

 
Dear Councillor 

CABINET 
 

You are requested to attend a remote Cabinet meeting to be held at Wednesday, 16th 
December, 2020, at 2.00 pm. 
 
 

AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 

 

3.   To consider the following reports (Copies attached): 
 

 

i.  REVIEW OF SCHOOL PLACES IN CALDICOT TOWN  
Division/Wards Affected: All 
 
Purpose: The purpose of this report is to advise Cabinet Members 
of a desire to enter into statutory consultation processes 
concerning the provision of School places in Caldicot Town. 
 
Author: Matt Jones, Access Unit Manager 
 
Contact Details: matthewdjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk  
 

1 - 54 

i.  LOCAL HOUSING MARKET ASSESSMENT  
Division/Wards Affected: All 
 
Purpose: The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s adoption 
of the Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) (Appendix 1) 
December 2020 and to seek approval for submission of the LHMA 
to Welsh Government. 
 
Author: Louise Corbett, Strategy & Policy Officer – Affordable 
Housing 
 
Contact Details: Louisecorbett@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 

55 - 
116 

i.  MONMOUTHSHIRE REPLACEMENT LOCAL DEVELOPMENT 117 - 

Public Document Pack

mailto:Louisecorbett@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

 

PLAN GROWTH AND SPATIAL OPTIONS  
Division/Wards Affected: All 
 
Purpose: The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s 
endorsement of the Replacement Local Development Plan (RLDP) 
Growth and Spatial Options Paper to be issued for non-statutory 
consultation for four weeks. This paper and the consultation 
responses will inform the RLDP Preferred Strategy. 
 
Author: Mark Hand, Head of Placemaking, Housing, Highways and 
Flooding  
Craig O’Connor, Head of Planning  
Rachel Lewis, Planning Policy Manager 
 
Contact Details: markhand@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
craigoconnor@monmouthshire.gov.uk  
rachellewis@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 

362 

i.  UPDATE ON PROPOSALS TO CREATE A DEVELOPMENT 
COMPANY  
Division/Wards Affected: All 
 
Purpose: To update members on the Councils ambition to disrupt 
the local housing market through the construction of low-cost 
homes by the Council and the future creation of a development 
company. 
 
Author: Debra Hill-Howells, Head of Commercial, Property, Fleet 
and Facilities 
 
Contact Details: debrahill-howells@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 

363 - 
378 

i.  WINTER STRATEGY  
Division/Wards Affected: All 
 
Purpose: To provide an overview of the council’s winter strategy 
and formally endorse the purpose and strategic aims that will be in 
place until March 2021. 
 
Author: Matthew Gatehouse, Head of Policy and Governance 
Richard Jones, Performance Manager 
 
Contact Details: matthewgatehouse@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
richardjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk  
 

379 - 
398 

 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
Paul Matthews 

mailto:debrahill-howells@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:matthewgatehouse@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:richardjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

 

Chief Executive 



 

 

 
 

CABINET PORTFOLIOS 

County 
Councillor 

Area of Responsibility 
Partnership and 
External Working 

Ward 

P.A. Fox 
(Leader) 
 

Whole Authority Strategy & Direction 
Lead Officer – Chief Executive 
 
CCR Joint Cabinet & Regional Development; 
Organisation overview; 
Regional working; 
Government relations; 
Public Service Board lead; 
WLGA lead 
 

WLGA Council 
WLGA 
Coordinating Board 
Public Service 
Board  
 
 

Portskewett 
 
 

R.J.W. Greenland 
(Deputy Leader) 

Enterprise and Land Use Planning 
Lead Officer – Frances O’Brien  
Support Officers – Mark Hand, Cath Fallon 
 
Local Development Plan; 
Strategic Development Plan; 
Economic Resilience and Growth; 
Town Centre Investment and Stewardship; 
Development Management and Building 
Control; 
Housing Delivery 
 

WLGA Council 
Capital Region 
Tourism  
 

Devauden 

P. Jordan 
 

Governance and Law 
Lead Officers – Matthew Gatehouse, Matthew 
Phillips, Ian Saunders 
 
Council & Executive decision making; 
Constitution review and implementation of 
change; 
Law, Ethics & Standards; 
Audit and Regulatory 
WAO Relations 
Support for Elected Members 
Democracy promotion & citizen engagement 
Whole Authority Performance; 
Whole Authority Service Planning & Evaluation 
Community Hubs and Contact Centre 
Community Learning 
Tourist Information / Museums / Theatre / 
Attractions 
 

 
 

Cantref 

R. John Children & Young People and MonLife 
Lead Officers – Will McLean, Ian Saunders 
Support Officers – Nikki Wellington, Sharon 
Randall-Smith, Richard Simpkins 
 
Early Years Education 

Joint Education 
Group (EAS) 
WJEC 
 

Mitchel 
Troy 



 

 

All Age Statutory Education 
Additional Learning Needs; 
School Inclusion 
Post 16 entitlement / offer 
 
School standards and Improvement;  
Education Achievement Service 
Commissioning 
Coleg Gwent and University liaison. 
Leisure / Sport 
Outdoor education / Duke of Edinburgh 
Active Travel 
Countryside / Biodiversity 
 

P. Jones Social Care, Safeguarding & Health 
Lead Officer – Julie Boothroyd 
Support Officers – Eve Parkinson, Jane 
Rodgers 
 
Children’s Services 
Fostering & Adoption; 
Youth Offending Service; 
Adults Services 
Whole Authority Safeguarding (children & 
adults);  
Disabilities;  
Mental Health;  
Health liaison. 
 

 Raglan 

P. Murphy Whole Authority Resources 
Lead Officer – Peter Davies, Frances O’Brien 
Support Officers – Deb Hill-Howells, Sian 
Hayward, Tracey Harry, Mark Howcroft 
 
Finance;  
Information technology (SRS);  
Digital Programme Office 
Human Resources;  
Health & Safety;  
Emergency Planning;  
Procurement;  
Land & Buildings (inc. Estate, Cemeteries, 
Allotments, Farms); 
Vehicle Fleet / Passenger Transport Unit 
Property maintenance;  
Facilities Management (inc. Building Cleaning 
and Catering all ages) 

Prosiect Gwrydd  
 

Caerwent 

J. Pratt Infrastructure and Neighbourhood Services 
Lead Officer – Frances O’Brien 
Support Officers – Roger Hoggins, Carl Touhig, 
Nigel Leaworthy, Mark Hand, Paul Keeble 
 
County Roads / Pavements 
South Wales Trunk Road Agency 

SEWTA 
Prosiect Gwyrdd 
 

Goytre 
Fawr 



 

 

Highways Maintenance, 
Transport, Traffic & Network Management,  
Car Parks / Illegal Parking Enforcement 
Whole Authority De-carbonisation 
Plastic Free Monmouthshire 
Waste / Recycling / Cleansing 
Grounds Maintenance 
Parks & Open Spaces/ Public Conveniences 
Flood Prevention / Management / SUDs 

S. Jones Social Justice & Community Development 
Lead Officer – Frances O’Brien 
Support Officers – Cath Fallon, David Jones, 
Ian Bakewell, Mark Hand 
 
Rural Deprivation / Isolation; 
Digital Deprivation 
Poverty / Disadvantage 
Homelessness; 
Supporting People 
Community Safety / Equality and welsh 
Language / Public Relations; / Communications 
/ Marketing 
Trading Standards / Environmental Health; 
Licensing;  
Registrars 
 

 Llanover 

 



 

 

Aims and Values of Monmouthshire County Council 
 
Our purpose 
 
Building Sustainable and Resilient Communities 
 
Objectives we are working towards 
 

 Giving people the best possible start in life 

 A thriving and connected county 

 Maximise the Potential of the natural and built environment 

 Lifelong well-being 

 A future focused council 
 

Our Values 
 
Openness. We are open and honest. People have the chance to get involved in decisions 

that affect them, tell us what matters and do things for themselves/their communities. If we 

cannot do something to help, we’ll say so; if it will take a while to get the answer we’ll explain 

why; if we can’t answer immediately we’ll try to connect you to the people who can help – 

building trust and engagement is a key foundation. 

Fairness. We provide fair chances, to help people and communities thrive. If something 

does not seem fair, we will listen and help explain why. We will always try to treat everyone 

fairly and consistently. We cannot always make everyone happy, but will commit to listening 

and explaining why we did what we did.  

Flexibility. We will continue to change and be flexible to enable delivery of the most 

effective and efficient services. This means a genuine commitment to working with everyone 

to embrace new ways of working. 

Teamwork. We will work with you and our partners to support and inspire everyone to get 

involved so we can achieve great things together. We don’t see ourselves as the ‘fixers’ or 

problem-solvers, but we will make the best of the ideas, assets and resources available to 

make sure we do the things that most positively impact our people and places. 

 



 

 



 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

 

The purpose of this report is to advise Cabinet Members of a desire to enter into statutory 

consultation processes concerning the provision of School places in Caldicot Town.   

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1 For Members to agree to enter into the statutory consultation processes that seeks to 

obtain the views of consultees on increasing the number of Primary School places in 

Caldicot Town. 

 

2.2 For Members to receive and approve the draft consultation document (appendix 2) 

which proposes to increase the school capacity of Dewstow and Archbishop Rowan 

Williams CIW Primary Schools from 210 to 280 (140 places across the town) 

 

As Archbishop Rowan Williams CIW Primary School is Voluntary Aided with the 

Governing Body responsible for the School’s admission arrangements, the proposal to 

extend the school is brought forward in partnership with the Governing Body and 

Diocese as part of the school places review. 

 

2.3 To agree to undertake the initial stage of this review in line with the timeline proposed 

under appendix 1. 

 

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 

3.1 The School Organisation Code (2018) places responsibility on local authorities in 

Wales for ensuring that there are sufficient and suitable school places across the 

County to educate its children and young people.   

 

3.2 This review focuses on the provision of school places in the Caldicot cluster, more 

specifically, on the provision of Primary school places in the Caldicot town area of the 

cluster. 

 

3.3 The review of school places across Caldicot town has been instigated through 

concerns that the provision of primary school places in the town area is insufficient to 

support the forecasted demand.   

SUBJECT: REVIEW OF SCHOOL PLACES IN CALDICOT TOWN 

MEETING:  CABINET 

DATE:  16th DECEMBER 2020 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: ALL 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3a



 

3.4 Primary School provision across the Caldicot cluster is currently facilitated across the 

following schools: 

 

School 

Admission 
Number (per year 

group) 
Total 

Capacity 

Archbishop Rowan Williams 
CIW Primary 30 210 

Castle Park Primary School 30 210 

Dewstow Primary School 30 210 

Durand Primary School 30 210 

Magor CIW Primary School 55 388 

Rogiet Primary School 30 210 

Undy Primary School 51 359 

Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin 25 180 
 

3.5 On an annual basis, the Council completes returns to the Welsh Government 

concerning its Planning of School places.  This return analyses the County’s position 

with regards to surplus places and projected demand. 

 

3.6 Welsh Government recommend that the planning of school places and associated 

management of surplus places are measured against the following model, and 

appropriate actions undertaken through means of school organisation proposals in 

circumstances where concerns are identified. 

  Level of 
surplus 

Colour 
code 

Action 

0 – 10 %  An appropriate number of surplus 
places with close monitoring to 
ensure surplus places are no lower 
than 10% 

10 – 15 %  A reasonable number of surplus 
places with close monitoring to 
ensure they remain within this 
category 

15 – 24%  High levels of surplus places 
where close monitoring and 
opportunities for review should be 
considered 

25% and over  Significant level of surplus places 
with appropriate action to be taken 
through reorganisation proposals 

 

3.7 The position across the Caldicot cluster is currently assessed as falling within the 

yellow category, with 15.1% surplus places (combined English and Welsh Medium) 

recorded as at September 2020.  The English Medium proportion currently stands at 

12.1%.   

Page 2



 

3.8 However, concerns rest with the provision of school places within the Primary schools 

serving in the Town area of the cluster.  The schools identified under this criterion are: 

 

- Archbishop Rowan Williams Church in Wales Primary School 

- Castle Park Primary School 

- Dewstow Primary School 

- Durand Primary School 

- Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin 

 

3.9 For the above schools, the surplus places position is recorded at 11.5% (September 

2020), however, the English Medium proportion is only 2.6% surplus places.  3 of the 4 

English medium Schools listed above have no available places in any year group, with 

the fourth school holding a healthy 10% surplus places. 

 

3.10 As a result of this position, it is often the case that the Council is unable to comply with 

the parental preference of families residing within the town area of the cluster, with 

some young people required to travel in excess of 4 miles to alternative schools in the 

cluster.  This has implications for home to school transport costs. 

 

3.11 To exacerbate this position, the Caldicot town area is subject to significant housing 

developments over the next 5 years.  The following schemes have received Planning 

approval: 

 

  

 

3.12 The building works at Sudbrook Shipyard and Sudbrook Papermill have commenced, 

however, the Council anticipates that approximately 134 primary aged pupils could 

arise from the developments between now and 2024. 

 

3.13 As a result of the shortfall in school places within the town area, the Council has been 

successful through Planning processes in securing section 106 education contributions 

 Development Catchment School  No of Dwellings 

Sudbrook Shipyard 

Archbishop Rowan 

Williams CIW Primary 46 

Sudbrook Papermill 

Archbishop Rowan 

Williams CIW Primary 212 

Crick Road 

Archbishop Rowan 

Williams CIW Primary 285 

Church Road Castle Park Primary 130 

Total Town  673 

Page 3



from the developers to the sum of £1,595,504 to invest in creating additional school 

places. 

 

 

4. OPTIONS APPRAISAL 

 

The attached consultation document lays out 5 options considered prior to arising at the 

proposals outlined in this report.  These are: 

 

i) Do Nothing and maintain the status quo 

ii) Increase the capacity of 1 school in the town to 315, and increase of 105 school 

places across the town 

iii) Increase the capacity of 2 schools in the town to 315, and increase of 210 school 

places across the town 

iv) Increase the capacity of 1 school in the town to 420, and increase of 210 school 

places across the town 

v) Increase the capacity of 2 schools in the town to 280, and increase of 140 school 

places across the town 

 

Option 5 is the preferred option, which we propose to deliver through increasing the 

capacity at Archbishop Rowan Williams and Dewstow Primary Schools 

 

The full options appraisal is available under appendix 3 of the consultation document. 

 

5. REASONS: 

 

The Council has a responsibility as part of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) 

Act 2013 to consult with appropriate stakeholders when giving consideration to any 

significant school reorganisation proposals. 

 

The reasons that this request has been brought forward have been set out above. 

 

6. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 

The Council has been successful in securing section 106 education contributions to invest 

in the supply of school places within the town, ensuring our future provision is sufficient to 

meet demand.  

The table below details the funding that has been secured by the Council to support these 

proposals: 

Development 
name 

 No of 
Dwellings 

 Secured S106 
Claim 

Sudbrook Shipyard 46 0 

Sudbrook Papermill 212 439,286 

Crick Road 285 811,078 

Church Road 130 345,140 

Total  673 1,595,504 

Page 4



 

The costs associated with the extension of Archbishop Rowan Williams CIW Primary and 

Dewstow Primary Schools is estimated to be in the region of £1,150,500 (build costs), 

allowing a contingency of approximately £445,004 to invest in the external areas of the 

school sites, which will be required to support an increase in School capacity. 

 

 

7. WELLBEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS IMPLICATIONS (INCORPORATING 

EQUALITIES, SUSTAINABILITY, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING): 

 

Please see attached. 

 

8. CONSULTEES: 

 

 CYP DMT 

Cabinet Member for Education 

Church in Wales Diocese 

 

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

Welsh Government School Admission Code 2013 

School Organisation Code (2013) 

 

10. AUTHOR: 

 

Matt Jones, Access Unit Manager 

 

11. CONTACT DETAILS: 

 

 Tel: 01633 644585 

 E-mail: matthewdjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 5

mailto:matthewdjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

Appendix 1 

 

Timeline for Review 

 

 

Process 
 

Key dates 

Publication of formal consultation document 11th January 2021 

Deadline for responses to consultation proposals 22nd February 2021 

Consultation report to be presented to Cabinet 
Publication of consultation report 

 
Cabinet consider consultation report and determine 

whether to proceed with proposals 
 
If agreed - Proceed to next stage 
If not agreed - proposals will end 
 

 
7th April 2021 

Publication of Statutory Notices and enter into 
objection period 

If approved, the Statutory Notice will be published on 

the County Council’s and any other proposer’s 

websites and posted in the named schools and other 

conspicuous places within the community. Copies of 

the notice will be made available to the relevant 

schools to distribute to pupils, parents/carers and 

members of staff. 

 
Opportunity to formally object to the proposals.   

 

19th April 2021 

Deadline for submitting objections to proposals 
28 days from date of publishing statutory notices 

18th May 2021 

Objection report presented to Cabinet 
Cabinet Consider objection report and determine 

whether to implement proposals in light of any 
objections received 

 
 

7th July 2021 

Council publish Cabinet decision July 2021 

Implementation of proposals 
Staggered implementation – please see appendix 4 

September 2021 – 
September 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6



 

Page 7



 

Page 8



 

1 
 

  

CONSULTATION 
DOCUMENT 

Review of Primary School places in Caldicot 

Town 

Consultation period: 
 
12th January to 22nd February 2021 

Page 9



 

2 
 

Contents  

 

1. Introduction .................................................................................. 3 

2. Your views matter ........................................................................... 3 

3. Current provision in Monmouthshire ...................................................... 3 

4. Background to our review .................................................................. 4 

4.1 Current provision in Caldicot ........................................................... 4 

5. The Proposal.................................................................................. 6 

6. Consultation arrangements ................................................................. 6 

6.1 Consultation requirements .............................................................. 7 

6.2 Formal consultation process ........................................................... 7 

6.3 Consultation with Children and Young People ...................................... 8 

6.4 Conclusion of the Formal Consultation process ................................... 8 

6.5 Implementation of the Proposals ...................................................... 9 

6.6 Consultation process timeline .......................................................... 9 

7. Reasons for the Proposal .................................................................. 10 

7.1 The Status Quo ........................................................................... 10 

7.2 The Forecasted Demand ................................................................ 14 

8. What options have been considered? ....................................................... 15 

9. Schools affected by the Proposals ........................................................... 16 

9.1 Analysis of NOR at schools affected by the proposals ........................... 16 

9.2 Projected Need ............................................................................ 17 

9.3 Impact of proposals ...................................................................... 21 

10. Quality and Standards in Education ...................................................... 22 

11. Building Conditions ......................................................................... 25 

12. Cost of the Proposal ........................................................................ 25 

13. School Organisation Arrangements ....................................................... 26 

13.1 School catchment areas ............................................................... 26 

13.2  School Admissions .................................................................... 26 

13.3 Home to School Transport ............................................................ 27 

13.4 Governance .............................................................................. 27 

13.5 Staffing .................................................................................... 27 

14. Impact on Welsh Medium Education ..................................................... 27 

Appendix 1 – List of Primary Schools ........................................................... 28 

Appendix 2 – List of Consultees ................................................................. 29 

Appendix 3 – Options appraisal.................................................................. 30 

 
 
 
 

Page 10



 

3 
 

1. Introduction 

 
This document represents the Council’s responsibilities as part of the School 
Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 to consult with appropriate 
stakeholders when giving consideration to any significant school reorganisation 
proposals. 
 
This consultation document is an opportunity for consultees and other interested 
parties to learn about some changes that we propose to the organisation of school 
places in Caldicot Town.   
 
The consultation provides you with an opportunity to ask questions, make 
comments, and share your views on the proposals being put forward. Your input into 
this consultation will be considered carefully when the Council considers whether the 
proposals should be taken forward to implementation. 

2. Your views matter 

 
Your views on the proposals to increase the number of Primary School places in 

Caldicot Town are important to us.  We really do want you to engage in this 

consultation and tell us what you think of the proposals, particularly if they may affect 

you or your children.  

You can tell us what you think by completing the consultation questionnaire, 

available via our website of www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation.  

Completion of the questionnaire will enable us to undertake detailed analysis of the 

feedback we receive from consultees. 

Important:  This consultation will not make any assumptions, so whether you are for 
or against the proposed changes, please take this opportunity to have your say. 
 

If you have any questions on the proposals please contact the Access Unit on 01633 

644508 or by emailing accesstolearning@monmouthshire.gov.uk.  

3. Current provision in Monmouthshire 

 
The Council’s school estate is geographically comprised of four distinct clusters 
hosting 30 Primary Schools and 4 Secondary Schools. As per the latest census 
return (January 2020), the numbers on roll within our schools total 11,010, 6250 of 
Primary age and 4760 of Secondary age. 
 
The School clusters are formed around our 4 main towns: 
 
 
 

Page 11

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation
mailto:accesstolearning@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

4 
 

Caldicot 
 
The Caldicot cluster hosts 8 Primary Schools serving 1711 children and 1 secondary 
school serving 1295 children. 
 
Chepstow 
 
The Chepstow cluster hosts 5 Primary Schools serving 1208 and 1 Secondary 
school serving 817 children. 
 
Abergavenny 
 
The Abergavenny cluster hosts 8 Primary Schools serving 1776 primary aged 
children, and 1 secondary school serving 998 children. 
 
Monmouth 
 
The Monmouth Cluster hosts 8 Primary Schools serving 1570 primary aged children, 
and 1 secondary school serving 1650 children. 
 
In addition to the above, the council has primary and secondary provision in the 
North and South of the county for children and young people whose needs cannot be 
met in mainstream education. 
 
The above numbers on roll are quoted as at the January 2020 census return.  A full 
list of schools can be found under appendix 1 

4. Background to our review 

 
Monmouthshire County Council has a statutory duty to secure sufficient and suitable 
school places for children within its County, and in doing so ensure that resources 
and facilities are efficiently utilised to deliver the education opportunities that our 
children deserve. 
 
This review focusses on the provision of school places in the Caldicot cluster, more 
specifically, on the provision of Primary school places in the Caldicot town area of 
the cluster. 
 
The review of school places across Caldicot town has been instigated through 
concerns that the provision of primary school places in the town area is insufficient to 
support the forecasted demand.   
 

4.1 Current provision in Caldicot 

 
The provision of school places for children young people residing in the Caldicot 
cluster of the county is delivered through the following provision: 
 

Page 12



 

5 
 

Community English Medium Primary Schools: 
 

School 

Admission 
Number (per year 

group) 
Total 

Capacity 

Castle Park Primary School 30 210 

Dewstow Primary School 30 210 

Durand Primary School 30 210 

Rogiet Primary School 30 210 

Undy Primary School 51 359 
 
Community Welsh Medium Primary Schools: 
 

School 

Admission 
Number (per year 

group) 
Total 

Capacity 

Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin 25 180 
 
 
Voluntary Aided Primary Schools: 
 

School 

Admission 
Number (per year 

group) 
Total 

Capacity 

Archbishop Rowan Williams 
VA Church in Wales Primary 30 210 

Magor  VA Church in Wales 
Primary 55 388 

 
Total capacity across Caldicot: 
 

Total year 
group capacity 

Total overall 
capacity 

281 1977 
 
 
Whilst the Council is responsible for the school organisational arrangements across 
the county, the responsibility for the admission arrangements of Voluntary Aided 
Schools rests with the School governing bodies. 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

6 
 

5. The Proposal 

 
The Council is seeking your views on proposals to increase the number of school 
places that are available within the town area of the Caldicot cluster. 
 
The Council proposes to deliver the additional school places by: 
 

1. Increasing the capacity of Dewstow Primary school from its current 
provision for 210 school places, to provision for 280 school places, an 
overall increase of 70 school places.  This would result in the school’s 
admission number increasing from 30 per year group to 40 per year group.   

 
Dewstow Primary school is situated at Woodland View, Caldicot, NP26 4HD 
which is relatively central to the Caldicot town. 
 

2. Increasing the capacity of Archbishop Rowan Williams Church in Wales 
(CIW) Primary School from its current provision for 210 school places, 
to provision for 280 school places, an overall increase of 70 school 
places.  This would result in the school’s admission number increasing from 
30 per year group to 40 per year group.   

 
Archbishop Rowan Williams CIW Primary is situated at Crick Road, 
Portskewett, NP26 5UL.  Archbishop Rowan Williams CIW Primary is 
Voluntary Aided, with the governing body responsible for the admission 
arrangements at the school.  This proposal is therefore brought forward for 
consultation through a partnership arrangement between the Council, the 
Governing Body and the Diocese.  

 
The delivery of both proposal 1 and 2 would see the number of school places 
increase by 140 across the town.  However, as both schools in their current form 
have sufficient capacity for 210 school places each, the increase in capacity would 
be delivered through onsite building works.  To enable these works to take place, it is 
proposed that the implementation of the new school capacity would be phased, with 
the final implementation date to be September 2022. 

6. Consultation arrangements  

 
The Council proposes to increase the number of primary school places in Caldicot 
Town.   
 
The council is now engaging in statutory consultation processes with all interested 
parties to ensure that any decision taken by the Council is one that is informed.  
 
The timescales for the formal consultation aspects of these statutory proposals are: 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

7 
 

Statutory Consultation 
Period commences 

Statutory Consultation 
Period concludes 

Period of 
consultation 

11th January 2021 22nd February 2021 6 weeks (including 20 
school days) 

 

6.1 Consultation requirements 

 
Monmouthshire County Council has a responsibility as part of the School Standards 
and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 to consult with appropriate stakeholders when 
giving consideration to any significant school reorganisation proposals. 
 
Where changes to existing arrangements are proposed, including proposals to 
amend the capacity of a school by more than 25%, consultation must be undertaken 
with those likely to be affected by the proposals. 
 

6.2 Formal consultation process 

 
The formal consultation process will operate for 6 weeks (including 20 schools days) 
and represents an opportunity for people to learn about the proposal. There will be 
opportunities to ask questions and make comments that will be recorded and 
considered when the Council determines whether or not proposals are to be 
implemented. 
 
Throughout the consultation, the Council seeks to engage with a wide range of 
stakeholders on the proposals outlined in this consultation document. A full list of the 
consultees can be found under Appendix 2. 
 
Unfortunately, due to the current public health situation, and to help limit the 
spread of the Coronavirus, the Council is not proposing any public drop-in 
events during this consultation.  Instead, questions can be submitted by e-mail 
to strategicreview@monmouthshire.gov.uk and Council officers will generally 
provide a response within 7 days.   

A list of Frequently Asked Questions and answers will also be published on 
the Council’s webpages at www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/schoolreorganisation  
This should then enable stakeholders to submit their informed responses to 
the consultation prior to the closing date. 

Please remember to submit your formal response to this consultation by completing 
the consultation questionnaire, available via the above link to our website.  
Comments must be submitted to the Authority by midnight on the 22nd February 
2021. Any responses received by the local authority after this closing date will not be 
considered as part of this consultation. 
 
Important: At this stage of the consultation, we are seeking your views to help us 
determine whether or not to proceed to the next stage of the statutory process.  It’s 
important to note that any unfavourable comments made during the consultation 
period will not be counted as statutory objections to the proposal, however, they will 

Page 15

http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/schoolreorganisation
http://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/schoolreorganisation


 

8 
 

be recorded as adverse comments.  There will be an opportunity for Objections to be 
submitted at a later stage in the process called the objection period, should 
proposals proceed to that stage. If you wish to object, you will need to do so in 
writing during the statutory objection period.  However, if consultees submit a 
request during the objection period, asking for a response submitted at the 
consultation stage to be treated as an objection this will be accepted. 

6.3 Consultation with Children and Young People 

 
The views of children and young people are extremely important to the Council and 
therefore children and young people will be provided with opportunities to contribute 
to this consultation process.  The Council has produced a summary version of this 
consultation document which will be made accessible for all children and young 
people affected by this proposal.   
 
The Council also intends to hold sessions with the relevant School Councils and 
individual learners where this is felt to be appropriate and practicable.  Our 
consultation with children and young people will be delivered through the support of 
our schools and key partners and their views captured and considered in any reports 
that determine our way forward. 

6.4 Conclusion of the Formal Consultation process 

 
The opportunity to respond to the proposals outlined within this consultation 
document will conclude midnight on 22nd February 2021.   The Council’s Cabinet 
will then be provided with a consultation report analysing the views shared by 
consultees during the formal consultation process and determine whether or not they 
wish to proceed with the proposal. A copy of the consultation report will also be 
made available to consultees prior to the Cabinet taking their decision on next steps. 
 
If the decision is taken by the Council’s Cabinet to proceed with the proposals, a 
statutory notice will be published.  The Council will allow for a statutory notice period 
lasting 28 days from the date of publication to enable consultees to express their 
views in the form of supporting or objecting to the proposals.  
 
The Council’s Cabinet will then consider the responses received during the statutory 
notice period in the form of an objection report, and make the final decision as to 
whether to proceed with the proposal. 
 
The proposed timetable for decision making following the formal consultation 
process is: 
 

Stage of process Key date 

Cabinet consider the results of the consultation and 
determines whether to proceed with proposals 

7th April 2021 

Council publish statutory notice and enter into 
objection period (if applicable) 

19th April 2021 

Cabinet consider the objection report and determine 
whether or not to implement the proposals 

7th July 2021 

 

Page 16



 

9 
 

6.5 Implementation of the Proposals 

 
Should the outcome of the statutory consultation process determine that the Council 
are to proceed with the proposals outlined in this consultation document, the Council 
will take a phased approach to implementing proposals, with the final implementation 
date being September 2022.   
 

6.6 Consultation process timeline 

 
 

Process 
 

Key dates 

Publication of formal consultation document 11th January 2021 

Deadline for responses to consultation proposals 22nd February 2021 

Consultation report to be presented to Cabinet 
Publication of consultation report 

 
Cabinet consider consultation report and determine 

whether to proceed with proposals 
 
If agreed - Proceed to next stage 
If not agreed - Proposals will end 
 

 
7th April 2021 

Publication of Statutory Notices and enter into 
objection period 

If approved, the Statutory Notice will be published on 
the County Council’s and any other proposer’s 

websites and posted in the named schools and other 
conspicuous places within the community. Copies of 

the notice will be made available to the relevant 
schools to distribute to pupils, parents/carers and 

members of staff. 
 

Opportunity to formally object to the proposals.   
 

19th April 2021 

Deadline for submitting objections to proposals 
28 days from date of publishing statutory notices 

18th May 2021 

Objection report presented to Cabinet 
Cabinet Consider objection report and determine 

whether to implement proposals in light of any 
objections received 

 
 

7th July 2021 

Council publish Cabinet decision July 2021 

Implementation of proposals 
Staggered implementation – please see appendix 4 

September 2021 – 
September 2022 

 

 

Page 17



 

10 
 

7. Reasons for the Proposal 

 
The Council in partnership with the Diocese is considering an increase to the 
capacity of Dewstow Primary and Archbishop Rowan Williams CIW Primary Schools, 
as there is a need to ensure that the provision of school places in the town area of 
the cluster is sufficient to accommodate the forecasted demand. 
 
Welsh Government recommend that the planning of school places and associated 

management of surplus places are measured against the following model, and 

appropriate actions undertaken through means of school organisation proposals in 

circumstances where concerns are identified 

 
We will therefore commitment to ensuring that our individual schools and clusters 
have an appropriate number of surplus places in line with the below model: 
 

Level of 
surplus 

Colour 
code 

Action 

0 – 10 %  An appropriate number of surplus 
places with close monitoring to 
ensure surplus places are no lower 
than 10% 

10 – 15 %  A reasonable number of surplus 
places with close monitoring to 
ensure they remain within this 
category 

15 – 24%  High levels of surplus places 
where close monitoring and 
opportunities for review should be 
considered 

25% and over  Significant level of surplus places 
with appropriate action to be taken 
through reorganisation proposals 

 
 

7.1 The Status Quo 

 
The provision for Primary education in Caldicot is currently supported through 8 
Primary Schools across the cluster.  Details of these schools and their current 
numbers on roll (September 2020) are detailed overleaf: 

Page 18



 

11 
 

 Current numbers on roll across Caldicot Cluster: 
 

School 

Year Group 

R 1 2 3 4 5 6 Total 

Archbishop Rowan Williams 
 36 44 29 30 29 28 29 225 

Castle Park Primary School 
 23 23 29 30 27 30 27 189 

Durand Primary School 
 31 30 30 30 29 30 29 209 

Dewstow Primary School 
 30 32 31 30 32 29 29 213 

Magor CIW Primary School 
 32 26 43 39 30 47 42 259 

Rogiet Primary School 
 23 28 29 29 29 24 29 191 

Undy Primary School 
 46 59 47 39 45 36 39 311 

Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin 
 18 13 8 12 7 12 14 84 

Total 239 255 246 239 228 236 238 1681 

P
age 19



 

12 
 

The below table confirms the current position (September 2020) with regards to the 
availability of school places / surplus places across the cluster as a whole: 
 
 

School 
Number 
on roll 

 
School 
Capacity 

 
Available 
Capacity 

% 
surplus 
places 

Archbishop Rowan 
Williams 225 

210 -15 0 

Castle Park Primary 189 210 21 10 

Durand Primary  209 210 1 0.47 

Dewstow Primary  213 210 -3 0 

Magor CIW Primary  259 388 129 33.2 

Rogiet Primary  191 210 19 9 

Undy Primary 311 359 48 13.3 

Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin 84 180 96 53.3 

Total 1681 1977 314 15.8 

Total English 
Medium 1597 

1797 218 12.1 

 
 
The status quo would suggest that the provision of school places in the Caldicot 
cluster is sufficient, given that 10% is considered to be an ideal position of surplus 
places to hold with a specified area. 
 
However, the concerns rest within the availability of school places for young people 
residing within the Caldicot Town area.  Whilst Parents / Guardians have an 
opportunity to express a preference for their child’s school, each of our schools have 
designated catchment areas.  The table overleaf shows the schools that are largely 
considered to serve those residing within the town area of Caldicot, together with 
their current (September 2020) numbers on roll: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 

13 
 

Current numbers on roll across Caldicot Town Schools: 
 
 

SCHOOL 

YEAR GROUP 

R  1  2 3 4 5 6 Total 

Archbishop Rowan Williams 
CIW Primary School 36 44 29 30 29 28 29 225 

Castle Park Primary School 
 23 23 29 30 27 30 27 189 

Durand Primary School 
 31 30 30 30 29 30 29 209 

Dewstow Primary School 
 30 32 31 30 32 29 29 213 

Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin 
 18 13 8 12 7 12 14 84 

Total 138 142 127 132 124 129 128 920 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 21



 

14 
 

The below table confirms the current position (September 2020) with regards to the 
availability of school places / surplus places across the Caldicot town schools: 
 
 

School 
Number 
on roll 

School 
capacity 

Surplus 
Capacity 

% 
surplus 
places 

Archbishop Rowan 
Williams 225 

210 -15 0 

Durand Primary School 209 210 1 0.47 

Dewstow Primary School 213 210 -3 0 

Castle Park Primary 189 210 21 10 

Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin 84 180 96 53.3 

Total 920 1020 118 11.5 

Total English Medium 836 840 22 2.6 
 
 
Whilst the overall town assessment would show that there are currently 11.5% 
surplus places, the status quo highlights the shortfall in English Medium school 
places (2.6%) for those residing within the town.  
 
As a result of the above, and for those children and young people whose preference 
is not to be educated through the medium of Welsh, it is often the case that children 
and young people are travelling to alternative schools within the cluster, but outside 
of the town community.  The travelling distance to these alternative schools exceeds 
the reasonable walking distance guideline as they are often in excess of 4 miles from 
the family homes.  The Council is currently supporting such families through means 
of free home to school transport assistance for their children in cases where we are 
unable to accommodate admission into a more local school.  
 

7.2 The Forecasted Demand 

 
In addition to the current pressures that are on the school places within Caldicot 
town, the Council is anticipating further pressures over forthcoming years through 
anticipation of a large number of new housing developments within the vicinity of 
Caldicot town. Planning permission has been granted for the building of a number of 
housing developments totalling 673 dwellings. 
 
Due to the forecasted shortfall of school places within the town, the Council has 
been successful in securing Section 106 Education contributions from the 
developers to the value of £1,595,504.  The purpose of this funding is to ensure that 
the provision of school places within the area is sufficient to accommodate the 
number of additional children and young people that will arise through the completion 
of the housing developments.  Details of the planned housing developments can be 
found overleaf: 
 
 

Page 22



 

15 
 

known housing developments between now and 2024/25 (based on predicted build 
rate): 

 

 Development Catchment School  No of Dwellings 

Sudbrook Shipyard 
Archbishop Rowan 
Williams CIW Primary 46 

Sudbrook Papermill 
Archbishop Rowan 
Williams CIW Primary 212 

Crick Road 
Archbishop Rowan 
Williams CIW Primary 285 

Church Road Castle Park Primary 130 

Total Town  673 
 
 
It is anticipated that 134 primary aged pupils will be generated from the 
developments and will therefore require education between the academic years 
2020/21 and 2024/25.  The Council’s proposals to increase the capacity of Dewstow 
Primary and Archbishop Rowan Williams CIW Primary will ensure that there is 
sufficient local primary provision for these families. 

8. What options have been considered?  

 
The Council has undertaken a full options appraisal prior to forming these proposals 
for consultation.  Details of this options appraisal can be found under appendix 3. 
 
The preferred option is option 5b – to increase the capacity of Dewstow Primary 
School and Archbishop Rowan Williams CIW Primary schools from 210 school 
places to 280 school places. 
 
The reasons for the preferred option are: 
 

1. Increasing the capacity of two schools to 280 places (an overall increase 
of 140 school places) is sufficient to meet demand without increasing the 
number of surplus places to an unacceptable level 

2. Increasing the capacity of two schools increases parental choice and 
places additional provision in the centre of the town as well the area 
subject to significant housing developments 

3. A desire to invest in two schools means that the proposal is the only one 
that is financially viable 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

16 
 

9. Schools affected by the Proposals  

 
The Schools directly affected by these proposals are Dewstow Primary School and 
Archbishop Rowan Williams CIW Primary School as these are the schools that 
are subject to the proposals. 
 
However, we have included details of all of the schools within the Caldicot cluster in 
the below table as schools that could potentially be affected by these proposals: 
 

School Name  Language 
Category 

School 
Type 

Capacity & 
Admission 
Number 

Age 
Range 

Pupil 
Numbers 
PLASC 
2020 

Archbishop 
Rowan Williams 

EM Voluntary 
Aided CIW 

210 / 30 4-11 218 

Castle Park EM Community 210 / 30 4-11 196 

Dewstow EM Community 210 / 30 3-11 209 

Durand EM Community 210 / 30 3-11 209 

Rogiet  EM Community 210 / 30 4-11 200 

Magor CIW EM Voluntary 
Aided CIW 

388 / 55 3-11 270 

Undy Primary EM Community 359 / 51 3-11 308 

Ysgol Gymraeg 
Y Ffin 

WM Community 180 / 25 3-11 101 

 
The Council is confident that the forecasted numbers within the town are sufficient to 
ensure these proposals do not bring a negative impact on neighbouring schools. 
 

9.1 Analysis of NOR at schools affected by the proposals 

 
The following table shows the number of reception to year 6 pupils that have been 
attending schools within the cluster since January 2016, based on the Council’s 
annual census (PLASC) returns.  
 

School Name  January 
2020 

January 
2019 

January 
2018 

January 
2017 

January 
2016 

Archbishop 
Rowan 
Williams 

218 202 202 199 187 

Castle Park 196 198 189 192 194 

Dewstow 209 211 206 194 194 

Durand 209 209 208 208 206 

Rogiet  200 200 210 210 206 

Magor CIW 270 292 292 297 324 

Undy Primary 308 298 284 278 267 

Ysgol Gymraeg 
Y Ffin 

101 108 127 136 137 

TOTAL 1711 1718 1718 1714 1715 

Page 24



 

17 
 

As you can see from the above, the numbers on roll across the cluster has been 
relatively consistent  over the last 5 academic years.  However, the demand for 
English Medium provision at schools within the town is increasing: 
 
 

 
 
 

9.2 Projected Need 

The Council utilises a range of data to analyse the forecasted demand on school 
places across the County.  Information supplied by Aneurin Bevan Health Board 
(ABHB) relating to newborn children within the County enables us to review the 
demand levels and ensure appropriate provision is in place for those children 
entering into the Primary School system. 
 
The latest information supplied by ABHB is supplied in the table below for those 
children that will be entering into the Reception cohort in Caldicot Town over the next 
4 years: 
 

School 

Academic Year 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

Archbishop 
Rowan Williams 17 24 15 21 

Durand Primary 
School 15 15 16 17 

Dewstow Primary 
School 52 49 46 47 

Castle Park 
Primary School 28 27 29 27 

Ysgol Gymraeg 
Y Ffin n/a n/a n/a n/a 

Total cohort 112 115 106 112 

750

760

770

780

790

800

810

820

830

840

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Numbers on roll - EM Town Schools

Page 25



 

18 
 

 
 
In addition to the above, the Council anticipates that 134 pupils will enter into the 
Primary school sector within Caldicot town over the next 5 years due to expected 
housing developments.  The table overleaf shows the anticipated additional number 
of pupils expected per academic year, based on predicted build rates which could be 
subject to change. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

19 
 

Expected housing developments and number of pupils (across all year groups) anticipated per academic year: 
 
 
 

 Development Name 
Expected Pupils per academic year Total 

20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25   

Crick Road 
 

6 13 13 12 19 63 

Sudbrook Shipyard 
 

2 6 0 0 0 8 

Sudbrook papermill  
 

8 8 8 8 0 32 

Church Road 
 

6 9 9 4 0 28 

Former White Hart Inn 
 

1 0 0 0 0 1 

Green Farm 
 

1 1 0 0 0 2 

Total 
 

24 37 30 24 19 134 

Total over 5 year period 
 

134 pupils   

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 27



 

20 
 

Caldicot town 5-year projection factoring in current numbers, information from ABHB and the potential number of 
children that could arise from new housing developments: 

 

Academic Year R  1  2 3 4 5 6 Total 

Potential 
Housing 
impact 

Grand 
Total 

 
2020/21 138 142 127 132 124 129 128 920 

 
24 

 
944 

 
2021/22 112 138 142 127 132 124 129 904 

 
37 

 
965 

 
2022/23 115 112 138 142 127 132 124 890 

 
30 

 
981 

 
2023/24 106 115 112 138 142 127 132 872 

 
24 

 
987 

 
2024/25 112 106 115 112 138 142 127 852 

 
19 

 
986 

 
 
The above projection makes assumptions on the number of children arising from the development based on predicted build rates, 
which, as a result of the current pandemic, could alter.  As we are unable to predict age groups of the children generated from 
housing and the year groups that they will enter, the projection works off a “worst case” scenario assuming that all children will 
remain of primary age during the 5-year period.  This ensures that we would not have a shortfall in provision. 
 
 

P
age 28



 

21 
 

9.3 Impact of proposals 

 
The most significant impact of these proposals is that the Council would be providing 
a suitable number of school places within the Caldicot Town area of the cluster to 
meet future demand. 
 
Surplus places 
 
 
The below table provides information on the projected surplus places position across 
the town schools, making comparisons against the current capacity of schools 
verses the capacity increase outlined in these proposals: 
 

 
 
As shown above, the current provision would not be suitable to accommodate future 
demand in the town, with surplus places reducing down to 3.2% including the 
capacity available at our Welsh Medium provision, Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin. 
 
The proposed increase in school capacity shows that surplus places within the town 
exceed our preferred target of 10% surplus places, however, the capacity provision 
at our Welsh Medium School, Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin has been included in this 
assessment.  This enables us to meet our aspirations to increase the number of 
children and young people being educated through the medium of Welsh. 
 
The current numbers on roll at Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin currently represents in the 
region of 9% of the total numbers on roll within the town schools, however, in line 
with the Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan, we would expect this to 
increase as we deliver on our commitment to increasing the number of young people 
being educated through the medium of Welsh. 
 
On the basis of the status quo, we would estimate that the surplus places position to 
be in the region of 10% across the English Medium schools in the town as a result of 
these proposals.  
 
 

Academic 

Year

Total 

expected 

NOR

N0 of 

primary 

school 

places 

Total 

surplus 

places %

N0 of 

primary 

school 

places 

Total 

surplus 

places %

2024/25 986

9442020/21

2021/22 965

2022/23

2023/24

STATUS QUO NEW PROPOSAL

1020 76 7.5 1160

14.9

1020 34 3.3 1160 174 15.0

987
1020 33 3.2 1160 173

981
1020 39 3.8 1160 179 15.4

216 18.6

1020 55 5.4 1160 195 16.8

Page 29



 

22 
 

Home to School Transport 
 
The Council’s current home to school transport policy confirms that free home to 
school transport will be provided to the nearest or catchment school if it is more than 
1.5 miles (primary) or 2 miles (secondary) from the home address. 
 
Through increasing the capacity of school provision within the town area of Caldicot, 
it is anticipated that the Council would not inherit home to school transport costs 
associated with not having sufficient capacity at the nearest / catchment school for 
the children and young people arising from the new housing developments. 

10. Quality and Standards in Education 

 
Estyn and the Local Authority (LA) monitor the quality and standards in 
schools in Monmouthshire regularly.  Estyn is the office of Her Majesty’s 
Chief Inspector of Education and Training in Wales.  Estyn inspects quality 
and standards in education and training providers in Wales.  The most recent 
inspection results of each school directly affected by this proposal are in the 
table below.  However, it should be noted; inspections for both schools took 
place three or more years ago and in both cases, the judgements reflect the 
previous inspection framework.  This means that the outcomes below are not 
necessarily an accurate reflection of the quality of standards, teaching, or 
leadership at this time. 
 
Table      Estyn Inspections 

School  Inspection 

Date  

 Inspection Area   

How good 

are 

outcomes?  

How good 

is 

provision? 

How good is 

leadership 

and 

management? 

Current 

Performance 

 Prospects 

for 

improvement 

Dewstow 

Primary 

School 

 

 

 

October 

2013 

 

Adequate 

 
Adequate 

 
Adequate 

 
Adequate 

 
Adequate 

Archbishop 

Rowan 

Williams 

Church in 

Wales 

Primary 

School 

 

March 

2017 

 

Good 

 
Good 

 
Good 

 
Good 

 
Good 

 

The proposal is not expected to have a negative impact on the quality and 
standards in teaching in any of the wider cluster primary schools or in the 

Page 30



 

23 
 

cluster secondary school.  Consideration is given below, to the potential 
impact of the proposal on quality and standards at each school at the time of 
the report.  

Dewstow Primary School 

Standards –   

During their time in the school, pupils make good progress from their initial 
starting points and as a result, standards overall are good.  The school 
environment is modern, spacious and supports learning well.  The proposal 
will enable to school to extend its Early Years provision to deliver a wider 
range of early interventions through high quality learning experiences.   

Wellbeing and attitudes to learning –  

Wellbeing and attitudes to learning in Dewstow are good.  The school makes 

effective use of   resources to support children and their families to engage 

positively in learning.  Staff and learner wellbeing is good and a high priority for the 

school.  The expansion and reorganisation of space in the school is expected to 

have a positive impact on pupil independence and resilience and in doing so, 

support the school’s vision for the delivery of the new curriculum.  Wellbeing and 

attitudes to learning at the six cluster primary schools of the secondary school is 

not expected to be adversely affected by this proposal. 

  

Teaching and learning experiences –   

Teaching and Learning experiences in Dewstow are good.  Under this proposal, the 

enhanced facilities in Early Years will have a significant impact on the delivery 

across all areas of learning experience.  As such, it is expected that the proposal 

will have a positive impact on teaching and learning experiences. 

Care support and guidance –   

Dewstow Primary School is a very inclusive school, with the child being at 
the centre of the schools’ vision, aims, and values.  Care, support, and 
guidance at the school is very good and this proposal will continue to support 
this important area of work.  Care support and guidance at the six cluster 
primary schools and secondary school will not be affected by this proposal.   

Leadership and management –   

The school has a well-established and effective leadership team in place.  
There are no changes to leadership and management at the school 
expected at this time.  The proposed works to facilitate the increase in 
overall capacity will enable the leadership team to continue to enhance 
teaching and learning provision to support the delivery of the curriculum and 
support learners to achieve their full potential. 

Page 31



 

24 
 

Archbishop Rowan Williams Church in Wales Primary School  

Standards –   

Pupils make good progress from their initial starting points during their time 
at the school and as a result, standards overall are good.  The school 
environment is relatively compact for the number of pupils and as such, 
supports learning appropriately.  The proposal will increase teaching and 
learning facilities in the school, which will support teachers in the delivery of 
the new curriculum.  As such, the proposal is expected to have a positive 
effect on standards at the school. 

 Wellbeing and attitudes to learning –   

Wellbeing and attitudes to learning are good at Archbishop Rowan Williams 
Church in Wales Primary School.  The school has a strong focus on 
wellbeing and ‘values for life’.  The development of new teaching facilities, 
with input from the school, will ensure they have a positive impact on pupil 
wellbeing and attitudes to learning, in line with the school’s vision for the 
delivery of the new curriculum and with the ethos of the school.   
 
Wellbeing and attitudes to learning at the six cluster primary schools and the 
secondary school will not be adversely affected by this proposal.  
 

Teaching and learning experiences –   

Teaching and learning experiences are developing appropriately at 
Archbishop Rowan Williams Church in Wales Primary School, despite the 
challenges currently presented by the limited accommodation.  Under this 
proposal, new and improved teaching facilities will support the delivery of the 
new curriculum.  As such, the proposal is expected to have a positive impact 
on teaching and learning experiences.  

Care support and guidance –   

Archbishop Rowan Williams Church in Wales Primary School is an inclusive 
school.  It places children at the centre of its work and as a result, care, 
support, and guidance is good and will be further enhanced through this 
proposal.  This proposal in not expected to affect care support and guidance 
at the six cluster primary schools and the secondary school by this proposal.   

Leadership and management –   

The school welcomed a new Headteacher to the school in January 2020 to 
join a team of established staff.  The proposed works to facilitate the 
increase in overall capacity will enable the leadership team to enhance 
teaching and learning provision to support the delivery of the curriculum and 
support learners to achieve their full potential.  

Page 32



 

25 
 

School Categorisation  

Until recently, the National School Categorisation system has provided a 
clear and fair picture of how well a school is performing compared with other 
schools across Wales.  However, recent changes to reporting and 
accountability measures have changed to enable schools to develop 
innovative approaches to the delivery of the new curriculum.  This means 
that there is no published categorisation category for schools in Wales at this 
time.  

However, both Dewstow Primary School and Archbishop Rowan Williams 
Church in Wales Primary School are improving schools requiring limited 
support from external agencies.  

 
 

 

11. Building Conditions 

 
The conditions of school buildings affected by these proposals are assessed on a 
scale of A-D as follows: 
 

School Name 

 
Condition 
Rating 

Primary Provision 

Archbishop Rowan Williams Primary A 

Durand Primary School B 

Dewstow Primary School A 

Castle Park Primary School C 

Magor CIW Primary School B 

Rogiet Primary School A 

Undy Primary School B 

Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin C 
 

12. Cost of the Proposal  

 
The proposals are largely formed through concerns that the provision of school 
places in Caldicot Town are not sufficient to support the increase in school places 
expected as a result of approved housing developments. 
 

Page 33



 

26 
 

As such, the Council has been successful in securing section 106 education 
contributions to invest in the supply of school places within the town, ensuring our 
future provision is sufficient to meet demand.  
 
The table below details the funding that has been secured by the Council to support 
these proposals: 
 
 
 

Development 
name 

 No of 
Dwellings 

 Secured 
S106 Claim 

Sudbrook Shipyard 46 0 

Sudbrook Papermill 212 439,286 

Crick Road 285 811,078 

Church Road 130 345,140 

Total  673 1,595,504 
 
The costs associated with the extension of Archbishop Rowan Williams CIW Primary 
and Dewstow Primary Schools is estimated to be in the region of £1,150,500 (build 
costs), allowing a contingency of approximately £445,004 to invest in the external 
areas of the school sites, which will be required to support an increase in School 
capacity. 

13. School Organisation Arrangements 

 

13.1 School catchment areas 

 
There are no changes proposed to the Primary or Secondary School catchment 
areas as a result of this proposal. 
 

13.2  School Admissions 

 
The Council is the admission authority for the community schools within the County, 
including Dewstow Primary School.  Application requests for admission into this 
school will continue to be assessed in line with the Council’s agreed School 
Admissions Policy, which is not expected to change as a result of this proposal.  
 
Further information on the Council’s agreed school admissions policy can be found 
by visiting https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/applying-for-a-school-place 
 
 
The Governing Body of Archbishop Rowan Williams Church In Wales Primary 
School is the admission authority for admission requests into the school.  Again, all 

Page 34

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/applying-for-a-school-place


 

27 
 

requests will be considered and assessed in line with the School’s published School 
Admissions Policy. 
 
Further information on the School’s agreed school admissions policy can be found 
by visiting https://www.arwprimaryschool.co.uk/ 
 

13.3 Home to School Transport 

 
Under the Council’s agreed policy, free home to school transport is provided to all 
primary aged children whose nearest / catchment school is in excess of 1.5 miles.  
The proposal will not impact on this policy position. 
 

13.4 Governance 

 
There will be no changes to the school governance arrangements under this 
proposal. 
 

13.5 Staffing 

 
The proposed capacity increase at Archbishop Rowan Williams and Dewstow 
Primary Schools may provide job opportunities as it is possible that more teaching 
staff will be required. The necessary staff will be recruited by the Headteacher and 
governing body of the schools, with support from the local authority and the Diocese. 

14. Impact on Welsh Medium Education 

 
The proposal has no bearing on the Council’s plans to develop and promote Welsh 
language provision. It is therefore acknowledged that this proposal will make no 
contribution to the Council’s targets in relation to Cymraeg 2050. 
 
The Council remains committed through its Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP), to increasing its provision of Welsh Medium education across the county 
which will be brought forward through separate proposals. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35

https://www.arwprimaryschool.co.uk/


 

28 
 

Appendix 1 – List of Primary Schools 

 
 

CLUSTER 
 

SCHOOL 

Caldicot Archbishop Rowan Williams CIW 
Primary 

Caldicot Castle Park Primary 

Abergavenny Cantref Primary  

Monmouth Cross Ash Primary  

Abergavenny Deri View Primary 

Caldicot Dewstow Primary 

Caldicot Durand Primary 

Abergavenny Gilwern Primary 

Abergavenny  Goytre Fawr Primary 

Monmouth  Kymin View Primary 

Monmouth Llandogo Primary  

Abergavenny Llanfoist Fawr Primary 

Abergavenny Llantilio Pertholey CIW Primary 

Abergavenny Llanvihangel Crucorney Primary 

Caldicot Magor CIW Primary 

Monmouth Osbaston CIW School 

Abergavenny Our Lady & St Michaels RC 
Primary 

Monmouth Overmonnow Primary  

Chepstow Pembroke Primary 

Monmouth Raglan CIW VC Primary 

Caldicot Rogiet Primary 

Chepstow Shirenewton Primary 

Chepstow  St Mary’s RC Primary 

Chepstow The Dell Primary 

Chepstow Thornwell Primary 

Monmouth  Trellech Primary 

Caldicot Undy Primary 

Monmouth Usk CIW Primary  

Abergavenny  Ysgol Gymraeg Y Fenni 

Caldicot Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



 

29 
 

Appendix 2 – List of Consultees 

 

 Parents, Guardians and carers of all pupils of schools directly affected by the 
proposal  

 Headteacher, staff and governors of schools directly affected by the proposal. 

 Out of county Schools affected by the proposal.             

 Pupils/Pupil Councils of schools directly affected by the proposal 

 Monmouthshire Headteachers 

 All MCC Members 

 Welsh Ministers 

 Town and Community Councils within the affected area 

 All MCC Assembly Members representing the area served by the school 

 All Members of Parliament representing MCC area 

 All MCC Libraries 

 Directors of Education of all bordering LAs  

 Principals of Coleg Gwent 

 MCC Youth Service 

 GAVO 

 Monmouthshire Governors Association 

 Teaching Associations 

 Support Staff Associations 

 Policy Officer (Equalities & Welsh Language) 

 Welsh Government  

 ESTYN 

 Church in Wales Diocesan Trust, Director of Education 

 Roman Catholic Diocesan Trust, Director of Education 

 South East Wales Education Achievement Service 

 Gwent Police and Crime Commissioner  

 SNAP Cymru Parent Partnership Service 

 Local Health Board 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 37



 

30 
 

Appendix 3 – Options appraisal 

 
  

Option 1 – Do nothing 

Strengths Weaknesses Impact on 
surplus 
places 

Financial 
impact 

- It is expected that there will be an 
insufficient number of English Medium 
school places, however, this may increase 
the numbers of children and young people 
entering into Welsh Medium Education. 
 

- No disruption caused by extending schools 

- Insufficient number of English 
medium primary places within the 
cluster 

- We would like to see an increase 
in those attending Welsh Medium 
Education through preference 
rather than a lack of options. 

- Children would need to travel to 
schools outside of the town if they 
wanted English Medium provision 

- Increase in appeals against 
admissions decisions 

- Reduction in ability to comply with 
parental preference 

Insufficient  
number of 
school places 
across the 
town. 
 
Forecasted 
numbers on 
roll could result 
in only 3.2% 
surplus places 
(combined 
English and 
Welsh Medium 
provision) 
across the 
town 
 
 
 

Increase in 
transport costs 
 
Return of capital 
S106 monies 
received 

P
age 38



 

31 
 

 

Option 2 – Increase capacity of 1 School within the town to 315 (105 places across the town).  Either 

Archbishop Rowan Williams, Castle Park, Dewstow or Durand Primary Schools 

Strengths Weaknesses Impact on 
surplus 
places 

Financial 
impact 

Applicable to 
all 4 
Schools: 

- Increases English 
Medium provision across 
the town to 
accommodate existing 
and forecasted demands 

- Helps to address 
shortfall in surplus 
places  

- Reduction in transport to 
schools outside of the 
town 

- Increase in compliance 
with parental preference 
 

- Risk as to whether 105 places is 
sufficient (142 additional children 
expected over 6 year period) 

- Increase in English medium 
provision so may not impact 
positively on those choosing WM 
education 
 

Forecasted 
12.3% surplus 
(combined EM 
and WM 
provision) 
 
 

Not all of the 
S106 funding 
would be spent 
if investing in 
one school. 
 
Home to school 
transport costs 
could reduce 

2A) 
Archbishop 
Rowan 
Williams CIW 
Primary 

- Site is suitable for 
extension 

- Increase in capacity 
would be in the area 
where majority of 
developments are 

- Financially viable to 
extend 

- Limits options for the community 
as investment would be made 
solely at one school, which is also 
a Church in Wales School 

- Children may need to travel 
outside of the town for English 
Medium non-denominational 
provision 

- May receive resistance from 
village community re increasing 
size of school 

As above Investment of 
£523,000 to be 
funded from 
capital S106 
contributions 
(build costs 
only) 

P
age 39



 

32 
 

2B) Durand 
Primary 

- Site is suitable for 
extension 

- Would address current 
building condition survey 
of C rating 

- Location of the new 
capacity would be at a 
school more central in 
the town 

- More expensive than other 
schools, although still within 
budget 

- Increase in capacity would not be 
in the area of increased housing, 
meaning families from Portskewett 
may need to travel 

As above Investment of 
£1,142,000  to 
be funded from 
capital S106 
contributions 
(build costs 
only) 

2C) Dewstow 
Primary  

- Site is suitable for 
extension 

- Location of the 
increased capacity more 
central in the town 

- Financially viable to 
extend 

- Increase in capacity would not be 
in the area of increased housing, 
meaning families from Portskewett 
may need to travel 

As above Investment of 
£627,500 to be 
funded from 
capital S106 
contributions 
(build costs 
only) 

2D) Castle 
Park Primary 

- Location of the 
increased capacity more 
central in the town 
 

- Site would require significant 
investment to address access 
issues which would leave little 
funds available to increase 
capacity at the school 

 
 
 
 
 

As above N/A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 40



 

33 
 

Option 3 – Increase the capacity of two schools in the town to 315 (210 places across the town) 

Strengths Weaknesses Impact on 
surplus 
places 

Financial 
impact 

3A) ARW and 
Durand 

- Increase in capacity to 
our EM provision will 
meet current and 
projected demand 

- Increasing capacity at 
two schools widens 
parental choice as to 
whether they would like 
community or 
denominational 
education 

- Capacity would be 
increased in areas of 
demand 

- Increasing the capacity 
at two schools widens 
parental choice 

- Both sites suitable for 
extension 

- An increase of 210 
places across the town 
would be more than 
suitable for expected 
demand 

- Increase in compliance 
with parental preference 

- Increase of 210 places across the 
town could be too many and 
increase surplus places to an 
unacceptable level 

- Scheme is not financially viable to 
do both schools 

- Increase in EM provision to this 
extent may impact negatively on 
welsh medium education 

Surplus places 
would be too 
high 
 
Forecasted 
19.8% surplus 
places across 
the town 
including WM 
provision. 
 
 

Cost for scheme 
of both schools 
is £1,665,000 
(build cost) with 
£1,595,104 
capital s106 
monies 
available.  
Shortfall of 
£69,000 
excluding 
investment in 
external areas 
of the sites  

P
age 41



 

34 
 

3B) ARW and 
Dewstow 

- Increase in capacity to 
our EM provision will 
meet current and 
projected demand 

- Increasing capacity at 
two schools widens 
parental choice as to 
whether they would like 
community or 
denominational 
education 

- Capacity would be 
increased in areas of 
demand 

- Both sites suitable for 
extension 

- An increase of 210 
places across the town 
would be more than 
suitable for expected 
demand 

- Scheme for these two 
schools is financially 
viable 

- Increase in compliance 
with parental preference 

 
 
 

- Increase of 210 places across the 
town could be too many and 
increase surplus places to an 
unacceptable level 

- Increase in EM provision may 
impact negatively on welsh 
medium education 

Surplus places 
would be too 
high 
 
Forecasted 
19.8% surplus 
places across 
the town 
including WM 
provision. 
 
 

Cost for scheme 
of both schools 
is £1,150,500 
(build costs) 
with capital 
s106 monies 
available of 
£1,595,504 
leaving 
£445,004 
available for 
furniture and 
outdoor area 
investment 

 
 
 

P
age 42



 

35 
 

Option 4 – Increase the capacity of 1 school to 420 places 

Strengths Weaknesses Impact on 
surplus 
places 

Financial 
impact 

4A) ARW - N/A not appropriate (see 
weaknesses) 

- Site not big enough 
- Level of available funds 

insufficient 

 n/a 

4B) Durand - Site suitable for 420 
places 

- Provision would be 
available at 1 school in a 
more central location 

- Would offer two forms of 
entry rather than mixed 
aged classes 

- More financially viable 
operating structures 

- Level of available funds is 
insufficient 

- Increase in capacity would not be 
in the area where majority of 
developments are 

- Increase of 210 places across the 
town could be too many and 
increase surplus places to an 
unacceptable level 

- Scheme is not financially viable to 
do both schools 

- Increase in EM provision to this 
extent may impact negatively on 
welsh medium education 

Forecasted 
19.8% surplus 
places across 
the town 
including WM 
provision. 
 
 

Cost of scheme 
would be 
£4,600,000 
against 
£1,595,104 
budget leaving 
shortfall of 
£3,004,896 

4C) Dewstow - N/A not appropriate (see 
weaknesses) 

- Site not big enough 
- Level of available funds 

insufficient 
- Increase in capacity would not be 

in the area where majority of 
developments are 

 n/a 

4D) Castle Park - N/A not appropriate (see 
weaknesses) 

- Site not big enough 
- Level of available funds 

insufficient 

 n/a 

P
age 43



 

36 
 

- Increase in capacity would not be 
in the area where majority of 
developments are 

 

Option 5 – Increase two Primary Schools to a capacity for 280 pupils (140 place increase across the 
town) 

Strengths Weaknesses Impact on 
surplus 
places 

Financial 
impact 

5A) ARW and 
Durand 

- Increase in capacity to 
our EM provision will 
meet current and 
projected demand 

- Increasing capacity at 
two schools widens 
parental choice as to 
whether they would like 
community or 
denominational 
education 

- Both sites suitable for 
extension 

- Increase of 140 places is 
more attractive in terms 
of expected surplus 
places  

- Level of available funds is 
insufficient 

- Increasing EM education may 
impact on WM education 

Forecasted 
15% surplus 
across town 
schools  
 
 

Cost for scheme 
of both schools 
is £1,665,000 
(build cost) with 
£1,595,104 
capital s106 
monies 
available.  
Shortfall of 
£69,000 
excluding 
investment in 
external areas 
i.e. car parks 

5B) ARW and 
Dewstow 

- Increase in capacity to 
our EM provision will 
meet current and 
projected demand 

- Increasing EM education may 
impact on WM education 

Forecasted 
15% surplus 
across town 
schools  
 

Cost for scheme 
of both schools 
is £1,150,500 
(build costs) 
with capital 

P
age 44



 

37 
 

- Increasing capacity at 
two schools widens 
parental choice as to 
whether they would like 
community or 
denominational 
education 

- Both sites suitable for 
extension 

- Increase of 140 places is 
more attractive in terms 
of expected surplus 
places 

(reliant upon 
live birth data 
trends falling) 

s106 monies 
available of 
£1,595,504 
leaving 
£445,004 
available for 
furniture and 
outdoor area 
investment 

5C) Durand and 
Dewstow 

- Increase in capacity to 
our EM provision will 
meet current and 
projected demand 

- Both sites suitable for 
extension 

- Increase of 140 places is 
more attractive in terms 
of expected surplus 
places 

- Level of available funds is 
insufficient 

- Increase in capacity would not be 
in the area where majority of 
developments are 

- Increasing EM education may 
impact on WM education 

Forecasted 
15% surplus 
across EM 
town schools  
 
(reliant upon 
live birth data 
trends falling) 

Cost for scheme 
for both schools 
is £1,769,500 
against S106 
available 
monies of 
£1,595,504 
leaving 
£173,996 
shortfall 

 

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



                

 

 

 
     
 

Name of the Officer Matt Jones 
 
 
Phone no: 01633 644585 
E-mail: matthewdjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 

To enter into a consultation that proposes to increase the number of school 

places in Caldicot Town.    

Nameof Service CYP Access Unit 

 

Date Future Generations Evaluation 23rd November 2020 

 

NB. Key strategies and documents that may help you identify your contribution to the wellbeing goals and sustainable 

development principles include: Single Integrated Plan, Continuance Agreement, Improvement Plan, Local Development Plan, 

People Strategy, Asset Management Plan, Green Infrastructure SPG, Welsh Language Standards, etc 

 

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together 

with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.   

Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

No Impact No impact  

Future Generations Evaluation  
(includes Equalities and Sustainability Impact Assessments) 

P
age 47



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change) 

No impact  No impact 

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximized and health 
impacts are understood 

This review could result in more children being able 

to attend a school in their community and be a ble to 

walk to school rather than being transported  

A full consultation will be undertaken with school 

communities to ensure that any changes that are 

taken forward are in the best interests of the 

children and young people of monmouthshire 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected 

Pupils will be supported by their local community, 

they will remain with their peer group where 

possible.  

No impact 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing 

Some children could be travelling shorter distances 

to their allocated school  

No impact 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 
are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation 

By remaining in their local communities where 

possible, pupils will be able to embrace the Welsh 

culture and heritage.   

No impact 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances 

No impact  No impact 

 

2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

P
age 48



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Balancing 

short term 

need with 

long term and 

planning for 

the future 

If children are able to attend a school within the community 

they are more likely to continue their education within the 

county     

 

Working 

together with 

other 

partners to 

deliver 

objectives  

Passenger Transport Unit will be involved in this review to 

ensure proposals meet their aims as we move forward.  

However, its anticipated that there will be a positive 

financial impact due to providing more local provision 

 

Involving 

those with 

an interest 

and seeking 

their views 

An open review will be undertaken that seeks the views of 

the entire school community prior to implementation.  

 

Putting 

resources 

into 

preventing 

problems 

occurring or 

getting 

worse 

Some children and young people have experienced 

difficulties in obtaining school places within their immediate 

community.  This review has the potential to resolve some if 

not all of these issues  

 

P
age 49



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Considering 

impact on all 

wellbeing 

goals 

together and 

on other 

bodies 

  

 

3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the 

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below. For more detailed information on the protected characteristics, the Equality 

Act 2010 and the Welsh Language Standards that apply to Monmouthshire Council please follow this 

link:http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx  or contact Alan Burkitt on 01633 644010 or 

alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age No impact No impact No impact 

Disability No impact  No impact No impact 

Gender 

reassignment 

No impact No impact No impact 

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

No impact No impact No impact 

P
age 50

http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx
mailto:alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Pregnancy or 

maternity 

No impact No impact No impact 

Race No impact No impact No impact 

Religion or Belief No impact No impact No impact 

Sex No impact No impact No impact 

Sexual Orientation No impact No impact No impact 

 

Welsh Language 

No impact Investment in the buildings at two English 
Medium schools within the area may 
impact on the uptake at Ysgol Gymraeg Y 
Ffin, with has a building condition rating 
of C 

The Local Authority is also investing in 
Ysgol Gymraeg Y Ffin through means of 
building an additional classroom and 
childcare facility on site.  Monies has 
also been assigned to improve the 
current building to address its current 
“C” rating.  The programme of works 
does not form part of this report as the 
changes are not subject to statutory 
consultation processes 

 
4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on important responsibilities of Corporate Parenting and 

safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect either of these responsibilities?  For more information please see the guidance 
http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx  and for more on Monmouthshire’s Corporate 
Parenting Strategy see http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx 

 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on safeguarding and 
corporate parenting 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on safeguarding 
and corporate parenting 

What will you do/ have you done 
to mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

P
age 51

http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx


Safeguarding  The review could reduce the number of 
children and young people attending a 
school outside of their immediate community 
and travelling on buses / taxi’s too and from 
school 

  

Corporate Parenting  No Impact   

 
5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 

 
Data supplied by Health on the number of “live births” within the County.   
 
Data from Planning on number of Housing Developments planned for the immediate coming years. 
 
Current numbers on school rolls and trend analysis. 
 
The above help us to understand the forecasted demand for school places. 

 

 

6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have 
they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 

 

 

 

P
age 52



7. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if 
applicable. 

 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  Progress  

    

    

    

 

8. MONITORING: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you will 

evaluate the impact, and where you will report the results of the review. 

 

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on:  August 2021. 

 

9. VERSION CONTROL: The Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stages of decision making, and then 

honed and refined throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this process so that we can 

demonstrate how we have considered and built in sustainable development wherever possible. 

 

Version 

No. 

Decision making stage  Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 

consideration 

1.0 Cabinet. 16th December 

2020.  
 

    

    

 

 

 

P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s adoption of the Local Housing Market 

Assessment (LHMA) (Appendix 1) December 2020 and to seek approval for submission 

of the LHMA to Welsh Government. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATION: 

 

2.1 To adopt the Local Housing Market Assessment, December 2020 and to submit it to the 

Welsh Government. 

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 

3.1 All local authorities have a requirement to consider the housing accommodation needs of 

their localities under section 8 of the Housing Act 1985.  Local Housing Market 

Assessments are a crucial part of the evidence base for preparing Local Development 

Plans and Local Housing Strategies.   

 

3.2 This LHMA has identified the potential need for 467.81 affordable homes per year over 

the next 5 years.  This number can be further broken down as: 

 

Tenure Number of Dwellings 

Social Rent 319.61 

Low Cost Home Ownership 115.20 

Intermediate Rent 33 

Total 467.81 

 

This provides a tenure split of 68% social rent and 32% intermediate (LCHO and 

intermediate rent) need. 

 

3.3 It is important to note that these figures are not an annual delivery target as new build 

homes are not the total solution to the supply of affordable homes in the county.  The 

Council’s target remains 960 affordable homes (96 per year) over the period of the current 

Local Development Plan (LDP) 2011 – 2021.  The LHMA will form part of the evidence 

base for the replacement LDP and a new delivery target. 

 

3.4 Housing’s Private Sector Housing Team has a lettings agency, Monmouthshire Lettings 

Service (MLS), and is working with private sector landlords to increase the availability of 

SUBJECT: LOCAL HOUSING MARKET ASSESSMENT 

MEETING: CABINET  

DATE: 16th December 2020  

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED:  All 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 3b



homes for private rent. This work has continued throughout the COVID-19 period with 

both the Private Sector Liaison Officer and Strategy & Policy Homelessness Officer 

working to support existing landlords and recruit additional landlords through a repeated 

marketing plan.   

 

4. EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION (INCLUDES SOCIAL 

JUSTICE, SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING) (Appendix 2)  

 

4.1 The LHMA provides an assessment of the current housing market and helps to identify 

emerging trends in house prices and affordability. In addition to assessing the need for 

all types of affordable housing, the report also assesses housing need against the 

committed supply of affordable housing over the next 5 years.  Information contained in 

the LHMA will be used in the preparation of the replacement LDP.  

4.2 There are no negative implications with this proposal. Understanding affordable housing 

need and then taking steps to deliver affordable housing has a positive impact on 

equalities and future generations, with particular regard to reduced poverty and improved  

health and educational attainment associated with having a safe, secure and suitable 

home.  However, should it not be possible to implement the proposed recommendation it 

could possibly impact on the Council’s abilities to meet its safeguarding 

responsibilities.  See Appendix 2  

5. OPTIONS APPRAISAL 

 

The following options are available. 

 

 Benefit Risk  Comment  

Option 1: The 
recommended 
option is to 
agree the 
contents of 
the LHMA.  

An up to date 
assessment of affordable 
housing need which has 
been undertaken with 
due regard to Welsh 
Government guidance. 
 
An assessment that has 
been reviewed within the 
recommended time scale 
(2 years) and meets the 
Council’s statutory duties. 
 
An up to date and 
accurate assessment of 
affordable housing need 
which will form part of a 
robust evidence base for 
a range of Council plans 
and policies. 

There are no risks to this 
proposal.  

The LHMA is a 
complex piece of 
research, which has 
been undertaken 
using the suggested 
Welsh Government 
methodology and is 
the most accurate 
indicator of 
affordable housing 
need within 
Monmouthshire. 
 

Option 2:  Do 
nothing and 
rely on the 
existing 
LHMA. 

There are no benefits to 
this option. 
 

The LHMA is an integral 
part of the evidence base 
for a range of housing and 
planning related polices.  
To ensure the policies are 

The LHMA is a 
complex piece of 
research, which has 
been undertaken 
using the suggested 

Page 56



 fit for purpose and meet 
local need, the evidence 
base must be robust and 
up to date. 
It is a requirement to 
review the LHMA every 
two years, to disregard 
the findings of the most 
recent assessment could 
leave the Council at odds 
with Welsh Government 
recommendations. 

Welsh Government 
methodology and is 
the most accurate 
indicator of 
affordable housing 
need within 
Monmouthshire. 
 

 

 
6. EVALUATION CRITERIA 

 

6.1 It is a requirement to update the Local Housing Market Assessment and submit the 
document to the Welsh Government every two years 

 
7. REASONS: 
 

7.1 Under the Housing Act 1985, Local Authorities have a statutory duty to assess the 

County’s housing need.  The authority must submit the LHMA to Welsh Government.  

 

 The production of the LHMA has been specified by the Welsh Government in two main 

documents:  ‘The Local Housing Market Assessment Guide’, produced in March 2006 

and ‘Getting Started with your LHMA’, produced in March 2014 

 The guidance enables authorities to derive overall figures for the number of households 

requiring additional housing in their areas and to determine what this means in terms of 

affordable housing provision. 

 The information in the LHMA will allow the authority to develop sound planning policies 

to deliver the right mix of housing in terms of tenure and house type. 

 The analysis takes account of household projections, homeless data, housing register 

data, house prices, rental prices, household incomes, dwelling stock turnover and 

housing supply data 

 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 

8.1 There are no resource implication associated with completion of the LHMA.  Delivery of 

affordable housing is primarily achieved via planning permissions requiring a proportion 

of new homes approved to be affordable homes, or securing commuted sums from small-

scale developments to provide affordable housing elsewhere.  The Council works with 

Registered Social Landlords to deliver additional affordable housing via their 

development programmes often with Welsh Government funding such as Social Housing 

Grant or the Innovative Housing Fund. Delivering on this Council’s ambitions and those 

of the Welsh Government will undoubtedly need public sector subsidy to supplement 

delivery via the housebuilding industry. 

 

 

 

Page 57



9. CONSULTEES: 

 

Head of Placemaking, Housing, Highways & Flooding; Housing & Communities 

Manager; Head of Planning; Planning Policy Manager; Chief Officer Enterprise. 

 

Comments arising from scrutiny of the LHMA by the Joint Adults and Economy & 

Development Select Committee on 10th December 2020 will be verbally reported to 

Cabinet. 

 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

 Local Housing Market Assessment Report; Getting Started with your Local Housing 

Market Assessment, Welsh Government, November 2014.  

 Local Market Housing Assessment guide, Welsh Government, March 2006  

 Housing Act 1985 

 Housing (Wales) Act 2014 

 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  

 

11. AUTHOR:  Strategy & Policy Officer – Affordable Housing 

 

12. CONTACT DETAILS: Louise Corbett 

 Tel:   07970 957039 

 E-mail: Louisecorbett@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Page 58

mailto:Louisecorbett@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Appendix 1 
 

 
 

  

2020 - 2025 

 

      

 

Local Housing Market Assessment 

 

Page 59



1 
 

Summary 
 
The Local Housing Market Assessment utilises the Welsh Government’s guidance 
documents Local Housing Market Assessment Guide, March 2016 and Getting Started 
with your Local Housing Market Assessment, March 2012.   
 
This LHMA estimates a net need of 468 additional affordable homes per annum up 
until 2025, however, this figure is not an annual delivery target.  The figure is simply 
an indication of current and projected need for affordable housing within the county. 
 
This is a headline figure for the whole County and a more detailed assessment is 
contained within the report. 
 
Housing and Communities have undertaken the assessment with the assistance of 
David James, Rural Housing Enabler for Monmouthshire. 
 
If you any queries regarding this LHMA, please contact. 
 
Strategy and Policy Officer – Affordable Housing  
Housing and Communities 
Monmouthshire County Council 
County Hall 
Rhadyr 
Usk 
NP15 1GA 
 
Tel: 07970 957 039 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



2 
 

Contents 
 
1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................. 5 

1.1 Housing Act 1985 .................................................................................................................... 5 

1.2 Housing (Wales) Act 2014 ..................................................................................................... 5 

1.3 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 .............................................. 5 

1.4 National Housing Strategy (2010) ....................................................................................... 6 

1.5 Planning Policy Wales (PPW) ............................................................................................... 6 

1.6 Local Development Plan (LDP) ............................................................................................ 7 

 
2. Housing Market Analysis ............................................................................................................. 9 

2.1 Monmouthshire Average Property Price ........................................................................... 9 

2.2 Housing Market Indicators .................................................................................................. 10 

2.3 Tenure ...................................................................................................................................... 13 

2.4 Types of Property .................................................................................................................. 14 

2.5 Private Rented Sector .......................................................................................................... 18 

2.6 Affordability ............................................................................................................................ 28 

2.7 Entry Level Property Price .................................................................................................. 28 

 
3. Monmouthshire Housing Market Areas ................................................................................. 30 

3.1 Abergavenny Housing Market Area .................................................................................. 32 

3.2 Chepstow Housing Market Area ........................................................................................ 32 

3.3 Monmouth Housing Market Area ...................................................................................... 33 

4. Methodology and Data Sources for Assessing Housing Need ....................................... 35 

4.1 Backlog of Housing Need ................................................................................................... 38 

4.2 Newly Arising Need ............................................................................................................... 39 

4.3 Existing Households Falling into Housing Need .......................................................... 40 

4.4 Affordable Housing Supply ................................................................................................ 41 

4.5 Committed Supply of New Affordable Homes ............................................................... 42 

 
5. Key Findings ................................................................................................................................. 44 

5.1 Social Rent .............................................................................................................................. 44 

5.2 Low Cost Home Ownership (LCHO) ................................................................................. 44 

5.3 Intermediate Rent .................................................................................................................. 44 

5.4 Gypsy and Travellers ........................................................................................................... 45 

5.5 Summary of Annual Affordable Housing Shortfall ....................................................... 45 

 
6. Conclusion .................................................................................................................................... 47 

 

Page 61



3 
 

List of Tables 

 
Table 1 Breakdown of Tenure .................................................................................. 14 
 

Table 2 Breakdown of Property Type ....................................................................... 15 
 

Table 3 Housing Stock by Number of Bedrooms ..................................................... 18 
 

Table 4 Monthly Rental Values ................................................................................ 24 
 

Table 5 Local Housing Allowance Rates - 2020/2021 .............................................. 25 
 

Table 6 Number of Properties at LHA Rate .............................................................. 25 
 

Table 7 Affordability – Net Median Wage Based on Median Rents by Bedroom 
Category ................................................................................................................... 27 
 

Table 8 Gross Annual Affordable Housing Need ...................................................... 38 
 

Table 9 Net Household Growth 2020 - 2025 ............................................................ 39 
 

Table 10 Households priced out of the Market ......................................................... 40 
 

Table 11 Existing Households Falling into Need ...................................................... 40 
 

Table 12 Existing Housing Stock – General Needs .................................................. 42 
 

Table 13 Existing Housing Stock – Older Persons Housing ..................................... 42 
 

Table 14 Lettings Data 2017 - 2020 ......................................................................... 42 
 

Table 15 Committed Supply of New Affordable Homes (5 years) ............................ 43 
 

List of Figures 
 
Figure 1 Monmouthshire Average House Price .......................................................... 9 
 

Figure 2 Comparison of Average House Price – Neighbouring Welsh Local Authorities
 ................................................................................................................................. 10 
 

Figure 3 Total Property Sales in Monmouthshire by Year and Type as 30th September 
2020 ......................................................................................................................... 11 
 

Figure 4 Average Time to Sell a Property in Monmouthshire ................................... 11 
 

Figure 5 Current Average Price of Monmouthshire and Neighbouring Local Authorities
 ................................................................................................................................. 13 
 

Figure 6 Tenure of Households ................................................................................ 14 
 

Page 62



4 
 

Figure 7 Breakdown of Property Type ...................................................................... 15 
 

Figure 8 Comparison of Wales and Monmouthshire Property Type ......................... 16 
 

Figure 9 Average Monmouthshire Property Price by Property Type ........................ 17 
 

Figure 10 Existing Housing Stock by Number of Bedrooms ..................................... 17 
 

Figure 11 Number of Properties by Bedroom Count ................................................ 19 
 

Figure 12 Number of Properties by Rental Area ...................................................... 19 
 

Figure 13 Number of Properties Advertised by Area ................................................ 20 
 

Figure 14 Property Mix by Bedroom Count .............................................................. 20 
 

Figure 15 Rental Listings by Bedroom Count ........................................................... 21 
 

Figure 16 Rental Market Activity .............................................................................. 21 
 

Figure 17 Market Activity by Rental Area ................................................................. 22 
 

Figure 18 Monmouthshire Travel to Work Areas ...................................................... 31 
 

Figure 19 Average House Prices in Monmouthshire’s Housing Market Areas ......... 34 
 

Figure 20 Bathtub Analogy ....................................................................................... 35 
 

Figure 21 Map of Monmouthshire Housing Market Areas ........................................ 37 
 

Figure 22 Annual Affordable Housing Shortfall ........................................................ 46 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



5 
 

1. Introduction 
 
Local Housing Market Assessments (LHMA) play an important part in the evidence 
base local authorities in Wales will use for preparing local development plans and local 
housing strategies.  They also inform the production of programme development plans 
for the allocation of social housing grant which local authorities submit to Welsh 
Government. The LHMA also aids negotiations on Section 106 agreements between 
local authorities and private sector developers. 
 
Local authorities have an important strategic housing role and statutory responsibilities 
in relation to the functioning of the housing market.  For the purposes of the local 
housing market assessment, the following pieces of legislation and strategic 
documents are key:  
  

1.1 Housing Act 1985  
  
Section 8 of the Housing Act 1985 requires local authorities to consider the housing 
need within their areas with respect to the provision of further housing accommodation.  
This local housing market assessment review provides a comprehensive 
understanding of the local housing market and a robust evidence base for effective 
strategic housing and planning services.    
 

1.2 Housing (Wales) Act 2014  
  
Part 3 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 requires local authorities in Wales to carry out 
an assessment of the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers within their 
area.  This should be kept up-to-date every 5 years.  
  

1.3 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  
  
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 seeks to improve the social, 
economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales in order to create a Wales 
that all want to live in, now and in the future.  The Act sets out seven well-being goals:  
  
1. A prosperous Wales;  
2. A resilient Wales;  
3. A healthier Wales;  
4. A more equal Wales;  
5. A Wales of cohesive communities;  
6. A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language; and  
7. A globally responsible Wales.  
  
The provision of sufficient good quality housing for people’s needs, including 
affordable housing is a cross-cutting theme that will help deliver many of the well-being 
goals, including a more equal Wales, a Wales of cohesive communities, a prosperous 
Wales and a healthier Wales.  
 
  

Page 64



6 
 

1.4 National Housing Strategy (2010)  
  
Welsh Government’s approach to housing, as outlined in Improving Lives & 
Communities – Homes in Wales, is to:  
  

 provide more housing of the right type and offer more choice 

 improve homes and communities, including the energy efficiency of new and 
existing homes 

 improve housing-related services and support, particularly for vulnerable 
people and people from minority groups.  

  
The Strategy highlights that local authorities have a role in assessing the need for 
housing and planning where it should be built. It also recognises the role of housing 
associations and the private sector in delivering quality homes and supporting 
thousands of jobs in construction and related industries.   
  
It identifies the key factors influencing the demand for housing, including an ageing 
population, an increase in single person households and economic factors affecting 
affordability. It highlights the priorities for the future, which includes the need to 
increase the number of affordable homes for purchase or rent in the right location.   
 

1.5 Planning Policy Wales (PPW) 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW10) updated in December 2018 by the Welsh 
Government (WG) provides the overarching national strategic guidance with regard to 
land use planning matters in Wales.  Paragraphs 4.2.1-4.2.2 of PPW10 state: 
 

‘New housing development in both urban and rural areas should incorporate a mix of 

market and affordable house types, tenures and sizes to cater for the range of 
identified housing needs and contribute to the development of sustainable and 
cohesive communities.  
 
The planning system must:  
• identify a supply of land to support the delivery of the housing requirement to meet 
the differing needs of communities across all tenures;  
• enable provision of a range of well-designed, energy efficient, good quality market 
and affordable housing that will contribute to the creation of sustainable places; and  
• focus on the delivery of the identified housing requirement and the related land 

supply.’ 
 
In terms of LHMAs, PPW10 notes:   
 
The latest Welsh Government local authority level Household Projections for Wales, 
alongside the latest Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) and the Well-being 
plan for a plan area, will form a fundamental part of the evidence base for development 
plans. 
 
The relevant planning and housing authorities should work in partnership with local 
stakeholders, including private house builders, to produce LHMAs. These 

Page 65



7 
 

assessments allow authorities to develop a detailed understanding of the nature and 
level of market and affordable housing demand and need in their communities’ 
(paragraphs 4.2.6 and 4.2.8).  
 
For clarification, PPW10 defines affordable housing as: 

 
‘Affordable housing includes social rented housing owned by local authorities and 
RSLs and intermediate housing where prices or rents are above those of social rent 
but below market housing prices or rents. All other types of housing are referred to as 
‘market housing’, that is private housing for sale or rent where the price is set in the 
open market and occupation is not subject to control by the local authority. It is 
recognised that some schemes may provide for staircasing to full ownership and 
where this is the case there must be secure arrangements in place to ensure the 
recycling of capital receipts to provide replacement affordable housing. 
 
To support policies and decisions on planning applications, planning authorities should 
refer to their LHMA to help determine the need for affordable housing. 
 
Development plans must include an authority-wide target for affordable housing 
(expressed as numbers of homes). The authority-wide target for affordable housing 
should be based on the LHMA and identify the expected contributions that the policy 
approaches identified in the development plan (for example, site thresholds, site 
specific targets, commuted sums and affordable housing exception sites) will make to 
meeting this target. The target should take account of deliverability and viability which 
will be influenced by the anticipated levels of finance available for affordable housing, 
including public subsidy, and other community benefit contributions being sought by 
the planning authority.’(paragraphs 4.2.26 - 28)  
 

1.6 Local Development Plan (LDP) 
 
Adopted LDP  
 
Monmouthshire County Council’s Local Development Plan (LDP) was adopted on 27th 
February 2014.  The chosen level of housing provision in the LDP is 4,500 dwellings 
over the Plan period 2011-2021. It accommodates the level of growth indicated by the 
2008-based Welsh Government Household projections. It projected an increase for 
the County of 3,969 households between 2011-2021 (or about 4,100 dwellings), with 
a small allowance (10 dwellings per year) to be met in that part of Monmouthshire 
included in the Brecon Beacons National Park, together with an additional requirement 
for the period 2006-2011. 
 
Replacement LDP 
 
The Council is preparing a Replacement Local Development Plan for the County 
(excluding the area within the Brecon Beacons National Park) to cover the period 
2018-2033.Progress has been delayed by Covid-19 and was further affected by the 
publication of corrected 20178 population projections in August 2020.  The RLDP 
issues, vision, objectives and evidence base have been reviewed in terms of sensitivity 
to the consequences of the current pandemic.  The Welsh Government published a 

Page 66



8 
 

correction to the 2018-based population and household projections in August 2020.  
These projections form the starting point for the Plan’s evidence base on growth levels 
and comprise important new evidence that requires consideration. In order to ensure 
that the evidence base for the RLDP is robust and based on the most up to date 
information, the decision was made to revisit both the Growth and Spatial Options and 
Preferred Strategy stages of the RLDP process.  

 
These unavoidable delays have necessitated a further revision to the RLDP Delivery 
Agreement timetable and community involvement scheme which was approved by 
Welsh Government in October 2020.  Work on the Plan will progress in accordance 
with the revised timetable, the next key stage being the Growth and Spatial Options 
which will be subject to non-statutory consultation in early 2021.  
 

A significant issue for Monmouthshire is the fact that house prices are high in relation 
to earnings so there is a significant need for additional affordable housing in the 
County in both urban and rural areas.  It is an objective of the Plan to provide a level 
of housing that is sufficient to deliver a wide-ranging choice of homes, both for existing 
and future residents, while ensuring local needs for appropriate, affordable and 
accessible housing are met as far as possible. 
 
  

Page 67



9 
 

2. Housing Market Analysis 
 

Monmouthshire is a predominantly rural county situated in south east Wales and is 
noted for its rich and diverse landscape.  It covers an area of approximately 88,000 
hectares and shares a border with the neighbouring counties of Newport, Torfaen and 
Powys in Wales and Gloucestershire and Herefordshire in England.  The estimated 
population is 94,950 (Source: ONS, April 2020).  The main towns in the county are 
Abergavenny, Monmouth, Chepstow and Caldicot.   
 

2.1 Monmouthshire Average Property Price 
 
The average property price in Monmouthshire currently stands at £336,760.  Figure 1 
shows the trajectory of the Monmouthshire average house price since March 2012 
and evidences an increase of just over 35% in the average property price.  From the 
end of 2019 to date, the housing market throughout the UK has been unpredictable 
and the sparsity of data has made it more difficult than ever to analyse, especially at 
smaller geographies.  
 
Figure 1 Monmouthshire Average House Price  

Source: Hometrack 
 
The graph in Figure 2 shows how the average Monmouthshire house price compares 
with our neighbouring Welsh local authorities.  Monmouthshire has consistently 
outperformed others with a higher average house price and higher rate of growth in 
house prices.   
 
  

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

Mar
2012

Sep
2012

Mar
2013

Sep
2013

Mar
2014

Sep
2014

Mar
2015

Sep
2015

Mar
2016

Sep
2016

Mar
2017

Sep
2017

Mar
2018

Sep
2018

Mar
2019

Sep
2019

Mar
2020

Sep
2020

Monmouthshire Average House Price with trend line

Page 68



10 
 

Figure 2 Comparison of Average House Price – Neighbouring Welsh Local Authorities 

 

Source: Hometrack 

 

2.2 Housing Market Indicators 
 
Since 2016 the number of properties sold in Monmouthshire has declined year on 
year, despite an increase in the numbers of new build property sales. From a high of 
1,591 sales in 2016, there were 1,234 sales in 2019 and only 374 sales as at 30th 
September 2020 (Figure 3). House sales data from 2019, show that 29.9% or 370 of 
1,234 sales were sold at a higher value than the average Monmouthshire property 
price of £336,000, however, this data includes 5 properties which were sold for over 
£1million pounds each.  
 
There is no doubt that the pandemic has impacted significantly on the local housing 
market, because the length of time it has taken to complete the sale of properties has 
also increased. In July 2019 the average time it took to sell a property in 
Monmouthshire was 9.8 weeks, whereas by June 2020 the average time had 
increased to 21.2 weeks (Figure 4). 
 
  

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

Mar
2012

Sep
2012

Mar
2013

Sep
2013

Mar
2014

Sep
2014

Mar
2015

Sep
2015

Mar
2016

Sep
2016

Mar
2017

Sep
2017

Mar
2018

Sep
2018

Mar
2019

Sep
2019

Mar
2020

Sep
2020

Blaenau Gwent Torfaen Monmouthshire Newport Powys

Page 69



11 
 

Figure 3 Total Property Sales in Monmouthshire by Year and Type as 30th September 2020 

 
Source: Hometrack 

 
 
Figure 4 Average Time to Sell a Property in Monmouthshire  

 
Source: Hometrack 
 

The majority of sales in Monmouthshire are of detached properties, followed by semi-
detached and then terraced properties.  
 
The length of time it takes to sell a property has also appeared to impact on the sale 
to asking price of properties. In August 2019 the average sale to asking price in 
Monmouthshire was a fraction over 97%, whereas in June 2020, that figure was 94% 
(Figure 4). 
 
In 2019 there were 1,234 properties sold in Monmouthshire, with just over a third of 
the total being properties priced between £175,000 and £250,000. As the majority of 
properties sold in the county are detached, there is still quite a high proportion of sales 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Property Sales

2nd Hand House Sales 2nd Hand Flat Sales New Build House Sales New Build Flat Sales

0

5

10

15

20

25

Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20

Time To Sell (weeks)

Page 70



12 
 

at higher prices. For example, 29.9% of property sales were sold at values above the 
Monmouthshire average property price (Figure 5).  
 
Figure 5 2019 Property Sales by Property Value 

 
Source: Hometrack 
 
Monmouthshire’s housing market has a range of competition from the neighbouring 
counties, both in Wales and England. For example, Blaenau Gwent has some of the 
lowest property prices in the UK with a current average price of £112,619. The three 
other neighbouring Welsh local authorities have much lower average prices than 
Monmouthshire, although the current average price for Powys of £224,681 hides the 
fact that close to the Monmouthshire border around Crickhowell house prices are 
particularly high. There is much more similarity in Monmouthshire’s housing market 
with the neighbouring English counties and only the City of Bristol has a higher 
average house price currently at £336,695 (Figure 6).  This means people seeking to 
purchase a home are likely to need to leave Monmouthshire in order to afford suitable 
accommodation for their needs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

2019 Property Sales by Property Value

Page 71



13 
 

Figure 6 Current Average Price of Monmouthshire and Neighbouring Local Authorities 

 
Source: Hometrack 

 
In terms of rurality, Powys and Forest of Dean are quite similar and it is these two 
areas which have seen the highest prices increases over the last twelve months of 
15.4% and 21.8% respectively. This appears to confirm the current trend of counter-
urbanisation and a strong demand for property in the more rural areas, which will very 
likely continue.  Initial evidence suggests that purchasers are prioritising space, quality 
of life and access to green open spaces over commuting time, with a significant 
increase in home working due to COVID-19. 
 

2.3 Tenure 
 
At the time of the 2011 Census, there were 38,233 households in the borough. Figure 
7 shows the tenure of residents in Monmouthshire. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

Average Prices

Page 72



14 
 

Figure 7 Tenure of Households 

 

Source: Census 2011 

 
Table 1 below provides a breakdown of tenure.  It shows that homeownership (with or 
without a mortgage and shared ownership) is the most popular form of tenure, with 
74% of Monmouthshire residents, either fully or in part, owning their own home.  
 
Table 1 Breakdown of Tenure 

Tenure Number Percentage 

Owned Outright 15,269 39.9% 

Owned with a Mortgage or Loan 12,873 33.7% 

Shared Ownership (part owned part 
rented) 

141 0.4% 

Social Rented 5,288 13.8% 

Private Rented 4,130 10.8% 

Living Rent Free 532 1.4% 

Total  38,233 100% 
Source: Office of National Statistics 

 

2.4 Types of Property 
 
As illustrated in Figure 8 and Table 2 below, the majority of properties in the county 
borough are detached homes (44.01%) with next most popular property type being 
semi-detached (28.33%) properties. 
 
 
 
 

73.6

0.4

13.8

10.8
1.4

Tenure of Households by Percentage

Owned Shared ownership (part owned and part rented)

Social rented Private rented

Living rent free

Page 73



15 
 

 
Figure 8 Breakdown of Property Type  

 
 
Source: Census 2011 

 
Table 2 Breakdown of Property Type 

Property Type Number Percentage 

Detached 17,638 44.01% 

Semi-detached 11,354 28.33% 

Terraced 6,789 16.94% 

Flat, maisonette or apartment 4,186 10.44% 

Caravan or other mobile or temporary 
structure 

111 0.28% 

Total  40,078 100% 
Source: Office of National Statistics 

 
As shown in Figure 9 below, a comparison between Monmouthshire property types 
and Wales as a whole shows there is a higher proportion of detached and semi 
detached properties (72.34% combined) in Monmouthshire when compared to the 
Wales number (58.73% combined) and a lower proportion of terraced properties and 
flats (27.38% combined for Monmouthshire and 40.85% for Wales).  In 
Monmouthshire, there is limited availability of terraced homes or apartments which are 
often a traditional way of people taking their first step into homeownership. 
 

44.01

28.33

16.94

10.44 0.28

Property Type by Percentage

Detached Semi-detached

Terraced Flat, maisonette or apartment

Caravan or other mobile or temporary structure

Page 74



16 
 

Figure 9 Comparison of Wales and Monmouthshire Property Type 

Source: Census 2011 

 
Figure 10 below illustrates the average price of each property type in Monmouthshire. 
This is important to acknowledge as it impacts on the availability of suitable 
accommodation for first time buyers and those on lower incomes trying to access the 
Monmouthshire Housing Market.  Of particular note, the average price of a flat, 
maisonette or apartment in Monmouthshire (£124,666) exceeds the average price of 
all property types in Blaenau Gwent (£112,619), and the average price of a terraced 
home in Monmouthshire (£222,814) exceeds the average price of all property types in 
Torfaen (£174,670) or Newport (£204,283). 
 
  

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

Detached

Semi-detached

Terraced

Flat, maisonette or apartment

Caravan or other mobile or temporary structure

Comparison of Wales and Monmouthshire by 
Property Type

Wales % Monmouthshire %

Page 75



17 
 

Figure 10 Average Monmouthshire Property Price by Property Type 

 
Source: Hometrack, November 2020 

 
As seen in Figure 11 below the majority of homes in Monmouthshire have 3, 4 or 5 or 
more bedrooms, this is to be expected given the number of detached and semi-
detached properties and the mix of urban and rural locations within the county.   
 
Figure 11 Existing Housing Stock by Number of Bedrooms 

Source: Census 2011 
 
  

0 100,000 200,000 300,000 400,000 500,000 600,000

Detached

Semi-detached

Terraced

Flat, maisonette or apartment

Average Monmouthshire Property Price by Type

Lower Quartile - £ Average - £ Upper Quartile - £

2,928

7,141

16,525

8,942

2,697

Existing Stock by Number of Bedrooms

1 bedroom 2 bedrooms 3 bedrooms 4 bedrooms 5 or more bedrooms

Page 76



18 
 

Table 3 Housing Stock by Number of Bedrooms 

Number of Bedrooms Number Percentage 

1 Bedroom 2,928 7.66% 

2 Bedrooms 7,141 18.68% 

3 Bedrooms 16,525 42.33% 

4 Bedrooms 8,942 23.39% 

5 or more Bedrooms 2,697 7.05% 

Total  38,233 100% 
Source: Census 2011 
 

2.5 Private Rented Sector 
 
The private rented sector is important in meeting the housing requirements of those 
who are in housing need but cannot access social rented housing and those who 
cannot afford to purchase on the open market. Since the change in legislation allowing 
local authorities to utilise the private rented sector to house homeless applicants it has 
become an increasingly important sector for Monmouthshire. 
 
During July 2020, a desktop study of the residential rental market was undertaken. 
The study was an historical analysis of rental activity from 2010 to 2020 using 
Hometrack’s comprehensive database of properties advertised to let and looked at the 
following: 
 

 Rental market and activity within Monmouthshire 

 Distribution of properties and rental values by bedroom category 

 Rental values and Local Housing Rates 

 Affordability 
 

This chapter reflects the study but the following statements caveat the findings: 
 

 The collation of information and data on private rental activity, costs and 
affordability is not as reliable as collating data on housing sales due to the lack 
of data currently available. As a result the data is not robust and, therefore, only 
for a very broad analysis of the rental market in Monmouthshire.   

 The data does not differentiate between rents for furnished/unfurnished 
properties, nor for whether utility bills and council tax are included/not included 
within the value of rent. 

 The study concentrates on properties where the bedroom category is known as 
this demonstrates the issue of affordability especially when referring to Local 
Housing Allowance (LHA) rates. 
 

Rental Market and Activity 
 
Current Rental Market 
 
As of July 2020 there are 3,200 Landlords registered with Rent Smart Wales 
representing 4,817 properties spread throughout the five rental areas of 
Monmouthshire, which are, Abergavenny and Monmouth in the north of the County, 
Usk in the centre and Chepstow and Caldicot in the south.  It should be noted that 

Page 77



19 
 

these five areas relate to postcode areas in the county and the Hometrack system 
provides a breakdown only for these areas below the county as a whole. It was 
therefore not possible to correlate the rental analysis with the three housing market 
areas for Monmouthshire. 
 
The following figures show the distribution of rental properties by bedroom count and 
rental area. 
 
Figure 12 Number of Properties by Bedroom Count 

 

Source: Hometrack 
 
Figure 13 Number of Properties by Rental Area  

 

Source: Hometrack 

 
Historical Market Activity  
 
The following paragraphs analyse market activity over the last ten years 2010 to 2020 
using Hometrack’s comprehensive database of properties advertised, which is a 
sample size of 5,844 properties. 

627

17351911

452 92

Bedroom Count

Bed 1 Bed 2 Bed 3 Bed 4 bed 5+

1457

812
1050

906

592

Rental Area

Abergavenny Caldicot Chepstow Monmouth Usk

Page 78



20 
 

 
The following graphs shows the spread of the properties within the five main rental 
areas of Monmouthshire and by bedroom count. 
 
Figure 14 Number of Properties Advertised by Area 

 

Source: Hometrack 

 

Figure 15 Property Mix by Bedroom Count 

 

Source: Hometrack 

 
Figure 15 below shows the mix of rental listings over the last 12 months by bedroom 
count. The largest share was two bedroom properties with 36%, followed by three 
bedroom properties with 34%. One, four and five bedroom properties made up 3%, 
12% and 15% of the share respectively. 
 
  

1127
531

1981

1129 1076

5844

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

 Abergavenny Usk Chepstow Monmouth Caldicot Monmouthshire
Total

Number of Properties Advertised by Rental Areas 2010 - 2020

890

2105 1986

694
169

5844

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

 1 Bed 2 Bed 3 Bed 4 Bed 5+ Bed Total

Property Mix by Bedroom Count
2010 - 2020

Page 79



21 
 

Figure 16 Rental Listings by Bedroom Count 

 

Source: Hometrack 

 
Market Activity 
 
The data for this section includes only full years from 2010 – 2019. 
 

Figure 17 Rental Market Activity  

 
Source: Hometrack 
 

  

15%

36%
34%

12%
3%

Rental Listings by Bedroom Count

 1 Bed 2 Bed 3 Bed 4 Bed 5+ Bed

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Rental Market Activity 
2010 - 2019

Aber Chep Mon Cald Usk Monmouthshire

Page 80



22 
 

Figure 18 Market Activity by Rental Area 

 

Source: Hometrack 

 
Figure 16 shows the market activity has contracted quite considerably in the five rental 
areas and Monmouthshire as a whole the rental market contracted by almost 50% 
between 2010-2019. 
 
  

-74%

-16%

-70%

-65%

-8%

Market Activity by Rental Area
2010 - 2019

Aber Chep Mon Cald Usk

Page 81



23 
 

Market Rental Value Growth 
 
For this section, only data between one and four bedrooms was used due to the lack 
of available data five bedrooms. 
 

Percentage Increase / Decrease of Monthly Rents  
2010 - 2019 

Rental Area 
Number of bedrooms 

Average Rent Price 
Increase Since 2010 

Abergavenny 

1 Bed   22% 

2 Bed   16% 

3 Bed   22% 

4 Bed 11% 

Usk 

1 Bed   13% 

2 Bed   19% 

3 Bed   17% 

4 Bed -1% 

Chepstow 

1 Bed   34% 

2 Bed   26% 

3 Bed   28% 

4 Bed 43% 

Monmouth 

1 Bed   30% 

2 Bed   25% 

3 Bed   19% 

4 Bed 13% 

Caldicot 

1 Bed   34% 

2 Bed   26% 

3 Bed   19% 

4 Bed 46% 
Source: Hometrack 

 
Other than the Usk rental area, the other rental areas have seen a significant rise in 
monthly rental values over the past ten years. For Monmouthshire as a whole the 
rental values have seen an average increase of almost 25% on 2010 values. 
 
Current Rental Values  
 
Table 4 below illustrates the monthly rental values for the five rental areas as at 
Summer 2020.  For example, the rental value for a one-bed property in Abergavenny 
ranges from £815 (highest value) to £295 (lowest value) with an average value of £513 
and a median value of £475, based on a sample size of 192 properties. 
 
  

Page 82



24 
 

 Table 4 Monthly Rental Values  

  

Bedroom 
Category 

Sample 
Number of 
Properties  

Highest 
Current 
Monthly Rent  

Lowest 
Current 
Monthly 
Rent 

Average 
Current 
Monthly Rent 

Median  
Current 
Monthly 
Rent  

Abergavenny 

 1 Bed   192 £815 £295 £513 £475 

2 Bed   444 £925 £330 £634 £638 

3 Bed   347 £1,200 £405 £771 £755 

4 Bed 109 £2,195 £390 £1,070 £965 

5 + Bed 35 £3,535 £600 £1,649 £1,535 

Total 1127         

Usk 

 1 Bed   61 £710 £360 £535 £535 

2 Bed   178 £870 £398 £663 £660 

3 Bed   211 £1,190 £476 £805 £783 

4 Bed 65 £1,735 £424 £1,047 £960 

5 + Bed 16 £3,020 £1,100 £1,896 £1,818 

Total  531         

Chepstow 

 1 Bed   350 £770 £285 £559 £565 

2 Bed   650 £1,030 £485 £697 £695 

3 Bed   677 £2,055 £475 £845 £830 

4+ Bed 236 £2,380 £685 £1,295 £1,215 

5+ Bed 68 £3,165 £1,055 £1,663 £1,553 

Total 1981         

Monmouth 

 1 Bed   191 £710 £350 £529 £560 

2 Bed   450 £925 £410 £664 £665 

3 Bed   297 £1,545 £470 £836 £820 

4+Bed 151 £2,185 £700 £1,243 £1,170 

5+ Bed 40 £3,535 £1,065 £1,902 £1,813 

Total 1129         

Caldicot 

 1 Bed   96 £970 £250 £512 £520 

2 Bed   383 £885 £460 £655 £665 

3 Bed   454 £1,105 £535 £775 £770 

4+Bed 133 £1,515 £790 £1,051 £1,015 

5+ Bed 10 £2,010 £420 £1,450 £1,503 

Total 1076         

Source: Hometrack 

 

Local Housing Allowance Rates (LHA) 
 
Monmouthshire has one single rate for each bedroom category (maximum bedroom 
rate of four bedrooms for the county).  Table 5 illustrates the details for 2020/2021. 
 
  

Page 83



25 
 

Table 5 Local Housing Allowance Rates - 2020/2021  

Shared Allowance £329 

1 Bed   £414 

2 Bed   £549 

3 Bed   £648 

4+Bed £779 
 

The following table illustrates the number of available properties that are affordable to 
those in receipt of the appropriate LHA rate for their bedroom category. 
 
Table 6 Number of Properties at LHA Rate 

Rental Area Bedroom 
Count 

Sample 
Number of 
Properties  

Monthly 
LHA Rate 

Number of 
properties at or 
below LHA rate  

Percentage of 
properties at or 
below  LHA   

Abergavenny  1 Bed   192 £414.00 24 12.5% 

2 Bed   444 £549.00 81 18.2% 

3 Bed   347 £648.00 38 11.0% 

4 Bed 109 £779.00 5 4.6% 

Usk  1 Bed   61 £414.00 0 0.0% 

2 Bed   178 £549.00 21 11.8% 

3 Bed   211 £648.00 15 7.1% 

4 Bed 65 £779.00 3 4.6% 

Chepstow  1 Bed   350 £414.00 14 4.0% 

2 Bed   650 £549.00 9 1.4% 

3 Bed   677 £648.00 5 0.7% 

4+ Bed 236 £779.00 1 0.4% 

Monmouth  1 Bed   191 £414.00 22 11.5% 

2 Bed   450 £549.00 41 9.1% 

3 Bed   297 £648.00 5 1.7% 

4+Bed 151 £779.00 4 2.6% 

Caldicot  1 Bed   96 £414.00 8 8.3% 

2 Bed   383 £549.00 19 5.0% 

3 Bed   454 £648.00 11 2.4% 

4+Bed 133 £779.00 0 0.0% 

 

Source: Hometrack 

 

  

Total by Rental Properties 5675 Total Number of 
Properties at LHA 

Rate 

326 Percentage 5.75% 

Page 84



26 
 

Table 6 details the number of properties that came within the LHA rate applicable to 
their bedroom count is 326, which equates to 5.75% of the total number of available 
properties.  This data shows that it is highly unlikely that recipients of local housing 
allowance could afford to rent a property at market rent. 
 
Affordability 
 
To determine whether a household is able to afford to rent privately, a comparison was 
made between the median net annual household income and the median rental values 
for each property type by area. 
 
It is assumed that a maximum of 35% of net income can be spent on renting and that 
net income is 74% of gross income (accounting for tax and NI contributions). The 
calculation method and assumptions are in line with guidance on calculating 
affordability issued by the Homes and Communities Agency. 
 
Table 7 shows the net median family income required to meet the median rental values 
of each bedroom count. Note that the median wage has two values. This represents 
those residents that work “in county” and those that work “out of county”. This latter 
category represent 40% of the total work force.   
 
  

Page 85



27 
 

Table 7 Affordability – Net Median Wage Based on Median Rents by Bedroom Category 

Rental Area 

  Sample 
Number 
of 
Properties  

Highest 
Current 
Monthly 
Rent  

Lowest 
Current 
Monthly 
Rent 

Median  
Current 
Monthly 
Rent  

Rent as a 
percentage 
of Median 
Monthly 
Wage (In 
County) 

Rent as a 
percentage 
of Median 
Monthly 
Wage (Out 
of County) 

In 
County 
Median 
Net 
Wage. 

 Out of 
County 
Net Wage. 

Abergavenny 

 1 Bed   192 £815.00 £295.00 £475.00 26.0% 30.6% £1,828 £2,085 

2 Bed   444 £925.00 £330.00 £638.00 34.9% 30.6%     

3 Bed   347 £1,200.00 £405.00 £755.00 41.3% 36.2%     

4 Bed 109 £2,195.00 £390.00 £965.00 52.8% 46.3%     

5 + Bed 35 £3,535.00 £600.00 £1,535.00 84.0% 73.6%     

Total 1127               

 Usk 

 1 Bed   61 £710.00 £360.00 £535.00 25.7% 25.7%     

2 Bed   178 £870.00 £398.00 £660.00 36.1% 31.7%     

3 Bed   211 £1,190.00 £476.00 £782.50 42.8% 37.5%     

4 Bed 65 £1,735.00 £424.00 £960.00 52.5% 46.1%     

5 + Bed 16 £3,020.00 £1,100.00 £1,817.50 99.4% 87.2%     

Total  531               

Chepstow 

 1 Bed   350 £770.00 £285.00 £565.00 30.9% 27.1%     

2 Bed   650 £1,030.00 £485.00 £695.00 38.0% 33.0%     

3 Bed   677 £2,055.00 £475.00 £830.00 45.4% 40.0%     

4+ Bed 236 £2,380.00 £685.00 £1,215.00 66.5% 58.0%     

5+ Bed 68 £3,165.00 £1,055.00 £1,552.50 84.9% 74.0%     

Total 1981               

Monmouth 

 1 Bed   191 £710.00 £350.00 £560.00 30.6% 26.9%     

2 Bed   450 £925.00 £410.00 £665.00 36.4% 31.9%     

3 Bed   297 £1,545.00 £470.00 £820.00 44.9% 39.3%     

4+Bed 151 £2,185.00 £700.00 £1,170.00 64.0% 56.1%     

5+ Bed 40 £3,535.00 £1,065.00 £1,812.50 99.2% 87.0%     

Total 1129               

Caldicot 

 1 Bed   96 £970.00 £250.00 £520.00 28.5% 25.0%     

2 Bed   383 £885.00 £460.00 £665.00 36.4% 31.9%     

3 Bed   454 £1,105.00 £535.00 £770.00 42.1% 36.9%     

4+Bed 133 £1,515.00 £790.00 £1,015.00 55.5% 48.7%     

5+ Bed 10 £2,010.00 £420.00 £1,502.50 82.2% 72.18%     

Total 1076               

Source: Hometrack 
 

With the net monthly median earnings for people residing and working in 
Monmouthshire being £1,828 and for people residing in Monmouthshire but working 
outside the county being £2,085, accessing properties in the private rental sector  in 
Monmouthshire remains a challenge for a large number of households (Source: Nomis 
Official Labour Market Statistics). 
 

Page 86



28 
 

2.6 Affordability 
 
Although average wages have increased over the last two years for Monmouthshire 
residents, the high house prices in Monmouthshire still puts owning a home beyond 
the reach of many families who live and work in Monmouthshire.  
 
Average earnings for those who work in Monmouthshire are £570 per week or £29,640 
per annum. This is above the Wales average of £535 per week or £27,820 per annum. 
The average earnings of people who live in Monmouthshire and travel to work 
elsewhere are higher at £694.60 per week or £36,119.20 per annum.  This is above 
the Wales average of £540.70 or £28,116.40.   
 
Source: ONS - Annual survey of hours and earnings (2019 figures) 

 
Higher Managerial Socio-economic Status  
 
Monmouthshire’s economically active population can be broken down by occupation, 
51.5% of residents are recorded as working in Higher Managerial or Professional   
positions and this compares to a Wales average of 42.6%. The house purchasing 
ability of this socio-economic group is far greater than local people on local incomes, 
and is one of the reasons why house prices, especially in rural areas are so 
unaffordable.  With the removal of Severn Bridge tolls at the end of 2018, it is quite 
likely that there will be further counter-urbanisation from Bristol into Monmouthshire 
with both house prices and rental values in the private rented sector being pushed up 
even higher.  
 
Source: ONS - Annual survey of hours and earnings (2019 figures) 

 

2.7 Entry Level Property Price 
 
The entry level house price for Monmouthshire is £200,000. 
 
There are cheaper properties are available to buy in the county, but this figure reflects 
the market evidence of where the majority of first-time buyers access home ownership 
in Monmouthshire. 
 
The £200,000 figure is the lower quartile price of a semi-detached house in 
Monmouthshire, based on sales and valuations. The reason it is based on sales and 
valuations is with far fewer sales taking place in 2020, combining it with valuation data 
gives a more up-to-date and robust figure.  
 
Semi-detached properties account for just under 30% of all housing in Monmouthshire, 
so they are widely available in all areas of the county, as opposed to terraced 
properties which account for only 17% of the housing stock and detached properties 
which account for nearly 45% of the stock. Detached properties are significantly more 
expensive and therefore not considered entry level.  
 
Although there are obvious differences between housing markets within 
Monmouthshire, the differences in semi-detached prices is not significant. The most 
recent market data shows the figure for Abergavenny to be the cheapest for semi-

Page 87



29 
 

detached at £175,000, with Caldicot being the most expensive area at £210,000. 
Although the figure for Abergavenny does appear low, using sales only data the lower 
quartile figure is then £210,000, but this in based on a property count of only seven 
properties.  
 
To be able to access home ownership in Monmouthshire, with an entry level price of 
£200,000, after allowing for a 15% deposit of £30,000 a household’s income would 
need to be over £48,500 based on a mortgage offer at 3.5 times the household income.  
 
According to the latest Hometrack data, the current Monmouthshire average house 
price to average income ratio is 7.23:1. In other words, people living in Monmouthshire 
would need over seven times their income to be able to afford an averaged priced 
property. That ratio increases to 9:1 for someone on a lower quartile income. 
 
Rural house prices in Monmouthshire usually attract a significant premium and with 
the majority of housing being detached a separate entry level price for the rural parts 
of the country was not considered to be necessary. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 88



30 
 

 

3. Monmouthshire Housing Market Areas 
 
Monmouthshire’s housing market has contracted slightly each year since the 2016 
Brexit referendum, but when combined with the Covid-19 pandemic, the current local 
housing market is very unpredictable and with significantly fewer sales, it looks quite 
different to how it ever has before. There are so many inconsistencies in the market, 
for example, many expensive houses have been sold in rural areas, yet house prices 
have been contracting slightly in the towns of Chepstow and Abergavenny, so a 
county-wide average price does not provide a robust base to develop policy on.  
 
Despite a lack of data, it is still possible to split the county into three distinct housing 
market areas. After a detailed examination of available data and the various 
geographical levels, which included electoral wards, postcode districts and super 
output areas, the data indicates that the county closely follows the three travel to work 
boundaries that fall in Monmouthshire’s boundary that is: 
 

 Chepstow Housing Market Area (Newport Travel to Work Area) 

 Monmouth Housing Market Area( Cinderford and Ross-on-Wye Travel to Work  
Area) 

 Abergavenny Housing Market Area (Merthyr Tydfil Travel to Work Area)   
 
The Travel to Work Areas which fall within Monmouthshire’s boundaries are shown in 
Figure 18.  
 
Travel to Work Areas are areas derived to approximate labour market areas. In other 
words, they are derived to reflect self-contained areas where most people both live 
and work. The current criteria for defining a Travel to Work Area is that at least 75% 
of the area’s resident workforce in the area and at least 75% of the people who work 
in the area also live in the area.  
 
Over time there has been a consistent reduction in the number of Travel to Work Areas 
in the UK as more people tend to commute longer distances to work. There were 228 
Travel to Work Areas following the 2011 Census, but with the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic and the increasing number of people working from home, there is likely to 
be a further reduction following the 2021 Census. 
 
  

Page 89



31 
 

Figure 19 Monmouthshire Travel to Work Areas 

 

Page 90



32 
 

 
As well as the commentary and figures provided for the three housing market areas in 
Monmouthshire, additional data is presented for the whole county to provide the wider 
context. 
 

3.1 Abergavenny Housing Market Area  
 
This is the lowest priced of the three housing market areas in Monmouthshire with the 
current average house price of £292,567 (Figure 19) based on 559 sales and 
valuations for the twelve months up until August.  
 
As with the two other housing market areas there has been a big downturn in the 
number of transactions for the twelve month period ending in August 2020 compared 
with the twelve month period ending in August 2019, when there were 741 sales and 
valuations.  
 
The Abergavenny Housing Market Area has experienced a 5.6% growth in prices over 
the last year and 23.6% growth over the last four years. The Middle Super Output Area 
002 which fits completely within a part of the town boundary has experienced negative 
growth over the last twelve months with the average price in August 2019 being 
£247,670 compared to £243,670 now. The disparity in prices between certain areas 
in Abergavenny is significant so the price difference is most likely due to the type of 
properties being sold and valued. For example if more properties on the west side of 
Abergavenny, adjacent to the Brecon Beacons National Park are included in these 
averages, the average price will be higher.  
 
The most expensive part of this housing market area, is Lower Super Output Area 
005B which includes Llanover and Llanfair Kilgeddin with the current average house 
price at £495,940. 
 
The Abergavenny Housing Market Area has always attracted strong demand, as part 
of it lies within the Brecon Beacons National Park, it has very good road and rail 
infrastructure, it has a hospital and it has a very strong retail offering. With the hospital 
being downgraded this might impact on the nature of future housing demand, but its 
location and network infrastructure is the key to the housing market remaining strong. 
 

3.2 Chepstow Housing Market Area 
 
The current average price for the Chepstow Housing Market Area is £321,888 (Figure 
19) based on a sample size of 1197 sales and valuations for the twelve months up 
until August 2020.  
 
As with many other areas, what is immediately noticeable is the downturn in 
transactions over the twelve months up to and including August 2020 when compared 
to the twelve months ending in August 2019. There were 1579 sales and valuations 
over the previous twelve month period.  
 
This area of Monmouthshire has experienced the highest percentage of house price 
growth over the last four years including the last 12 months.  What these headline 
figures do not show is that the majority of the growth has been concentrated in the 

Page 91



33 
 

rural areas. An examination of house prices in Chepstow town alone shows that it has 
had zero price growth over the last twelve months, with average prices for the town 
dropping slightly from £225,088 in August 2019 to £224,924 in August 2020. The lack 
of growth may well be as a result of the significant price growth the town had over the 
previous three years with a percentage increase of 33.3%.  Another reason could be 
the very low level of new home completions in Chepstow over the last decade. 
 
The most expensive rural part of the Chepstow Housing Market Area, is Lower Super 
Output Area 007A which includes, St Arvans, Devauden, Llangwm and Llansoy with 
a current average house price of £521,368. 
 
It is difficult to predict what will happen to the Chepstow Housing Market area with the 
ongoing Covid pandemic and the UK’s exit from the EU, but if the last six months are 
an indicator then the rural parts of this area will continue to experience strong demand. 
The urban parts of this area provide less clarity, demand will very much depend on the 
health of the local economy and the retail experience provided in the towns, as well 
as the provision of new quality development. For example, the Waitrose store in 
Caldicot will close which will be a big loss to the southern part of the county.  Normally, 
such a change could have a significant impact on the local housing market, however 
the vacated store has already been purchased by Aldi, and the town regeneration 
plans and new secondary school together with proposed public transport 
improvements will increase the town’s appeal. 
 

3.3 Monmouth Housing Market Area 
 
The current average house price for the Monmouth Housing Market Area is £363,359 
(Figure 19) based on a sample size of 363 sales and valuations for the twelve months 
up until August 2020.  
 
There is a significant downturn in the number of transactions for the twelve month 
period ending in August 2020 when compared to the twelve month period ending in 
August 2019. For the twelve months ending in August 2019, there were 524 sales and 
valuations.  
 
This area of Monmouthshire has experienced the lowest percentage price increases 
over the last four years, but over the last twelve months house price growth has been 
very strong at 6.5%. Unlike Chepstow and Abergavenny, the other two major towns in 
Monmouthshire, the town of Monmouth, which includes Wyesham, has had annual 
growth of 5.9%, with the average house prices increasing from £280,886 in August 
2019 to £297,366. One of the contributory factors to this growth may well be the 
availability of new build properties for sale, which usually attract a premium. Even 
though the average price in Monmouth is significantly higher than Chepstow, an 
examination of the average price per square metre shows that Monmouth provides 
better value per square metre. Over the six month ending in August 2020, the average 
price per square metre of properties in Chepstow was £2,399 per square metre 
compared to £2,143 in Monmouth.  
 
The most expensive part of the Monmouth Housing Market area is Lower Super 
Output Area 005D, which includes Mitchel Troy, Dingestow and Tregare, with the 
current average house price being £615,949.  

Page 92



34 
 

 
The neighbouring area of Forest of Dean has experienced very significant house price 
growth over the last twelve months of 21.8% and this is in the same travel to work 
area. It does appear with people either willing to travel further to work or have no need 
to travel, then housing markets which have previously provided very good value are 
now becoming sort after. Therefore if that trend continues, the Monmouth Housing 
Market Area will continue to see demand and house price growth for the foreseeable 
future. 
 
Figure 20 Average House Prices in Monmouthshire’s Housing Market Areas 

 
 
Source: Hometrack 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

50000

100000

150000

200000

250000

300000

350000

400000

Chepstow Monmouth Abergavenny

Average House Price

2016 2019 2020

Page 93



35 
 

 
 
 

4. Methodology and Data Sources for Assessing Housing Need 
 
This Local Housing Market Assessment has utilised the Welsh Government’s 
guidance documents: 
 
Local Housing Market Assessment Guide, March 2006 
 
and 
 
Getting Started with your Local Housing Market Assessment - A Step by Step 
Guide, November 2014. 
 
The guidance aims to enable local authorities to develop an understanding of the 
nature and level of housing demand and need in their local housing markets and 
outlines a quantitative approach to calculating housing need.  The methodology for 
determining housing need follows a process: 
 
Figure 21 Bathtub Analogy 

The LHMA provides a snapshot of the housing market at a particular point in time, 
which is projected forward 5 years, however, the fluidity of the housing market requires 
regular updates to ensure a robust and valid evidence base.  It is therefore the 
intention to review the data within this LHMA every two years. 
 
This assessment uses a range of datasets. The primary sources of data are: 
 

 Hometrack  

 

Newly arising need 
Existing households falling 

into need 

Backlog of need 

(bathwater) 
Supply of affordable 

housing 

Page 94



36 
 

 Office of National Statistics 

 CACI Paycheck 

 Monmouthshire’s Common Housing Register 

 NOMIS – Official Labour Market Statistics 

 Ministry of Justice 
 
The Welsh Government guidance suggests that analysis should be undertaken at 
ward level as data is available at this level for all stages of the analysis.  However, it 
is acknowledged that some authorities may consider alternative spatial scales to be 
more appropriate. The findings of this LHMA have been analysed across three housing 
market areas. This approach was adopted because housing markets are not 
representative of ward boundaries and with such a significant downturn in the number 
of sales and valuations, ward level data was found to be very inconsistent and could 
not be relied on. Therefore the use of Lower Super Output Areas and Middle Super 
Output Areas, which are statistical geographies designed to improve the reporting of 
small area statistics in England and Wales, have been used for the robustness of data.  
The three housing market areas in Monmouthshire are illustrated in Figure 21. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 95



37 
 

 

Figure 22 Map of Monmouthshire Housing Market Areas 

 

Page 96



38 
 

 

4.1 Backlog of Housing Need 
 
Backlog refers to the number of households who are currently unable to satisfy their 
housing need via the open market and have applied to the local authority for 
assistance. This was determined by collating data from Monmouthshire’s common 
housing register and considered the Homesearch waiting list, which is the social rent 
list and the Low Cost Home Ownership waiting list. 
 
The housing register includes a proportion of applicants who are not in housing need 
and the guidance recommends that a reduction is made to account for this.  For the 
purposes of this assessment, those households with sufficient financial resources to 
satisfy their housing need on the open market, those households considered to be 
adequately housed and existing RSL tenants were excluded. 
 
The number of applicants registered will continually fluctuate but at the time of writing 
there are over 3,500 households waiting for housing of which 2,435 households have 
a recognised housing need. 
 
Limitations 
 
Monmouthshire operates a choice based lettings scheme for social housing, so whilst 
applicants are asked for their areas of preference, they still have the freedom to apply 
for housing in any part of the borough. It is therefore important to acknowledge that 
areas of preference can only ever be seen as an indication of where there is a housing 
need and not a definitive list of where more housing is required. In addition, whilst 
demand for property may be higher in some parts of Monmouthshire, land availability 
means that the ability to deliver properties in specific areas is inevitably limited and 
applicants may have to meet their housing need in alternative areas. 
 
Total Backlog 
 
The following table shows the total annual backlog (over 5 years) by submarket area 
using data from the housing register.  
 

Table 8 Gross Annual Affordable Housing Need 

Submarket 
Area 

1 Bed 2 Bed 3 Bed 4 Bed 5 Bed Total 

Abergavenny 108 48 15 3 1 175 

Chepstow  139 65 22 7 1 234 

Monmouth 58 25 9 2 1 95 

Total 305 138 46 12 3 504 

 

 

 

 

Page 97



39 
 

4.2 Newly Arising Need 
 
Once the backlog for affordable housing has been determined, it is necessary to factor 
in newly arising need, by calculating how many new households will form in the next 
five years and estimating how many of them will require affordable housing. 
 
Newly forming households are determined by using the WG population projections; 
2018-based household projections for local authorities in Wales. Whilst these 
projections are based on a number of assumptions, including future births, deaths and 
migration, it remains the most reliable source of data available for estimating future 
population growth. Additional policy based assumptions have been added which 
reflect the issues that the Replacement Local Development Plan is looking to address. 
 
To calculate the overall number of new households arising in the next five years, the 
total projected figures for 2020 were subtracted from the projected figures for 2025, 
leaving a total net growth figure of 1690 households. Using 2011 Census data, as a 
guide, these figures were disaggregated to calculate the proportion of new households 
residing in each ward and submarket area. 
 
Table 9 Net Household Growth 2020 - 2025 

Submarket Area 
Total Growth 

(5 years) Annual Growth 

Abergavenny 527 105.4 

Chepstow  894 178.8 

Monmouth 269 53.8 

Total 1690 338 

 
New Households priced out of the Market 
 
Not all new households will require affordable housing, but it is important to calculate 

how many could be priced out of the housing market.  We have no way of knowing 

how many of these households will require assistance from the Local Authority in the 

form of affordable housing.  The data is unable to tell us someone’s personal 

circumstances; they may have inheritance or financial support from family to enter the 

property market without assistance.   

 

Help to Buy is available in Monmouthshire and the scheme may be extended beyond 

March 2021.  Since its inception in 2014, 266 properties have been purchased in 

Monmouthshire and it remains an option to assist those struggling to purchase a 

property without any support (October 2020, Source: Stats Wales). 

 

Using a 3.5:1 ratio, which is the standard earning to house price calculator for most 
mortgage lenders, and comparing income data (CACI Paycheck) to the 
Monmouthshire entry level property price of £200,000 (Hometrack), an estimate of 
households priced out of the market has been achieved. 
 
 

Page 98



40 
 

 
Table 10 Households priced out of the Market 

Submarket 
Area 

Annual 
Growth 

% priced out of 
market 

Annual 
Requirement 

Abergavenny 105 72.38% 76 

Chepstow 179 63.68% 114 

Monmouth 54 68.51% 37 

Total 338 68.19% 227 

 
The findings show that approximately 227 households will be priced out of the market 
each year, a total of 1,135 households over the next five years. 
 

4.3 Existing Households Falling into Housing Need 
 
The LHMA also needs to take account of existing households that may fall into need 
each year due to homelessness.  WG guidance states that this should be estimated 
by looking at recent trends.  Ministry of Justice data is available at Local Authority level 
and can be used to identify the number of mortgage and landlord possession claims 
leading to orders.  Ministry of Justice data shows that there are approximately 208 
landlord and mortgage repossessions within Monmouthshire for the period 2015 – 
2020. Some of these households will already have been included in the homeless 
households counted below, but others will not, further increasing the overall demand 
for affordable housing.  
 
During the same period there were 1,003 homelessness presentations which required 
temporary accommodation.  Dividing the homelessness total by 5 gives an average of 
200.6 existing households falling into housing need each year until 2025.  To give an 
estimation of distribution at ward level the census ward level proportions were applied 
to the 200.6 figure and an indicative breakdown of bedroom size required was factored 
in by applying the proportionate demand identified from the Common Housing 
Register.  The results are shown in table 11. 
 
Table 11 Existing Households Falling into Need 

Submarket Area 1 Bed  2 Bed  3 Bed  4 Bed Total 

Abergavenny 38.16 16.9 5.63 1.88 62.57 

Chepstow  64.72 28.65 9.54 3.03 105.94 

Monmouth 19.46 8.62 2.87 0.96 31.91 

Total 122.34 54.17 18.04 5.87 200.42 

 
Another area of need, which is not been specifically covered in the above data sets, 
relates to households who are leaving hospital or institutional care and are unable to 
return to their existing accommodation.  Housing and Communities are working closely 
with Aneurin Bevan Health Board Health and Social Care colleagues to identify these 
households to adequately meet their housing needs, either through existing stock or 
through new build bespoke accommodation. 

Page 99



41 
 

Further Consideration – Covid-19 Pandemic 
 
The data set above utilises statistics from the last 5 years (2014 - 2019).  It does not 
consider the current socio and economic environment due to the impact of Covid-19 
on existing households.  Many self-employed and small business owner households 
living in Monmouthshire could be experiencing furlough, reduced wages or 
unemployment, and the effects of Government restrictions due to the pandemic.   
 
The medium to long-term impact of this is unknown, however, it is reasonable to 
assume that some of these households may encounter financial difficulties, which 
could lead to mortgage or rent arrears.  There is currently a moratorium in place until 
31st March 2021, which requires landlords to serve a 6 month notice to terminate a 
tenancy (unless in exceptional circumstances) and mortgage lenders are offering 
payment holidays for homeowners struggling to make their mortgage repayments.  
These measures are temporary in nature and although they have been extended 
during the pandemic, they will cease at some point in the future.    
 
Another matter for consideration is Welsh Government issued specific guidance 
requiring the Council to accommodate those who are rough sleeping or displaced for 
public health reasons.  Welsh Government issued further guidance in Phase 2 
Planning Guidance for Homelessness & Housing Related Support. This sets out 
Welsh Government’s three-phase plan to reduce homelessness post Covid-19.  This 
requires the Council to:  
 

 Continue to support those placed in temporary accommodation and anyone 

still to be placed. 

 Prepare a transition plan setting out the provision of more sustainable 

accommodation.   

 Improve the quality and availability of temporary, permanent, semi-

permanent and supported accommodation.  There is an emphasis on the 

provision of self-contained accommodation and a range of different types. 

 

It is expected that both of these issues will increase demand from existing households 

and see more people fall into housing need, over and above anything we have 

previously seen in Monmouthshire. 

 

4.4 Affordable Housing Supply 
 
To predict accurately future housing demand, it is essential to take into consideration 
current supply, turnover and the number of new build properties that will need to be 
developed in the next five years. 
 
Existing Affordable Housing Stock – General Needs  
 
Table 12 shows the breakdown of current affordable housing stock, which is managed 
by RSL’s.  Monmouthshire Housing Association, Melin Homes and Pobl own and 
manage the majority of this accommodation. 
 
 

Page 100



42 
 

Table 12 Existing Housing Stock – General Needs 

Submarket Area 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5 bed 6 bed 8 bed Total 

Abergavenny 354 463 621 59 2 0 0 1,499 

Chepstow  536 788 861 69 1 1 0 2,256 

Monmouth 158 257 322 17 0 0 1 755 

Total 1,048 1,508 1,804 145 3 1 1 4,510 

 
Existing Affordable Housing Stock – Older Person’s Housing 
 
The information in Table 13 below shows the provision of older person’s 
accommodation in Monmouthshire. 
 
Table 13 Existing Housing Stock – Older Persons Housing 

Submarket Area Bedsit 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed Total 

Abergavenny 20 289 148 9 0 466 

Chepstow 0 322 156 2 1 481 

Monmouth 0 208 54 2 0 264 

Total 20 819 358 13 1 1,211 

 
Social Rent Lettings 
 
Past letting trends were analysed over the previous 3 years – 2017/18, 2018/19 and 
2019/20 and an average was taken in order to predict the likely number of lets that will 
come forward each year of the LHMA period.  Like the housing register data used in 
calculating the backlog of need, this lettings data did not contain existing RSL tenants 
who were rehoused.   
 
Table 14 Lettings Data 2017 - 2020 

Year Number of Lets 

2017/18 316 

2018/19 337 

2019/20 330 

Annual Average 327.66 

 

4.5 Committed Supply of New Affordable Homes 
 
In addition to projected lets, the anticipated quantity of affordable housing ‘already 
planned to be built over the time period of the assessment’ should also be considered 
(WAG, 2006b, para. 6.81).  Data sources used to determine this were:  
 

 Social Housing Grant Programme 

 Joint Housing Land Availability Study 

 Local Development Plan  

Page 101



43 
 

 
Planning applications granted permission subject to S106 agreements were also 
factored in and only schemes highly likely to be delivered over the next five years were 
considered.  The relevant data was formatted by ward, property size and property type.  
Table 15 shows the committed supply of affordable housing over the next five years.   
  
Over the next five years, the total number of properties planned is as follows:  
 

 Neutral tenure affordable housing - 534.05 
 
Table 15 Committed Supply of New Affordable Homes (5 years) 

Submarket Area 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed Total 

Abergavenny 89.25 72.9 24.35 4 190.5 

Chepstow 100 74.7 35.3 8 218 

Monmouth 42 50.1 29.45 4 125.55 

Total 231.25 197.70 89.10 16 534.05 

 
 
  

Page 102



44 
 

5. Key Findings 
 
The net shortfall of affordable housing is calculated by taking the backlog of need 
(Housing Register data divided by five for each year of the LHMA period) and adding 
existing households falling into need and newly arising need.  The committed supply 
of affordable housing is deducted from this figure leaving the estimated annual 
shortfall. It would, however, be inaccurate to assume that each home would only be 
occupied once over the next five years and not allowing for turnover could potentially 
inflate the requirement for new affordable housing.  Current levels of turnover were 
calculated by dividing average lets over the last three years by existing social rented 
stock and the related ward level turnover for each property type was factored into the 
net shortfall for each ward to determine the annual affordable dwelling requirement. 
 

5.1 Social Rent 
 

The backlog of housing need from Monmouthshire’s Common Housing Register is 

2,435 (Para 4.1).  Dividing this figure by 5 for each year of the LHMA gives an annual 

figure of 487.  Existing households falling into need due to homelessness has been 

calculated as an additional 200.6 households per year (Para 4.3) and newly arising 

need as 77 households per year (Para 4.2).  This gives a need figure of 764.6 per 

annum. 

 

The combined annual average of lets and committed supply figure is 435.10 per 

annum (Para 4.5).  Deducting this figure from the need figure gives a net need of 

329.50, the turnover rate (the average turnover rate has been calculated at 3%) is 

applied to give the annual social rented need for Monmouthshire.  There are 319.6 

social rent properties required for each year of the LHMA. 

 

5.2 Low Cost Home Ownership (LCHO) 

 
The annual backlog for LCHO is 17 and the newly arising need is calculated as 117, 

this gives a gross need of 134.  When the committed supply of 18.8 is deducted this 

gives a net annual need of 115.2 LCHO properties for each year of the LHMA. 

 

5.3 Intermediate Rent 
 

There isn’t currently a backlog of recorded need for intermediate rental properties, this 

is due to how the housing register is currently set up and applicants being able to 

register for either social rent or LCHO or both.  Past experience of allocating 

intermediate rents have shown there is demand and applicants have come from the 

LCHO waiting list and band 4 and 5 of the social rent waiting list.  As there is no 

definitive waiting list for intermediate rent, we have assumed a backlog of zero.  There 

is scope to provide Intermediate rent in Monmouthshire and the annual newly arising 

need is calculated at 33, which gives a need of 33 intermediate rents for each year of 

the LHMA. 

 

 

Page 103



45 
 

5.4 Gypsy and Travellers   
 
At the time of writing the LHMA, an updated Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 
Assessment (GTAA) for the period 2020 to 2025 was out for consultation. The draft 
GTAA concluded that there is an unmet need of nine pitches under the assessment 
period 2020 to 2025 with a further unmet need of four pitches over the remaining length 
of the Replacement Local Development Plan (2026 – 2033).  
 

5.5 Summary of Annual Affordable Housing Shortfall 
 
The illustration in Figure 22 shows the summary of the shortfall of affordable housing 
for each tenure type. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 104



46 
 

 
 
Figure 23 Annual Affordable Housing Shortfall  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
O Backlog 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
  

Newly Arising 
Need 

77 

Gross Social 
Rent Need 

764.60 

Committed 
Supply 
435.10 

 

Plus 

Equals 

Net LCHO 
Need 
115.2 

IR Backlog 
0 

IR Newly 
Arising Need 

33 

Committed 
Supply 

0 

Net IR Need 
33 

Plus Plus 

Plus 

Minus Minus 

Plus 

Equals Equals 

Equals 

Minus 

Social Rent 
Backlog 

487 

Annual Overall 
Shortfall  
467.81 

Existing 
Households 

200.6 

LCHO 
17 

LCHO Newly 
Arising Need 

117 

Committed 
Supply 

18.8 

Social Rent 
Need 

319.61 (68%) 

LCHO 
Need 

115.20 

(25%) 

IR Need 
33 (7%) 

Total Need 
467.81 

Equals

 
 Equals 

134 

Equals 
Equals 

33 

Net Social 
Rent Need 

319.61 

Equals

 

Turnover Rate 
3% 

Subtract 

329.50 

Plus 

Equals 

Page 105



47 
 

6. Conclusion 
 

This LHMA has utilised the Welsh Government Guidance to consider the affordable 
housing requirements within Monmouthshire from 2020 to 2025.   
 
A variety of secondary data has been utilised including figures from the common 
housing register, household projections, residential possession orders, homelessness 
data, up to date house prices, private rented sector statistics, income levels, existing 
RSL stock and committed affordable housing supply.  An in-depth analysis of these 
sources has produced a robust update on previous findings.  Much of the data was 
gathered at ward level before being amalgamated into the three distinct housing 
market areas. 
 
The annual shortfall of affordable housing in Monmouthshire for 2020 to 2025 is 
467.81 dwellings.  This can be broken down to a shortfall of 319.61 social rented 
properties, 115.20 low cost home ownership properties and 33 intermediate rents per 
annum which gives a split of 68% social rents required and 32% intermediate (LCHO 
and intermediate rent) need. 
 
The highest property type needed for all areas is one bedroom properties.  The Council 
is seeing an increased number of single households registering on Homesearch and 
also growing numbers of single people requiring support from the Housing Options 
Team.  Due to the scarcity of one bedroom properties, the demand is far outstripping 
supply and leading to long waiting times on the register.  Though it may seem obvious 
to focus on the shortage of one bedroom properties, this must be balanced with 
creating sustainable and resilient communities and ensuring a mix of all house types 
and tenures. 
 
The 467.81 figure should not be taken as an annual target for the delivery of affordable 
housing; it is an indication of current projected need and sets a benchmark the Council 
can work towards.  New build homes are not the only solution to the supply of 
affordable accommodation and the Council is working with landlords in the private 
rented sector to increase the options available as well as engaging property owners 
who own empty properties. 
 
There are many factors that impact on supply and demand for housing and these will 
be reviewed on a regular basis in order to update the LHMA.  This will ensure that both 
the Local Authority and its partners have a clear understanding of housing need in 
Monmouthshire and that they are able to work together to ensure the best outcomes 
for residents of Monmouthshire. 

Page 106



Appendix 2 
 

 

 
     
 

Name of the Officer Louise Corbett  
 
Phone no: 07970 957039 
E-mail:  louisecorbett@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 

Submit the completed Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) to the 

Welsh Government in accordance with statutory requirements. 

Name of Service area 

Housing & Communities 

Date  16th November 2020 

 

1. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the 

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below.  

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age The LHMA provides an assessment of 

housing need for households of all ages 

and supports the delivery of affordable 

housing. 

None N/A 

Disability The LHMA provides an assessment of 

housing need for households with 

disabilities and supports the delivery of 

adapted housing and supported housing. 

None N/A 

Equality and Future Generations Evaluation  
 

P
age 107



Appendix 2 
 

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Gender 

reassignment 

.None None N/A 

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

None None N/A 

Pregnancy or 

maternity 

None None N/A 

Race .None None N/A 

Religion or Belief .None None N/A 

Sex None None N/A 

Sexual Orientation .None None N/A 

 

Welsh Language 

None  None N/A 

P
age 108



Appendix 2 
 

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

 

Poverty 

The LHMA provides an assessment of 

need for affordable housing and supports 

delivery of appropriate housing for 

households that do not earn enough to 

satisfy their housing need on the open 

market. 

None N/A 

 

2. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together 

with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.  There’s no need to put something in every box if it is 

not relevant! 

Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

Positive: The LHMA provides an indication of 

affordable housing need and is part of the evidence 

base, which informs future plans. Affordable housing 

helps the overall prosperity of neighbourhoods and 

residents (e.g. a stable home to access employment) 

and contributes towards balanced and resilient 

communities that are sustainable.   The building of 

new affordable housing also contributes to the 

economy with regard to the supply chain, 

employment and apprenticeship opportunities. 

Negative: None 

N/A 

P
age 109



Appendix 2 
 

Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change) 

N/A N/A 

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximized and health 
impacts are understood 

Positive: The LHMA provides an assessment of 

affordable housing need and ensures that affordable 

housing is suitable for the identified need.  Needs 

considered include those who have physical health 

issues, mental health issues or other welfare needs.  

The provision of suitable housing can assist in 

promoting good health, independence and well-

being.   

Negative: None 

N/A 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected 

Positive: Affordable housing makes an important 

contribution to the sustainability and cohesiveness of 

our towns and villages by providing homes that local 

people can afford to live in and helps to mitigate 

against the need to move away. 

Negative: None. 

N/A 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing 

N/A N/A 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 

N/A N/A 

P
age 110



Appendix 2 
 

Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 
are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances 

The LHMA provides an assessment of housing 

need and supports delivery of affordable 

housing.  Landlords of affordable homes offer a 

range of support such as financial inclusion or 

education and employment opportunities - all of 

which contributes to empowering people and 

helps them fulfil their potential.  

N/A 

 

3. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Balancing 

short term 

need with 

long term and 

planning for 

the future 

The LHMA provides an assessment of the current 

housing market in addition to assessing the need for all 

types of affordable housing.  The report also assesses 

housing need against the committed supply of 

affordable housing over the next 5 years.  Information 

contained in the LHMA will contribute towards the 

evidence base for a range of housing and planning 

related plans and policies. 

The LHMA will be updated in 2022 

P
age 111



Appendix 2 
 

Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Working 

together with 

other 

partners to 

deliver 

objectives  

The findings of the LHMA will contribute to negotiations 

with RSL’s and private developers to ensure the right 

type of affordable housing is delivered in the right 

location.   

The LHMA will be updated in 2022  

Involving 

those with 

an interest 

and seeking 

their views 

N/A N/A 

Putting 

resources 

into 

preventing 

problems 

occurring or 

getting 

worse 

The LHMA helps to identify emerging trends in house 

prices together with the current and future housing 

needs of Monmouthshire households and will be used 

as part of the evidence base for a range of housing and 

planning related plans and strategies. 

N/A 

P
age 112



Appendix 2 
 

Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Considering 

impact on all 

wellbeing 

goals 

together and 

on other 

bodies 

Affordable housing makes an important contribution to 

the sustainability of our towns and villages by providing 

homes that local people on low incomes can afford to 

live in.  The allocation of affordable housing seeks to 

support those in housing need and vulnerable 

households, the housing application assessment 

considers a range of needs including medical and 

welfare needs and banding is awarded in line with 

someone’s circumstances.  An allocation of affordable 

housing is often a betterment to an individual’s 

circumstances.  RSL partners offer a range support to 

their tenants such as financial inclusion, advice in 

relation to fuel poverty/energy efficiency or advice 

around education and employment all of which help the 

individual as well as the economy and environment 

N/A 

 
4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on the following important responsibilities: Social Justice, 

Corporate Parenting and Safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect any of these responsibilities?   
 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has  

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has  

What will you do/ have you done 
to mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Social Justice The LHMA supports the delivery of 
affordable housing and provides data on 
housing need down to ward level. 

N/A N/A 

P
age 113



Appendix 2 
 

Safeguarding  The LHMA provides data on the housing 
needs of homeless households, those 
that require specialist housing such as 
adapted or supported housing and also 
older persons’ housing. 

.N/A N/A 

Corporate Parenting  N/A N/A N/A 

 
5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 

A number of data sources were used in the preparation of the LHMA.  These include:  
 
• CACI Paycheck Data.  
• Hometrack (Housing Intelligence) Data  
• Monmouthshire’s Common Housing Register 
• Office of National Statistics 
 
The legislation and good practice which have informed the LHMA are: 
 
• Local Housing Market Assessment Report; Getting Started with your Local Housing Market Assessment, Welsh Government, 2014 
• Local Market Housing Assessment guide, Welsh Government, March 2006  
• Housing Act 1985 
• Housing (Wales) Act 2014 
• The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
 

 

 

6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have 
they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 

 

P
age 114



Appendix 2 
 

The LHMA provides an assessment of the current housing market and helps to identify emerging trends in house prices and affordability. In 

addition to assessing the need for all types of affordable housing, the report also assesses housing need against the committed supply of 

affordable housing over the next 5 years.  Information contained in the LHMA will contribute towards the evidence base for a range of housing 

and planning related plans and policies. 

 

7. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if 
applicable. 

 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  

   

   

   

 

8. VERSION CONTROL: The Equality and Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stage, such as informally 

within your service, and then further developed throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this 

process to demonstrate how you have considered and built in equality and future generations considerations  wherever 

possible. 

 

Version 

No. 

Decision making stage  Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 

consideration 

1 DMT  Positive impacts of LHMA and AH delivery added to report. 

2. Members Workshop 01/12/2020  

3. Adult and Economy & Development Select 

Committee 

10/12/2020  

4. Cabinet 16/12/2020  

 

P
age 115



Appendix 2 
 

 

P
age 116



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1. PURPOSE:  
  
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s endorsement of the Replacement Local 

Development Plan (RLDP) Growth and Spatial Options Paper to be issued for non-
statutory consultation for four weeks.  This paper and the consultation responses will 
inform the RLDP Preferred Strategy.   

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 To endorse the Growth and Spatial Options Paper and issue for non-statutory 

consultation, including identifying growth option 5 and spatial option 2 as the preferred 
options at this stage of the process. 
 

3. KEY ISSUES:   
 

Background 
 
3.1 The Council is preparing a Replacement Local Development Plan for the County 

(excluding the area within the Brecon Beacons National Park) to cover the period 
2018-2033. The RLDP will set out land use development proposals for the County and 
will identify where and how much new development will take place over the Plan 
period. It will also identify areas to be protected from development and contain policies 
against which future planning applications will be assessed. 

 
3.2 Cabinet Members will be aware that we reached the Preferred Strategy stage of the 

RLDP process in March 2020 when Council endorsed the Preferred Strategy for 
statutory consultation, engagement and stakeholder involvement (5th March 2020).  

 
3.3 Progress on the RLDP was subsequently paused in March 2020 because the Covid-

19 pandemic meant we could not continue with the Preferred Strategy public 
engagement events.  Following advice from the Minister for Housing and Local 
Government1, the decision was subsequently made to cease the Preferred Strategy 
consultation and second call for candidate sites on 20th July 2020.  This enabled the 
Council to undertake a review of the RLDP issues, vision, objectives and evidence 
base2 in terms of sensitivity to the consequences the current pandemic before 
progressing with Plan preparation.  This review was agreed by Council in October 
2020. 
 

3.4 Following this, in August 2020 the Welsh Government published a correction to the 
2018-based population and household projections.  These projections form the 

                                                 
1 Minister for Housing and Local Government  Letter to Local Authority Leaders and Chief Executives National Park 
Authority Chief Executives – Planning System and Covid-19, 7th July 2020 
2 Monmouthshire RLDP Review of Issues, Vision and Objectives and Evidence Base in Light of Covid-19 (September 2020) 

SUBJECT: MONMOUTHSHIRE REPLACEMENT LOCAL DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN GROWTH AND SPATIAL OPTIONS  

MEETING:     CABINET 
DATE: 16 DECEMBER 2020 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED:   ALL 

Page 117

Agenda Item 3c



starting point for the Plan’s evidence base on growth levels and comprise important 
new evidence that requires consideration. In order to ensure that the evidence base 
for the RLDP is robust and based on the most up to date information, the decision was 
made to revisit both the Growth and Spatial Options and Preferred Strategy stages of 
the RLDP process.  
 

3.5 These unavoidable delays have necessitated a further revision to the RLDP Delivery 
Agreement timetable and community involvement scheme.  The Revised Delivery 
Agreement, together with the RLDP Review of Issues, Vision and Objectives and 
Evidence Base were reported to, and endorsed  by, Council on 22nd October 2020. 
The Welsh Government approved the Delivery Agreement on 30th October 2020 
meaning that work on the RLDP will progress in accordance with the revised 
timetable, the next key stage being the Growth and Spatial Options.  

 
 Purpose of the Growth and Spatial Options Paper  
 
3.6 The Growth and Spatial Options Paper sets out a number of alternative growth and 

spatial strategy options for consideration having regard to the Plan’s evidence base 
and policy aspirations. The options presented provide an indication of the scale of 
growth (housing and employment) that the RLDP will need to address, together with 
spatial strategy options for accommodating that growth. The consideration of realistic 
growth and spatial options is an important part of the preparation of the RLDP which 
are intended to facilitate discussion and inform the Preferred Strategy.  

 
3.7 The Growth and Spatial Options Paper is attached at Appendix 1. It identifies our 

preferred growth and spatial options that are considered to best address the County’s 
key issues/challenges and meet the RLDP objectives. The Paper should be read 
alongside the RLDP Issues, Vision and Objectives Paper (January 2019, as amended 
June 2019) RLDP Review of Issues, Vision and Objectives in Light of Covid-19 
(September 2020) and the Reports prepared by Edge Analytics (November 2020)3.  

 
3.8 The Paper is structured as follows: 
 

Section 1 Introduction – outlines the purpose, background, evidence base and 

consultation arrangements of the Growth and Spatial Options Paper. 

Section 2 Growth Scenarios and Options - presents a range of alternative 

demographic, housing and employment growth options for consideration to inform the 

RLDP (2018-2033). The population, household, dwelling and employment implications 

associated with each of the alternative growth options are presented, together with 

their wider implications for the County and the extent to which they align with the 

RLDP and Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) objectives. 

Section 3 Spatial Strategy Options - presents a range of spatial strategy options for 

accommodating the required level of housing and employment growth in the County. 

The implications associated with each of the alternative spatial strategy options and 

the extent to which they align with the RLDP and ISA objectives are set out.  

Section 4 Next Steps - sets out the next key stage in the RLDP process. 

Appendix 1 – Monmouthshire RLDP Demographic Evidence Edge Analytics 

(November 2020) 

Appendix 2 -  Monmouthshire RLDP Affordable Housing Evidence Addendum Report 

Edge Analytics (November 2020) 

                                                 
3 Monmouthshire RLDP Demographic Evidence, Edge Analytics (November 2020) and Monmouthshire RLDP Affordable 
Housing Evidence Addendum Report, Edge Analytics (November 2020) 

Page 118



Appendix 3 – RLDP Objectives  

Appendix 4 – ISA Objectives 

Appendix 5 – Long List of Growth Scenarios  

Appendix 6 – Long List of Spatial Options   

Appendix 7 – Summary Matrix of Growth Options against the RLDP Objectives 

Appendix 8 – Summary Matrix of Growth Options against the ISA Objectives 

Appendix 9 – Summary Matrix of the Spatial Options against the RLDP Objectives 

Appendix 10 – Summary Matrix of the Spatial Options against the ISA Objectives 

 
An Executive Summary and Easy Read version of the paper have been prepared and 
are attached at Appendix 2 and Appendix 3 respectively. 

 
 Growth Options 
 
3.9 Cabinet originally endorsed a range of growth and spatial options for non-statutory 

consultation on 3rd July 2019.  Consultation and engagement took place in July/August 
2019, the responses to which helped to inform the Preferred Strategy (March 2020). 
The growth options were based on the latest projections data available at the time, this 
being the Welsh Government 2014-based population and household projections.  
However, in August 2020 the Welsh Government published a correction to the 2018-
based population and household projections which was the first update since the 2014 
projections.  In preparing Local Development Plans, national policy requires local 
authorities to take account of updates to nationally published data, such as household 
and population projections4. The latest Welsh Government (WG) population and 
household projections form the starting point for the Plan’s evidence base on growth 
levels, onto which policy choices can be added to ensure that the issues are 
addressed, objectives met and vision achieved. As such, the updated 2018 projections 
comprise important new evidence that requires full consideration. In order to ensure 
that the evidence base for the RLDP is robust and based on the most up to date 
information, we need to revisit both the Growth and Spatial Options and Preferred 
Strategy stages of the RLDP process.  

 
3.10 In view of this, Edge Analytics was commissioned to prepare a range of up-dated 

demographic, dwelling and employment growth scenarios using the 2018-based 
projections as the starting point, to inform the RLDP growth options. In accordance 
with the requirements of the Development Plans Manual (March 2020), the Paper5 
considers the 2018-based Welsh Government projections, as well as the latest 
available statistics and evidence, including the Monmouthshire Economies of the 
Future Report (2018) and the 2020 Monmouthshire Local Housing Market Assessment 
(LHMA), to provide a range of growth scenarios for the County. The paper sets out a 
demographic profile of the County, illustrating the geographical context, components of 
population change (i.e. births, deaths and migration), housing completions and the 
changing age profile of the population. It then considers how much housing and 
employment growth would be needed over the RLDP period for each of the scenarios 
set out. 

 
3.11 A total of 14 scenarios have been generated, together with further sensitivity testing for 

all of the demographic and dwelling-led scenarios with regard to household formation 

                                                 
4 Development Plans Manual, March 2020 (paragraph 3.83).  
5 Monmouthshire RLDP Demographic Evidence, Edge Analytics (November 2020) 

Page 119



and commuting ratios. This sensitivity testing seeks to address the County’s 
unbalanced demographic, one of the key RLDP objectives, and one which has 
increased emphasis and importance in light of the Covid-19 pandemic.  

 
3.12 The sensitivity adjustments are:  

 To increase household formation rates – the 2018 population projections  show a high 
level of households comprising 4+ adults, indicating young adults are living with their 
parents or in shared accommodation, unable to afford their own home.  By increasing 
household formation rates, more homes will be built increasing opportunities for these 
young adults to access housing within the County rather than move elsewhere.  This 
objective will be supported by affordable housing and private sector housing mix 
policies.  This approach will help with the  intention to  increase the volume of homes 
for younger adults  - in order to provide homes to retain younger adult age groups and 
rebalance Monmouthshire’s ageing demographic (RLDP Objectives 9, 10, 11, 12 and 
13).   
 

 Apply a reduction in the commuting ratio – the 2011 census indicated that 40% 
working age population commutes out of the County for work.  This adjustment reflects 
the Council’s  economic ambition to attract new employment to the County, meaning 
fewer people will need to  travel out for work.  This objective will be supported by 
policies relating to broadband infrastructure connectivity for new homes and policy 
support for employment hubs, enabling home-working.  This approach will support the 
Council’s Climate Emergency declaration (RLDP Objectives 1, 14, 15 and 17). 

 

 Adjust migration rates to reflect local influences i.e.  the removal of the Severn Bridge 
Tolls.  This adjustment reflects known trends.  Monmouthshire’s population is ageing 
and declining so in-migration continues to be essential to rebalance Monmouthshire’s 
ageing demographic and ensure communities are socially and economically 
sustainable.  Affordable housing policies will prioritise people with a Monmouthshire 
connection (RLDP Objectives 9, 12 and 13).  

 

 A specific policy-led affordable housing element is added to all the selected growth 
options.  These additional  dwellings will be delivered on sites comprising at least 50% 
affordable housing and will meet 10% of the total affordable housing need within the 
County (identified by Monmouthshire’s Local Housing Market Assessment 2020).  This 
approach will help to explicitly  address the Council’s key/most prevalent  issue of  lack  
of affordable housing (RLDP Objectives 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13). There will be a 
requirement that this element of the option will be delivered on sites which have at 
least 50% affordable housing.     

 
3.13  The aim is to create a more balanced population structure to ensure that the County 

has a sufficient population base of working aged people to support the economy and 
to ensure our communities are sustainable and resilient, and to provide a level of 
growth that can provide opportunities for younger people to both stay and move to the 
area.  The sensitivity testing achieves this by modelling adjustments to the household 
membership rates for three key younger age groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34), whilst at 
the same time reducing out-commuting by retaining more of the resident workforce. 

 
3.14  From these 14 scenarios, six alternative growth options have been selected for non-

statutory consultation to assist in determining the housing and employment 
requirements of the RLDP.  The options selected are considered to represent a robust 
range of growth scenarios and include four demographic, one dwelling-led and one 
employment-led option as summarised in Table 1. Further details of the 
assumptions/sensitivity testing applied to the selected growth options are set out Table 
4 of the Growth and Spatial Options Paper. 

 Page 120



3.15 In addition to the initial modelling, all six selected options have been the subject of 
additional testing to establish the impact on demography, dwellings, household 
formation and employment of an affordable-housing policy-led strategy. This is set out 
in detail in the Edge Analytics Affordable Housing Evidence Addendum Report6. 

 
3.16 The affordable housing policy-led element of the testing aims to address the key 

issues associated with housing affordability in the County. Firstly it aims to address the 
issue of affordability for those people who are either not able to form households or 
are forced to leave the County due to high average house purchase and private rent 
prices in the County, i.e. the intermediate affordable housing need. Secondly, it seeks 
to address the need for social rented homes in the County. The current pandemic has 
increased the need for such homes and revealed the extent of hidden homelessness 
in the County. The Minister for Housing and Local Government has announced that 
post-Covid-19, no-one should return to the streets. The affordable housing policy-led 
growth will assist in addressing these fundamental issues/challenges by providing 
opportunities to retain/house those in need of social and intermediate homes. It will 
also help to redress the County’s demographic imbalance and improve the resilience 
and sustainability of our communities and the strength of our economic base. 

 
3.17 The LHMA identifies the level of housing need in the County and is a core piece of 

baseline evidence to inform the RLDP. To establish the number of additional dwellings 
associated with the affordable housing policy-led growth for each selected option, and 
therefore the overall dwelling growth required over the Plan period, the population and 
household formation arising from the initial modelling has been entered into the LHMA 
model. This has established the level of affordable housing need which will arise over 
the Plan period from each of the six selected growth options.  

 
3.18 As a starting point, it is proposed to meet 10% of the need identified in the LHMA on 

affordable housing-led sites where at least 50% of the homes are affordable. The 10% 
target may be refined in light of the evidence as we progress through the Plan 
process. The delivery of both market and affordable homes on these sites is in 
addition to homes delivered on sites allocated to meet the level of growth evidenced 
by the initial modelling. 

 
3.19 The Growth and Spatial Options Paper sets out the population, household, dwelling 

and employment implications associated with each of the selected growth options, 
together with their wider implications for the County and the extent to which they will 
achieve the RLDP objectives. The options have also been assessed through the 
Integrated Sustainability Appraisal process. A summary of the implications associated 
with the selected growth options is set out in Table 1.  

 
3.20 Based on the assessment of the growth options set out in the Paper, Growth Option 5 

- Population-led projection (with added policy assumptions) - is the preferred option. 
This option provides a level of growth that would best address the County’s key 
issues/challenges and meet the RLDP objectives. It would ensure the provision of a 
suitable number of market and affordable homes, sustainable economic growth and 
enable/support balanced and socially sustainable communities, particularly in terms of 
demography; the importance of which has been heightened by the current pandemic. 
Overall, this option is considered to be the most conducive to achieving the RLDP 
vision and the Council’s core purpose of building sustainable and resilient 
communities across Monmouthshire.  

                                                 
6 Monmouthshire RLDP Affordable Housing Evidence Addendum Report, Edge Analytics (November 2020) 
 

Page 121



Table 1: Summary of the Implications of Selected Growth Options 

Growth Option Type of 
Scenario 

Population 
Change 2018-
2033 

Population 
Change % 

Average 
Net 
Migration 
per annum 

Household 
Change 
2018-2033 

Household 
Change % 

Dwellings 
per 
annum 

Dwellings 
2018-2033 

Jobs 
per 
annum 

Jobs 
2018-
2033 

1. Balanced Migration 
(with added policy 
assumptions) (Net Nil 
Migration (MR, CR_R), 
AH ) 

Demographic -5110 -5.4% 108 -240 -0.6% -17 -255 -120 -1,800 

2. WG 2018-based 
Principal Projection 
(AH) 

Demographic 6,047 6.4% 818 3,749 9.3% 262 3,930 208 3,120 

3. WG 2018-based 
Principal Projection 
(with added policy 
assumptions) (WG 
2018-based Principal 
(MR, CR_R), AH) 

Demographic 6,147 6.5% 825 4,551 11.3% 318 4,770 265 3,975 

4. Dwelling-led Average 
(based on dwelling 
completion rates) 
Dwelling-led 5 year 
average, AH  

Dwelling 10,641 11.3% 1,110 5,628 14.0% 402 6,030 364 5,460 

5. Population-led 
projection(with added 
policy assumptions) (PG 
Long Term (adjusted) 
(5yr) (MR, CR_R), AH) 

Demographic 12,443 13.2% 1,223 7,255 18.1% 507 7,605 481 7,215 

6. Employment-led 
projection (with added 
policy assumptions) 
(Radical Structural 
Change Higher (CR_R), 
AH) 

Employment 17,403 18.5% 1,524 8,653 21.6% 604 9,060 642 9,630 

P
age 122



 
 
 Spatial Strategy Options  
 
3.21 In addition to setting out options for the level of growth needed over the Plan period, 

consideration must also be given to spatial strategy options for broadly where this 
development should take place within the County. The Paper presents a range of 
spatial strategy options for accommodating the required level of housing and 
employment growth in the County. 

 
 3.22 As we are revisiting the Growth and Spatial Options stage of the RLDP process, the 

RLDP spatial options previously considered have been reassessed to identify suitable 
options for consideration. Consequently, two of the options considered in the 2019 
consultation Paper, which included a new settlement, have been discounted as Welsh 
Government officials advised these would be contrary to national policy set out in 
PPW10 which suggests that new settlements should only be proposed as part of a 
joint LDP, Strategic Development Plan or Future Wales: the National Plan 2040. An 
additional option, which focuses growth in the North of the County, has been included 
as an option as a result of consultation responses to the 2019 consultation. 
Accordingly, a total of 4 broad Spatial Distribution Options have been taken forward as 
realistic options. These are:    

 

 Option 1: Continuation of the Existing LDP Strategy 
Distribute development around the County with a particular focus on Main 
Towns, some development in Severnside and some development in the most 
sustainable rural areas to enable provision of affordable housing throughout the 
County. New residential development to be accompanied by new employment 
opportunities, where possible.    

 Option 2: Distribute Growth Proportionately across the County’s most 
Sustainable Settlements – Growth, including jobs and affordable housing, 
would be distributed across the County’s most sustainable settlements, with the 
level of growth proportionate to that settlement’s size and amenities, affordable 
housing need as identified in the LHMA, the capacity for growth and/or the need 
for development to sustain the community.  

 Option 3: Focus Growth on the M4 Corridor – Growth would be 
predominantly located in the South of the County in the Severnside area close 
to the M4/M48, to capitalise on its strategic links to the Cardiff Capital Region 
and South West England, existing economic opportunities and regional 
infrastructure connections, including via the South Wales Main rail line at 
Severn Tunnel Junction. Affordable Housing would be directed to those 
sustainable areas in the south of the County identified in the LHMA as having 
the greatest housing.   

 Option 4: Focus Growth in the North of the County – Growth would be 
predominantly located in the most sustainable settlements within the North of 
the County to capitalise on its strategic links to the Heads of the Valleys and 
wider Cardiff Capital Region via the A465, and towards Herefordshire via the 
A449 and A40, along with rail links to Newport, Cardiff and the North via the 
Welsh Marches line. Affordable Housing would be directed to those sustainable 
areas in the north of the County identified in the LHMA as having the greatest 
housing need.   
 

3.23 As with the growth options, the Paper considers the implications associated with each 
of the alternative spatial strategy options, and the extent to which they will achieve the 
RLDP objectives. The options have also been assessed through the Integrated 
Sustainability Appraisal process. 

 Page 123



3.24 The Spatial Options presented provide alternative spatial strategy options for 
accommodating growth, having regard to the Plan’s evidence base and policy 
aspirations. Based on the assessment set out in the Paper, Spatial Option 2 - to 
Distribute Growth Proportionately across the County’s most Sustainable Settlements - 
is the preferred Spatial Option. It is considered that this option would best address the 
County’s issues and challenges and meet the RLDP objectives, including the provision 
of market and affordable homes throughout the County’s most sustainable 
settlements, sustainable economic growth and enabling/supporting balanced and 
socially sustainable communities; the importance of which has been heightened by the 
current pandemic. Overall, this spatial option is considered to be the most conducive 
to achieving the RLDP vision and the Council’s core purpose of building sustainable 
and resilient communities across Monmouthshire. 

 
 Consultation and Engagement  
 
3.25 There is no statutory requirement to consult on the RLDP growth and spatial strategy 

options. However, as with the original growth and spatial options, it is considered 
appropriate to continue to engage with stakeholders/our communities at this key stage 
of the process to help build consensus on the growth levels and spatial strategy of the 
RLDP and to fully understand the implications of the options. 
Engagement/consultation at this stage of the process will also ensure that the Council 
accords with the two of the five ways of working as set out in the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act (i.e. involvement and collaboration).  

 
3.26 It is proposed that a non-statutory consultation on the Growth and Spatial Options will 

take place for a 4-week period from 4th January to 1st February 2021, whereby 
comments will be invited on the consultation questions set out in the Paper. 
Engagement/consultation will also take place via:   

 

 Planning Policy officer attendance at Area Committee meetings (if held) and at 
a joint Area Cluster meeting on 21st January 2021; 

 A Members’ Workshop on 8th December 2020 (hosted by the Economy & 
Development Select Committee); 

 RLDP Growth and Spatial Options virtual event(s) during the consultation 
period which will be open for all to attend (details tbc); 

 Scrutiny by Economy & Development and Adult Select Joint Committee on 10th 
December 2020; 

 Internal discussions within the Council through DMT/SLT; 

 Notify all parties on the LDP database of the non-statutory consultation. 
 
 Next steps  
 
3.27 Feedback from this consultation/engagement process will be considered and will help 

inform the final preferred growth and spatial strategy options which will be set out in 
the Preferred Strategy. The Preferred Strategy will be the subject of further 
engagement/consultation and political reporting as the RLDP is progressed. It is 
anticipated that statutory consultation on the Preferred Strategy will take place in 
Spring/Summer 2021.  

 
4. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT AND EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS: 
 
4.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) sets out the requirement for all 

LDPs to be subject to a Sustainability Appraisal (SA). All stages of the RLDP will be 
subject to an Integrated Sustainability Assessment (including Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA), Well-being of Future Generations (WBFG), Health Impact 
Assessment (HIA), Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA), and Welsh Language Impact Page 124



Assessment (WLIA)), whose findings will be used to inform the development of the 
Replacement LDP strategy, policies and site allocations in order to ensure that the 
Plan will be promoting sustainable development.  

 
4.2 A Future Generations Evaluation (including equalities and sustainability impact 

assessment) is attached to this report at Appendix 4.  
  

Safeguarding and Corporate Parenting 
 
4.3 There are no safeguarding or corporate parenting implications arising directly from this 

report 
 
 
5 OPTIONS APPRAISAL 
 
Option  Benefit  Risk   Comment  

1. Endorse the Growth 
and Spatial Options 
Paper as attached for 
non-statutory 
consultation.  
 

This will enable non-
statutory consultation 
on the Growth and 
Spatial Options to 
progress in accordance 
with the timetable set 
out in the Revised 
Delivery Agreement 
(October 2020) and 
enable Plan 
preparation to progress 
in a timely manner. 
 
 
 

 This is our preferred 
option.  
 
The Paper sets out a 
number of alternative 
growth and spatial 
options for 
consideration informed 
by a robust evidence 
and policy aspirations. 
It identifies our 
preferred growth and 
spatial options to 
address the County’s 
key issues/ challenges 
and to meet the RLDP 
and ISA objectives. 
The Paper will facilitate 
discussion and inform 
the next key stage of 
the process, the 
Preferred Strategy. 
 

2. Endorse the Growth 
and Spatial Options 
Paper for non-statutory 
consultation with 
amendments. 

Growth and Spatial 
Options Paper could be 
amended to reflect 
comments, as relevant.  
 

Any amendments to 
the Growth and Spatial 
Options would lead to a 
delay in the Plan 
preparation process.  

The growth options and 
spatial options set out 
are considered to be 
realistic options 
informed by robust 
evidence and policy 
aspirations.  It identifies 
our preferred growth 
and spatial options to 
address the County’s 
key issues/ challenges 
and to meet the RLDP 
and ISA objectives and 
will facilitate discussion 
and inform the 
Preferred Strategy. It is 
not considered 
necessary to amend 
the Paper prior to 
consultation.  
 Page 125



Option  Benefit  Risk   Comment  

3.  Do not endorse the 
Growth and Spatial 
Options for non-
statutory consultation. 
 

 This would lead to a 
significant delay in the 
Plan preparation 
process as the Growth 
and Spatial Options 
would need to be 
revisited and additional 
evidence gathering 
needed. This would 
also have time 
implications in relation 
the ISA process. This 
would lead to a 
significant delay in 
preparing further 
stages of the RLDP 
and in adopting the 
Plan with resultant 
implications, including 
an inability to 
expediently address 
our key issues/ 
challenges and lack of 
certainty for 
communities and 
investors.  

As above, the Paper 
sets out a number of 
alternative growth and 
spatial options for 
consideration informed 
by a robust evidence 
and policy aspirations. 
It identifies our 
preferred options to 
address the County’s 
key issues/ challenges 
and to meet the RLDP 
and ISA objectives. 
The Paper will facilitate 
discussion and inform 
the Preferred Strategy. 
Not endorsing the 
Growth and Spatial 
Options Paper for non-
statutory consultation 
would result in 
significant delays to the 
RLDP preparation 
process with 
associated negative 
implications.    

 
 
6. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS   
 
6.1 Officer and consultant time and costs associated with the preparation of the Growth 

and Spatial Options Paper and carrying out the required consultation exercises. Any 
costs will be met from the Planning Policy budget or LDP reserve and carried out by 
existing staff. 

 
 
7. CONSULTEES 
 

 Enterprise DMT 

 SLT 

 Cabinet 

 Member workshop 8th December 2020 

 Joint Adults and Economy & Development Select Committee 10th December 
2020 

  
 
8. BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 

 Monmouthshire RLDP Issues, Vision and Objectives Paper (January 2019, as 
amended June 2019)  

 Monmouthshire RLDP Review of Issues, Vision and Objectives and Evidence 
Base in Light of Covid-19 (September 2020) 

 Monmouthshire RLDP Demographic Evidence, Edge Analytics (November 2020)  

 Monmouthshire RLDP Affordable Housing Evidence Addendum Report, Edge 
Analytics (November 2020) 

 Monmouthshire RLDP Revised Delivery Agreement (October 2020) 
Page 126



 Monmouthshire RLDP Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) of Strategic 
Options Report, Aecom (December 2020) 

 
 
 
9. AUTHORS:  
 Mark Hand  

Head of Placemaking, Housing, Highways and Flooding 
 
Craig O’Connor 
Head of Planning  

 
Rachel Lewis 
Planning Policy Manager 
 
 

10. CONTACT DETAILS: 
 
Tel: 07773 478579 
markhand@monmouthshire.gov.uk 
 
Tel: 07816 175737  
craigoconnor@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

 
 Tel: 01633 644827 
 rachellewis@monmouthshire.gov.uk  
 
 
APPENDICES: 
 
APPENDIX 1: Monmouthshire RLDP Growth and Spatial Options Paper, December 2020 
APPENDIX 2: Monmouthshire RLDP Growth and Spatial Options: Executive Summary, 
December 2020 
APPENDIX 3: Monmouthshire RLDP Growth and Spatial Options: Easy Read Version, 
December 2020  
APPENDIX 4: Future Generations Evaluation  

Page 127

mailto:markhand@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:craigoconnor@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:rachellewis@monmouthshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

Monmouthshire 

Replacement Local Development 

Plan 

 

GROWTH AND SPATIAL  

OPTIONS PAPER 

 

December 2020 

 

Page 129

Edge.J
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX 1

Edge.J_1
Typewritten Text



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 130



 
 

CONTENTS 

 

 

 Page  
  

Executive Summary 
 
 

1. Introduction  
 

i 
 
 

1 

2. Replacement LDP Growth Scenarios and Options    8 

3. Replacement LDP Spatial Options  
 

75 

4. Next Steps  110 

Glossary  
 
     Appendices: 

 

 

  
1 – Monmouthshire RLDP Updating Demographic Evidence Report Edge 
Analytics (November 2020) 
 
2 -  Monmouthshire RLDP Affordable Housing Evidence Addendum Report 
Edge Analytics (November 2020) 
 
3 – RLDP Objectives  
 
4 – ISA Objectives 
 
5 – Long List of Growth Scenarios  
 
6 – Long List of Spatial Options   
 
7 – Summary Matrix of Growth Options against the RLDP Objectives 
 
8 – Summary Matrix of Growth Options against the ISA Objectives 
 
9 – Summary Matrix of the Spatial Options against the RLDP Objectives 
 

10 – Summary Matrix of the Spatial Options against the ISA Objectives 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 131



 
 

 

 

Page 132



i 
 

Executive Summary 

i. The Council is preparing a Replacement Local Development Plan (RLDP) for 
Monmouthshire (excluding the part of the County that is within the Brecon Beacons 
National Park).  The RLDP will identify where and how much new development will 
take place during the ‘Plan period’ (2018-2033).  It will allocate land for development, 
identify areas to be protected, and contain policies to guide decisions on applications 
for planning permission.  We aim to adopt the RLDP in Autumn 2023.  

ii. The RLDP will be accompanied by an Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) which 
will consider the environmental, equalities, health and well-being impacts of the Plan.  
The Integrated Sustainability Appraisal is a working document, updated as the RLDP 
progresses.  The RLDP will include an Infrastructure Plan, setting out what is needed 
to support the development of the allocated sites, and will sit alongside a Local 
Transport Plan and Economic Strategy.  Together, these Plans will seek to deliver on 
the Council’s economic ambition and its core purpose to build sustainable and resilient 
communities that support the well-being of current and future generations.  

iii. We originally consulted on a range of growth and spatial options in the summer of 
2019, the decision has been made, however, to revisit this stage of the Plan process. 
The Welsh Government population and household projections form the starting point 
for the RLDP evidence on growth levels, onto which policy choices can be added as 
needed, for example to ensure that the County’s identified issues are addressed, 
objectives met and vision achieved. The publication of corrected Welsh Government 
2018-based population and household projections in August 2020 comprise important 
new evidence that requires consideration to ensure that the evidence base for the 
RLDP is robust and based on the most up to date information. Consequently we need 
to revisit both the Growth and Spatial Options and Preferred Strategy stages of the 
plan preparation process. 

iv. This Paper sets out alternative growth and spatial options for the RLDP, together with 
the implications of each option and the extent to which they will achieve the RLDP and 
Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) objectives. The options presented in this 
Paper provide an indication of the scale of growth (housing and employment) that the 
RLDP will potentially need to include and broad options of where that growth could 
be located (spatial option), having regard to the evidence base and policy aspirations. 

Growth Options  

v. Section 2 of the Paper presents a range of alternative demographic, dwelling and 
employment-led growth options for consideration to inform the RLDP (2018-2033).  

vi. In light of the publication of corrected Welsh Government 2018-based projections 
Monmouthshire has commissioned Edge Analytics to prepare a range of up-dated 
demographic, dwelling and employment growth scenarios to inform the RLDP growth 
options.  

vii. A total of fourteen different scenarios have been generated for Monmouthshire, 
together with further sensitivity testing for all of the demographic and dwelling-led 
scenarios with regard to household formation and commuting ratios. From these 
fourteen different scenarios, six growth options have been selected for consultation 

Page 133



ii 
 

(see Table below). These six options have been the subject of further testing to 
establish the impact on demography, household formation and employment of an 
affordable-housing policy-led strategy. It should be noted that the growth outcomes 
of each scenario generated includes that part of Monmouthshire that falls within the 
Brecon Beacons National Park.  

viii. This Paper considers the population, household, dwelling and employment 
implications associated with each of the alternative growth options set out below, 
together with their wider implications for the County and the extent to which they will 
achieve the RLDP’s and ISA objectives. A summary of the implications associated with 
each option is provided in Table 6.   

ix. Based on the assessment of the growth options our preferred option to address the 

County’s issues/challenges and meet the RLDP and ISA objectives is Growth Option 5, 

Population-led (with added policy assumptions).1  

x. To provide an indication of the baseline position, the 2019 Office for National Statistics 
Mid-Year Estimate gives Monmouthshire a population of 94,590; the 2011 Census 
recorded 38,233 households in Monmouthshire; and the 2011 Census recorded 
40,044 dwellings in Monmouthshire. The preferred Growth Option (5) would result in 
a population increase 12,443 (13.2%) and an additional 7,605 homes over the Plan 
period (2,945 new homes once existing commitments and windfall allowances are 
taken into account). 

 

                                                           
1 This is the PG Long Term (adjusted) (5yr) (MR, CR_R), AH) scenario from the Edge Analytics Reports. 

Page 134



iii 
 

Summary of Selected Growth Options  

Options (type)  Assumptions  
Additional 

homes by 2033 
Additional 

jobs by 2033 

Option 1 
(Demographic) 

Balanced 
Migration (with 
added policy 
assumptions) 
(Net Nil 
Migration (MR, 
CR_R), AH ) 

Internal and international migration flows are balanced between in- and out-flows, 
resulting in zero net migration.  
Household membership rates for the young adult age-groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34) have 
been adjusted to ‘return’ to their 2001 values between 2018-2033.  
Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value (1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) 
over the plan period.  
An average of 53dpa is added to the projected dwelling growth under this scenario 
between 2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of achieving 10% of the 
projected need arising from this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites with 50% 
affordable housing. 

-255 homes -1800 jobs 

Option 2  
(Demographic) 

WG 2018-based 
Principal 
Projection (AH) 

Replicates the WG 2018-based population projection. Migration assumptions are based 
on the five-year period prior to 2018 (i.e. 2013/14–2017/18). 
An average of 71dpa is added to the projected dwelling growth under this scenario 
between 2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of achieving 10% of the 
projected need arising from this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites with 50% 
affordable housing. 

+3930 homes +3,120 jobs 

Option 3 
(Demographic) 

WG 2018-based 
Principal 
Projection (with 
added policy 
assumptions) 
(WG 2018-based 
Principal (MR, 
CR_R), AH) 

Replicates the WG 2018-based population projection. Migration assumptions are based 
on the five-year period prior to 2018 (i.e. 2013/14–2017/18).  
Household membership rates for the young adult age-groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34) have 
been adjusted to ‘return’ to their 2001 values between 2018-2033.  
Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value (1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) 
over the plan period.  
An average of 76dpa is added to the projected dwelling growth under this scenario 
between 2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of achieving 10% of the 
projected need arising from this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites with 50% 
affordable housing. 

+4770 homes +3975 jobs 

Option 4  
(Dwelling)  

Dwelling-led 
Average (based 
on dwelling 
completion 
rates) (Dwelling-

Annual dwelling growth is applied from 2020/21 onward, based on the last five years of 
completions (2015/16–2019/20). This gives an average annual dwelling growth of +310 
pa in Monmouthshire. 
An average of 80dpa is added to the projected dwelling growth under this scenario 
between 2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of achieving 10% of the 

+6030 homes +5460 jobs 

P
age 135



iv 
 

led 5 year 
average, AH) 

projected need arising from this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites with 50% 
affordable housing. 

Option 5  
(Demographic)  

Population-led 
projection(with 
added policy 
assumptions) 
(PG Long Term 
(adjusted) (5yr) 
(MR, CR_R), AH) 

Internal in-migration rates are adjusted to reflect higher in-migration (based on the last 
5-years) from Bristol and South Gloucestershire, to take account of the removal of the 
Severn Bridge tolls. All other migration flow assumptions are consistent with the PG 
Long Term scenario.  
Household membership rates for the young adult age-groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34) have 
been adjusted to ‘return’ to their 2001 values between 2018-2033.  
Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value (1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) 
over the plan period.  
An average of 94dpa is added to the projected dwelling growth under this scenario 
between 2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of achieving 10% of the 
projected need arising from this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites with 50% 
affordable housing. 

+7605 homes +7215 jobs 

Option 6 (Employment)  Employment-led 
projection (with 
added policy 
assumptions) 
(Radical 
Structural 
Change Higher 
(CR_R), AH) 

Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value (1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) 
over the plan period. 
Economic activity rate adjustments in line with the OBR forecast, unemployment rate 
remains at current value (2019) (2.9%). 
An average of 124dpa is added to the projected dwelling growth under this scenario 
between 2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of achieving 10% of the 
projected need arising from this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites with 50% 
affordable housing. 

+9060 homes +9630 jobs 

*‘Radical Structural Change’ (RSC) scenarios consider the potential impact of substantial economic changes in Monmouthshire’s economy, resulting in a significantly higher employment growth 
range than under the ‘Baseline’ and UK Growth equivalent. Under these scenarios, employment growth ranges from +3,866 to +8,273 jobs over the plan period, averaging +258 and +552 pa 
respectively. 

P
age 136



v 
 

Spatial Strategy Options  

xi. Section 3 of the Paper sets out four spatial strategy options for accommodating the 
proposed level of housing and employment growth: 

 Option 1: Continuation of the Existing LDP Strategy – Growth would be 

distributed around the County with a particular focus on Main Towns2, with some 

development in Severnside3 and some development in the most sustainable rural 

areas to enable provision of affordable housing throughout the County. New 

residential development to be accompanied by new employment opportunities, 

where possible.    

 Option 2: Distribute Growth Proportionately across the County’s most 

Sustainable Settlements4 – Growth, including jobs and affordable housing, would 

be distributed across the County’s most sustainable settlements, with the level of 

growth proportionate to that settlement’s size and amenities, affordable housing 

need as identified in the LHMA, the capacity for growth and/or the need for 

development to sustain the community.  

 Option 3: Focus Growth on the M4 corridor – Growth would be predominantly 

located in the South of the County in the Severnside area close to the M4/M48, to 

capitalise on its strategic links to the Cardiff Capital Region and South West 

England, existing economic opportunities and regional infrastructure connections, 

including via the South Wales Main rail line at Severn Tunnel Junction. Affordable 

Housing would be directed to those sustainable areas in the South of the County 

identified in the LHMA as having the greatest housing need.   

 Option 4: Focus Growth in the North of the County – Growth would be 

predominantly located in the most sustainable settlements within the North of the 

County to capitalise on its strategic links to the Heads of the Valleys and wider 

Cardiff Capital Region via the A465, and towards Herefordshire via the A449 and 

A40, along with rail links to Newport, Cardiff and the North via the Welsh Marches 

line. Affordable Housing would be directed to those sustainable areas in the North 

of the County identified in the LHMA as having the greatest housing need.   

 
xii. The advantages and disadvantages of each spatial option and the extent to which they 

will achieve the RLDP and ISA objectives are set out in Section 3, together with an 

indicative map of each option.  Based on the assessment of the spatial options our 

preferred option to address the County’s issues/challenges and meet the RLDP and ISA 

                                                           
2 As identified in Policy S1 of the Adopted Local Development Plan (2014), now renamed to Primary 
Settlements and includes the addition of Llanfoist.   
3 As identified in Policy S1 of the Adopted Local Development Plan (2014), with the addition of Crick.   
4 A Sustainable Settlement Appraisal will be published to inform the Preferred Strategy to identify these 
settlements. This will consider settlements in terms of their location, level of service provision, capacity and 
their role and function within the area.       

Page 137



vi 
 

objectives is Spatial Option 2 to Distribute Growth Proportionately across the County’s 

most Sustainable Settlements5.  

Engagement/Consultation 

xiii. There is no statutory requirement for consultation on the Growth and Spatial Options. 
However, in accordance with the RLDP Revised Delivery Agreement (October 2020) and 
as with the original growth and spatial options, it is considered appropriate to continue 
to engage with stakeholders/our communities at this key stage of the process to help 
build consensus on the growth levels and spatial strategy of the RLDP and to fully 
understand the implications of the options.  

xiv. Non-statutory engagement and consultation on the Growth and Spatial Options Paper 
will take place for a four-week period from 4th January 2021 to 1st February 2021, 
whereby comments will be invited on the consultation questions set out in Sections 2 
and 3. An Easy Read version of this document has also been prepared which is available 
to view via the Planning Policy pages of the Council’s website.  

xv. Feedback from the consultation/engagement on the Growth and Spatial Options Paper 
will be considered and, where appropriate, will inform the preferred growth and spatial 
strategy options which will be set out in the Preferred Strategy. The RLDP Preferred 
Strategy will be the subject of engagement/consultation in May/June 2021. 

 

                                                           
5 A Sustainable Settlement Appraisal will be published to inform the Preferred Strategy to identify these 
settlements. This will consider settlements in terms of their location, level of service provision, capacity and 
their role and function within the area.       

Page 138



1 
 

1 Introduction 

Purpose of this paper    

1.1 The Growth and Spatial Options Paper sets out a number of alternative growth and 

spatial strategy options for consideration as part of the Replacement Local 

Development Plan (RLDP) process, informed by a range of evidence. The consideration 

of realistic growth and spatial options is an important part of the preparation of the 

RLDP which is intended to facilitate discussion and inform the next key stage of the 

process, the Preferred Strategy. The Paper will therefore have a key role in informing 

the RLDP Preferred Strategy which will set out the Council’s preferred levels of growth 

for housing and employment over the Plan period and identify broad locations for 

accommodating this growth in order to ensure the delivery of sustainable and resilient 

communities.  The Preferred Strategy will be made available for consultation in May / 

June 2021. 

Background  

1.2 Monmouthshire County Council (MCC) is in the process of preparing a RLDP for the 

County (excluding the area within the Brecon Beacons National Park).  The RLDP will 

cover the period 2018-2033 and will be the statutory land use plan to support delivery 

of the Council’s vision for the future of the County and its communities.  The RLDP will 

set out land use development proposals for the County and will identify where and 

how much new development will take place over the Replacement Plan period. It will 

also identify areas to be protected from development and provide policies against 

which future planning applications will be assessed. 

1.3 The RLDP is being prepared in accordance with the Revised Delivery Agreement 

(October 2020). One of the first key stages of the RLDP process involved the 

preparation of the Issues, Vision and Objectives. The Issues, Vision and Objectives 

Paper identifies the key issues, challenges and drivers facing the County and sets out 

the vision and objectives for the RLDP. This paper was subject to targeted engagement 

in January-February 20196. The Issues, Vision and Objectives Paper was subsequently 

reviewed and amended to reflect relevant feedback from the targeted engagement 

process, the Council’s declaration of a climate emergency in May 2019 and continued 

development of the RLDP evidence base.  

1.4 Subsequent to the preparation of the Issues, Vision and Objectives Paper we 

progressed with the Growth and Spatial Options and Preferred Strategy stages of the 

RLDP process. A non-statutory consultation on the Growth and Spatial Options was 

undertaken for a four-week period between 8th July and 5th August 2019 and a 

statutory consultation on the RLDP Preferred Strategy commenced on the 9th of March 

2020.  

                                                           
6 The Issues, Vision and Objectives Paper (June 2019) is available to view on the Planning Policy pages of the 
Council’s website 

Page 139



2 
 

1.5 Progress on the RLDP was paused in March 2020 because the Covid-19 pandemic 

meant we could not continue with the public engagement events.  Following advice 

issued in a letter from the Minister for Housing and Local Government (7th July 2020)7, 

the decision was made to cease the RLDP Preferred Strategy consultation and second 

call for candidate sites on 20th July 2020.  The letter requires Local Planning Authorities 

to undertake an assessment of the RLDP evidence base, strategy and policies in terms 

of sensitivity to the consequences of the current pandemic before progressing with 

Plan preparation. 

1.6 A review of the RLDP Issues, Vision and Objectives was undertaken in June 2020 and 

incorporated into the RLDP Review of Issues, Vision Objectives (IVO) and Evidence 

Base (September 2020)8. This review demonstrated that the Plan’s Issues, Vision and 

Objectives remain relevant to Monmouthshire. The review concluded that in light of 

Covid-19 a number of issues and objectives are now considered to have increased 

emphasis and importance, consistent with the priorities identified in the Welsh 

Government Building Better Places document published in July 20209. The current 

pandemic has clearly demonstrated the importance of ensuring our communities are 

balanced and socially sustainable, particularly in terms of demography. 

1.7 In February 2020 Welsh Government (WG) published its 2018-based population and 

household projections. Subsequently these projections were found to contain an 

error.  The error was caused by incorrect processing of cross-border flows between 

Wales and England in the ONS national projection, resulting in the projected mid-2028 

population for Wales being approximately 65,000 too low, and that for England being 

approximately 65,000 too high. The projections were therefore withdrawn. 

1.8 In August 2020, the WG published corrected 2018-based population and household 

projections, these constitute a first update since the 2014-based population and 

household projections. There have been no changes to the assumptions and structure 

of the WG household projection model, but the population projections have been 

subject to a number of important modifications and enhancements, as follows:    

• The revised projections are no longer constrained to the 2018-based national 

population projections, produced by the ONS. This is a change to the 2018-based 

projections published in February 2020 which were constrained to the national 

population projection.   

• Fertility, mortality and migration assumptions are drawn from the five-years to 2018.  

• Internal Migration assumptions are based on migration rates rather than fixed 

counts.  

                                                           
7 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/planning-and-the-post-covid-19-recovery-letter-
to-local-authorities_0.pdf 
8 https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2020/11/Monmouthshire-RLDP-Review-of-Issues-Vision-
Objectives-and-Evidence-Base-in-Light-of-Covid.pdf 
9 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-system-
delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf 

Page 140



3 
 

1.9 National policy requires that updates to nationally published data, such as household 

and population projections should be taken into account (Development Plans Manual, 

March 2020, Para. 3.83). The latest WG population and household projections form 

the starting point for the Plan’s evidence base on growth levels, onto which policy 

choices can be added to ensure that the issues are addressed, objectives met and 

vision achieved. At the time of the consultation on the Growth and Spatial Options in 

July/August 2019 the latest available projections were the WG 2014-based population 

and household projections.  The updated projections comprise important new 

evidence that requires consideration.  

1.10 Following a review of the corrected WG 2018-based projections for Monmouthshire, 

Edge Analytics were commissioned to update the scenarios configured in June 2019, 

incorporating the latest WG evidence. Edge Analytics have also modelled additional 

scenarios, using alternative assumptions on fertility, mortality, and migration to assess 

the impact on the projections of the methodological changes. 

1.11 In accordance with Welsh Government guidance realistic options should be identified. 

The identified options should be: genuine, reasonable, reflect the evidence and the 

plan issues/objectives, meet the evidenced needs of the area, deliverable within the 

plan period, conform to national policy, complement regional or local initiatives and 

be flexible and sustainable (Development Plans Manual, March 2020, Para. 3.87). 

1.12 A total of 14 scenarios have been generated, these have been assessed and 6 scenarios 

selected for consultation. This paper sets out these 6 alternative growth options 

together with 4 possible spatial options for the RLDP, based on this updated evidence. 

It also sets out the implications of each option and the extent to which they will 

achieve both the RLDP and Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) objectives.  

1.13 The ISA, which accompanies the RLDP, will consider the environmental, equalities, 

health and well-being impacts of the Plan.  The ISA is a working document, updated as 

the RLDP progresses. To help inform this stage of the process the anticipated impacts 

of each selected growth and spatial options have been assessed against the ISA 

Objectives and are included in this Paper. The RLDP will also be accompanied by an 

Infrastructure Plan, setting out what is needed to support the development of the 

allocated sites, as well as a Local Transport Plan and Economic Strategy.  Together, 

these plans will seek to deliver on the Council’s economic ambition and its core 

purpose to build sustainable and resilient communities that support the well-being of 

current and future generations. 

1.14 The options presented in this Paper provide an indication of the scale of growth 
(dwelling and employment) that the RLDP will potentially need to address and possible 
spatial strategy options for accommodating that growth, having regard to the 
evidence base and policy aspirations. Having assessed both the growth and spatial 
options in light of both the RLDP and ISA objectives and the issues/challenges that 
Monmouthshire is facing, Growth Option 5 – Population-led (with added policy 
assumptions) and Spatial Option 2 – Distribute Growth Proportionately across the 

Page 141



4 
 

County’s most Sustainable Settlements, are the Council’s preferred options. The 
purpose of this non-statutory consultation is to establish whether, based on the 
options assessment and evidence provided, there is consensus on the preferred 
options or whether alternative options are preferred. Support for preferred 
alternative options should be accompanied by details of how they will address both 
the RLDP and ISA objectives and the issues/challenges Monmouthshire is facing. 

1.15 The unavoidable delays detailed above with regard to the Covid-19 pandemic, the 

review of the IVO and the publication of updated key evidence has necessitated a 

further revision to the RLDP Delivery Agreement timetable and community 

involvement scheme.  The Revised Delivery Agreement10, together with the RLDP 

Review of Issues, Vision and Objectives and Evidence Base, were reported to the 

Council on 22nd October 2020. The Revised Delivery Agreement was approved by the 

Welsh Government11 on 30th October 2020, meaning that work on the RLDP will 

progress in accordance with the revised timetable.  

Evidence Base 

1.16 This Paper has been informed by a range of background evidence which includes the 

following:  

 RLDP Revised Delivery Agreement (October 2020). 

 Annual Monitoring Reports (AMRs) that monitor the progress of the Adopted LDP; 

2014-2015, 2015-2016, 2016-2017, 2017-2018, 2018-2019 and 2019-20. 

 The Adopted LDP Review Report (March 2018) evaluates the extent to which the 

adopted LDP is functioning effectively.   

 The Monmouthshire Public Service Board Well-being Plan (February 2018) 

identifies important issues for the County as a whole that must be considered. 

 Monmouthshire Corporate Business Plan 2017-2022 (Incorporating Well-being 

Objectives) (February 2018) sets out the Council’s four Well-being objectives. 

 The Issues, Vision and Objectives Paper (January 2019, as amended June 2019) 

which sets out the key issues, challenges and drivers facing the County along with 

the RLDP vision and objectives to address the issues, challenges and drivers 

identified.   

 The RLDP Review of the Issues, Vision and Objectives and Evidence Base in light of 

Covid-19 (June 2020). 

 The updated Monmouthshire RLDP Demographic Evidence produced by Edge 

Analytics (November 2020) which considers the impact of demographic, housing 

and employment change and provides growth scenarios for the Local Authority 

area. 

 Edge Analytics Affordable Housing Evidence Report (November 2020) 

                                                           
10 https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2020/11/Revised-DA-October-2020-Final.pdf 
11 https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2020/11/Monmouthshire-LDP-1st-Plan-Revision-2nd-
Revision-DA-Agreement-Letter-FINAL.pdf 

Page 142



5 
 

 Candidate Site Register (February 2019) which provides a log of the Candidate 

Sites submitted during the first call, to be considered for inclusion for 

development, redevelopment and/or protection in the RLDP.  

 MCC Economies of the Future Reports (2018) and associated economic ambition.  

 Wider contextual issues, including the CCR City Deal and the recent removal of the 

Severn Bridge Tolls.  

1.17 In particular, this Paper should be read alongside the RLDP Issues, Vision and 

Objectives Paper (January 2019, as amended June 2019), the RLDP Review of the 

Issues, Vision and Objectives and Evidence Base in Light of Covid-19 (June 2020),the 

Monmouthshire RLDP Updated Demographic Evidence Report (November 2020) and 

Monmouthshire Affordable Housing Report produced by Edge Analytics (November 

2020). 

1.18 Further data will be collated as part of the RLDP evidence base and findings will be 

published at the appropriate times during the preparation of the RLDP. A number of 

background papers will also be produced as part of the RLDP preparation. 

Structure  

1.19 This Paper is structured as follows: 

Section 1 Introduction – outlines the purpose, background, evidence base and 

consultation arrangements of the Growth and Spatial Options Paper. 

Section 2 Growth Scenarios and Options - sets out a range of alternative 

demographic, housing and economic growth options for consideration to inform the 

Replacement LDP (2018-2033). The population, household, dwelling and employment 

implications associated with each of the alternative growth options are presented, 

together with their wider implications for the County and the extent to which they 

align with the RLDP and ISA objectives. 

Section 3 Spatial Strategy Options - presents a range of spatial strategy options for 

accommodating the required level of housing and employment growth in the County. 

The implications associated with each of the alternative spatial strategy options and 

the extent to which they align with the RLDP and ISA objectives are set out.  

Section 4 Next Steps - sets out the next key stages in the RLDP process. 

Appendix 1 – Monmouthshire RLDP Demographic Evidence Edge Analytics (November 

2020) 

Appendix 2 – Monmouthshire RLDP Affordable Housing Evidence Addendum Report 

Edge Analytics (November 2020) 

Appendix 3 – RLDP Objectives  

Appendix 4 – ISA Objectives 

Appendix 5 – Long List of Growth Scenarios  

Page 143



6 
 

Appendix 6 – Long List of Spatial Options   

Appendix 7 – Summary Matrix of Growth Options against the RLDP Objectives 

Appendix 8 – Summary Matrix of Growth Options against the ISA Objectives 

Appendix 9 – Summary Matrix of the Spatial Options against the RLDP Objectives 

Appendix 10 – Summary Matrix of the Spatial Options against the ISA Objectives 

 

Consultation on the RLDP Growth and Spatial Options 

1.20 There is no statutory requirement for consultation on the Growth and Spatial Options. 

However, in accordance with the RLDP Revised Delivery Agreement (October 2020) 

and as with the original growth and spatial options, it is considered appropriate to 

continue to engage with stakeholders/our communities at this key stage of the 

process to help build consensus on the growth levels and spatial strategy of the RLDP 

and to fully understand the implications of the options. Engagement/consultation at 

this stage of the process will also ensure that the Council accords with two of the five 

ways of working as set out in the Well-being of Future Generations Act (i.e. 

involvement and collaboration).  

1.21 Non-statutory engagement and consultation on the Growth and Spatial Options will 

take place for a four week period from 4th January 2021 to 1st February 2021, whereby 

comments will be invited on the consultation questions set out in the Paper. Our 

consultation and engagement arrangements have been revised in light of the Covid-

19 pandemic and reflect the Coronavirus Regulations (2020) and recent Ministerial 

advice12. We have reviewed the use of digital involvement options to provide 

communities with information and the ability to engage with the RLDP in a virtual 

manner. Further details are provided in the Revised Delivery Agreement (October 

2020)13. Engagement/consultation will also take place via:  

 Planning Policy officer  virtual attendance at Area Committee and Area Cluster 

meeting during January 2021; 

 A Members’ Workshop on 8th December 2020 (hosted by the Economy & 

Development Select Committee); 

 Scrutiny by Economy & Development Select Committee on 10th December 2020; 

 Internal discussions within the Council through DMT/SLT; 

 Notifying all parties on the RLDP database of the consultation. 

 

1.22 Feedback from the consultation/engagement on the Growth and Spatial Options 

Paper will be considered and, where appropriate, will inform the preferred growth and 

spatial strategy options which will be set out in the Preferred Strategy. The RLDP 

                                                           
12 Minister for Housing and Local Government Letter to Local Authority Leaders and Chief Executives National 
Park Authority Chief Executives – Planning System and Covid19, 7th July 2020 
13 https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2020/11/Revised-DA-October-2020-Final.pdf 

Page 144



7 
 

Preferred Strategy will be the subject of engagement/consultation and political 

reporting in May-June 2021. 

1.23 This Paper is available to view on the Council’s website and will be available to view at 

the Council’s Community HUBs, please see the Planning Policy Current Consultations 

page on the Council’s website for further details. An Easy Read version of this 

document has been prepared which can also be viewed on the website. Copies of the 

Easy Read will also be available at the Council’s Community HUBs.  For details of how 

to respond to this consultation please see the Planning Policy Current Consultations 

page on the Council’s website.  

Page 145



8 
 

2 RLDP Growth Scenarios and Options   

Purpose 

2.1 This section of the report presents a range of alternative demographic, dwelling and 

employment-led growth options for consideration to inform the RLDP (2018-2033). In 

order to inform the level of housing and employment provision within the RLDP, a 

range of scenarios/trend-based assumptions need to be considered. 

2.2 The 2018-based Welsh Government (WG) population and household projection 

variants form the starting point of the scenario analysis. However, it is important to 

consider alternative scenarios to test the impacts of different assumptions over the 

Plan period. This approach reflects current national planning policy guidance as set 

out in PPW10 (December 2018, paragraphs 4.2.6-4.2.7), which requires LPAs to 

consider and provide for a level of housing that is based on various sources of evidence 

rather than just the WG projections.  This includes having regard to what the Plan is 

seeking to achieve, links between homes and jobs, affordable housing need as 

evidenced by the Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA), as well as deliverability 

of the Plan, in order to identify an appropriate strategy for housing delivery in the 

area.     

2.3 The Council commissioned Edge Analytics to prepare a range of updated demographic, 

dwelling and employment-led growth scenarios, using the 2018-based WG projections 

as the starting point, to inform the growth options/opportunities for the RLDP (the 

Edge Report is attached at Appendix 1). In accordance with the requirements of the 

WG Development Plans Manual (March 2020), the report considers the latest WG 

projections, as well as the latest available statistics and evidence, including the 

Monmouthshire Economies of the Future report (2018) and the Monmouthshire 

LHMA (2020), to provide a range of growth scenarios for the County. The Edge Report 

sets out a demographic profile of the County, illustrating the geographical context, 

components of population change (i.e. births, deaths and migration), housing 

completions and the changing age profile of the population. It then considers how 

much housing and employment growth would be needed over the RLDP period for 

each of the scenarios set out.  

Growth Scenarios   

2.4 A total of fourteen different scenarios have been generated by Edge Analytics – the 

WG 2018-based Principal projection and two 2018-based variant projections, four 

alternative trend-based demographic scenarios, three dwelling-led scenarios and four 

employment-led scenarios. It should be noted that the growth outcomes of each 

scenario generated includes that part of Monmouthshire that falls within the Brecon 

Beacons National Park14. This has been done to ensure consistency between the 

demographic and dwelling-led scenarios and the employment-led scenarios. The 

                                                           
14 The growth outcomes under each of the 6 scenarios selected for consultation excluding that part of the 
County which falls within the Brecon Beacons National Park are presented in Appendix C of the Edge Report.  

Page 146



9 
 

employment-led scenarios are based on data which looks at trends for the whole 

County, not just that part which falls outside of the Brecon Beacons National Park.  

2.5 In addition to these fourteen Scenarios, additional sensitivity testing has been 

undertaken for the demographic and dwelling-led scenarios. This sensitivity testing 

seeks to: 

 address the County’s unbalanced demographic, one of the key RLDP objectives, and 

one which has increased emphasis and importance in light of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

The WG 2018-based household projections showed increasing growth in households 

of 4 or more adults, indicating a trend for young adults to either live with their parents 

or in shared accommodation, unable to afford their own home.  The sensitivity testing 

addresses this by modelling adjustments to the household membership rates for 

three key younger age groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34). This approach will help retain 

younger adult age groups and rebalance Monmouthshire’s ageing demographic 

(RLDP Objectives 9, 10, 11, 12 and 13). 

 address out-commuting, another key objective for the Plan. The 2011 census 

indicated that 54% of the working age population commutes out of the County for 

work.  The reduction in out-commuting in the sensitivity testing reflects the Council’s 

economic ambition to attract new employment to the County and encourage people 

to reduce travel by working from home in accordance with WG ambition of 30% of 

people working from or near home. This approach will support the Council’s Climate 

Emergency declaration (RLDP Objectives 1, 14, 15 and 17).  

 

2.6 The sensitivity testing thus aims to create a more balanced population structure to 

ensure that the County has a sufficient population base of working aged people to 

support the economy and to ensure our communities are sustainable and resilient, 

and to provide a level of growth that can provide opportunities for younger people to 

both stay in and move into the area, whilst at the same time reducing out-commuting 

by retaining more of the resident workforce.   

Demographic and Dwelling-led Scenarios  

2.7 The following demographic and dwelling-led scenarios have been generated by Edge 

Analytics. Each scenario has also been subject to the sensitivity testing detailed in 

paragraph 2.5. 

Table 1: Demographic and Dwelling-led Scenarios  

Welsh 
Government 
2018-based 

Assumptions  

WG-2018 
(Principal) 

Replicates the WG 2018-based Principal population projection, 
using historical population evidence for 2001-2018. 

WG-2018 (High) Replicates the WG 2018-based High population projection, 
using historical population evidence for 2001-2018. 

 
WG-2018 (Low) 

 

Page 147



10 
 

Replicates the WG 2018-based Low population projection, using 
historical population evidence for 2001-2018. 

Trend-based 
Demographic 

Assumptions  

POPGRPOUP Long 
Term 

Uses an ONS 2019 MYE base year, with area-specific fertility 
and mortality assumptions derived from the WG 2018-based 
Principal projection. Migration assumptions are derived from 
an 18-year historical period (2001/02–2018/19). 

POPGROUP Long 
Term Adjusted 
(5yr) 

Uses an ONS 2019 MYE base year, with area-specific fertility 
and mortality assumptions derived from the WG 2018-based 
Principal projection. Internal in-migration rates are adjusted to 
reflect higher in-migration (based on the last 5-years) from 
Bristol and South Gloucestershire, following the removal of the 
Severn Bridge toll. All other migration flows are consistent with 
the PG Long Term scenario. 

POPGROUP Long 
Term Adjusted 
(2yr) 

Uses an ONS 2019 MYE base year, with area-specific fertility 
and mortality assumptions derived from the WG 2018-based 
Principal projection. Internal in-migration rates are adjusted to 
reflect higher in-migration (based on the last 2-years) from 
Bristol and South Gloucestershire, following the removal of the 
Severn Bridge toll. All other migration flows are consistent with 
the PG Long Term scenario. 

Net Nil Migration Uses an ONS 2019 MYE, with area-specific fertility and 
mortality assumptions derived from the WG 2018-based 
Principal projection. Internal and international migration flows 
are balanced between in- and out-flows, resulting in zero net 
migration. 

Dwelling-led Assumptions  

Dwelling-led 5 
year average 

Models the population impact of an average dwelling growth of 
+310 dpa, based on a 5-year history of housing completions. 
The dwelling growth is applied from 2020/21 onwards, fixed 
throughout the Plan period. 

Dwelling-led 10 
year average  

Models the population impact of an average dwelling growth of 
+285 dpa, based on a 10-year history of housing completions. 
The dwelling growth is applied from 2020/21 onwards, fixed 
throughout the Plan period. 

Dwelling-led 15 
year average  

Models the population impact of an average dwelling growth of 
+269 dpa, based on a 15-year history of housing completions. 
The dwelling growth is applied from 2020/21 onwards, fixed 
throughout the Plan period. 

 

2.8 The population growth trajectories for these scenarios for the RLDP period 2018-2033 

are shown in Chart 1 below. Population growth ranges from -6.6% under the Net Nil 

scenario to +13.0% under the PG Long Term Adjusted (2yr) scenario.  The 2019 Office 

for National Statistics mid-year estimate gives Monmouthshire a population of 94,590. 

Page 148



11 
 

2.9 The household and dwelling implications of the demographic projections are 

evaluated through the application of membership rates, average household size, 

communal population statistics and a dwelling vacancy rate15 of 4.5% based on the 

2011 Census. In the dwelling-led scenarios these assumptions are used to determine 

the level of population growth required by the defined dwelling growth trajectory. 

Chart 1:  Monmouthshire Population Growth Trajectory 2001–2033 

Linking Population, Household and Employment Growth  

2.10 It is recognised that there is not always a direct relationship between homes and jobs, 

however, it is important to consider both in tandem in order to assist in determining 

a sustainable level of growth to underpin the RLDP. Planning Policy Wales (PPW) 

advocates a holistic approach to planning, “Placemaking”, which draws upon an area’s 

potential to create high quality development that promotes people’s prosperity, 

health and well-being. Analysis has been undertaken to determine the likely 

demographic impact of various growth scenarios on homes and jobs with a view to 

achieving a sustainable balance between the two.  

2.11 Using key assumptions on economic activity, unemployment and the commuting ratio 

(as defined in Table 2), the estimated employment growth that could be supported by 

the WG, dwelling and demographic trend scenarios has been calculated for each 

scenario as set out in the Edge Report. These assumptions have also been used in the 

employment-led scenarios.  

 

                                                           
15 As defined in the Edge Analytics Demographic Report 

Page 149



12 
 

Table 2: Key Assumptions used in the Employment Growth Scenario Analysis  

Economic 
Activity Rate 

Economic activity rates are the proportion of the population that are actively 
involved in the labour force, either employed or unemployed and looking for 
work. Economic activity rates for Monmouthshire have been derived from 
the Census and adjusted in line with the Office for Budget Responsibility’s 
(OBR) (July 2018) forecast of long-term changes to age-specific labour force 
participation. This forecast estimates that the aggregate economic activity 
rate (16-89) is estimated to reduce by approx. 2% points from 61% to 59% 
over the Plan period 2018-2033.  
More specifically, economic activity rates in the older age groups (55+) are 
expected to increase over the Plan period, especially in the female groups. A 
small decline in economic activity rates is expected amongst the 35-54 age 
groups, although an increase is expected in the female equivalent.   

Unemployment 
Rate  

Historical unemployment rates are sourced from ONS model-based 
estimates. For Monmouthshire the 2019 rate of 2.9% has been applied in the 
trend, Dwelling-led and core Employment-led scenarios, fixed throughout 
the forecast period.  

Commuting 

Ratio16  

The 2011 Census recorded 43,210 workers living in Monmouthshire and 
38,458 people working in Monmouthshire, which gives a net out-commuting 
ratio of 1.12 (i.e. there are more workers living in the County than available 
employment). A reduced commuting ratio of 1.10 has been applied to the 
employment-led scenarios and through the sensitivity testing to the 
demographic and dwelling-led scenarios to model the impact of this key 
objective.  

 

2.12 By applying the assumptions listed in table 2 to the individual scenarios it gives an 

estimation of the number of jobs that are likely to be needed for the arising resident 

population. Whilst this takes account of known trends with regard to economic activity 

rates, unemployment and the commuting ratio, it cannot take account of individual 

choice with regard to employment location. In light of the current Covid-19 pandemic 

working patterns have changed in the short term with a large increase in the number 

of people working from home. It is likely that the increased propensity for home and 

remote working will be a longer term trend over the Plan period. Welsh Government 

announced in September 2020 that they have a long-term ambition for around 30% 

of the Welsh workforce to work remotely either from home or near to home using 

community-based remote working hubs17. When considering the number of jobs 

arising from each scenario this trend for an increased propensity to work remotely will 

need to be taken into account.  

Employment-led Scenarios   

2.13 A range of employment-led scenarios have also been generated based on the evidence 

contained in the Economies of the Future Report which sets out average annual 

                                                           
16 The Commuting ratio is the balance between local employment and the size of the resident workforce. A 
commuting ratio greater than 1.00 indicates a net out-commute (i.e. number of resident workers in an area is 
greater than the level of employment). A commuting ratio less than 1.00 indicates a net in-commute (i.e. 
employment total is greater than number of resident workers).  
17 https://gov.wales/aim-30-welsh-workforce-work-remotely 

Page 150



13 
 

employment growth under Oxford Economics Baseline, UK Growth Rate and Radical 

Structural Change forecasts. Using an employment-led configuration of the 

POPGROUP model, the population and housing growth implications of the Baseline, 

UK Growth Rate, Radical Structure Change Lower and Radical Structural Change Higher 

economic forecasts have been estimated. All employment forecasts have been run 

using the economic assumptions outlined in Table 2 above, which are consistent with 

those applied to the demographic and dwelling-led scenarios. The impact of a reducing 

commuting ratio assumption has been considered for all of the scenarios. The 

employment-led scenarios generated are set out in Table 3.  

Table 3: Employment-led Scenarios 

Employment-led 
Scenarios 

Assumptions  

Baseline  
(CR reducing) 

Annual employment growth is consistent with the Employment-led 
Baseline scenario. Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value 
(1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) over the Plan period. 

UK Growth Rate  
(CR reducing) 

Annual employment growth is consistent with the Employment-led 
UK Growth Rate scenario. Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census 
value (1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) over the Plan period. 

Radical Structural 
Change Lower  
(CR reducing) 

Annual employment growth is consistent with the Employment-led 
Radical Structural Change (Lower) scenario. Commuting ratio reduces 
from 2011 Census value (1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) over the 
Plan period. 

Radical Structure 
Change Higher 
(CR reducing) 

Annual employment growth is consistent with the Employment-led 
Radical Structural Change (Higher) scenario. Commuting ratio reduces 
from 2011 Census value (1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) over the 
Plan period. 

 

Selected Alternative Growth Options  

2.14 The fourteen growth outcomes associated with the WG, demographic, dwelling-led 

and employment-led scenarios listed above together with the sensitivity testing are 

set out in detail in the Edge Analytics Demographic Report (attached at Appendix 1). 

Given the quantum of scenarios generated, it is considered pertinent to condense 

these into a lower number of options to assist in determining the housing and 

employment requirements of the RLDP.  The options selected are considered to 

represent a realistic range of growth scenarios.   

2.15 The following options have therefore been selected for consideration as alternative 

growth options for consultation purposes. These include four demographic, one 

dwelling-led and one employment-led option as summarised in Table 4. The 

justification for selecting the alternative options is set out in Appendix 5. 

2.16 Of the six options selected, three have been the subject of the sensitivity testing 

detailed at paragraph 2.5. These three options reflect the Council’s key aims of 

addressing the unbalanced demographic in the County by retaining the younger age 

Page 151



14 
 

groups and reducing out-commuting. The outputs from this initial modelling for all 6 

options form the baseline for the demographic, dwelling and employment outputs.  

2.17 In addition to the initial modelling, all six selected options have been the subject of 

additional testing to establish the impact on demography, dwellings, household 

formation and employment of an affordable-housing policy-led strategy. This is set 

out in detail in the Edge Analytics Affordable Housing Evidence Addendum Report 

(attached at Appendix 2). 

2.18 The affordable housing policy-led element of the testing aims to increase the extent 

to which the RLDP addresses the issues associated with housing affordability in the 

County. There are two issues that this element of testing seeks to address. Firstly it 

aims to address the issue of affordability for those people who are either not able to 

form households or are forced to leave the County due to high average house 

purchase and private rent prices in the County, i.e. the intermediate affordable 

housing need. Secondly, the current pandemic has revealed the extent of hidden 

homelessness in the County and increased the need for social rent properties. The 

Minister for Housing and Local Government has announced that post-Covid-19, no-

one should return to the streets. By addressing these fundamental issues/challenges 

it will provide opportunities to retain/house these people and therefore further 

redress the demographic imbalance and improve the resilience and sustainability of 

our communities and the strength of our economic base. 

2.19 The Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) is a core piece of baseline evidence for 

the Plan as it identifies the level of housing need in the County. The Development 

Plans Manual (paragraph 5.32) states that the scale of affordable housing need will be 

a key consideration when determining the overall level and location of housing in the 

Plan, as well as the allocation of affordable housing-led sites where at least 50% of the 

homes are affordable. 

2.20 To establish the number of additional dwellings associated with the Affordable 

Housing policy-led element of each chosen option and therefore the overall dwelling 

growth required over the Plan period, the population and household formation arising 

from the initial modelling has been entered into the LHMA model. This has established 

the level of affordable housing need which will arise over the Plan period from each 

of the six individual options.  

2.21 As a starting point, it is proposed to meet 10% of the need identified in the LHMA on 

affordable housing-led sites where at least 50% of the homes are affordable. The 10% 

target may be refined in light of the evidence as we progress through the Plan process. 

The delivery of both market and affordable homes on these sites is in addition to that 

delivered on sites allocated to meet the level of growth evidenced by the initial 

modelling. The RLDP will thus be meeting in excess of 10% of the identified affordable 

housing need when both sources of dwelling supply are taken into account. 

           

Page 152



15 
 

   Table 4: Summary of Selected Growth Options 

Options (type)  Assumptions  

Option 1 
(Demographic) 

Balanced Migration 
(with added policy 
assumptions)  
(Net Nil Migration (MR, 
CR_R), AH )* 

Internal and international migration flows are 
balanced between in- and out-flows, resulting in 
zero net migration.  
Household membership rates for the young adult 
age-groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34) have been 
adjusted to ‘return’ to their 2001 values between 
2018-2033.  
Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value 
(1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) over the Plan 
period.  
An average of 53dpa is added to the projected 
dwelling growth under this scenario between 
2018-2033. This reflects a policy-led objective of 
achieving 10% of the projected need arising from 
this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites 
with 50% affordable housing. 

Option 2  
(Demographic) 

WG 2018-based 
Principal (AH)  

Replicates the WG 2018-based population 
projection. Migration assumptions are based on 
the five-year period prior to 2018 (i.e. 2013/14–
2017/18).  
An average of 71dpa is added to the projected 
dwelling growth under this scenario between 
2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of 
achieving 10% of the projected need arising from 
this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites 
with 50% affordable housing. 

Option 3 
(Demographic) 

WG 2018-based 
Principal Projection 
(with added policy 
assumptions)  
(WG 2018-based 
Principal (MR, CR_R), 
AH)* 

Replicates the WG 2018-based population 
projection. Migration assumptions are based on 
the five-year period prior to 2018 (i.e. 2013/14–
2017/18).  
Household membership rates for the young adult 
age-groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34) have been 
adjusted to ‘return’ to their 2001 values between 
2018-2033.  
Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value 
(1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) over the Plan 
period.  
An average of 76dpa is added to the projected 
dwelling growth under this scenario between 
2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of 
achieving 10% of the projected need arising from 
this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites 
with 50% affordable housing. 

Option 4  
(Dwelling)  

Dwelling-led Average 
(based on dwelling 
completion rates) 
Dwelling-led 5 year 
average, AH* 

Annual dwelling growth is applied from 2020/21 
onward, based on the last five years of 
completions (2015/16–2019/20). This gives an 
average annual dwelling growth of +310 pa in 
Monmouthshire.  
An average of 80dpa is added to the projected 
dwelling growth under this scenario between 
2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of 

Page 153



16 
 

Options (type)  Assumptions  

achieving 10% of the projected need arising from 
this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites 
with 50% affordable housing. 

Option 5  
(Demographic)  

Population-led 
projection (with added 
policy assumptions) 
(PG Long Term 
(adjusted) (5yr) (MR, 
CR_R), AH)* 

Internal in-migration rates are adjusted to reflect 
higher in-migration (based on the last 5-years) 
from Bristol and South Gloucestershire, following 
the removal of the Severn Bridge tolls. All other 
migration flow assumptions are consistent with 
the PG Long Term scenario.  
Household membership rates for the young adult 
age-groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34) have been 
adjusted to ‘return’ to their 2001 values between 
2018-2033. 
Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value 
(1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) over the Plan 
period.  
An average of 94dpa is added to the projected 
dwelling growth under this scenario between 
2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of 
achieving 10% of the projected need arising from 
this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites 
with 50% affordable housing. 

Option 6 
(Employment)  

Employment-led 
projection (with added 
policy assumptions) 
(Radical Structural 
Change** Higher 
(CR_R), AH)* 

Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value 
(1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) over the Plan 
period. 
Economic activity rate adjustments in line with the 
OBR forecast, unemployment rate remains at 
current value (2019) (2.9%).  
An average of 124dpa is added to the projected 
dwelling growth under this scenario between 
2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of 
achieving 10% of the projected need arising from 
this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites 
with 50% affordable housing. 

* These are the option titles referred to in the Edge Analytics Reports. 

**‘Radical Structural Change’ (RSC) scenarios consider the potential impact of substantial economic 

changes in Monmouthshire’s economy, resulting in a significantly higher employment growth range 

than under the ‘Baseline’ and UK Growth equivalent.   

2.22 The following section considers the population, household, dwelling and employment 

implications associated with each of the alternative growth options set out in Table 4, 

together with their wider implications for the County and the extent to which they will 

achieve the RLDP objectives. The performance of the options in relation to the 

objectives is assessed according to the ratings set out in Table 5. A summary of the 

implications of the growth options is set out in Table 6. A summary of the performance 

of the growth options against the RLDP Objectives is included at Appendix 7. The 

options have also been assessed through the Integrated Sustainability Appraisal 

process. A summary of the growth options performance against the ISA Themes is 

included at Appendix 8. 

Page 154



17 
 

 Table 5: Key to Assessment of Options against RLDP Objectives 

Rating Predicted effect 

Green  Helps to achieve the objective. 

Amber  Neutral impact on objective.  

Red  Unlikely to achieve objective. 

 

2.23 A Review of the RLDP Issues, Vision and Objectives (IVO) in light of Covid-19 was 

undertaken in June 2020 and incorporated into the RLDP Review of IVO and Evidence 

Base Paper (September 2020). This concluded the Plan’s Issues, Vision and Objectives 

remain relevant in light of Covid-19 and that it is appropriate to continue with the 

preparation of the RLDP on the basis of these values. However, some objectives were 

concluded to have increased emphasis and importance in light of Covid-19, consistent 

with the priorities identified in the Welsh Government Building Better Places 

document published in July 2020. These objectives are denoted with an * in the tables 

for clarity.   

Page 155



18 
 

Selected Growth Options  

Table 6: Summary of the Implications of Selected Growth Options  

Growth Option Type of 
Scenario 

Population 
Change 
2018-2033 

Population 
Change % 

Average 
Net 
Migration 
per annum 

Household 
Change 
2018-2033 

Household 
Change % 

Dwellings 
per 
annum 

Dwellings 
2018-2033 

Jobs 
per 
annum 

Jobs 
2018-
2033 

1. Balanced Migration 
(with added policy 
assumptions) (Net Nil 
Migration (MR, CR_R), 
AH )* 

Demographic -5110 -5.4% 108 -240 -0.6% -17 -255 -120 -1,800 

2. WG 2018-based 
Principal Projection 
(AH) 

Demographic 6,047 6.4% 818 3,749 9.3% 262 3,930 208 3,120 

3. WG 2018-based 
Principal Projection 
(with added policy 
assumptions) (WG 
2018-based Principal 
(MR, CR_R), AH)* 

Demographic 6,147 6.5% 825 4,551 11.3% 318 4,770 265 3,975 

4. Dwelling-led Average 
(based on dwelling 
completion rates) 
Dwelling-led 5 year 
average, AH*  

Dwelling 10,641 11.3% 1,110 5,628 14.0% 402 6,030 364 5,460 

5. Population-led 
projection(with 
added policy 
assumptions) (PG 

Demographic 12,443 13.2% 1,223 7,255 18.1% 507 7,605 481 7,215 

P
age 156



19 
 

Growth Option Type of 
Scenario 

Population 
Change 
2018-2033 

Population 
Change % 

Average 
Net 
Migration 
per annum 

Household 
Change 
2018-2033 

Household 
Change % 

Dwellings 
per 
annum 

Dwellings 
2018-2033 

Jobs 
per 
annum 

Jobs 
2018-
2033 

Long Term (adjusted) 
(5yr) (MR, CR_R), 
AH)* 

6. Employment-led 
projection (with 
added policy 
assumptions) (Radical 
Structural Change 
Higher (CR_R), AH)* 

Employment 17,403 18.5% 1,524 8,653 21.6% 604 9,060 642 9,630 

* These are the option titles referred to in the Edge Analytics Reports. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 157



20 
 

Option 1: Balanced Migration (with added policy assumptions) (Net Nil Option (MR 

CR_R), AH) 

2.24 The purpose of this option is to test the impact of a very low level of net migration. 

Internal and international migration in-flows and out-flows are balanced to depict how 

natural change (i.e. births and deaths) could affect future population and household 

growth. The sensitivity testing has then been applied to the output to establish the 

impact on the projection of modelling adjustments to the household membership 

rates for three key younger age groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34), whilst at the same time 

reducing out-commuting by retaining more of the resident workforce.  

2.25 Additional testing has been undertaken to establish the impact on demography, 

dwellings, household type and employment of an affordable-housing policy-led 

strategy which aims to meet 10% of the LHMA need arising from this option on 

housing sites which deliver 50% affordable housing. The only net migration arising 

from this option comes from this element of the testing. 

2.26 This option projects a population decline of 5,110 (5.4%) and a decline of 240 (0.6%) 

in the number of households in the County over the Plan period. This level of decline 

translates into a negative dwelling requirement of 17 dpa (dwellings per annum) 

between 2018 and 2033.  

2.27 Chart 2 below illustrates that under this option, with the only inward migration coming 

from the affordable policy-led element from 2019-20 onwards, there would be an 

increasing negative level of natural change over the Plan period with fewer births than 

deaths as the population ages.  2018-19 in-migration reflects the current trend. 

Monmouthshire’s communities would decline. 

Chart 2: Components of Population Change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.28 This option impacts significantly on the age profile of the County leading to a notably 

unbalanced demographic, with only the over 60 age group showing any substantial 

Page 158



21 
 

growth over the Plan period.  The 40-44 age group shows minimal growth, while all 

other age groups show a decline (Charts 3 and 4). This leads to an increased ageing 

demographic in the County over the Plan period. 

Chart 3: Population Growth/Decline by Age Group 2018-2033  

 

Orange = HIGHER in 2033  Blue = LOWER in 2033 

 

Chart 4: Implications for the Age Profile of Monmouthshire 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.29 This option also projects a significant decline in employment over the Plan period, 

4.4% from 40,951 jobs in 2018 to 39,149 in 2033. The number of job losses per annum 

is also projected to increase over the Plan period, from 39 jobs lost in 2020 to nearly 

250 jobs lost in 2033. This is due to the lack of any net migration flows coupled with a 

Page 159



22 
 

significantly ageing, economically inactive population profile (Chart 5).  With a 

shrinking workforce, Monmouthshire will become increasingly unattractive for 

businesses to set up, remain or grow here, and with a shrinking population and ageing 

demographic, some businesses will be affected by a reduced customer base and so 

close or relocate. 

Chart 5: Implications for Employment Growth 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.30 All of these factors impact on the dwelling requirement over the Plan period. There is 

a low level of need during the first five years of the Plan period up to 2022, after which 

there is a negative need, resulting in an average requirement of -17dpa over the whole 

Plan period (Chart 6). There are currently 4,660 new homes within existing 

commitments and windfall allowances. This option would result in too many homes in 

the County for a declining population. 

Page 160



23 
 

Chart 6: Dwelling Requirement 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.31 This clearly illustrates the fact that all of the population change and employment 

growth in Monmouthshire is driven by in-migration and thus this option would not 

provide a robust basis to inform the RLDP’s housing and employment requirement 

figure.   

2.32 The implications associated with this growth option include: 

 An increase in the proportion of the older and elderly people living in the County, 

impacting upon the type of housing required and service providers across public 

and private sectors. The current pandemic has clearly demonstrated the 

importance of ensuring our communities are balanced and socially sustainable, 

particularly in terms of demography. This option would not address the 

demographic imbalance in the County. 

 A decline in school aged children, placing less pressure on the capacity of existing 

schools. However, it would provide no scope to secure any improvements through 

planning gain and could lead to potential school closures. 

 A decline in the working age population in the County with a declining work force 

unable to support local employment provision leading to job losses and a negative 

impact on the local economy. Provides no opportunity to create a thriving, well-

connected, diverse economy, which has been highlighted as being of particular 

importance in light of the current pandemic. 

 With a net loss of dwellings, a reduction in the level of affordable housing secured 

through the planning system, even with the addition of the affordable housing 

policy-led element. A restricted supply of homes could lead to higher house prices, 

thus making the County even less affordable to the younger working age 

population and perpetuating the demographic imbalance.  

Page 161



24 
 

 The current pandemic has emphasised the need to ensure the provision of a range 

and choice of homes (housing mix) in future housing developments to address the 

County’s affordability issues and to build sustainable and resilient communities 

throughout Monmouthshire. However, this growth option would lead to a net loss 

of dwellings and would not deliver the Council’s core purpose of building 

sustainable and resilient communities. 

 Any deficiencies in access to good quality open space would be exacerbated due 

to the lack of any growth to support additional provision and/or upgrades to 

existing provision. The value and importance of having access to locally accessible 

open/green spaces to assist in recreation and health and well-being has been 

heightened during the current pandemic. 

 Difficulties in sustaining services/facilities across the County with resulting 

negative impacts e.g. rural isolation etc. The Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted 

the importance of local services and facilities to support our communities.  

 Inability to secure infrastructure provision/upgrades through planning gain from 

development. The current pandemic has highlighted the importance of key 

infrastructure, including digital infrastructure and active travel options to 

support/enable increased home / remote working and support local communities. 

 

Table 7: Assessment of Option 1: Balanced Migration (with added policy assumptions) (Net 

Nil Option (MR CR_R), AH)** against the RLDP Objectives 

RLDP Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 1 against the RLDP 

Objectives 

*Denotes those RLDP objectives that are considered to have increased emphasis and importance in 
light of Covid-19 as referred to in paragraph 2.22 

A Prosperous Wales (Well-being Goal 1)  

Objective 1 Economic Growth/ 

Employment* 

A declining working age population in the County 

unable to support local employment provision would 

lead to job losses and a negative impact on the local 

economy, a loss of 120 jobs pa.  This would not meet 

the Council’s ambitions for sustainable economic 

growth and would not enable the creation of 

sustainable and resilient communities.  In this 

respect, the growth level provides no opportunity to 

create a thriving, well-connected, diverse economy, 

which has been highlighted as being of particular 

importance in light of the current pandemic. 

Objective 2 Retail centres* Declining customer base would impact negatively on 

the viability, vitality and attractiveness of the retail 

centres in the County’s towns. The role and function 

of the high street in the local community has been 

highlighted of particular importance in the current 

Page 162



25 
 

RLDP Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 1 against the RLDP 

Objectives 

pandemic, this option would not provide sufficient 

support to existing retail facilities across the County.     

A Resilient Wales (Well-being Goal 2)  

Objective 3 Green Infrastructure, 

Biodiversity and 

Landscape* 

There would be no negative impact on the natural 

environment, although at the same time it would 

provide no opportunities to improve Green 

Infrastructure and ecological connectivity through 

opportunities to create new linkages.  The value and 

importance of having access to locally accessible 

open/green spaces to assist in recreation and health 

and well-being has been heightened during the 

current pandemic. 

Objective 4 Flood risk There would be no negative impact on areas of flood 

risk, as there would be no need for additional housing 

or employment development. 

Objective 5 Minerals and Waste  There would be no negative impact on minerals and 

waste, mineral landbank obligations can be met.  

Objective 6 Land There is no need for additional housing or 

employment development required therefore no 

further greenfield land or best and most versatile 

agricultural land required. 

Objective 7 Natural resources There would be no negative impact on ability to 

promote the efficient use of natural resources, 

although at the same time provides no opportunities 

for improvements.  

A Healthier Wales (Well-being Goal 3) 

Objective 8 Health and Well-

being* 

Would have a negative impact on health and well-

being with an ageing and declining population and no 

growth to support additional provision and/or 

upgrades to existing provision or to sustain existing 

provision.  Any deficiencies in provision of good 

quality open space would be exacerbated. The value 

and importance of having access to locally accessible 

open/green spaces has been emphasised in light of 

Covid-19.     

A More Equal Wales (Well-being Goal 4) 

Objective 9 Demography* Would result in an increase in the proportion of the 

older and elderly people living in the County leading 

to a more unbalanced demographic as well a decline 

in the overall population.  Difficulties in sustaining 

services/facilities across the County will exacerbate 

Page 163



26 
 

RLDP Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 1 against the RLDP 

Objectives 

rural isolation. The current pandemic has 

demonstrated the importance of ensuring our 

communities are balanced and socially sustainable, 

particularly in terms of demography. This option 

would not support/enable social sustainability and 

balanced communities across the County. 

A Wales of Cohesive Communities (Well-being Goal 5) 

Objective 10 Housing* No requirement for additional housing although an 

ageing demographic would require a different type of 

housing to that currently available. With a net loss of 

dwellings there would be a reduction in the 

availability of affordable and market housing.  The 

current pandemic has emphasised the need to ensure 

the provision of a range and choice of homes (housing 

mix) in future housing developments, including 

affordable housing. This option would not address the 

County’s affordability issues or build sustainable and 

resilient communities throughout Monmouthshire. 

Objective 11 Place-making No requirement for new housing so provides no 

opportunity to enhance the character and identity of 

Monmouthshire’s settlements.  The value and 

importance of place-making has been emphasised in 

light of Covid-19.     

Objective 12 Communities Would impact negatively on communities with an 

unbalanced demographic, providing no opportunity 

for housing provision, job creation or improvements 

to existing services and facilities. The resultant 

demographic change over the Plan period provides 

no opportunities to support social sustainability and 

balanced communities. The current pandemic has 

demonstrated the importance of ensuring our 

communities are balanced and socially sustainable. 

This growth option would fail to address this key issue 

and would be detrimental to our core purpose of 

creating sustainable and resilient communities. 

Objective 13 Rural Communities Would impact negatively on rural communities by 

providing no opportunity to strengthen the rural 

economy or opportunities for people to stay in their 

local communities. The current pandemic has 

demonstrated the importance of ensuring our 

communities are balanced and socially sustainable. 

Page 164



27 
 

RLDP Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 1 against the RLDP 

Objectives 

Difficulties in sustaining services/facilities across the 

County would increase rural isolation. 

Objective 14 Infrastructure* Would have a negative impact as a declining and  

unbalanced demographic would result in falling 

school numbers and could result in school closures,  

as well as increased pressure on health and social 

care. Difficulties in sustaining services/facilities across 

the County as well as limited opportunities to 

improve a range of infrastructure, including active 

travel and digital infrastructure would increase issues 

associated with rural isolation.   

Objective 15 Accessibility Would have a negative impact as loss of employment 

would limit job opportunities in the County and a net 

loss of dwellings leading to a continuation of out-

commuting levels in the short term, reducing as the 

population ages. Although it should be recognised 

that in light of Covid-19 there has been an increase in 

agile and home working, which is likely to continue 

over the longer term. The increased reliance on 

access to local facilities and services during the 

current pandemic, has highlighted their importance 

to communities. Lack of employment opportunities 

within settlements would not encourage active travel 

and the use of sustainable transport options.  

A Wales of Vibrant Culture & Thriving Welsh Language (Well-being Goal 6) 

Objective 16 Culture, Heritage and 

Welsh Language 

There would be no negative impact on culture and 

heritage, but at the same time offers no benefits for 

the economy, tourism and social well-being of 

communities. No impact on Welsh Language. 

A Globally Responsible Wales (Well-being Goal 7) 

Objective 17 Climate Change* There would be no negative impact on climate 

change, with a reduction in commuting in the long 

term as the population ages being a positive. At the 

same time there would be limited opportunities to 

contribute to minimising carbon by providing 

opportunities for renewable energy generation, 

supporting use of ultra-low emission vehicles and 

public transport, and the provision of quality Green 

Infrastructure.   The current pandemic has 

emphasised the need to enable such responses in 

delivering sustainable and resilient communities.        

** Option title as referred to in the Edge Analytics Reports. 

Page 165



28 
 

Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) Analysis 

2.33 Growth Option 1 performs least well of the options against the ISA themes relating to 

the economy and employment, population and communities, health and wellbeing 

and equalities. Options 1 to 4 represent job growth at a lower rate than past delivery 

rates, and the demographic projections indicate a declining workforce, as well as a 

declining customer base. This option performs notably worse when compared to the 

other options and through negative growth is considered likely to lead to negative 

effects of significance.  

2.34 This option would also not contribute towards meeting and sustaining sufficient land 

supply for the forthcoming Plan period, which could significantly impact upon the 

future vitality of communities.  Not only will this option severely limit opportunities to 

address changing housing needs in terms of types and tenures, but the lack of growth 

is also likely to drive up house prices and exacerbate affordability issues.  This option 

may also result in very limited opportunities for the younger population to live and 

work in the County and difficulties in sustaining services/ facilities across the County, 

exacerbating rural isolation. Negative effects against these ISA themes are considered 

likely to be of significance under this option.  

2.35 There are considered to be no significant effects with regard to this option against the 

remaining ISA themes. With no growth proposed under this option it is considered 

likely that there will be marginal effects in terms of congestion on the existing highway 

network, although it is recognised that with no growth under this option it will not 

provide the critical mass to enable infrastructure improvements.  This is particularly 

important given the wider ambitions to transition to a lower-emission infrastructure 

network, where development will be a key delivery vehicle for the technological and 

infrastructure advances which underpin the transition.   

2.36 As this option does not propose any further growth it is also likely to avoid significant 

effects in relation to the natural resources, biodiversity and landscape ISA themes.  At 

this stage it is concluded that it is not possible to identify any significant differences 

between the Options or conclude that they are likely to have significant effects on the 

historic environment.  None of the Options is likely to have a significant effect on the 

Welsh language. 

 

Option 2: Welsh Government (WG) 2018-Based Principal Projection (AH)  

2.37 This option replicates the WG 2018-Based Principal Projection, using historical 

population evidence for 2001-2018. Additional testing has been undertaken to 

establish the impact on demography, dwellings, household type and employment of 

the addition of an affordable-housing policy-led strategy which aims to meet 10% of 

the LHMA need arising from this option on housing sites which deliver 50% affordable 

housing.   

Page 166



29 
 

2.38 This option projects a population increase of 6,047 (6.4%) with a corresponding 

increase of 3,749 households (9.3%) in the County over the Plan period.   This level of 

household growth results in an estimated average annual dwelling growth of 262 dpa 

over the 2018– 2033 Plan period (total 3,930 dwellings). The figure of 262 dpa is lower 

than the current LDP dwelling requirement of 450 dpa and also below average 

completions over the past 5 (310 dpa) and 10 years (285 dpa).   

Chart 7: Components of Change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.39 This option projects net in-migration of an average of 818 persons per annum 

throughout the Plan period.  However, this is counter balanced by an increasing level 

of negative natural change as the population ages (Chart 7). 

2.40 As with the balanced migration option, this option has significant implications on the 

age profile of the County. Whilst there is growth in the 35-44 age groups the majority 

of population growth is coming from the over 60 age groups with all other age groups, 

with the exception of the 15-19 age group, experiencing negative growth, again 

resulting in an unbalanced demographic (Charts 8 and 9). 

Page 167



30 
 

Chart 8: Population Growth/Decline by Age Group 2018-2033 

  

Orange = HIGHER in 2033  Blue = LOWER in 2033 

Chart 9: Implications for the Age Profile of Monmouthshire 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.41 Whilst this option projects an increase of some 3,120 jobs over the total Plan period, 

the level of job growth slows in the later part of the Plan period. The number of jobs 

also remains below the average seen in the past 15 years (Chart 10). As this option 

would not drive job creation in the long term, it would result in an outflow of workers 

from the County thus negatively impacting on the local economy and increasing out-

commuting. It would also mean that there would again be implications in terms of 

retaining younger people within the County to both live and work and would therefore 

be in direct conflict with key objectives of the RLDP. 

Page 168



31 
 

Chart 10: Implications for Employment Growth 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.42 All of these factors impact on the dwelling requirement over the Plan period. The 

dwelling requirement within this option equates to an average of 262 per year, 

marginally lower than the average build rate over the past 15 years and significantly 

lower than the adopted LDP requirement (Chart 11). There are currently 4,660 new 

homes within existing commitments and windfall allowances. This option would 

require no new allocations under the RLDP, with again an excess of new homes when 

these existing commitments and allowances are taken into account. 

Chart 11: Dwelling Requirement 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.43 The implications associated with this growth option include: 

 An increase in the proportion of the older and elderly people living in the County, 

impacting upon the type of housing required and service providers across public 

Page 169



32 
 

and private sectors. The current pandemic has clearly demonstrated the 

importance of ensuring our communities are balanced and socially sustainable, 

particularly in terms of demography. This option would not address the 

demographic imbalance in the County. 

 An overall decline in school aged children, placing less pressure on the capacity of 

existing schools. However, it would provide no scope to secure any improvements 

through planning gain and could lead to potential school closures. 

 An overall decline in the working age population in the County, although there is 

some growth in the 35-44 age groups, which could fuel some employment growth. 

The overall number of jobs is projected to be at a lower level than in the previous 

15 years, however, indicating that people will still need to leave the County to 

access employment. This would not reduce levels of out-commuting or promote 

sustainable travel to work patterns. Provides limited opportunity to create a 

thriving, well-connected, diverse economy, which has been highlighted as being of 

particular importance in light of the current pandemic. 

 Opportunities to secure some affordable housing but at this lower level would not 

address this key issue. The current pandemic has emphasised the need to ensure 

the provision of a range and choice of homes (housing mix) in future housing 

developments to address the County’s affordability issues and to build sustainable 

and resilient communities throughout Monmouthshire. 

 Limited opportunities to secure and/or enhance green infrastructure, public open 

space and recreation provision through planning gain. The value and importance 

of having access to locally accessible open/green spaces to assist in recreation and 

health and well-being has been heightened during the current pandemic. 

 Limited opportunities to secure infrastructure provision/upgrades through 

planning gain from development. The current pandemic has highlighted the 

importance of key infrastructure, including digital infrastructure and active travel 

options to support/enable increased home working and support local 

communities. 

 

Table 8: Assessment of Option 2: Welsh Government (WG) 2018-Based Principal Projection 

(AH) against RLDP Objectives  

RLDP 

Objective 

Number 

RLDP Objective - 

Headline 

Performance of Option 2 against the RLDP Objectives 

*Denotes those RLDP objectives that are considered to have increased emphasis and importance in light 
of Covid-19 as referred to in paragraph 2.22 
A Prosperous Wales (Well-being Goal 1)  

Objective 1 Economic Growth/ 

Employment* 

An overall decline in the working age population in the 

County, although there is some growth in the 35-44 age 

groups, which could fuel some employment growth. The 

overall number of jobs is projected to be at a lower level 

than in the previous 15 years indicating that people will 

Page 170



33 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number 

RLDP Objective - 

Headline 

Performance of Option 2 against the RLDP Objectives 

still need to leave the County to access employment. This 

would not meet the Council’s ambitions for sustainable 

economic growth and would not enable the creation of 

sustainable and resilient communities.  In this respect, the 

level of growth provides limited opportunities to create a 

thriving, well-connected, diverse economy, which has 

been highlighted as being of particular importance in light 

of the current pandemic. 

Objective 2 Retail centres* Would provide opportunity to add to the customer base 

in existing centres but would be unlikely to address the 

pressures the retail centres in the County’s towns are 

currently facing which would impact negatively on the 

vitality, viability and attractiveness of the retail centres in 

the County’s towns. The role and function of the high 

street in the local community has been highlighted of 

particular importance in the current pandemic. This 

option would not provide sufficient support to existing 

retail facilities across the County. 

A Resilient Wales (Well-being Goal 2)  

Objective 3 Green Infrastructure, 

Biodiversity and 

Landscape* 

There would be no significant impacts on the natural 

environment, although at the same time it would provide 

few opportunities to create new linkages through 

improvements to Green Infrastructure and ecological 

connectivity. The value and importance of having access 

to locally accessible open/green spaces to assist in 

recreation and health and well-being has been 

heightened during the current pandemic. 

Objective 4 Flood risk There would be no negative impact as the low level of 

growth can be located away from areas of flood risk and 

will incorporate SUDs in accordance with National 

Planning Policy and SUDs legislation. 

Objective 5 Minerals and Waste  There would be no negative impact on minerals and 

waste, mineral landbank obligations can be met.  

Objective 6 Land Provision of housing alongside employment could 

promote efficient use of land and use of brownfield sites.  

However, it is recognised that there are limited 

opportunities for development on brownfield land and 

lower grade agricultural land. 

Objective 7 Natural resources There would be no negative impact on the ability to 

promote the efficient use of natural resources. Any 

Page 171



34 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number 

RLDP Objective - 

Headline 

Performance of Option 2 against the RLDP Objectives 

developments will be encouraged to be water and energy 

efficient. 

A Healthier Wales (Well-being Goal 3) 

Objective 8 Health and Well-

being* 

Would have a negative impact on health and well-being 

with an ageing population and a low level of growth to 

support additional provision and/or upgrades to existing 

provision.  Any deficiencies in provision of good quality 

open space would be exacerbated.  The value and 

importance of having access to locally accessible 

open/green spaces has been emphasised in light of Covid-

19.    

A More Equal Wales (Well-being Goal 4) 

Objective 9 Demography* Would result in an increase in the proportion of the older 

and elderly people living in the County leading to a more 

unbalanced demographic. Very limited opportunities for 

the younger population to live and work in the County. 

The current pandemic has demonstrated the importance 

of ensuring our communities are balanced and socially 

sustainable, particularly in terms of demography. This 

option would not address the demographic imbalance in 

the County. 

A Wales of Cohesive Communities (Well-being Goal 5) 

Objective 10 Housing* With a build rate lower than that achieved over the past 

15 years, this option would not be able to offer the range 

or number of homes to address the demographic 

imbalance or the range of homes needed to attract the 

economically active age group and the type of homes the 

ageing demographic would require. Limited opportunity 

to secure additional market and affordable housing. The 

current pandemic has emphasised the need to ensure the 

provision of a range and choice of homes (housing mix) in 

future housing developments, including affordable 

housing. This option would not address the County’s 

affordability issues or build sustainable and resilient 

communities throughout Monmouthshire. 

Objective 11 Place-making Low requirement for new housing so provides very limited 

opportunity to enhance the character and identity of 

Monmouthshire’s settlements. The value and importance 

of place-making has been emphasised in light of Covid-19.   

Page 172



35 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number 

RLDP Objective - 

Headline 

Performance of Option 2 against the RLDP Objectives 

Objective 12 Communities Would impact on communities, by providing limited 

opportunities for job creation or improvements to 

existing services and facilities.  The unbalanced 

demographic and low level of dwelling and job creation 

provides little opportunity to support social sustainability 

and balanced communities. This growth option would fail 

to address this key issue and would be detrimental to our 

core purpose of creating sustainable and resilient 

communities. 

Objective 13 Rural Communities Would impact negatively on rural communities by 

providing few opportunities to strengthen the rural 

economy or opportunities for people to stay in their local 

communities.  Difficulties in sustaining services/facilities 

across the County will result in rural isolation. 

Objective 14 Infrastructure* Would have a negative impact as a declining and  

unbalanced demographic would result in falling school 

numbers and could result in school closures,  as well as 

increased pressure on health and social care. Difficulties 

in sustaining services/facilities across the County as well 

as limited opportunities to improve a range of 

infrastructure, including active travel and digital 

infrastructure would increase issues associated with rural 

isolation.   

Objective 15 Accessibility Would have a negative impact as limited employment 

growth would limit job opportunities in the County 

leading to a continuation of out-commuting levels. 

Although it should be recognised that in light of Covid-19 

there has been an increase in agile and home working, 

which is likely to continue over the longer term. The 

increased reliance on access to local facilities and services 

during the current pandemic, has highlighted their 

importance to communities.   Lack of employment 

opportunities and low housing growth level would result 

in limited opportunities to enhance accessibility, active 

travel and the use of sustainable transport options. 

A Wales of Vibrant Culture & Thriving Welsh Language (Well-being Goal 6) 

Objective 16 Culture, Heritage and 
Welsh Language 

There would be no negative impact on culture and 
heritage, but at the same time offers few benefits for the 
economy, tourism and social well-being of communities. 
No impact on Welsh Language. 

A Globally Responsible Wales (Well-being Goal 7) 

Page 173



36 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number 

RLDP Objective - 

Headline 

Performance of Option 2 against the RLDP Objectives 

Objective 17 Climate Change* There would be no negative impact on climate change, 
with a reduction in commuting in the long term as the 
population ages being a positive. At the same time there 
would be limited opportunities to contribute to 
minimising carbon by providing opportunities for 
renewable energy generation, supporting use of ultra-low 
emission vehicles and public transport, and the provision 
of quality Green Infrastructure. The current pandemic has 
emphasised the need to enable such responses in 
delivering sustainable and resilient communities.        

 

Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) Analysis 

2.44 Growth Option 2 performs marginally better than option 1 against the ISA themes 

relating to the economy and employment, population and communities, health and 

wellbeing and equalities. Options 1 to 4 all represent job growth, albeit at a lower rate 

than past delivery rates, and the demographic projections indicate a declining 

workforce, as well as a declining customer base. Uncertain effects are considered likely 

against the economy ISA theme for this option, alhough these effects increase in 

significance as the rate of growth decreases. Options 2 to 6 deliver gradually increasing 

levels of growth, it is assumed that as the level of growth increases, so does the ability 

to deliver a greater range/ mix of new homes to help meet the needs of all residents 

in the County, including affordable housing.  Higher levels of growth also increase the 

potential for accessibility improvements and other community benefits associated 

with development, including new and improved service and facility provision, 

extended green infrastructure, transport and infrastructure upgrades, new open 

spaces and an improved public realm. On the whole impacts against these ISA themes 

are considered to be uncertain under this option.  

2.45 There are considered to be no or uncertain effects with regard to this option against 

the remaining ISA themes. With limited growth under options 2 and 3 it is considered 

likely to lead to marginal effects in terms of congestion on the existing highway 

network, although it is recognised that the level of growth under this option is not 

likely to provide the critical mass to enable infrastructure improvements.  This is 

particularly important given the wider ambitions to transition to a lower-emission 

infrastructure network, where development will be a key delivery vehicle for the 

technological and infrastructure advances which underpin the transition.  

2.46 In terms of biodiversity and landscape the increasing level of growth under options 2 

to 6 is likely to require increasingly more land take.  This is considered likely to result 

in wider habitat loss and fragmentation as well as increased pressure; notably 

disturbance (through recreation, noise and light), atmospheric pollution, and through 

Page 174



37 
 

impacts on water quality and resources. The increasing level of growth under options 

2 to 6 is likely to place higher pressure on greenfield land resources and result in wider 

impacts on the landscape across the County. Given the limited brownfield land 

available in the County, it is considered that most additional growth will be delivered 

on greenfield land on the edge of existing settlements, placing increased pressure on 

the County’s landscape interests and rural character with the potential for long term 

negative effects.  Whilst it is likely that mitigation is available to reduce the significance 

of any effects, the residual effects remain uncertain at this stage until development 

locations are more clearly defined. Overall no or limited growth under options 1, 2 and 

3 is not considered likely to lead to effects of significance. At this stage it is concluded 

that it is not possible to identify any significant differences between the Options or 

conclude that they are likely to have significant effects on the historic environment.  

None of the Options is likely to have a significant effect on the Welsh language. 

 

Option 3: Welsh Government (WG) 2018-Based Principal Projection (with added 

Policy assumptions) (WG 2018 Principal Projection (MR CR_R), AH)  

2.47 This option replicates the WG 2018-Based Principal Projection, using historical 

population evidence for 2001-2018. The sensitivity testing has then been applied to 

the output to establish the impact on the projection of modelling adjustments to the 

household membership rates for three key younger age groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34), 

whilst at the same time reducing out-commuting by retaining more of the resident 

workforce.  

2.48 Additional testing has been undertaken to establish the impact on demography, 

dwellings, household type and employment of an affordable-housing policy-led 

strategy which aims to meet 10% of the LHMA need arising from this option on 

housing sites which deliver 50% affordable housing. 

2.49 This option projects a population increase of 6,147 (6.5%) with a corresponding 

increase of 4,551 households (11.3%) in the County over the Plan period.   This level 

of household growth results in an estimated average annual dwelling growth of 318 

dpa over the 2018– 2033 Plan period (total 4,770 dwellings). The figure of 318 dpa is 

lower than the current LDP dwelling requirement of 450 dpa and broadly in line with 

average completions over the past 5 years (310 dpa).   

Page 175



38 
 

Chart 12: Components of Change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.50 This option projects net in-migration of an average of 825 persons pa throughout the 

Plan period. However, this is counter balanced by an increasing level of negative 

natural change as the population ages (Chart 12). 

2.51 As with the previous options this option has significant implications for the age profile 

of the County. Whilst there is growth in the 35-44 age groups the majority of 

population growth is coming from the over 60 age groups with all other age groups, 

with the exception of the 15-19 age group, experiencing negative growth, again 

resulting in an unbalanced demographic (Charts 13 and 14). 

Chart 13: Population Growth/Decline by Age Group 2018-2033 

  

Orange = HIGHER in 2033  Blue = LOWER in 2033 

Page 176



39 
 

Chart 14: Implications for the Age Profile of Monmouthshire 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.52 This option projects an increase of 3,975 jobs over the total Plan period. Whilst the 

number of jobs remains below the average seen in the past 15 years (Chart 15) the 

gap between the two lessens as the Plan progresses. In the 15 years to 2018 there was 

an average of 45,200 jobs available within the County, under this option there is 

projected to be an average of just below 43,200 jobs available. As this option models 

a commuting ratio that reduces from the 2011 Census value (1.12) to 1.10 over the 

Plan period, the population and dwelling growth associated with this level of job 

growth is not as high as might be expected as Monmouthshire would be retaining 

more of its own population to maintain the job growth. 

 Chart 15: Implications for Employment Growth 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 177



40 
 

2.53 All of these factors impact on the dwelling requirement over the Plan period. The 

dwelling requirement within this option equates to an average of 318 per year, higher 

than the average build rate over the past 15 years but significantly lower than the 

adopted LDP requirement (Chart 16). There are currently 4,660 new homes within 

existing commitments and windfall allowances. This option would only require an 

additional 110 new dwellings over the Plan period.  

Chart 16: Dwelling Requirement 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.54 The implications associated with this growth option include: 

 An increase in the proportion of the older and elderly people living in the County, 

impacting upon the type of housing required and service providers across public 

and private sectors. The current pandemic has clearly demonstrated the 

importance of ensuring our communities are balanced and socially sustainable, 

particularly in terms of demography. This option would not address the 

demographic imbalance in the County. 

 An overall decline in school aged children, placing less pressure on the capacity of 

existing schools. However, it would provide no scope to secure any improvements 

through planning gain and could lead to potential school closures. 

 An overall decline in the working age population in the County, although there is 

some growth in the 35-44 age groups, which could fuel some employment growth. 

The overall number of jobs is projected to be at a lower level than in the previous 

15 years, indicating that whilst the commuting levels will reduce people will still 

need to leave the County to access employment, this will not promote sustainable 

travel to work patterns. Provides limited opportunity to create a thriving, well-

connected, diverse economy, which has been highlighted as being of particular 

importance in light of the current pandemic. 

Page 178



41 
 

 Opportunities to secure affordable housing but at this lower level would not 

address this key issue. The current pandemic has emphasised the need to ensure 

the provision of a range and choice of homes (housing mix) in future housing 

developments to address the County’s affordability issues and to build sustainable 

and resilient communities throughout Monmouthshire. 

 Opportunities to secure and/or enhance green infrastructure, public open space 

and recreation provision through planning gain. The value and importance of 

having access to locally accessible open/green spaces to assist in recreation and 

health and well-being has been heightened during the current pandemic. 

 Opportunities to secure infrastructure provision/upgrades through planning gain 

from development. The current pandemic has highlighted the importance of key 

infrastructure, including digital infrastructure and active travel options to 

support/enable increased home working and support local communities.  

 

Table 9: Assessment of Option 3: Welsh Government (WG) 2018-Based Principal 

Projection (with added Policy assumptions) (WG 2018 Principal Projection (MR CR_R), 

AH)** against RLDP Objectives  

RLDP 

Objective 

Number 

RLDP Objective - 

Headline 

Performance of Option 3 against the RLDP Objectives 

*Denotes those RLDP objectives that are considered to have increased emphasis and importance in light 
of Covid-19 as referred to in paragraph 2.22 
A Prosperous Wales (Well-being Goal 1)  

Objective 1 Economic Growth/ 

Employment* 

An overall decline in the working age population in the 

County, although there is some growth in the 15 -19 and 

35-44 age groups, which could fuel some employment 

growth. Employment growth brings job levels in the 

County broadly in line with the average job level seen over 

the last 15 years, but not until towards the end of the Plan 

period.  This indicates that whilst the commuting levels 

will reduce people will still need to leave the County to 

access employment. Provides limited opportunities to 

create a thriving, well-connected, diverse economy, which 

has been highlighted as being of particular importance in 

light of the current pandemic. 

Objective 2 Retail centres* Would provide opportunity to add to the customer base 

in existing centres but would be unlikely to address the 

pressures the retail centres in the County’s towns are 

currently facing which would impact negatively on the 

vitality, viability and attractiveness of the retail centres in 

the County’s towns. The role and function of the high 

street in the local community has been highlighted of 

particular importance in the current pandemic, this 

Page 179



42 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number 

RLDP Objective - 

Headline 

Performance of Option 3 against the RLDP Objectives 

option would not provide sufficient support to existing 

retail facilities across the County. 

A Resilient Wales (Well-being Goal 2)  

Objective 3 Green Infrastructure, 

Biodiversity and 

Landscape* 

There would be no negative impact on the natural 

environment, although at the same time it would provide 

few opportunities to create new linkages through 

improvements to Green Infrastructure and ecological 

connectivity. The value and importance of having access 

to locally accessible open/green spaces to assist in 

recreation and health and well-being has been 

heightened during the current pandemic. 

Objective 4 Flood risk There would be no negative impact as growth can be 

located away from areas of flood risk and will incorporate 

SUDs in accordance with National Planning Policy and 

SUDs legislation. 

Objective 5 Minerals and Waste  There would be no negative impact on minerals and 

waste, mineral landbank obligations can be met.  

Objective 6 Land Provision of housing alongside employment could 

promote efficient use of land and use of brownfield sites.  

However, it is recognised that there are limited 

opportunities for development on brownfield land and 

lower grade agricultural land. 

Objective 7 Natural resources There would be no negative impact on ability to promote 

the efficient use of natural resources. Any developments 

will be encouraged to be water and energy efficient. 

A Healthier Wales (Well-being Goal 3) 

Objective 8 Health and Well-

being* 

The continuation of an ageing population and proposed 

level of growth would have a negative impact on health 

and well-being with limited scope to support additional 

provision and/or upgrades to existing provision.  Any 

developments will be encouraged to support healthier 

lifestyles and provide sufficient open space. The value and 

importance of having access to locally accessible 

open/green spaces has been emphasised in light of Covid-

19.     

A More Equal Wales (Well-being Goal 4) 

Objective 9 Demography* Would result in an increase in the proportion of the older 

and elderly people living in the County leading to a more 

unbalanced demographic. Very limited opportunities for 

the younger population to live and work in the County. 

Page 180



43 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number 

RLDP Objective - 

Headline 

Performance of Option 3 against the RLDP Objectives 

The current pandemic has demonstrated the importance 

of ensuring our communities are balanced and socially 

sustainable, particularly in terms of demography. This 

option would not address the demographic imbalance in 

the County. 

A Wales of Cohesive Communities (Well-being Goal 5) 

Objective 10 Housing* This build rate would not be able to offer the range or 

number of homes to address the demographic imbalance 

or the range of homes needed to attract the economically 

active age group and the type of homes the ageing 

demographic would require. Opportunities to secure 

some affordable housing but at this lower level would not 

address this key issue. The current pandemic has 

emphasised the need to ensure the provision of a range 

and choice of homes (housing mix) in future housing 

developments to address the County’s affordability issues 

and to build sustainable and resilient communities 

throughout Monmouthshire. 

Objective 11 Place-making Low requirement for new housing so provides very limited 

opportunity to enhance the character and identity of 

Monmouthshire’s settlements. The value and importance 

of place-making has been emphasised in light of Covid-19.   

Objective 12 Communities This option allows for some economic growth and 

opportunities to secure some affordable housing through 

a higher level of dwelling growth.  However, at this level 

there is little impact on the unbalanced demographic, it 

provides little opportunity to support social sustainability 

and balanced communities. The current pandemic has 

demonstrated the importance of ensuring our 

communities are balanced and socially sustainable. This 

growth option would fail to address this key issue and 

would be detrimental to our core purpose of creating 

sustainable and resilient communities. 

Objective 13 Rural Communities Would impact negatively on rural communities by 

providing limited opportunities to strengthen the rural 

economy or opportunities for people to stay in their local 

communities.  The current pandemic has demonstrated 

the importance of ensuring our communities are balanced 

and socially sustainable. Difficulties in sustaining 

Page 181



44 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number 

RLDP Objective - 

Headline 

Performance of Option 3 against the RLDP Objectives 

services/facilities across the County will result in rural 

isolation. 

Objective 14 Infrastructure* Would have a negative impact as a declining and  

unbalanced demographic would result in falling school 

numbers and could result in school closures,  as well as 

increased pressure on health and social care. Difficulties 

in sustaining services/facilities across the County as well 

as limited opportunities to improve a range of 

infrastructure, including active travel and digital 

infrastructure would increase issues associated with rural 

isolation.   

Objective 15 Accessibility The overall number of jobs is projected to be at a lower 

level than in the previous 15 years, indicating that whilst 

the commuting levels will reduce people will still need to 

leave the County to access employment, this will not 

promote sustainable travel to work patterns. Although it 

should be recognised that in light of Covid-19 there has 

been an increase in agile and home working, which is 

likely to continue over the longer term. The increased 

reliance on access to local facilities and services during the 

current pandemic, has highlighted their importance to 

communities.   The proposed growth level would result in 

limited opportunities to enhance accessibility, active 

travel enhancements and the use of sustainable transport 

options. 

A Wales of Vibrant Culture & Thriving Welsh Language (Well-being Goal 6) 

Objective 16 Culture, Heritage and 
Welsh Language 

There would be no negative impact on culture and 
heritage, but at the same time offers few benefits for the 
economy, tourism and social well-being of communities. 
No impact on Welsh Language. 

A Globally Responsible Wales (Well-being Goal 7) 

Objective 17 Climate Change* There would be no negative impact on climate change, 
with a reduction in commuting in the long term as the 
population ages being a positive. At the same time there 
would be limited opportunities to contribute to 
minimising carbon by providing opportunities for 
renewable energy generation, supporting use of ultra-low 
emission vehicles and public transport, and the provision 
of quality Green Infrastructure. The current pandemic has 
emphasised the need to enable such responses in 
delivering sustainable and resilient communities.        

** Option title as referred to in the Edge Analytics Reports. 

Page 182



45 
 

Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) Analysis 

2.55 Growth Option 3 performs marginally better than options 1 and 2 against the ISA 

themes relating to the economy and employment, population and communities, 

health and wellbeing and equalities. Options 1 to 4 represent job growth, albeit at a 

lower rate than past delivery rates, and the demographic projections indicate a 

declining workforce, as well as a declining customer base. Uncertain effects are 

considered likely against the economy ISA theme for this option, these effects increase 

in significance as the rate of growth decreases. Options 2 to 6 deliver gradually 

increasing levels of growth, it is assumed that as the level of growth increases, so does 

the ability to deliver a greater range/ mix of new homes to help meet the needs of all 

residents in the County, including affordable housing.  Higher levels of growth also 

increase the potential for accessibility improvements and other community benefits 

associated with development, including new and improved service and facility 

provision, extended green infrastructure, transport and infrastructure upgrades, new 

open spaces and an improved public realm. On the whole impacts against these ISA 

themes are considered to be uncertain under this option.  

2.56 There are considered to be no or uncertain effects with regard to this option against 

the remaining ISA themes. With limited growth under options 2 and 3 it is considered 

likely to lead to marginal effects in terms of congestion on the existing highway 

network, although it is recognised that the level of growth under this option is not 

likely to provide the critical mass to enable infrastructure improvements.  This is 

particularly important given the wider ambitions to transition to a lower-emission 

infrastructure network, where development will be a key delivery vehicle for the 

technological and infrastructure advances which underpin the transition. In terms of 

biodiversity and landscape the increasing level of growth under options 2 to 6 is likely 

to require increasingly more land take.  This is considered likely to result in wider 

habitat loss and fragmentation as well as increased pressure; notably disturbance 

(through recreation, noise and light), atmospheric pollution, and through impacts on 

water quality and resources. However, residual effects remain uncertain at this stage 

reflecting the ability to mitigate effects at the site/ project level. Overall no or limited 

growth under options 1, 2 and 3 is not considered likely to lead to effects of 

significance.  

2.57 The increasing level of growth under options 2 to 6 is likely to place higher pressure 

on greenfield land resources and result in wider impacts on the landscape across the 

County.  Given the limited brownfield land available in the County, it is considered that 

most additional growth will be delivered on greenfield land on the edge of existing 

settlements, placing increased pressure on the County’s landscape interests and rural 

character with the potential for long term negative effects.  Whilst it is likely that 

mitigation is available to reduce the significance of any effects, the residual effects 

remain uncertain at this stage until development locations are more clearly defined. 

At this stage it is concluded that it is not possible to identify any significant differences 

between the Options or conclude that they are likely to have significant effects on the 

Page 183



46 
 

historic environment.  None of the Options is likely to have a significant effect on the 

Welsh language. 

 

Option 4: Dwelling-led Average (based on housing completion rates) (5yr Average 

Completions) (Dwelling-led 5 year average, AH) 

2.58 The 5 Year dwelling-led option is based on residential completions in the 

Monmouthshire County Council planning area from 2015/16 to 2019/20 and assumes 

for the initial modelling an average annual dwelling growth rate of 310 per annum 

during this period. Additional testing has been undertaken to establish the impact on 

demography, dwellings, household type and employment of an affordable-housing 

policy-led strategy which aims to meet 10% of the LHMA need arising from this option 

on housing sites which deliver 50% affordable housing. 

2.59 By applying the additional testing this produces a dwelling growth of 6,030, an average 

of 402 dpa over the Plan period. This level of dwelling growth would result in a 

population increase of 10,641 persons (11.3%) with a corresponding increase of 5,628 

(14%) households in the County over the Plan period. A key benefit of considering this 

level of growth is that it is based on actual past delivery rates and takes account of 

local socio-economic conditions. However, it needs to be borne in mind that this 

would represent a continuation of past dwelling completion rates and as this simply 

replicates what has happened previously it is questioned whether this would address 

the demographic and economic challenges that we are seeking to address. 

Chart 17: Components of Population Change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.60 This option projects net average in-migration of around 1,110 persons pa throughout 

the Plan period, out-weighing the negative impact of natural change, leading to a net 

growth in the population (Chart 17).   

Page 184



47 
 

2.61 As with the previous options, this option also impacts on the age profile of the County. 

There is growth from a larger number of age groups, although the level of growth 

coming from the younger age groups is at a low level. The majority of population 

growth is therefore still coming from the over 60 age groups, with the 45-59 age 

groups declining, again resulting in an unbalanced demographic (Charts 18 and 19).  

Chart 18: Population Growth/Decline by Age Group 2018-2033 

 

Orange = HIGHER in 2033  Blue = LOWER in 2033 

Chart 19: Implications for the Age Profile of Monmouthshire 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.62 As with option 3, this option also projects a growth in jobs with an increase of 5,460 

jobs, an average of 364 jobs pa over the Plan period. However, in terms of the average 

number of jobs in the County, this option again projects a lower level than over the 

Page 185



48 
 

previous 15 years. In the 15 years to 2018, there was an average of 45,200 jobs 

available within the County, under this option there is projected to be an average of 

43,890 jobs available. Despite the lower average number of jobs available there is 

projected to be a steady increase over the Plan period with the number of jobs 

available exceeding the 15 year average by 2030. (Chart 20). 

Chart 20: Implications for Employment Growth  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.63 This option represents a continuation of the dwelling growth rates from the past 5 

years, i.e. ‘business as usual’. With the addition of the affordable housing policy-led 

element, this would result in average dwelling completions of 402 dpa over the Plan 

period which is below the adopted LDP dwelling requirement of 450 dpa (Chart 21).  

There are currently 4,660 new homes within existing commitments and windfall 

allowances. This option would require an additional 1,370 new dwellings over and 

above these existing commitments and allowances over the Plan period. 

Page 186



49 
 

Chart 21: Dwelling Requirement 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.64 The implications associated with this growth option include: 

 Despite a small uplift in the younger age groups, results in an increase in the 

proportion of the older and elderly people living in the County, impacting upon 

the type of housing required and service providers across public and private 

sectors. The current pandemic has clearly demonstrated the importance of 

ensuring our communities are balanced and socially sustainable, particularly in 

terms of demography. This option would not address the demographic imbalance 

in the County. 

 A relatively stable number of school aged children, placing no pressure on the 

capacity of existing schools, but with limited opportunities to secure 

improvements to existing schools through planning gain. 

 Growth in established households around the 35-44 age group, which could fuel 

some employment growth. However, the overall number of jobs is projected to be 

at a lower level than in the previous 15 years, indicating that people will still need 

to leave the County to access employment. This would not significantly reduce 

levels of out-commuting or promote sustainable travel to work patterns. 

 Whilst this option projects growth in jobs over the Plan period, it is unlikely that 

this level of job growth located within the County will be needed given the 

increased propensity to work from home / remotely. It is expected that the trend 

for increased home and remote working will continue over the longer term which 

will act to reduce this job growth figure over the Plan period. 

 Opportunities to secure affordable housing through the planning system.  The 

current pandemic has emphasised the need to ensure the provision of a range and 

choice of homes (housing mix) in future housing developments to address the 

Page 187



50 
 

County’s affordability issues and to build sustainable and resilient communities 

throughout Monmouthshire. 

 Opportunities to secure and/or enhance green infrastructure, public open space 

and recreation provision through planning gain.  The value and importance of 

having access to locally accessible open/green spaces to assist in recreation and 

health and well-being has been heightened during the current pandemic. 

 Opportunities to secure infrastructure provision/upgrades through planning gain 

from development. The current pandemic has highlighted the importance of key 

infrastructure, including digital infrastructure and active travel options to 

support/enable increased home working and support local communities 

 

Table 10: Assessment of Option 4: Dwelling-led Average (based on housing completion 

rates) (5yr Average Completions) (Dwelling-led 5 year average, AH)** against RLDP 

Objectives 

RLDP 
Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 4 against the RLDP Objectives 

*Denotes those RLDP objectives that are considered to have increased emphasis and importance in light 
of Covid-19 as referred to in paragraph 2.22 
A Prosperous Wales (Well-being Goal 1)  

Objective 1 Economic Growth/ 
Employment* 

Despite the lower average number of jobs available there 
is projected to be a steady increase over the Plan period 
with the number of jobs available exceeding the 15 year 
average by 2030.  This level of growth would encourage 
greater indigenous business growth and encourage 
inward investment.  Provides opportunity to create a 
thriving, well-connected, diverse economy, which has 
been highlighted as being of particular importance in light 
of the current pandemic. 

Objective 2 Retail centres* Would provide opportunity to add to the customer base 
in existing centres The role and function of the high street 
in the local community has been highlighted of particular 
importance in the current pandemic, this option would be 
likely to provide sufficient support to existing retail 
facilities across the County. 

A Resilient Wales (Well-being Goal 2)  

Objective 3 Green Infrastructure, 
Biodiversity and 
Landscape* 

Likely to result in further pressure on the natural 
environment. New developments could nevertheless 
improve Green Infrastructure and ecological connectivity 
through opportunities to create new linkages.  The value 
and importance of having access to locally accessible 
open/green spaces to assist in recreation and health and 
well-being has been heightened during the current 
pandemic. 

Page 188



51 
 

RLDP 
Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 4 against the RLDP Objectives 

Objective 4 Flood risk Level of development likely to result in development in 
areas which have floodplains. Developments can 
nevertheless be located away from areas at risk of 
flooding and will incorporate SUDs in accordance with 
National Planning Policy and SUDs legislation. 

Objective 5 Minerals and Waste  There would be no negative impact on minerals and 
waste, mineral landbank obligations can be met. 

Objective 6 Land Provision of housing alongside employment could 
promote efficient use of land and use of brownfield sites.  
However, it is recognised that there are limited 
opportunities for development on brownfield land and 
lower grade agricultural land. 

Objective 7 Natural resources There would be no negative impact on ability to promote 
the efficient use of natural resources. Any developments 
will be encouraged to be water and energy efficient. 

A Healthier Wales (Well-being Goal 3) 

Objective 8 Health and Well-
being* 

Any developments will be encouraged to support 
healthier lifestyles and provide sufficient open space. The 
value and importance of having access to locally 
accessible open/green spaces has been emphasised in 
light of Covid-19.     

A More Equal Wales (Well-being Goal 4) 

Objective 9 Demography* Begins to address the unbalanced demographic through 
growth from a larger number of age groups, although the 
level of growth from the younger age groups is at a low 
level.  The majority of population growth is coming from 
the over 60 age groups, with 45-59 declining, again 
resulting in an unbalanced demographic. The current 
pandemic has clearly demonstrated the importance of 
ensuring our communities are balanced and socially 
sustainable, particularly in terms of demography.  

A Wales of Cohesive Communities (Well-being Goal 5) 

Objective 10 Housing* Would provide a level of housing that is sufficient to 
provide a wide ranging choice of homes for both existing 
and future residents. Level of development would provide 
opportunity to secure affordable and market homes. The 
current pandemic has emphasised the need to ensure the 
provision of a range and choice of homes (housing mix) in 
future housing developments to address the County’s 
affordability issues and to build sustainable and resilient 
communities throughout Monmouthshire. 

Objective 11 Place-making Any developments will need to enhance the character and 
identity of the settlements and be in accordance with 
national sustainable place-making principles. The value 

Page 189



52 
 

RLDP 
Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 4 against the RLDP Objectives 

and importance of place-making has been emphasised in 
light of Covid-19. 

Objective 12 Communities Could impact negatively on communities as despite a 
small uplift in the younger age groups, an increase in the 
proportion of the older population living within the 
County would result in an unbalanced demographic, 
impacting on the services required throughout the 
County.  New development however will provide 
opportunities for job creation and some improvements to 
existing services and facilities. The current pandemic has 
demonstrated the importance of ensuring our 
communities are balanced and socially sustainable, 
particularly in terms of demography. 

Objective 13 Rural Communities Could impact negatively on communities as despite a 
small uplift in the younger age groups, an increase in the 
proportion of the older population living within the 
County would result in an unbalanced demographic, 
impacting on the services required throughout the 
County. New development however could help 
strengthen the rural economy and address rural isolation, 
assisting in building sustainable rural communities. 

Objective 14 Infrastructure* Development will generate opportunities to both provide 
new infrastructure and enhance the existing.   
Appropriate infrastructure could be provided to 
accommodate any new development.    

Objective 15 Accessibility Despite the lower average number of jobs available there 
is projected to be a steady increase over the Plan period 
with the number of jobs available exceeding the 15 year 
average by 2030.  However, this does indicate that people 
will still need to leave the County to access employment 
for the majority of the Plan period. This would not reduce 
levels of out-commuting or promote sustainable travel to 
work patterns.  Although it should be recognised that in 
light of Covid-19 there has been an increase in agile and 
home working, which is likely to continue over the longer 
term.  The proposed growth level would result in some 
opportunities to enhance accessibility, active travel and 
the use of sustainable transport options. 

A Wales of Vibrant Culture & Thriving Welsh Language (Well-being Goal 6) 

Objective 16 Culture, Heritage and 
Welsh Language 

Has the potential to impact on the heritage of a number 
of settlements in Monmouthshire. On the other hand 
through design developments can protect and enhance 
the built environment as well as provide benefits for the 

Page 190



53 
 

RLDP 
Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 4 against the RLDP Objectives 

economy, tourism and well-being of communities. No 
impact on Welsh Language. 

A Globally Responsible Wales (Well-being Goal 7) 

Objective 17 Climate Change There would be no negative impact on climate change as 
the resilience of new development to aspects of climate 
change can be achieved via the design and location of new 
developments.  Developments can provide opportunities 
to minimise carbon by providing opportunities for 
renewable energy generation, seeking to reduce 
commuting, supporting use of ultra-low emission vehicles 
and public transport, and the provision of quality Green 
Infrastructure.    The current pandemic has emphasised 
the need to enable such responses in delivering 
sustainable and resilient communities.    

** Option title as referred to in the Edge Analytics Reports. 

Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) Analysis 

2.65 Growth Option 4 performs better than the lower growth options against the ISA 

themes relating to the economy and employment, population and communities, 

health and wellbeing and equalities. . Options 1 to 4 represent job growth, albeit at a 

lower rate than past delivery rates, and the demographic projections indicate a 

declining workforce, as well as a declining customer base. Uncertain effects are 

considered likely against the economy ISA theme for this option, these effects increase 

in significance as the rate of growth decreases. Options 2 to 6 deliver gradually 

increasing levels of growth, it is assumed that as the level of growth increases, so does 

the ability to deliver a greater range/ mix of new homes to help meet the needs of all 

residents in the County, including affordable housing.  Higher levels of growth also 

increase the potential for accessibility improvements and other community benefits 

associated with development, including new and improved service and facility 

provision, extended green infrastructure, transport and infrastructure upgrades, new 

open spaces and an improved public realm. On the whole impacts against these ISA 

themes are considered to be uncertain under this option.  

2.66 There are considered to be no or uncertain effects with regard to this option against 

the remaining ISA themes. Whilst Options 4, 5 and 6 propose higher levels of growth 

that has greater potential for negative effects in terms of congestion, negative effects 

are not considered likely to be significant against the transport ISA theme.  In terms of 

biodiversity as the level of growth increases through Options 4 to 6 so too does the 

potential significance of negative effects.  However, the residual effects remain 

uncertain at this stage reflecting the ability to mitigate effects at the site/ project level.  

2.67 As the additional growth under Options 2 to 6 increases it is likely to require 

increasingly more land take, placing greater pressure on greenfield land resources and 

Page 191



54 
 

resulting in wider impacts on the landscape across the County: this has the potential 

for long term negative effects. Alongside the potential for negative effects, it is 

recognised however that there is also the opportunity for growth to deliver landscape 

enhancements; maximising opportunities to secure and/or improve green 

infrastructure, public open space and recreation provision through planning gain.  The 

nature and significance of effects will therefore ultimately be dependent on the exact 

location, design/ layout of development, and the implementation of mitigation 

measures. At this stage it is concluded that it is not possible to identify any significant 

differences between the Options or conclude that they are likely to have significant 

effects on the historic environment.  None of the Options is likely to have a significant 

effect on the Welsh language. 

 

Option 5:  Population-led projection (with added policy assumptions) (PG Long Term 

(Adjusted 5yr) (MR CR_R) AH) 

2.68 This option uses the POPGROUP forecasting model to develop a trend-based 

demographic option. It uses an ONS 2019 Mid Year Estimate as the base year and then  

uses migration flow assumptions based on an eighteen-year historical period but with 

internal in-migration rates adjusted to reflect the higher in-migration (based on the 

last 5 years) from Bristol and South Gloucestershire. This option has been modelled to 

reflect the impact of the removal of the Severn Bridge Tolls.  

2.69 The sensitivity testing has then been applied to the output to establish the impact on 

the projection of modelling adjustments to the household membership rates for three 

key younger age groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34), whilst at the same time reducing out-

commuting by retaining more of the resident workforce.  

2.70 Additional testing has been undertaken to establish the impact on demography, 

dwellings, household type and employment of an affordable-housing policy-led 

strategy which aims to meet 10% of the LHMA need arising from this option on 

housing sites which deliver 50% affordable housing.  

2.71 This option results in the highest net migration rates of any of the demographic or 

dwelling-led scenarios, with only the radical structural change employment-led 

scenario resulting in a higher level. By applying the adjustment to the internal in-

migration rates, this scenario projects an increase of 12,443 (13.2%) in the population 

with a corresponding increase of 7,255 (18.1%) in the number of households in the 

County over the Plan period. This represents a projected dwelling growth of 7,605 

over the Plan period, 507 dpa.  

Page 192



55 
 

Chart 22: Components of Population Change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.72 This option projects net average in-migration of 1,220 persons pa throughout the Plan 

period, significantly out-weighing the negative impact of natural change, leading to a 

net growth in the population. This option shows the highest migration levels of any of 

the demographic or dwelling-led options as it takes account of the increased level of 

in-migration from neighbouring areas since the removal of the Severn Bridge Toll 

(Chart 22). 

2.73 This level of migration results in a significant impact on the age profile of the County, 

and whilst there continues to be growth in the over 60 age groups there is a 

corresponding growth in the key 30-49 age groups, with growth mirrored in the 0-19 

age groups. This option captures increased in-migration in the key labour force age 

groups (Charts 23 and 24). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 193



56 
 

Chart 23: Population Growth/Decline by Age Group 2018-2033 

 

Orange = HIGHER in 2033  Blue = LOWER in 2033 

 

Chart 24: Implications for the Age Profile of Monmouthshire 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.74 The growth in jobs under this scenario is significantly higher than in the previous 

options with an increase of 7,215 jobs, 481 jobs pa over the Plan period (Chart 25). 

The number of jobs available rises significantly towards the end of the Plan period, 

with 48,160 jobs available in the County by 2033. This option models a commuting 

ratio that reduces from the 2011 Census value (1.12) to 1.10 over the Plan period, the 

population and dwelling growth associated with this level of job growth is not as high 

Page 194



57 
 

as might be expected as Monmouthshire would be retaining more of its own 

population to maintain the job growth. 

Chart 25: Implications for Employment Growth 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.75 This option represents a dwelling growth rate of some 507 dpa over the Plan period. 

This is a higher level than experienced over the past 15 years and is higher than the 

current LDP requirement (Chart 26). There are currently 4,660 new homes within 

existing commitments and windfall allowances. This option would require an 

additional 2,945 new dwellings over and above these existing commitments and 

allowances over the Plan period. 

 

Page 195



58 
 

Chart 26: Dwelling Requirement 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.76 The implications associated with this growth option include: 

 This option shows significant progress in achieving a more balanced demographic, 

although the increase in the number of older and elderly people living in the 

County would still impact upon the type of housing required and service providers 

across public and private sectors. The current pandemic has clearly demonstrated 

the importance of ensuring our communities are balanced and socially 

sustainable, particularly in terms of demography.  

 Growth in the number of school aged children, placing more pressure on the 

capacity of existing schools. However, the level of housing delivery would provide 

a substantial opportunity to secure additional provision through planning gain to 

fund extensions and/or new schools. 

 Growth in the number of working aged people living in Monmouthshire, with a 

notable increase in established households around the 30-44 age group, fuelling 

growth in employment provision. A reduction in out-commuting likely to lead to 

more sustainable travel patterns. Provides the opportunity to create a thriving, 

well-connected, diverse economy, which has been highlighted as being of 

particular importance in light of the current pandemic. 

 Whilst this option projects a significant growth in jobs over the Plan period, it is 

unlikely that this level of job growth located within the County will be needed 

given the increased propensity to work from home / remotely. It is expected that 

the trend for increased home and remote working will continue over the longer 

term which will act to reduce this job growth figure over the Plan period. 

 Opportunities to secure more significant affordable housing through the planning 

system. The current pandemic has emphasised the need to ensure the provision 

of a range and choice of homes (housing mix) in future housing developments to 

Page 196



59 
 

address the County’s affordability issues and to build sustainable and resilient 

communities throughout Monmouthshire. 

 Opportunities to sustain services /facilities in urban and rural areas with 

associated benefits including addressing rural isolation. The Covid-19 pandemic 

has highlighted the importance of local services and facilities to support our 

communities. 

 Opportunities to secure meaningful infrastructure provision/upgrades through 

planning gain from development, including digital infrastructure and active travel 

options to support/enable increased home/remote working and support local 

communities, all of which have increased importance in light of the Covid-19 

pandemic. 

 Increased opportunities to secure and/or enhance green infrastructure, public 

open space and recreation provision through planning gain. The value and 

importance of having access to locally accessible open/green spaces to assist in 

recreation and health and well-being has been heightened during the current 

pandemic. 

 

Table 11: Assessment of Option 5:  (Population-led projection (with added policy 

assumptions) (PG Long Term (Adjusted 5yr) (MR CR_R) AH)** against RLDP Objectives 

RLDP 
Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 5 against the RLDP Objectives 

*Denotes those RLDP objectives that are considered to have increased emphasis and importance in light 
of Covid-19 as referred to in paragraph 2.22 
A Prosperous Wales (Well-being Goal 1)  

Objective 1 Economic Growth/ 
Employment* 

Would result in a growth in jobs of 481 pa. This level of 
growth would encourage greater indigenous business 
growth and encourage inward investment.    Provides the 
opportunity to create a thriving, well-connected, diverse 
economy, which has been highlighted as being of 
particular importance in light of the current pandemic and 
would assist in building sustainable and resilient 
communities. 

Objective 2 Retail centres* Would provide increased opportunities to add to the 
customer base in retail centres in the County’s towns, 
with a 13.2% increase in the population.  There would be 
benefits arising from indigenous employment growth in 
the County, fostering the vitality, viability and 
attractiveness of the centres. The role and function of the 
high street in the local community has been highlighted of 
particular importance in the current pandemic. This 
option would provide sufficient support to existing retail 
facilities across the County. 

A Resilient Wales (Well-being Goal 2)  

Page 197



60 
 

RLDP 
Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 5 against the RLDP Objectives 

Objective 3 Green Infrastructure, 
Biodiversity and 
Landscape* 

Likely to result in further pressure on the natural 
environment. New developments could nevertheless 
improve Green Infrastructure and ecological connectivity 
through opportunities to create new linkages. The value 
and importance of having access to locally accessible 
open/green spaces to assist in recreation and health and 
well-being has been heightened during the current 
pandemic. 

Objective 4 Flood risk Level of development likely to result in development in 
areas which have floodplains. Developments can 
nevertheless be located away from areas at risk of 
flooding and will incorporate SUDs in accordance with 
National Planning Policy and SUDs legislation. 

Objective 5 Minerals and Waste  Levels of housing and employment development could 
impact on the safeguarding of the County’s mineral 
resource. Developments can nevertheless be located 
away from safeguarded areas. 

Objective 6 Land Provision of housing alongside employment could 
promote efficient use of land and use of brownfield sites.  
However, it is recognised that there are limited 
opportunities for development on brownfield land and 
lower grade agricultural land. 

Objective 7 Natural resources There would be no negative impact on ability to promote 
the efficient use of natural resources. Any developments 
will be encouraged to be water and energy efficient and 
incorporate appropriate renewable energy technologies. 

A Healthier Wales (Well-being Goal 3) 

Objective 8 Health and Well-
being* 

Any developments will be encouraged to support 
healthier lifestyles and provide sufficient open space. The 
value and importance of having access to locally 
accessible open/green spaces has been emphasised in 
light of Covid-19.     

A More Equal Wales (Well-being Goal 4) 

Objective 9 Demography* Results in an evening out of the age profile with growth 
coming from a broader cross section of the demographic. 
The current pandemic has demonstrated the importance 
of ensuring our communities are balanced and socially 
sustainable, particularly in terms of demography. This 
option shows significant progress in achieving a more 
balanced demographic. 

A Wales of Cohesive Communities (Well-being Goal 5) 

Objective 10 Housing* Would provide a level of housing that is sufficient to 
provide a wide ranging choice of homes for both existing 
and future residents. The level of growth would provide 

Page 198



61 
 

RLDP 
Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 5 against the RLDP Objectives 

opportunities to secure more significant affordable 
housing through the planning system. The current 
pandemic has emphasised the need to ensure the 
provision of a range and choice of homes (housing mix) in 
future housing developments to address the County’s 
affordability issues and to build sustainable and resilient 
communities throughout Monmouthshire. 

Objective 11 Place-making Any developments will need to enhance the character and 
identity of the settlements and be in accordance with 
national sustainable place-making principles. Growth in 
employment alongside housing will create more 
sustainable places. The value and importance of place-
making has been emphasised in light of Covid-19. 

Objective 12 Communities A more balanced demographic with new development 
providing for a wide ranging choice of homes and jobs for 
both existing and future residents together with 
improvements to existing services and facilities. The 
current pandemic has demonstrated the importance of 
ensuring our communities are balanced and socially 
sustainable, particularly in terms of demography. 

Objective 13 Rural Communities A more balanced demographic with new development 
providing opportunities which could help support the 
rural economy and address rural isolation. 

Objective 14 Infrastructure* Appropriate infrastructure could be provided to 
accommodate any new development. The current 
pandemic has highlighted the importance of the provision 
of digital infrastructure and active travel options to 
support/enable increased home working and support 
local communities. 

Objective 15 Accessibility The level of employment growth alongside the housing 
development would be likely to reduce the need to travel. 
This would also be enhanced by the recent increase in 
agile working and home and remote working as a result  
of Covid-19, which is likely to continue over the longer 
term.   Any new developments will need to consider active 
travel and integrated sustainable transport.  

A Wales of Vibrant Culture & Thriving Welsh Language (Well-being Goal 6) 

Objective 16 Culture, Heritage and 
Welsh Language 

Has the potential to impact on the heritage of a number 
of settlements in Monmouthshire. On the other hand 
through design developments can protect and enhance 
the built environment as well as provide benefits for the 
economy, tourism and well-being of communities. No 
impact on Welsh Language. 

A Globally Responsible Wales (Well-being Goal 7) 

Page 199



62 
 

RLDP 
Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 5 against the RLDP Objectives 

Objective 17 Climate Change* The resilience of new development to aspects of climate 
change can be achieved via the design and location of new 
developments.  Developments can provide opportunities 
to minimise carbon by providing opportunities for 
renewable energy generation, seeking to reduce 
commuting, supporting use of ultra-low emission vehicles 
and public transport, and the provision of quality Green 
Infrastructure.    The current pandemic has emphasised 
the need to enable such responses in delivering 
sustainable and resilient communities.    

** Option title as referred to in the Edge Analytics Reports. 

Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) Analysis 

2.77 Growth Option 5 performs positively against the ISA themes relating to the economy 

and employment and population and communities. Both Options 5 and 6 seek higher 

economic growth levels than Options 1 to 4 and as a result, are expected to perform 

better in relation to the employment ISA theme.  The housing growth proposed 

alongside economic development also seeks to address potential demographic 

imbalances with growth in key working age groups.  Both Options are considered likely 

to support the retention of younger age groups and reduce out-commuting through 

growth with high levels of sustainable local access.  Both Options provide 

opportunities to encourage a more diverse and vibrant economy, significant long-term 

positive effects are anticipated under both Options 5 and 6.  However it is considered 

that Option 5, by more closely aligning with past delivery rates in the earlier years of 

the Plan period, presents a more realistic option.   As a result, significant positive 

effects are considered likely under Option 5 against these ISA themes.  

2.78 Options 5 and 6 also perform highly against the ISA themes relating to health and 

wellbeing, equalities and transport. Whilst Options 5 and 6 propose a higher level of 

growth that has greater potential for negative effects in terms of congestion, negative 

effects are not considered likely to be significant and it is recognised that Options 5 

and 6 provide greater critical mass to enable more significant infrastructure 

improvements.  This is particularly important given the wider ambitions to transition 

to a lower-emission infrastructure network, where development will be a key delivery 

vehicle for the technological and infrastructure advances which underpin the 

transition.  

2.79 There are considered to be no or uncertain effects with regard to this option against 

the remaining ISA themes. In terms of biodiversity the increasing level of growth under 

options 2 to 6 is likely to require increasingly more land take.  This is considered likely 

to result in wider habitat loss and fragmentation as well as increased pressure; notably 

disturbance (through recreation, noise and light), atmospheric pollution, and through 

impacts on water quality and resources.  Despite this, it is recognised that a higher 

Page 200



63 
 

level of growth could also offer greater opportunities for delivering biodiversity net 

gain, securing and/ or enhancing green infrastructure, public open space and 

recreation provision through planning gain.  The nature and significance of residual 

effects will therefore ultimately be dependent on the exact location, design/ layout of 

development, the implementation of mitigation measures, and the sensitivity of 

receptors. Residual effects therefore remain uncertain at this stage reflecting the 

ability to mitigate effects at the site/ project level.  

2.80 All of the options, with the exclusion of Option 1, are likely to require increasingly 

more land, placing higher pressure on greenfield land resources and resulting in wider 

impacts on the landscape across the County.  Given the limited brownfield land 

available in the County, it is considered that most additional growth will be delivered 

on greenfield land on the edge of existing settlements, placing increased pressure on 

the County’s landscape interests and rural character with the potential for long term 

negative effects.  Whilst it is likely that mitigation is available to reduce the significance 

of any effects, the residual effects remain uncertain at this stage until development 

locations are more clearly defined. At this stage it is concluded that it is not possible 

to identify any significant differences between the Options or conclude that they are 

likely to have significant effects on the historic environment.  None of the Options is 

likely to have a significant effect on the Welsh language. 

Option 6:  Employment-led Projection (with added policy assumptions) (Radical 

Structural Change Higher (Commuting Ratio Reducing),AH) 

2.81 This is an employment-led option. As a starting point it takes the higher level of job 

creation under the radical structural change option of the Economies of the Future 

Report. This estimates an additional 10,000 jobs above the 2017 level by 2037. When 

the additional underlying assumptions are applied to this option this equates to an 

annual growth of 642 jobs or a total of 9,630 jobs over the Plan period. 

2.82 This option uses economic assumptions that are consistent with those applied to 

Monmouthshire’s demographic and dwelling-led scenarios. That is an unemployment 

rate which remains at the current value (2019) (2.9%) and consistent employment 

growth and economic activity rate assumptions over the Plan period.  This option was 

not subject to the sensitivity testing applied to the demographic and dwelling-led 

options, however, it assumes that the commuting ratio will reduce to the same degree 

as for the sensitivity testing. With the provision of more jobs in the County it is realistic 

to assume that the commuting ratio would reduce, i.e. Monmouthshire would retain 

more of its own workers rather than them commuting elsewhere to work. This option 

takes this into account and assumes a smaller net out-commute by the end of the Plan 

period. Whilst not impacting on the overall growth of employment, this reduces 

population growth and thus the dwelling requirement as fewer people are estimated 

to commute out of the County, thus reducing the need for in-migration to support the 

employment and dwelling growth.   

Page 201



64 
 

2.83 Whilst not all of the sensitivity testing assumptions have been applied to this option 

additional testing has been undertaken to establish the impact on demography, 

dwellings, household type and employment of an affordable-housing policy-led 

strategy which aims to meet 10% of the LHMA need arising from this option on 

housing sites which deliver 50% affordable housing. 

2.84 By applying these principles this employment-led option projects an increase of 

17,403 (18.5%) in the population with a corresponding increase of 8,653 (21.6%) 

households in the County over the Plan period. This represents a projected dwelling 

growth rate of 9,060 (604 dpa) to support this level of employment growth.  

Chart 27: Components of Population Change 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.85 This option projects net average in-migration of 1,520 persons pa throughout the Plan 

period, significantly out-weighing the negative impact of natural change, leading to a 

net growth in the population (Chart 27). 

2.86 This results in a significant impact on the age profile of the County, and whilst there 

continues to be growth in the over 60 age groups there is a corresponding growth in 

the key labour force age groups with this growth mirrored in the 0-19 age groups. This 

scenario captures increased in-migration in all of these groups with the exception of 

50-59 year olds (Charts 28 and 29). 

Page 202



65 
 

Chart 28: Population Growth/Decline by Age Group 2018-2033  

 

Orange = HIGHER in 2033  Blue = LOWER in 2033 

 

Chart 29: Implications for the Age Profile of Monmouthshire 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.87 The growth in jobs under this option is significantly higher than that achieved under 

the other options. It also leads to a higher average number of jobs within the County 

than the 45,200 available pa over the 15 years to 2018 at some 46,660. As this option 

models a commuting ratio that reduces from the 2011 Census value (1.12) to 1.10 over 

the Plan period, population and dwelling growth is not as high as might be expected 

under this scenario as Monmouthshire would be retaining more of its own population 

to maintain the job growth (Chart 30). 

Page 203



66 
 

Chart 30: Implications for Employment Growth 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.88 This option represents a dwelling growth rate of 604 dpa over the plan period. This is 

higher than the level of dwelling growth experienced over the past 15 years and is 

significantly higher than the adopted LDP requirement. (Chart 31). There are currently 

4,660 new homes within existing commitments and windfall allowances. This option 

would require an additional 4,400 new dwellings over and above these existing 

commitments and allowances over the Plan period. 

Chart 31: Dwelling Requirement 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 204



67 
 

2.89 The implications associated with this growth option include: 

 A significantly more balanced demography with an increase in the number of older 

and elderly people living in the County balanced against an increase in the younger 

age groups, impacting upon the type of housing required and service providers 

across public and private sectors.  The current pandemic has clearly demonstrated 

the importance of ensuring our communities are balanced and socially 

sustainable, particularly in terms of demography. This option would address the 

demographic imbalance in the County. 

 Significant growth in the number of school aged children, placing more pressure 

on the capacity of existing schools. However, the level of housing delivery would 

provide a substantial opportunity to secure additional provision through planning 

gain to fund extensions and/or new schools. 

 Growth in the number of working aged people living in Monmouthshire, with a 

notable increase in established households around the 35-44 age group, fuelling 

growth in employment provision. A reduction in out-commuting likely to lead to 

more sustainable travel patterns. Provides the opportunity to create a thriving, 

well-connected, diverse economy, which has been highlighted as being of 

particular importance in light of the current pandemic.  

 Whilst this option projects a significant growth in jobs over the Plan period, it is 

unlikely that this level of job growth located within the County will be needed 

given the increased propensity to work from home / remotely. It is expected that 

the trend for increased home and remote working will continue over the longer 

term which will act to reduce this job growth figure over the Plan period. 

 High level of projected dwelling growth may be challenging given past completion 

rates so benefits from this option may not come to fruition. 

 Opportunities to secure more significant affordable housing through the planning 

system. The current pandemic has emphasised the need to ensure the provision 

of a range and choice of homes (housing mix) in future housing developments to 

address the County’s affordability issues and to build sustainable and resilient 

communities throughout Monmouthshire. 

 Opportunities to sustain/enhance services and facilities in urban and rural areas 

with associated benefits including addressing rural isolation. The Covid-19 

pandemic has highlighted the importance of local services and facilities to support 

our communities. 

 Increased pressure on the County’s landscape and biodiversity interests but 

potential to maximise opportunities to secure and/or enhance green 

infrastructure, public open space and recreation provision through planning gain. 

The value and importance of having access to locally accessible open/green spaces 

to assist in recreation and health and well-being has been heightened during the 

current pandemic. 

 Increased demands on infrastructure, but potential to deliver infrastructure 

improvements through increased planning gain from development including 

digital infrastructure and active travel options to support/enable increased 

Page 205



68 
 

home/remote working and support local communities, all of which have increased 

importance in light of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 

Table 12: Assessment of Option 6: Employment-led Projection (with added policy 

assumptions) (Radical Structural Change Higher (Commuting Ratio Reducing), AH)** 

against RLDP Objectives 

LDP 
Objective 
Number  

LDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 6 against the RLDP Objectives 

*Denotes those RLDP objectives that are considered to have increased emphasis and importance in light 
of Covid-19 as referred to in paragraph 2.22 
A Prosperous Wales (Well-being Goal 1) 

Objective 1 Economic Growth/ 
Employment* 

Would result in a growth in jobs of 648 pa. This level of 
growth would encourage greater indigenous business 
growth and encourage inward investment. Provides the 
opportunity to create a thriving, well-connected, diverse 
economy, which has been highlighted as being of 
particular importance in light of the current pandemic. 

Objective 2 Retail centres* Would provide increased opportunities to add to the 
customer base in retail centres in the County’s towns, 
with an 18.5% increase in the population. There would be 
benefits arising from indigenous employment growth in 
the County, fostering the vitality, viability and 
attractiveness of the centres. The role and function of the 
high street in the local community has been highlighted of 
particular importance in the current pandemic. This 
option would provide sufficient support to existing retail 
facilities across the County. 

A Resilient Wales (Well-being Goal 2)  

Objective 3 Green Infrastructure, 
Biodiversity and 
Landscape* 

Levels of housing and employment development likely to 
result in further pressure on the natural environment. 
New developments could nevertheless improve Green 
Infrastructure and ecological connectivity through 
opportunities to create new linkages. The value and 
importance of having access to locally accessible 
open/green spaces to assist in recreation and health and 
well-being has been heightened during the current 
pandemic. 

Objective 4 Flood risk Level of development likely to result in development in 
areas which have floodplains. Developments can 
nevertheless be located away from areas at risk of 
flooding and will incorporate SUDs in accordance with 
National Planning Policy and SUDs legislation. 

Objective 5 Minerals and Waste  Higher levels of housing and employment development 
may impact on the safeguarding of the County’s mineral 

Page 206



69 
 

LDP 
Objective 
Number  

LDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 6 against the RLDP Objectives 

resource. Additional waste infrastructure may be required 
for this level of growth. 

Objective 6 Land Provision of housing alongside employment could 
promote efficient use of land and use of brownfield sites.  
However, it is recognised that there are limited 
opportunities for development on brownfield land and 
lower grade agricultural land. 

Objective 7 Natural resources There would be no negative impact on ability to promote 
the efficient use of natural resources. Any developments 
will be encouraged to be water and energy efficient. 

A Healthier Wales (Well-being Goal 3) 

Objective 8 Health and Well-
being* 

Any developments will be encouraged to support 
healthier lifestyles and provide sufficient open space. The 
value and importance of having access to locally 
accessible open/green spaces has been emphasised in 
light of Covid-19.     

A More Equal Wales (Well-being Goal 4) 

Objective 9 Demography* There would be a positive impact with a more balanced 
demography with an increase in the number of older and 
elderly people living in the County balanced against an 
increase in the younger age groups and greater provision 
of dwellings and jobs increasing the opportunities for the 
younger population to both live and work in 
Monmouthshire. The current pandemic has 
demonstrated the importance of ensuring our 
communities are balanced and socially sustainable, 
particularly in terms of demography. This option would 
address the demographic imbalance in the County. 

A Wales of Cohesive Communities (Well-being Goal 5) 

Objective 10 Housing* Would provide a level of housing that is sufficient to 
provide a wide ranging choice of homes for both existing 
and future residents. The level of growth would provide 
opportunities to secure more significant affordable 
housing through the planning system. The current 
pandemic has emphasised the need to ensure the 
provision of a range and choice of homes (housing mix) in 
future housing developments to address the County’s 
affordability issues and to build sustainable and resilient 
communities throughout Monmouthshire. 

Objective 11 Place-making Any developments will need to enhance the character and 
identity of the settlements and be in accordance with 
national sustainable place-making principles. Growth in 
employment alongside housing will create more 

Page 207



70 
 

sustainable places. The value and importance of place-
making has been emphasised in light of Covid-19. 

Objective 12 Communities A more balanced demographic with new development 
providing for a wide ranging choice of homes and jobs for 
both existing and future residents together with 
improvements to existing services and facilities. The 
current pandemic has demonstrated the importance of 
ensuring our communities are balanced and socially 
sustainable, particularly in terms of demography. 

Objective 13 Rural Communities A more balanced demographic with new development 
providing opportunities which could help support the 
rural economy and address rural isolation. 

Objective 14 Infrastructure* Appropriate infrastructure could be provided to 
accommodate any new development. The current 
pandemic has highlighted the importance of the provision 
of digital infrastructure and active travel options to 
support/enable increased home working and support 
local communities. 

Objective 15 Accessibility The level of employment growth alongside the housing 
development would be likely to reduce the need to travel. 
This would also be enhanced by the recent increase in 
agile working and home working as a result of of Covid-
19, which is likely to continue over the longer term.   Any 
new developments will need to consider active travel and 
integrated sustainable transport. 

A Wales of Vibrant Culture & Thriving Welsh Language (Well-being Goal 6) 

Objective 16 Culture, Heritage and 
Welsh Language 

Has the potential to impact on the heritage of a number 
of settlements in Monmouthshire. On the other hand 
through design developments can protect and enhance 
the built environment as well as provide benefits for the 
economy, tourism and well-being of communities. No 
impact on Welsh Language. 

A Globally Responsible Wales (Well-being Goal 7) 

Objective 17 Climate Change* There would be no negative impact on climate change as 
the resilience of new development to aspects of climate 
change can be achieved via the design and location of new 
developments.  Developments can provide opportunities 
to minimise carbon by providing opportunities for 
renewable energy generation, seeking to reduce 
commuting, supporting use of ultra-low emission vehicles 
and public transport, and the provision of quality Green 
Infrastructure.    The current pandemic has emphasised 
the need to enable such responses in delivering 
sustainable and resilient communities.    

** Option title as referred to in the Edge Analytics Reports. 

 

Page 208



71 
 

Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) Analysis 

2.90 Growth Option 6 performs positively against the ISA theme relating to the economy 

and employment and population and communities, there are no or uncertain effects 

against the remaining ISA themes. Both Options 5 and 6 seek higher economic growth 

levels than Options 1 to 4 and as a result, are expected to perform significantly better 

in relation to the employment ISA theme.  The housing growth proposed alongside 

economic development also seeks to address potential demographic imbalances with 

growth in key working age groups.  Both Options are considered likely to support the 

retention of younger age groups and reduce out-commuting through growth with high 

levels of sustainable local access.  Both Options provide opportunities to encourage a 

more diverse and vibrant economy, significant long-term positive effects are 

anticipated under both Options 5 and 6.  However, the assumption in relation to 

higher levels of growth should also consider limits to growth and reflect the need to 

balance growth aspirations with realistic achievability.  Considering this, it is not 

considered appropriate to rank Option 6 higher than Option 5, reflecting a marginally 

higher uncertainty in relation to achievability. 

2.91 Options 2 to 6 deliver the highest level of growth of all of the options, and it is assumed 

that as the level of growth increases, so does the ability to deliver a greater range/ mix 

of new homes to help meet the needs of all residents in the County, including 

affordable housing.  Higher levels of growth also increase the potential for accessibility 

improvements and other community benefits associated with development. However, 

it is noted with both options 5 and 6 that there is a need to manage the impacts of 

growth on local infrastructure capacity so that it does not place unnecessary burdens 

on existing infrastructure..     

2.92  The option also performs highly against the ISA theme relating to transport. Whilst 

Options 5 and 6 propose a higher level of growth that has greater potential for 

negative effects in terms of congestion, negative effects are not considered likely to 

be significant and it is recognised that Options 5 and 6 provide greater critical mass to 

enable more significant infrastructure improvements.  This is particularly important 

given the wider ambitions to transition to a lower-emission infrastructure network, 

where development will be a key delivery vehicle for the technological and 

infrastructure advances which underpin the transition. 

2.93 There are considered to be no or uncertain effects with regard to this option against 

the remaining ISA themes. In terms of biodiversity the increasing level of growth under 

options 2 to 6 is likely to require increasingly more land take.  This is considered likely 

to result in wider habitat loss and fragmentation as well as increased pressure; notably 

disturbance (through recreation, noise and light), atmospheric pollution, and through 

impacts on water quality and resources.  Despite this, it is recognised that a higher 

level of growth could also offer greater opportunities for delivering biodiversity net 

gain, securing and/ or enhancing green infrastructure, public open space and 

recreation provision through planning gain.  The nature and significance of residual 

effects will therefore ultimately be dependent on the exact location, design/ layout of 

Page 209



72 
 

development, the implementation of mitigation measures, and the sensitivity of 

receptors. Residual effects therefore remain uncertain at this stage reflecting the 

ability to mitigate effects at the site/ project level.  

2.94 All of the options, with the exclusion of Option 1, are likely to require increasingly 

more land take, placing pressure on greenfield land resources and resulting in wider 

impacts on the landscape across the County.  Given the limited brownfield land 

available in the County, it is considered that most additional growth will be delivered 

on greenfield land on the edge of existing settlements, placing increased pressure on 

the County’s landscape interests and rural character with the potential for long term 

negative effects.  Whilst it is likely that mitigation is available to reduce the significance 

of any effects, the residual effects remain uncertain at this stage until development 

locations are more clearly defined. Given the higher levels of growth under Options 5 

and 6, there is greater potential negative effects of significance overall against the 

Landscape ISA theme. At this stage it is concluded that it is not possible to identify any 

significant differences between the Options or conclude that they are likely to have 

significant effects on the historic environment.  None of the Options is likely to have a 

significant effect on the Welsh language. 

RLDP Preferred Growth Option  

2.95 The Growth Options presented provide alternative growth strategy options to inform 

the level of dwelling and employment provision within the RLDP, having regard to 

national policy, the evidence base and policy aspirations. Based on the assessment set 

out above, Growth Option 5 Population-led projection (with added policy 

assumptions) is the Council’s preferred Growth Option.  

2.96 Growth Option 5 would provide the level of growth that will help to deliver the 

Council’s core purpose of building sustainable and resilient communities for current 

and future generations. Fundamentally, this option will enable the provision of a 

sufficient range and choice of homes, both market and affordable, the need for which 

has been heightened by the current pandemic. This option will also assist in ensuring 

our communities are balanced and socially sustainable, particularly in terms of 

demography, which is a key RLDP objective and the importance of which has been 

clearly demonstrated during the current pandemic.  

2.97 Likewise, the level of employment growth will assist in reducing the need to travel / 

levels of out-commuting, and promoting self-contained communities. Whilst this 

option projects a significant growth in jobs, with an increase of 7,215 jobs over the 

Plan period, it is unlikely that this level of job growth located within the County will be 

needed given the increased propensity to work from home / remotely. It is expected 

that the trend for increased home and remote working will continue over the longer 

term which will act to reduce this job growth figure over the Plan period.  While it will 

not be possible for all employment sectors to work from home /work remotely, policy 

support requiring broadband connectivity and supporting the provision of local 

employment hubs will enable those who can and choose to do so.  The Covid-19 

Page 210



73 
 

pandemic has affected home-buying trends with an emphasis on quality of life, house 

size and access to outdoor green space rather than a focus on commuting times.  

Monmouthshire is a very attractive proposition and stands to gain from an increased 

economically active population without the associated problems of increased 

commuting, and local businesses and services would benefit from increased custom 

and footfall with workers spending their wages in local businesses rather than in the 

town/city in which they previously worked. 

2.98 Appropriately located growth will increase the customer base and workforce, 

supporting local facilities, businesses and services.  The increased reliance on access 

to local facilities and services during the current pandemic, has highlighted their 

importance to our communities. This option would best meet the needs of and 

support the communities of Monmouthshire by providing a level of growth which will 

provide opportunities to secure affordable housing,  improvements to infrastructure 

and potential to maximise opportunities to secure and/or enhance green 

infrastructure, public open space and recreation provision.  

2.99 With regard to the ISA analysis, Growth Option 5 performs better overall against the 

ISA themes than any of the other five options. In particular Growth Option 5 along 

with Growth Option 6 are predicted to perform well against ISA themes relating to 

population/ communities and economy/ employment. Both Options are considered 

likely to support the retention of younger age groups and reduce out-commuting 

through growth with high levels of sustainable local access.  Both Options provide 

opportunities to encourage a more diverse and vibrant economy.  Through the 

delivery of new homes, jobs and community infrastructure that strategically improve 

accessibility and connectivity within the County Options 5 and 6 are considered to 

have the greatest potential to support diverse and inclusive communities. However 

the ISA considers that Option 5, by more closely aligning with past delivery rates in the 

earlier years of the Plan period, presents a more realistic option.   As a result, 

significant positive effects are considered likely under Option 5 against these ISA 

themes. 

2.100 Overall, Growth Option 5, Population-led projection (with added policy assumptions) 

best meets the RLDP objectives without adverse impacts on the climate emergency 

objective and is considered to be the most conducive to achieving the RLDP vision and 

the Council’s core purpose of building sustainable and resilient communities across 

Monmouthshire.   

 

Consultation Questions 
 

• Growth Option 5 (Population-led projection (with added policy assumptions)) is our 
preferred option. On the basis of the evidence above, do you agree with our preferred 
growth option? Please explain why and provide your reasons.  

  

Page 211



74 
 

• If you have a preference for a different option, please state which option and provide 

details of how your preferred option will address the issues/challenges Monmouthshire 

is facing and the RLDP and ISA objectives? 
 

 

  

Page 212



75 
 

3 Spatial Strategy Options  

3.1 In addition to setting out options for the level of growth needed over the plan period 

(set out in Section 2), the RLDP must set out a clear spatial strategy for where this 

development should take place within the County. This section of the report presents 

a range of spatial strategy options for accommodating housing and employment 

growth. As noted in paragraphs 1.4 to 1.8, the Council is revisiting the Growth and 

Spatial Options stage of the RLDP process following the publication of the corrected 

Welsh Government (WG) 2018-based population and household projections in August 

2020. The RLDP spatial options previously considered have been reassessed to identify 

suitable options for consideration as part of this process. Two of the options 

considered in the 2019 consultation included a new settlement. These have since been 

discounted as the Welsh Government deemed them contrary to national policy set 

out in PPW (Edition 10) which states new settlements should only be proposed as part 

of a joint LDP, SDP or the NDF. An additional option, which focuses growth in the North 

of the County, has been included as a result of consultation responses on the 2019 

Growth and Spatial Options.   Accordingly, a total of four broad Spatial Distribution 

Options remain relevant and have been taken forward as realistic options at this time.   

3.2 It is important to note that the selected spatial distribution options for growth are not 

intended to define precise boundaries, sites or land use allocations at this stage. 

Further detail will be provided as part of the Preferred Strategy and Deposit RLDP.  

3.3 The consideration of realistic18 growth and spatial options is an important part in the 

preparation of the RLDP, the purpose of which is to facilitate discussion and inform 

the Preferred Strategy consultation. Each spatial option will need to have regard to 

legislation, national planning policy, local and regional strategies, as well as, wider 

contextual issues such as the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal and the removal of the 

Severn Bridge Tolls. Furthermore, the options must take account of the specific 

characteristics, assets and issues prevalent in Monmouthshire to guide development 

in order to promote and deliver sustainable and resilient communities. A number of 

spatial options have been identified. However, it is considered pertinent to condense 

these into a number of realistic options for consultation purposes and having regard 

to the aforementioned issues. An initial assessment of all options has been undertaken 

as set out in Appendix 3, which includes an assessment of the appropriateness of 

options previously considered in the Adopted LDP (Para 5.10 LDP Manual Edition 3, 

2020). This excludes the two new settlement options previously included in the 2019 

consultation, as they are deemed to be contrary to National Policy, as noted in 

paragraph 3.1 above. A total of four spatial options, as set out below, have been 

selected for consideration as spatial options for further assessment and consultation 

purposes.  

3.4 Any new growth areas must be served or be capable of being served, by appropriate 

infrastructure. This includes physical, digital and social infrastructure including; 

                                                           
18 Paragraph 5.10 Development Plans Manual - Edition 3 (Welsh Government, March 2020) 

Page 213



76 
 

community and recreational facilities, sewerage, water, transport, schools, health 

care and broadband. The delivery of new infrastructure in association with 

development will depend on a number of factors. While consideration of funding 

opportunities for new infrastructure to support sites is key to the deliverability of sites, 

not all of the evidence is available at present. This will nevertheless be updated 

throughout the process as this evidence is prepared.  An infrastructure plan will be 

prepared alongside the Deposit RLDP.   

Settlement Hierarchy  

3.5 A Sustainable Settlements Appraisal is being prepared as part of the evidence base to 

support the RLDP. Its purpose is to identify those settlements that are potentially 

suitable to accommodate future growth in terms of their location, role and function. 

This paper will provide valuable information to establish a settlement hierarchy to 

indicate a settlement’s potential for accommodating development, and, the hierarchy 

in relation to other settlements in Monmouthshire. A final decision on how much 

development a settlement can accommodate will nevertheless depend on a wide 

range of other factors, such as impact on the character of the settlement along with 

consideration of its environmental, physical and policy constraints and its location in 

relation to other settlements.  

3.6 Utilising the approach based on the initial findings of the Sustainable Settlements 

Appraisal as a starting point, it is considered that the Primary, Secondary and 

Severnside Settlements in the County can be identified as below. This settlement 

hierarchy is nevertheless subject to change following completion of the Sustainable 

Settlements Appraisal and additional evidence as the Plan is progressed.  

 

     Draft Sustainable Settlement Hierarchy 

Primary Settlements:                                

Abergavenny (including 

Llanfoist) 

Chepstow 

Monmouth (including 

Wyesham) 

 

Secondary 

Settlements: 

Penperlleni 

Raglan 

Usk 

 

Severnside: 

Caerwent 

Caldicot 

Crick 

Magor/Undy 

Portskewett 

Rogiet 

Sudbrook 

Main Rural Settlements: 

Devauden      Penallt 

Dingestow     Pwllmeyric 

Grosmont      Shirenewton 

Little Mill       Mynydd bach  

Llandogo        St Arvans 

Llanellen        Trellech 

Llangybi         Werngifford 

Llanishen       Pandy   

Mathern 

 

3.7  Each spatial option is accompanied by a table setting out how that option performs 

against the RLDP objectives using the ratings set out in Table 13. A summary of the 

advantages and disadvantages for each option is provided along with a map to portray 

a spatial illustration.  As noted in paragraph 3.2, the individual maps do not identify 

precise boundaries, sites or land use allocations at this stage. The options have also 

Page 214



77 
 

been assessed through the Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) process, a 

summary of the findings and conclusions is presented against each option. A table 

providing a comparison of the ISA assessment for all four Spatial Options can be found 

in Appendix 10.  

 Table 13 – Key to Assessment of Options against RLDP Objectives 

Rating Predicted effect 

Green  Helps to achieve the objective. 

Amber  Neutral impact on objective.  

Red  Unlikely to achieve objective. 

 

3.8 A Review of the RLDP Issues, Vision and Objectives (IVO) was undertaken in June 2020 

and incorporated into the RLDP Review of IVO and Evidence Base (September 2020)19 

which concluded the Plan’s Issues, Vision and Objectives remain relevant in light of 

Covid-19 and that it is appropriate to continue with the preparation of the RLDP on 

the basis of these values. However, some objectives identified as having increased 

importance in light of Covid-19, consistent with the priorities identified in the Welsh 

Government Building Better Places document published in July 2020. These objectives 

are denoted with an * in the tables for clarity.   

                                                           
19 https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2020/11/Monmouthshire-RLDP-Review-of-Issues-Vision-
Objectives-and-Evidence-Base-in-Light-of-Covid.pdf 

Page 215



78 
 

Spatial Strategy Options for the Distribution of Growth 

3.9 A total of four broad Spatial Distribution Options have been identified as below:  

 Option 1: Continuation of the Existing LDP Strategy – Growth would be 

distributed around the County with a particular focus on Main Towns21, with some 

development in Severnside22 and some development in the most sustainable rural 

areas to enable provision of affordable housing throughout the County. New 

residential development would be accompanied by new employment 

opportunities, where possible.    

 Option 2: Distribute Growth Proportionately across the County’s most 

Sustainable Settlements23 – Growth, including jobs and affordable housing, would 

be distributed across the County’s most sustainable settlements, with the level of 

growth proportionate to that settlement’s size and amenities, affordable housing 

need as identified in the LHMA, the capacity for growth and/or the need for 

development to sustain the community.  

 Option 3: Focus Growth on the M4 corridor – Growth would be predominantly 

located in the South of the County in the Severnside area close to the M4/M48, to 

capitalise on its strategic links to the Cardiff Capital Region and South West 

England, existing economic opportunities and regional infrastructure connections, 

including via the South Wales Main rail line at Severn Tunnel Junction. Affordable 

Housing would be directed to those sustainable areas in the South of the County 

identified in the LHMA as having the greatest housing need.   

 Option 4: Focus Growth in the North of the County – Growth would be 

predominantly located in the most sustainable settlements within the North of the 

County to capitalise on its strategic links to the Heads of the Valleys and wider 

Cardiff Capital Region via the A465, and towards Herefordshire via the A449 and 

A40, along with rail links to Newport, Cardiff and the North via the Welsh Marches 

line. Affordable Housing would be directed to those sustainable areas in the North 

of the County identified in the LHMA as having the greatest housing need.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
21 As identified in Policy S1 of the Adopted Local Development Plan (2014), now renamed to Primary 
Settlements and includes the addition of Llanfoist.   
22 As identified in Policy S1 of the Adopted Local Development Plan (2014), with the addition of Crick.   
23 A Sustainable Settlement Appraisal will be published to inform the Preferred Strategy to identify these 
settlements. This will consider settlements in terms of their location, level of service provision, capacity and 
their role and function within the area.       

Page 216



79 
 

Option 1 Continuation of the Existing LDP Strategy 

Table 14 – Option 1 

Option 1: Continuation of the Existing LDP Strategy  

 

Description of Option: 

This option replicates the existing Adopted LDP Strategy, which distributes growth around the 

County with a particular focus on Main Towns24, with some development in Severnside25 and 

some development in the most sustainable rural areas to enable provision of affordable housing 

throughout the County. New residential development would be accompanied by new 

employment opportunities, where possible.    

Map of Option 1 

 
Advantages: 

 Would provide growth in sustainable areas that have existing access to facilities/services, 

active travel links and employment opportunities.  These settlements have the amenities 

to reduce the need to travel and in many cases to support 20 minute neighbourhoods.  

                                                           
24 See paragraph 3.6 for definition of Primary Settlements, Main Towns are now incorporated into Primary 
Settlements, with the addition of Llanfoist. 
25 See paragraph 3.6 for definition of Primary Settlements, Secondary Settlements and Severnside, with some 
areas to be identified at a later stage as Rural Settlements.  

Page 217



80 
 

Option 1: Continuation of the Existing LDP Strategy  

 

 Would provide affordable housing across the Primary Settlements26, Secondary 

Settlements27 and Severnside28 identified in paragraph 3.6 and some rural settlements.    

 Could attract additional facilities in Primary Settlements, Secondary Settlements and 

Severnside.  

 Development across the Primary Settlements29, Secondary Settlements30 and Severnside31 

area would assist in ensuring a more balanced demography in these parts of the County.  

 Would help support facilities in existing settlements, particularly in those rural areas 

where facilities are struggling/declining. Growth may also attract additional facilities 

where they do not currently exist. 

 This option would facilitate growth consistent with emerging National Planning Policy, 

Future Wales: the National Plan 2040, which seeks the designation of a Green Belt “around 

Newport and Eastern parts of the Region”. 

Disadvantages:   

 Many of the Primary Settlements currently have physical infrastructure capacity issues 

which would need to be addressed to enable significant growth.  

 Would result in additional pressure on social infrastructure within Primary Settlements 

and the Severnside area, such as health care facilities. Additional support for facilities in 

the Secondary Settlements and Rural Settlements not likely to be achieved due to limited 

growth in these areas.    

 The focus of development in the Primary Settlements will result in further pressure on the 

environment. 

 The provision of employment opportunities together with residential developments has 

not been fulfilled in all of the Strategic Mixed Use Sites allocated in the adopted LDP. 

Future employment allocations should be aligned with the findings of the Employment 

Land Review and other Council aspirations. 

 Some rural areas could be disadvantaged as they would not all benefit from additional 

housing to help support and attract additional facilities.   

 Preference for brownfield development over greenfield development. Growth would be 

predominately located on greenfield sites, however it is recognised that there are limited 

opportunities for brownfield development within the County. 

 

  

                                                           
26 Main Towns of Abergavenny, Chepstow and Monmouth as identified in Policy S1 of the Adopted LDP 
27 Secondary Settlements of Llanfoist, Penperlleni, Raglan and Usk as identified in Policy S1 of the Adopted LDP 
28 Severnside sub-region consisting of Caerwent, Caldicot, Magor, Portskewett, Rogiet, Sudbrook and Undy 
29 Main Towns of Abergavenny, Chepstow and Monmouth as identified in Policy S1 of the Adopted LDP 
30 Secondary Settlements of Llanfoist, Penperlleni, Raglan and Usk as identified in Policy S1 of the Adopted LDP 
31 Severnside sub-region consisting of Caerwent, Caldicot, Magor, Portskewett, Rogiet, Sudbrook and Undy 

Page 218



81 
 

Table 15 – Assessment of Option 1 against RLDP Objectives  

RLDP 
Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 1 against the RLDP Objectives 

*Denotes those RLDP objectives that are considered to have increased emphasis and importance in light 
of Covid-19 as referred to in paragraph 3.8 
A Prosperous Wales (Well-being Goal 1)  

Objective 1 Economic Growth/ 
Employment* 

While new residential development will be accompanied 
by employment opportunities, where possible, 
development needs to be in the right locations to attract 
inward investment.  There is a focus on Abergavenny, 
Chepstow and Monmouth, however some growth in the 
Secondary Settlements, Severnside area and most 
sustainable rural areas would encourage greater 
indigenous business growth across the County as a whole 
while at the same time encouraging inward investment. 
Provides opportunity to create a thriving, well-connected, 
diverse economy which is of particular importance in light 
of the current pandemic.  

Objective 2 Retail centres* Would provide the opportunity to add to the customer 
base/footfall of the main County towns of Abergavenny, 
Chepstow and Monmouth and support existing/attract 
additional facilities in these areas. However, limited 
development in Caldicot, Usk and other rural areas could 
result in further loss of retail in other areas. The role and 
function of the high street in the local community has 
been highlighted of particular importance in the current 
pandemic.     

A Resilient Wales (Well-being Goal 2)  

Objective 3 Green Infrastructure, 
Biodiversity and 
Landscape* 

Likely to result in further pressure on the natural 
environment. New developments in these locations could 
nevertheless improve Green Infrastructure and ecological 
connectivity through opportunities to create new 
linkages. The value and importance of having access to 
locally accessible open/green spaces to assist in 
recreation and health and well-being has been 
heightened during the current pandemic.  

Objective 4 Flood risk While Abergavenny, Chepstow and Monmouth have 
areas of floodplain, developments can be located away 
from areas at risk of flooding and will incorporate SUDs in 
accordance with National Planning Policy and SUDs 
legislation. 

Objective 5 Minerals and Waste  There would be no negative impact on minerals and 
waste, mineral landbank obligations can be met.   
 

Page 219



82 
 

RLDP 
Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 1 against the RLDP Objectives 

Objective 6 Land Limited opportunities for brownfield development or 
development on lower grade agricultural land, however, 
some opportunities exist within the Primary Settlements. 
Likely to be predominately greenfield development.  

Objective 7 Natural resources There would be no negative impact on ability to promote 
the efficient use of natural resources. Any developments 
will be encouraged to be water and energy efficient.  

A Healthier Wales (Well-being Goal 3) 

Objective 8 Health and Well-
being* 

There would be no negative impact on health and well-
being. Any developments will be encouraged to support 
healthier lifestyles and provide sufficient open space. The 
value and importance of having access to locally 
accessible open/green spaces has been heightened during 
the current pandemic.   

A More Equal Wales (Well-being Goal 4) 

Objective 9 Demography* While the majority of market and affordable housing 
provision will be in the Primary Settlements of 
Abergavenny, Chepstow and Monmouth, housing will also 
be provided in Secondary Settlements, the Severnside 
area and some of the Rural Settlements which will assist 
in ensuring a balanced demography across the County.  
Would provide increased opportunities through 
employment and housing provision for the younger 
population to live and work in Monmouthshire. The 
current pandemic has clearly demonstrated the 
importance of ensuring our communities are balanced 
and socially sustainable, particularly in terms of 
demography. This option would assist in 
supporting/enabling social sustainability and balanced 
communities. 

A Wales of Cohesive Communities (Well-being Goal 5) 

Objective 10 Housing* Would provide opportunity for sufficient homes, although 
recognise this is dependent on the level of growth. 
Affordable housing will be provided in Primary 
Settlements, Secondary Settlements, Severnside and 
some of the Rural Settlements. This will enable the 
provision of market and affordable homes across all 
housing market areas. The current pandemic has 
emphasised the need to ensure the provision of a range 
and choice of homes (housing mix) in future housing 
developments to address the County’s affordability issues 
and to build sustainable and resilient communities 
throughout Monmouthshire.  

Page 220



83 
 

RLDP 
Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 1 against the RLDP Objectives 

Objective 11 Place-making Any developments will need to enhance the character and 
identity of the Primary and Secondary Settlements, 
Severnside and Rural Settlements in accordance with 
national sustainable place-making principles. The value 
and importance of place-making has been emphasised in 
light of Covid-19.   

Objective 12 Communities Developments will be located in those settlements within 
Monmouthshire with good access to employment, retail, 
community facilities and social infrastructure. Will also 
provide opportunities to support/enhance existing 
community facilities. The current pandemic has clearly 
demonstrated the importance of ensuring our 
communities are balanced and socially sustainable. This 
option would assist in supporting/enabling social 
sustainability and balanced communities.  

Objective 13 Rural Communities Housing will be distributed in both urban and rural areas, 
with a focus in rural areas on the most sustainable Rural 
Settlements. Will help to support those rural areas where 
facilities are struggling/declining. 

Objective 14 Infrastructure* The focus of development in Abergavenny, Chepstow and 
Monmouth may result in further pressure on social and 
physical infrastructure in these areas. However, 
appropriate infrastructure should be in place/can be 
provided to accommodate any new development in those 
areas as well as in the Secondary Settlements, Severnside 
and Rural Settlements. The current pandemic has 
highlighted the importance of the provision of digital 
infrastructure and active travel options to support/enable 
increased home/remote working and support local 
communities.  

Objective 15 Accessibility While new residential development will be accompanied 
by employment opportunities, where possible, there is no 
guarantee that residents will live and work in the same 
area. Although it should be recognised that in light of 
Covid-19 there has been an increase in agile and home 
working, which is likely to continue over the longer 
term32. The increased reliance on access to local facilities 
and services during the current pandemic, has highlighted 
their importance to communities. While many of the 
settlements already have sustainable travel links in place 

                                                           
32 Welsh Government announced in September 2020 that they have a long-term ambition for around 30% of 
the Welsh workforce to work remotely either from home or near to home using community-based remote 
working hubs https://gov.wales/aim-30-welsh-workforce-work-remotely 

Page 221



84 
 

RLDP 
Objective 
Number  

RLDP Objective - 
Headline  

Performance of Option 1 against the RLDP Objectives 

through existing rail and bus links, any new developments 
will need to fully consider active travel and integrated 
sustainable transport opportunities.  

A Wales of Vibrant Culture & Thriving Welsh Language (Well-being Goal 6) 

Objective 16 Culture, Heritage and 
Welsh Language 

Consideration will need to be given to ensure there is no 
adverse impact on the heritage of Abergavenny, 
Chepstow and Monmouth due to the focus of 
development in these areas. However, through design 
developments can protect and enhance the built 
environment as well as providing benefits for the 
economy, tourism and well-being of communities. No 
impact on Welsh Language.  

A Globally Responsible Wales (Well-being Goal 7) 

Objective 17 Climate Change* Resilience of new development to aspects of Climate 
Change can be achieved via the design and location of 
new developments. Developments can provide 
opportunities to minimise carbon by providing 
opportunities for renewable energy generation, seeking 
to reduce commuting, supporting use of ultra-low 
emission vehicles and public transport, and the provision 
of quality Green Infrastructure. The current pandemic has 
emphasised the need to enable such responses in 
delivering sustainable and resilient communities.    

 

Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) Analysis   

3.10 The findings of the ISA note that this option, performs positively, and is found to have 

the potential for significant long term positive effects against the ISA themes relating 

to economy/employment, population/communities, health/wellbeing and equalities 

compared to the other options. This option focuses growth in the Main Towns, with 

some development in Severnside where there is greater need and better access to 

public transport, existing employment and facilities/services. Option 1 also scores 

positively in regard to equalities as it seeks to support and sustain a hierarchy of 

vibrant centres across the County, directing the majority of growth to the most 

sustainable settlements while also still delivering some growth in the secondary 

settlements and rural areas. The ISA appraisal notes Option 1 would perform positively 

in terms of providing housing to meet the identified needs of the County and would 

provide affordable housing throughout the settlement hierarchy, ensuring a range and 

choice of homes are delivered, particularly where there is a need for affordable 

housing, to assist in regaining a balanced population. Additionally, opportunities to 

maximise levels of self-containment of existing settlements are more likely to be taken 

through Option 1, addressing localised economic issues and supporting a well-

connected diverse economy. Furthermore, Options 1 is anticipated to lead to long 

Page 222



85 
 

term positive effects through reducing inequalities between rural and urban areas, 

along with supporting and sustaining a hierarchy of vibrant town and village centres 

across the County as a whole, which have been highlighted of particular importance 

during the current pandemic. The ISA notes that this option will likely positively 

address existing demographic issues, encouraging younger people to reside and work 

in the County.  

3.11 The appraisal found that there is little to differentiate between the options at this 

stage with regard to the historic environment and biodiversity themes, noting that all 

options have the potential to result in negative effects. However, it is recognised the 

mitigation could be provided and development has the potential to deliver positive 

effects secured at the project scale. Given the precise location of growth is unknown 

at this stage, all options were found to have an uncertain effect on landscape and 

climate change themes. All options have the potential to result in negative effects for 

natural resources, albeit it is recognised that mitigation could be provided and the 

nature and significance of effects will be dependent on the scale and location of 

development.  

3.12 The findings in the ISA note that while there are some small differences between 

Options 1 and 2 in terms of how growth is distributed during the Plan period, these 

differences are not significant enough to warrant one option being ranked higher or 

lower than the other against the ISA themes. As a consequence and as a comparison 

of all four options, Spatial Options 1 and 2 perform the best overall.        

Page 223



86 
 

Option 2 Distribute Growth Proportionately across the County’s most Sustainable 

Settlements   

Table 16 – Option 2 

Option 2: Distribute Growth Proportionately across the County’s most Sustainable Settlements.  

 

Description of Option: 

Growth, including jobs and affordable housing, would be distributed across the County’s most 
sustainable settlements33, with the level of growth proportionate to that settlement’s size and 
amenities, affordable housing need as identified in the LHMA, the capacity for growth and/or 
the need for development to sustain the community.  

Map of option: 

 
Advantages:  

 Would meet housing needs, both market and affordable housing, throughout the County, 

including in rural areas where growth has been limited previously.  

                                                           
33 A Sustainable Settlement Appraisal will be published to inform the Preferred Strategy to identify these 
settlements. This will consider settlements in terms of their location, level of service provision, capacity and 
their role and function within the area.       

Page 224



87 
 

Option 2: Distribute Growth Proportionately across the County’s most Sustainable Settlements.  

 

 Affordable housing would be provided in all housing market areas, with development 

focused in the most sustainable settlements identified in the LHMA as having the greatest 

need. 

 Would provide growth in sustainable areas that have existing access to facilities/services, 
active travel links and employment opportunities.  These settlements have the amenities 
to reduce the need to travel and in many cases to support 20 minute neighbourhoods.  

 Would utilise existing infrastructure, particularly in the Primary and Severnside 

Settlements, by distributing development across the most sustainable settlements. 

Development will generate opportunities to both provide new infrastructure and enhance 

the existing.    

 Would help to support facilities in existing settlements and address the day-to-day needs 

of residents including in those rural areas where facilities are struggling/declining. 

Proportionate distribution of growth across the County’s most sustainable settlements 

may also attract additional facilities in these settlements.  

 Proportionate development across the most Sustainable Settlements would assist in 

ensuring a more balanced demography throughout the County. The current pandemic has 

clearly demonstrated the importance of ensuring our communities are balanced and 

socially sustainable, particularly in terms of demography. 

 Allocation of employment land in line with the findings of the Employment Land Review 

and other Council aspirations will ensure employment land is located in the right areas to 

attract specific sectors/employers.   

 This option would facilitate growth consistent with emerging National Planning Policy, 

Future Wales: the National Plan 2040, which seeks the designation of a Green Belt “around 

Newport and Eastern parts of the Region”. 

Disadvantages:   

 Some rural areas could be disadvantaged as they would not all benefit from additional 

housing to help support existing facilities or attract additional facilities.   

 Preference for brownfield development over greenfield development. Growth would be 

predominately located on greenfield sites, however, it is recognised that there are limited 

opportunities for brownfield development within the County. Similarly, there are limited 

opportunities for development on lower grade agricultural land, much of which is 

floodplain.  

 Some of the most Sustainable Settlements currently have infrastructure capacity issues 

which would need to be addressed to enable growth in these areas, for example 

Monmouth in relation to the provision of mains drainage and Chepstow in relation to 

capacity of road networks.  

 

 

 

 

Page 225



88 
 

Table 17 – Assessment of Option 2 against RLDP Objectives  

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 2 against the RLDP Objectives 

*Denotes those RLDP objectives that are considered to have increased emphasis and importance in light 

of Covid-19 as referred to in paragraph 3.8 

A Prosperous Wales (Well-being Goal 1)  

Objective 1 Economic Growth/ 

Employment* 

Distributing growth proportionately across the County’s 

most sustainable settlements would encourage greater 

indigenous business growth across the County as a whole 

while at the same time encouraging inward investment. 

Provides opportunity to create a thriving, well-connected, 

diverse economy, which is of particular importance in 

light of the current pandemic.  

Objective 2 Retail centres* Would provide the opportunity to add to the customer 

base in existing retail centres through growth in the most 

sustainable settlements. May also attract additional 

facilities in sustainable settlements. The role and function 

of the high street in the local community has been 

highlighted of particular importance in the current 

pandemic.     

A Resilient Wales (Well-being Goal 2)  

Objective 3 Green Infrastructure, 

Biodiversity and 

Landscape* 

Likely to result in further pressure on the natural 

environment. New developments in these locations could 

nevertheless improve Green Infrastructure and Ecological 

connectivity through opportunities to create new 

linkages. The value and importance of having access to 

locally accessible open/green spaces to assist in 

recreation and health and well-being has been 

heightened during the current pandemic. 

Objective 4 Flood risk Distributing growth proportionately to the most 

sustainable settlements could result in development in 

areas such as Abergavenny, Chepstow, Monmouth, 

Raglan and Usk, which all have areas of floodplain. 

Developments can nevertheless be located away from 

areas at risk of flooding and will incorporate SUDs in 

accordance with National Planning Policy and SUDs 

legislation. 

Objective 5 Minerals and Waste  There would be no negative impact on minerals and 

waste, mineral landbank obligations can be met.   

Objective 6 Land Limited opportunities for brownfield development or 

development on lower grade agricultural land, however, 

Page 226



89 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 2 against the RLDP Objectives 

some opportunities exist within the Primary Settlements. 

Likely to be predominately greenfield development.  

Objective 7 Natural resources There would be no negative impact on ability to promote 

the efficient use of natural resources. Any developments 

will be encouraged to be water and energy efficient.  

 

A Healthier Wales (Well-being Goal 3) 

Objective 8 Health and Well-

being* 

There would be no negative impact on health and well-

being. Any developments will be encouraged to support 

healthier lifestyles and provide sufficient open space, the 

value and importance of having access to locally 

accessible open/green spaces has been emphasised in 

light of Covid-19.   

A More Equal Wales (Well-being Goal 4) 

Objective 9 Demography* Housing would be distributed proportionately across all 

housing market areas to meet housing needs in the most 

sustainable settlements identified as having capacity for 

growth/or in need of development to sustain them. 

Affordable housing will be directed to those sustainable 

areas identified in the LHMA as having the greatest 

housing need, which would assist in ensuring a more 

balanced demography. Would provide increased 

opportunities through employment and housing provision 

for the younger population to live and work in 

Monmouthshire. The current pandemic has clearly 

demonstrated the importance of ensuring our 

communities are balanced and socially sustainable, 

particularly in terms of demography. This option would 

support/enable social sustainability and balanced 

communities across the County. 

A Wales of Cohesive Communities (Well-being Goal 5) 

Objective 10 Housing* Would provide opportunity for sufficient homes, although 

recognise this is dependent on the level of growth. 

Housing would be distributed proportionately across the 

County’s most sustainable settlements to meet housing 

needs, including the provision of affordable housing in 

those sustainable areas identified in the LHMA as having 

the greatest housing need. The current pandemic has 

emphasised the need to ensure the provision of a range 

and choice of homes (housing mix) in future housing 

developments to address the County’s affordability issues 

Page 227



90 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 2 against the RLDP Objectives 

and to build sustainable and resilient communities 

throughout Monmouthshire. 

Objective 11 Place-making Any developments will need to enhance the character and 

identity of the Primary, Secondary, Severnside and Rural 

Settlements in accordance with national sustainable 

place-making principles, the value and importance of 

place-making has been emphasised in light of Covid-19.     

Objective 12 Communities Developments would be located in the most sustainable 

settlements in Monmouthshire in both urban and rural 

areas that have the best access to employment, retail, 

community facilities and social infrastructure (Primary 

Settlements, Secondary Settlements, Severnside and 

Rural Settlements). The current pandemic has clearly 

demonstrated the importance of ensuring our 

communities are balanced and socially sustainable, 

particularly in terms of demography. This option would 

support/enable social sustainability and balanced 

communities across the County. 

Objective 13 Rural Communities Housing would be distributed in both urban and rural 

areas, with a focus on the most sustainable settlements. 

Would help to support sustainable rural areas where 

facilities are struggling/declining by providing 

development to help sustain them. 

Objective 14 Infrastructure* Would utilise existing infrastructure, particularly in the 

Primary and Severnside Settlements, by distributing 

development across the most sustainable settlements. 

Development will generate opportunities to both provide 

new infrastructure and enhance the existing.    

Would also provide additional support for facilities in 

sustainable areas where growth has previously been 

limited. The current pandemic has highlighted the 

importance of the provision of digital infrastructure and 

active travel options to support/enable increased home/ 

remote working and support local communities. 

Objective 15 Accessibility New residential development would be distributed 

proportionately across the County’s most sustainable 

settlements, providing more choice of areas for people to 

live and work. However, there is no guarantee that 

residents would live and work in the same area. Although 

it should be recognised that in light of Covid-19 there has 

been an increase in agile and home working, which is 

Page 228



91 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 2 against the RLDP Objectives 

likely to continue over the longer term34. The increased 

reliance on access to local facilities and services during the 

current pandemic, has highlighted their importance to 

communities.  While many of the settlements already 

have sustainable travel links in place through existing rail 

and bus links, any new developments will need to fully 

consider active travel and integrated sustainable 

transport opportunities.   

A Wales of Vibrant Culture & Thriving Welsh Language (Well-being Goal 6) 

Objective 16 Culture, Heritage and 

Welsh Language 

Dependent on location of sites, has the potential to 

impact on the heritage of a number of settlements in 

Monmouthshire. However, through design developments 

can protect and enhance the built environment as well as 

providing benefits for the economy, tourism and well-

being of communities. No impact on Welsh Language.   

A Globally Responsible Wales (Well-being Goal 7) 

Objective 17 Climate Change* Resilience of new development to aspects of Climate 

Change can be achieved via the design and location of 

new developments. Developments can provide 

opportunities to minimise carbon by providing 

opportunities for renewable energy generation, seeking 

to reduce commuting, supporting use of ultra-low 

emission vehicles and public transport, and the provision 

of quality Green Infrastructure.   The current pandemic 

has emphasised the need to enable such responses in 

delivering sustainable and resilient communities.    

 

Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) Analysis   

3.13 The ISA appraisal considers that Option 2 would perform positively and has the 

potential for significant long-term positive effects against the ISA themes relating to 

economy/employment, population/communities, health/wellbeing and equalities 

compared to the other options. This option focuses growth in the Primary 

Settlements, with some development in Severnside where there is greater need and 

better access to public transport, existing employment and facilities/services. Option 

2 also scores positively in regard to equalities as it seeks to support and sustain a 

hierarchy of vibrant centres across the County, directing the majority of growth to the 

most sustainable settlements while also still delivering growth in the Secondary 

                                                           
34 Welsh Government announced in September 2020 that they have a long-term ambition for around 30% of 
the Welsh workforce to work remotely either from home or near to home using community-based remote 
working hubs https://gov.wales/aim-30-welsh-workforce-work-remotely 

Page 229



92 
 

Settlements and Rural Settlements. The ISA appraisal notes Option 2 would perform 

positively in terms of providing housing to meet the identified needs of the County 

and would provide affordable housing throughout the settlement hierarchy, ensuring 

a range and choice of homes are delivered, particularly where there is a need for 

affordable housing, to assist in regaining a balanced population. Additionally, 

opportunities to maximise levels of self-containment of existing settlements are more 

likely to be taken through Option 2, addressing localised economic issues and 

supporting a well-connected diverse economy. Furthermore, Options 2 is anticipated 

to lead to long term positive effects through reducing inequalities between rural and 

urban areas, along with supporting and sustaining a hierarchy of vibrant town and 

village centres across the County as a whole, which have been highlighted of particular 

importance during the current pandemic. The ISA notes that this option will likely 

positively address existing demographic issues, encouraging younger people to reside 

and work in the County.  

3.14 The appraisal found that there is little to differentiate between the options at this 

stage with regard to the historic environment and biodiversity themes, noting that all 

options have the potential to result in negative effects. However, it is recognised the 

mitigation could be provided and development has the potential to deliver positive 

effects secured at the project scale. Given the precise location of growth is unknown 

at this stage, all options were found to have an uncertain effect on landscape and 

climate change themes. All options have the potential to result in negative effects for 

natural resources, albeit it is recognised that mitigation could be provided and the 

nature and significance of effects will be dependent on the scale and location of 

development.  

3.15 The findings in the ISA note that while there are some small differences between 

Options 1 and 2 in terms of how growth is distributed during the plan period, these 

differences are not significant enough to warrant one option being ranked higher or 

lower than the other against the ISA themes. As a consequence, and as a comparison 

of all four options, Spatial Options 1 and 2 perform the best overall.        

Page 230



93 
 

Option 3 Focus Growth on the M4 corridor  

Table 18 – Option 3  

Option 3: Focus Growth on the M4 corridor  

 

Description of Option: 

Growth would be predominantly located in the South of the County in the Severnside area close 

to the M4/M48, to capitalise on its strategic links to the Cardiff Capital Region and South West 

England, existing economic opportunities and regional infrastructure connections, including via 

the South Wales Main rail line at Severn Tunnel Junction. Affordable Housing would be directed 

to those sustainable areas in the South of the County identified in the LHMA as having the greatest 

housing need.   

Map of option: 

 
Advantages: 

 Would provide opportunities for building more sustainable communities and achieving 

infrastructure improvements/provision in the South of the County. 

 Would provide growth in sustainable settlements in the South of the County that have 
existing access to facilities/services, active travel links and employment opportunities.  
These settlements have the amenities to reduce the need to travel and in many cases to 
support 20 minute neighbourhoods.  

Page 231



94 
 

Option 3: Focus Growth on the M4 corridor  

 

 Opportunity to enable investment in public transport and possibly promote a modal shift 

from the car to more sustainable means of travel in the South of the County.  

 Less pressure on greenfield edge of settlement sites and higher grade agricultural land 

outside the Severnside area. 

 Would provide the potential to link housing and employment growth due to opportunities 

for a choice and range of employment land with good links to the M4 corridor and rail links 

via Severn Tunnel Junction and Caldicot.  

 This option would facilitate growth consistent with emerging National Planning Policy, 

Future Wales: the National Plan 2040, which seeks the designation of a Green Belt “around 

Newport and Eastern parts of the Region”. 

 

Disadvantages:   

 Does not enable opportunities for sustainable development in all of the Primary and 

Secondary Settlements and runs the risk of perpetuating existing problems of lack of social 

and community facilities and high levels of out-commuting in Severnside if opportunities 

to link housing and employment growth are not harnessed effectively. However, with 

increased sustainable remote and home working likely over the Plan period there will be 

a reduction in commuting levels.  

 Lack of employment opportunities outside the Severnside area would exacerbate out-
commuting in other areas and would not assist in improving self-containment of the 
Primary and Secondary Settlements outside this area (i.e. Abergavenny/Llanfoist, 
Chepstow, Monmouth, Usk and Raglan). However, with increased sustainable remote and 
home working likely over the Plan period there will be a reduction in commuting levels.  

 Would not support existing facilities or enable provision of additional facilities and 

infrastructure in areas outside of Severnside. Rural areas outside Severnside in particular 

will be disadvantaged as they would not benefit from additional housing to help support 

existing facilities or attract additional facilities. 

 Does not directly assist in sustaining rural communities.  

 Affordable housing provision would not be met across all housing market areas, both 

urban and rural, that are currently identified in the LHMA as in need as provision would 

be limited to the South of the County only. 

 Preference for brownfield development over greenfield development. Growth would be 
predominately located on greenfield sites in the Severnside area, however, it is recognised 
that there are limited opportunities for brownfield development within the County. 
Similarly, there would be limited opportunities for development on lower grade 
agricultural land.  

 

 

 

 

Page 232



95 
 

Table 19 – Assessment of Option 3 against Draft LDP Objectives 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 3 against the RLDP Objectives 

*Denotes those RLDP objectives that are considered to have increased emphasis and importance in light 

of Covid-19 as referred to in paragraph 3.8 

A Prosperous Wales (Well-being Goal 1)  

Objective 1 Economic Growth/ 

Employment* 

While this option would provide the opportunity to link 

housing and employment growth, particularly due to 

proximity of the M4 corridor and railway links at 

Caldicot/Severn Tunnel Junction, it would be unlikely to 

have a significant impact on employment growth across 

the County as a whole as development would be limited 

to the South of the County in the Severnside area. The 

opportunity to create a thriving, well-connected, diverse 

economy, across the whole of the County is of particular 

importance in light of the current pandemic. 

Objective 2 Retail centres* Would provide the opportunity to add to the customer 

base/footfall in the Severnside area but there would be 

less of a focus on the main County Towns of Abergavenny, 

Chepstow and Monmouth, which would have a 

detrimental impact on the retail centres in these areas. 

Growth in this area may nevertheless attract additional 

facilities where they do not currently exist and support 

regeneration aspirations of Caldicot Town Centre, but 

would not offer the same to the town of Usk. The role and 

function of the high street in the local community has 

been highlighted of particular importance in the current 

pandemic, this option would not provide sufficient 

support to existing retail facilities across the County.     

A Resilient Wales (Well-being Goal 2)  

Objective 3 Green Infrastructure, 

Biodiversity and 

Landscape* 

Likely to result in further pressure on the natural 

environment. New developments in these locations could 

nevertheless improve Green Infrastructure and Ecological 

connectivity through opportunities to create new 

linkages. The value and importance of having access to 

locally accessible open/green spaces to assist in 

recreation and health and well-being has been 

heightened during the current pandemic. 

Objective 4 Flood risk Development across the Severnside area could result in 

development in the Gwent Levels, which is designated as 

floodplain. Developments can nevertheless be located 

away from areas at risk of flooding and will incorporate 

Page 233



96 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 3 against the RLDP Objectives 

SUDs in accordance with National Planning Policy and 

SUDs legislation. 

Objective 5 Minerals and Waste  There could be potential impact on minerals and waste, 

however, mineral landbank obligations can be met.  Due 

to the focus of development in the South of the County, 

there could be some impact on the Limestone Mineral 

Safeguarding Area. 

Objective 6 Land Limited opportunities for brownfield development or 
development on lower grade agricultural land  in the 
Severnside area, likely to be predominately greenfield 
development.  

Objective 7 Natural resources There would be no negative impact on ability to promote 

the efficient use of natural resources. Any developments 

would be encouraged to be water and energy efficient.  

A Healthier Wales (Well-being Goal 3) 

Objective 8 Health and Well-

being* 

There would be no negative impact on health and well-

being. Any developments will be encouraged to support 

healthier lifestyles and provide sufficient open space, the 

value and importance of having access to locally 

accessible open/green spaces has been emphasised in 

light of Covid-19.     

A More Equal Wales (Well-being Goal 4) 

Objective 9 Demography* Market and affordable housing provision would be 

focussed in the South of the County in the Severnside 

area. No growth is proposed in other Primary and 

Secondary Settlements outside of this area or the Rural 

Settlements, impacting on both market and affordable 

housing provision, which would in turn impact on 

demography as the younger population would be priced 

out in these areas. This option could also lead to rural 

isolation. Would provide some opportunities through 

employment and housing provision for the younger 

population to live and work in Monmouthshire in the 

Severnside area only and would not increase 

opportunities across the County as a whole. The current 

pandemic has clearly demonstrated the importance of 

ensuring our communities are balanced and socially 

sustainable, particularly in terms of demography. This 

option would not support/enable social sustainability and 

balanced communities across the County. 

 

Page 234



97 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 3 against the RLDP Objectives 

A Wales of Cohesive Communities (Well-being Goal 5) 

Objective 10 Housing* Housing would be provided in the South of the County in 

the Severnside area and would not meet housing needs 

across all housing market areas, negatively impacting on 

the provision of affordable housing including in areas 

identified in the LHMA as having the greatest need. This 

would in turn impact on demography as the younger 

population will be priced out in these areas. The current 

pandemic has emphasised the need to ensure the 

provision of a range and choice of homes (housing mix) in 

future housing developments, this option would not 

address the County’s affordability issues or build 

sustainable and resilient communities throughout 

Monmouthshire. 

Objective 11 Place-making Any developments would need to enhance the character 

and identity of the Settlements in the South of the County 

in accordance with national sustainable place-making 

principles, the value and importance of place-making has 

been emphasised in light of Covid-19.      

Objective 12 Communities Developments would only be located in the South of the 

County in the Severnside area with best access to 

employment, retail, community facilities and social 

infrastructure. Likely to result in a detrimental impact on 

rural areas, particularly in relation to rural isolation, and 

also the Primary and Secondary Settlements as no 

development would be directed to these locations. The 

current pandemic has clearly demonstrated the 

importance of ensuring our communities are balanced 

and socially sustainable. This option would not 

support/enable social sustainability and balanced 

communities across the County.  

Objective 13 Rural Communities Housing would only be directed to the South of the 

County in the Severnside area and would not address rural 

need in other rural areas across the County. This would in 

turn impact on demography as the younger population 

would be priced out of these other rural areas. This would 

also impact on the sustainability of existing rural areas as 

there would be no additional support to help maintain 

rural facilities nor would there be any rural developments 

to attract additional rural employment opportunities. This 

option could also lead to rural isolation.   

Page 235



98 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 3 against the RLDP Objectives 

Objective 14 Infrastructure* Pressure on infrastructure would be limited to the South 

of the County in Severnside, in an area with good links to 

the M4 and other sustainable travel links including rail at 

Caldicot and Severn Tunnel Junction Train Stations. 

However, appropriate infrastructure should be in 

place/can be provided to accommodate for any new 

development in this area.  Lack of development outside 

this area would not generate sufficient infrastructure 

improvements and gains in other areas across the County.  

Would provide additional support for facilities in the 

Severnside area only, additional support for facilities in 

other areas unlikely to be achieved. The current pandemic 

has highlighted the importance of the provision of digital 

infrastructure and active travel options to support/enable 

increased home/remote working and support local 

communities. 

Objective 15 Accessibility Development would be focused in the South of the 

County in the Severnside area where there are existing 

employment opportunities, however, there is no 

guarantee that residents will live and work in the same 

area. Although it should be recognised that in light of 

Covid-19 there has been an increase in agile and home 

working, which is likely to continue over the longer 

term35. The increased reliance on access to local facilities 

and services during the current pandemic, has highlighted 

their importance to communities.  While many of the 

Severnside settlements already have sustainable travel 

links in place through existing rail and bus links, any new 

developments will need to fully consider active travel and 

integrated sustainable transport opportunities. 

Development in this area benefits from good links to 

Cardiff Capital Region and the South West via the M4. 

However, the focus on the South of the County will result 

in limited opportunities to enhance accessibility in the 

rest of the County.  

A Wales of Vibrant Culture & Thriving Welsh Language (Well-being Goal 6) 

Objective 16 Culture, Heritage and 

Welsh Language 

Dependent on location of sites, has the potential to 

impact on the heritage of a number of settlements in the 

                                                           
35 Welsh Government announced in September 2020 that they have a long-term ambition for around 30% of 
the Welsh workforce to work remotely either from home or near to home using community-based remote 
working hubs https://gov.wales/aim-30-welsh-workforce-work-remotely 

Page 236



99 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 3 against the RLDP Objectives 

South of Monmouthshire, however, would be minimal 

development in the historic towns of Abergavenny, 

Chepstow and Monmouth. However, through design 

developments can protect and enhance the built 

environment as well as providing benefits for the 

economy, tourism and well-being of communities. No 

impact on Welsh Language.   

A Globally Responsible Wales (Well-being Goal 7) 

Objective 17 Climate Change* Resilience of new development to aspects of Climate 

Change can be achieved via the design and location of 

new developments. Developments can provide 

opportunities to minimise carbon by providing 

opportunities for renewable energy generation, seeking 

to reduce commuting, supporting use of ultra-low 

emission vehicles and public transport, and the provision 

of quality Green Infrastructure. The current pandemic has 

emphasised the need to enable such responses in 

delivering sustainable and resilient communities.        

 

Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) Analysis   

3.16 The findings in the ISA note that Option 3 capitalises upon opportunities associated 

with the Cardiff Capital City Region Deal, the South East Wales Metro, and the 

continuing economic growth of the Bristol/ South West region. However, limited 

growth to the rest of the County would restrict economic growth in the wider County, 

and would not assist in sustaining Monmouthshire’s existing communities, 

exacerbating existing demographic issues and levels of out- commuting. Rural areas in 

particular will be disadvantaged as they would not benefit from additional housing to 

help support existing facilities or attract additional facilities. Housing will be delivered 

to the South of the County only, resulting in needs not being met across all market 

areas which could in turn have potential impact on house prices arising in this context, 

given the delivery of affordable homes will only be focussed in the South, and not 

meet needs more widely.  This option, along with Option 4, performs least well in 

terms of equalities, diversity and social inclusion due to the likely isolation of 

communities and continuation of imbalanced demographic profile across 

Monmouthshire as a whole.    

3.17 The appraisal found that there is little to differentiate between the options at this 

stage with regard to the historic environment and biodiversity themes, noting that all 

options have the potential to result in negative effects. However, it is recognised the 

mitigation could be provided and development has the potential to deliver positive 

Page 237



100 
 

effects secured at the project scale. Given the precise location of growth is unknown 

at this stage all options were found to have an uncertain effect on landscape and 

climate change themes. This option was, however, ranked the highest for both themes 

given that it concentrates growth along the M4 corridor in a predominately urban 

area, located away from nationally designated landscapes to the east and north west 

of the County, and, is in an area that is not identified in the Flood Risk Management 

Plan as being significantly constrained in terms of fluvial flood risk. All options have 

the potential to result in negative effects for natural resources albeit it is recognised 

that mitigation could be provided and the nature and significance of effects will be 

dependent on the scale and location of development.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 238



101 
 

Option 4 Focus Growth in the North of the County   

Table 20 – Option 4 

Option 4: Focus Growth in the North of the County  

 

Description of Option: 

Growth would be predominantly located in the most sustainable settlements within the North of 

the County to capitalise on its strategic links to the Heads of the Valleys and wider Cardiff Capital 

Region via the A465, and towards Herefordshire via the A449 and A40, along with rail links to 

Newport, Cardiff and the North via the Welsh Marches line. Affordable Housing would be directed 

to those sustainable areas in the North of the County identified in the LHMA as having the greatest 

housing need.    

Map of option: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Advantages: 

 Would provide opportunity for building sustainable communities through the provision of 

homes and jobs and improve levels of self-containment, and achieving infrastructure 

improvements/provision in the North of the County. 

 Opportunity to enable investment in public transport and possibly promote a modal shift 
from car to more sustainable means of train and bus travel in Abergavenny.  

 Would provide growth in sustainable areas in the North of the County that have existing 
access to facilities/services, active travel links and employment opportunities.   

Page 239



102 
 

Option 4: Focus Growth in the North of the County  

 

 This option would facilitate growth consistent with emerging National Planning Policy, 
Future Wales: the National Plan 2040, which seeks the designation of a Green Belt “around 
Newport and Eastern parts of the Region”. 

 Potential to develop links from Abergavenny to the wider Cardiff Capital Region. 

 

Disadvantages:   

 Does not enable opportunities for sustainable development in all of the Primary, 

Secondary and Rural Settlements or the Severnside area.   

 Lack of employment opportunities outside North Monmouthshire would exacerbate out-

commuting in areas in the South of the County and would not assist in improving self-

containment in these areas (i.e. Chepstow and Severnside).  

 Would not support existing facilities or enable provision of additional facilities and 

infrastructure in areas outside North Monmouthshire. Settlements outside the North of 

the County, both urban and rural, would be disadvantaged as they would not benefit from 

additional growth to help support and sustain existing facilities or attract additional 

facilities. 

 Does not assist in sustaining rural communities outside of the North of the County.   

 Affordable housing provision would not be met across all housing market areas, both 

urban and rural, that are currently identified in the LHMA as in need as it would be limited 

to the North of the County only. 

 Growth would be predominately located on greenfield sites, however, it is recognised that 
there are limited opportunities for brownfield development within the County. Similarly, 
there would be limited opportunities for development on lower grade agricultural land.  

 

Table 21 – Assessment of Option 4 against RLDP Objectives 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 4 against the RLDP Objectives 

*Denotes those RLDP objectives that are considered to have increased emphasis and importance in light 

of Covid-19 as referred to in paragraph 3.8 

A Prosperous Wales (Well-being Goal 1)  

Objective 1 Economic Growth/ 

Employment* 

While this option would provide the opportunity to link 

housing and employment growth in the North of the 

County, it would be unlikely to have a significant impact 

on employment growth across the County as a whole as 

development would be focused in the most sustainable 

settlements in the North of the County. The opportunity 

to create a thriving, well-connected, diverse economy, 

across the whole of the County is of particular importance 

in light of the current pandemic. 

Page 240



103 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 4 against the RLDP Objectives 

Objective 2 Retail centres* Would provide opportunity to add to the customer 

base/footfall main towns of Abergavenny, Monmouth 

and Raglan but would disadvantage the footfall and 

customer base of Chepstow, Caldicot, Usk and Magor. 

Growth in the North of the County unlikely to support 

regeneration aspirations of Caldicot and Usk town 

centres. The role and function of the high street in the 

local community has been highlighted of particular 

importance in the current pandemic, this option would 

not provide sufficient support to existing retail facilities 

across the County.     

A Resilient Wales (Well-being Goal 2)  

Objective 3 Green Infrastructure, 

Biodiversity and 

Landscape* 

Likely to result in further pressure on the natural 

environment. New developments in these locations could 

nevertheless improve Green Infrastructure and Ecological 

connectivity through opportunities to create new 

linkages. The value and importance of having access to 

locally accessible open/green spaces to assist in 

recreation and health and well-being has been 

heightened during the current pandemic. 

Objective 4 Flood risk While there are areas of Flood plain within the North of 

the County, developments can be located away from 

areas at risk of flooding and will incorporate SUDs in 

accordance with National Planning Policy and SUDs 

legislation. 

Objective 5 Minerals and Waste  There would be no negative impact on minerals and 

waste, mineral landbank obligations can be met.   

Objective 6 Land Limited opportunities for development on brownfield 

land or lower grade agricultural land, however, some 

opportunities exist within the most Sustainable 

Settlements. Likely to be predominately greenfield 

development.  

Objective 7 Natural resources There would be no negative impact on ability to promote 

the efficient use of natural resources. Any developments 

will be encouraged to be water and energy efficient and 

incorporate appropriate renewable energy technologies. 

 

 

A Healthier Wales (Well-being Goal 3) 

Objective 8 Health and Well-

being* 

There would be no negative impact on health and well-

being. Any developments will be encouraged to support 

Page 241



104 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 4 against the RLDP Objectives 

healthier lifestyles and provide sufficient open space, the 

value and importance of having access to locally 

accessible open/green spaces has been emphasised in 

light of Covid-19.     

A More Equal Wales (Well-being Goal 4) 

Objective 9 Demography* Market and affordable housing provision would be 

focussed in the North of the County, in the most 

sustainable Settlements. No growth is proposed in the 

South of the County impacting on both market and 

affordable housing provision, which would in turn impact 

on demography as the younger population would be 

priced out in these areas. This option could also lead to 

rural isolation within rural settlements, outside of North 

Monmouthshire. Would provide some opportunities 

through employment and housing provision for the 

younger population to live and work in Monmouthshire in 

the North of the County only, and would not increase 

opportunities across the County as a whole. The current 

pandemic has clearly demonstrated the importance of 

ensuring our communities are balanced and socially 

sustainable, particularly in terms of demography. This 

option would not support/enable social sustainability and 

balanced communities across the County. 

A Wales of Cohesive Communities (Well-being Goal 5) 

Objective 10 Housing* Housing would be focused in the North of the County in 

the most sustainable Settlements and would not meet 

housing needs across all housing market areas, negatively 

impacting on the provision of affordable housing, 

particularly in areas identified in the LHMA as having the 

greatest need. This would in turn impact on demography 

as the younger population will be priced out in these 

areas. The current pandemic has emphasised the need to 

ensure the provision of a range and choice of homes 

(housing mix) in future housing developments, this option 

would not address the County’s affordability issues or 

build sustainable and resilient communities throughout 

Monmouthshire. 

Objective 11 Place-making Any developments would need to enhance the character 

and identity of the Settlements in the North of the County 

in accordance with national sustainable place-making 

Page 242



105 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 4 against the RLDP Objectives 

principles. The value and importance of place-making has 

been emphasised in light of Covid-19.     

Objective 12 Communities Developments would only be located in the North of the 

County with best access to employment, retail, 

community facilities and social infrastructure. Likely to 

result in a detrimental impact on settlements outside of 

North Monmouthshire, no development would be 

directed to these locations. The current pandemic has 

clearly demonstrated the importance of ensuring our 

communities are balanced and socially sustainable. This 

option would not support/enable social sustainability and 

balanced communities across the County.  

Objective 13 Rural Communities Housing would only be directed to the North of the 

County and would not address rural need in other rural 

areas across the County. This would in turn impact on 

demography as the younger population would be priced 

out in these other rural areas. This would also impact on 

the sustainability of existing rural areas as there would be 

no additional support to help maintain rural facilities nor 

would there be any rural developments to attract 

additional rural employment opportunities. This option 

could also lead to rural isolation.   

Objective 14 Infrastructure* Pressure on infrastructure would be limited to the North 

of the County in an area with good road links to the Heads 

of the Valleys and wider Cardiff Capital Region and rail 

links via the Welsh Marches line. However, appropriate 

infrastructure should be in place/ provided to 

accommodate for any new development in this area.  Lack 

of development outside this area would not generate 

sufficient infrastructure improvements and gains in other 

areas across the County i.e. Chepstow and Severnside.  

Would provide additional support for facilities in the 

North of the County only, additional support for facilities 

in other areas unlikely to be achieved. The current 

pandemic has highlighted the importance of the provision 

of digital infrastructure and active travel options to 

support/enable increased home working and support 

local communities. 

Objective 15 Accessibility Development would be focused in the North of the 

County where there are existing employment 

opportunities, however, there is no guarantee that 

Page 243



106 
 

RLDP 

Objective 

Number  

RLDP Objective - 

Headline  

Performance of Option 4 against the RLDP Objectives 

residents will live and work in the same area. Although it 

should be recognised that in light of Covid-19 there has 

been an increase in agile and home working, which is 

likely to continue over the longer term36. The increased 

reliance on access to local facilities and services during the 

current pandemic, has highlighted their importance to 

communities. While many of the North County 

settlements already have sustainable travel links in place 

through existing rail and bus links, any new developments 

will need to fully consider active travel and integrated 

sustainable transport opportunities.  Development in 

Abergavenny would benefit from good links to Cardiff 

Capital Region via the A465. However, the focus on the 

North of the County will result in limited opportunities to 

enhance accessibility in the rest of the County. 

A Wales of Vibrant Culture & Thriving Welsh Language (Well-being Goal 6) 

Objective 16 Culture, Heritage and 

Welsh Language 

Dependent on location of sites, has the potential to 

impact on the heritage of a number of settlements in 

North Monmouthshire, however would be minimal 

development in the historic towns elsewhere in the 

County. Nevertheless through design developments can 

protect and enhance the built environment as well as 

providing benefits for the economy, tourism and well-

being of communities. No impact on Welsh Language.   

A Globally Responsible Wales (Well-being Goal 7) 

Objective 17 Climate Change* Resilience of new development to aspects of Climate 

Change can be achieved via the design and location of 

new developments. Developments can provide 

opportunities to minimise carbon by providing 

opportunities for renewable energy generation, seeking 

to reduce commuting, supporting use of ultra-low 

emission vehicles and public transport, and the provision 

of quality Green Infrastructure. The current pandemic has 

emphasised the need to enable such responses in 

delivering sustainable and resilient communities.       

Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) Analysis 

                                                           
36 Welsh Government announced in September 2020 that they have a long-term ambition for around 30% of 
the Welsh workforce to work remotely either from home or near to home using community-based remote 
working hubs https://gov.wales/aim-30-welsh-workforce-work-remotely 

Page 244



107 
 

3.18 The findings in the ISA note that Option 4 through its focus of growth in the most 

sustainable Settlements in the North of the County capitalises upon opportunities 

associated with the Cardiff Capital City Region Deal, notably the wider region via the 

A465, and towards Herefordshire via the A449 and A40 along with rail links to 

Newport, Cardiff and the North via the Welsh Marches line. However, limited growth 

to the rest of the County would restrict economic growth in the wider County, and 

would not assist in sustaining Monmouthshire’s existing communities, exacerbating 

existing demographic issues and levels of out- commuting. Rural areas in particular 

will be disadvantaged as they would not benefit from additional housing to help 

support existing facilities or attract additional facilities. Housing will be delivered to 

the North of the County only, resulting in needs not being met across all market areas 

which could in turn have potential impact on house prices arising in this context, given 

the delivery of affordable homes will only be focussed in the North, and not meet 

needs more widely. This option along with Option 3 performs least well in terms of 

equalities, diversity and social inclusion due to the likely isolation of communities and 

continuation of imbalanced demographic profile across Monmouthshire as a whole.    

3.19 The appraisal found that there is little to differentiate between the options at this 

stage with regard to the historic environment and biodiversity themes, noting that all 

options have the potential to result in negative effects, however it is recognised the 

mitigation could be provided and development has the potential to deliver positive 

effects secured at the project scale. Given the precise location of growth is unknown 

at this stage all options were found to have an uncertain effect on landscape and 

climate change themes. All options have the potential to result in negative effects for 

natural resources albeit it is recognised that mitigation could be provided and the 

nature and significance of effects will be dependent on the scale and location of 

development. 

Page 245



108 
 

RLDP Preferred Spatial Option  

3.20 The Spatial Options presented provide alternative spatial strategy options for 

accommodating growth, having regard to the evidence base and policy aspirations. 

Based on the assessment set out above, Spatial Option 2 to Distribute Growth 

Proportionately across the County’s most Sustainable Settlements37 is the Council’s 

preferred Spatial Option.  

3.21 This option would provide proportionate growth in the most sustainable urban and 

rural areas, in accordance with the Sustainable Settlement Appraisal. It is considered 

that this spatial option provides a land use framework that will help to deliver the 

Council’s core purpose of helping to build sustainable and resilient communities for 

current and future generations. Fundamentally, this option will enable the provision 

of a sufficient range and choice of homes, both market and affordable to be provided 

throughout the County’s most sustainable settlements, the need for which has been 

heightened by the current pandemic.  This option will also assist in ensuring our 

communities are balanced and socially sustainable, particularly in terms of 

demography, which is a key RLDP objective and the importance of which has been 

clearly demonstrated during the current pandemic. Likewise, employment growth will 

be directed to sustainable locations across the County, which will assist in reducing 

the need to travel /levels of out-commuting, and promoting self-contained 

communities. It is, however, recognised that in light of Covid-19 there has been an 

increase in agile and home working, which is likely to continue over the longer term38 

and further reduce commuting levels over the Plan period. Appropriately located 

growth will increase the customer base and workforce, supporting local facilities, 

businesses and services.  The increased reliance on access to local facilities and 

services during the current pandemic has highlighted their importance to our 

communities. This option would best meet the needs of and support both the urban 

and rural communities of Monmouthshire.  

3.22 In addition to this, the ISA analysis ranks Spatial Option 2, along with Spatial Option 1, 

as performing the best overall. The findings in the ISA note that while there are some 

small differences between Options 1 and 2 in terms of how growth is distributed 

during the Plan period, these differences are not significant enough to warrant one 

option being ranked higher or lower than the other against the ISA themes. 

Accordingly, Spatial Option 2 performs positively overall, and is found to have the 

potential for significant long term positive effects against the ISA themes relating to 

economy/employment, population/communities, health/wellbeing, and equalities 

compared to the other options. The ISA notes that this option will likely positively 

address existing demographic issues, encouraging younger people to reside and work 

                                                           
37 A Sustainable Settlement Appraisal will be published to inform the Preferred Strategy to identify these 
settlements. This will consider settlements in terms of their location, level of service provision, capacity and 
their role and function within the area.       
38 Welsh Government announced in September 2020 that they have a long-term ambition for around 30% of 
the Welsh workforce to work remotely either from home or near to home using community-based remote 
working hubs https://gov.wales/aim-30-welsh-workforce-work-remotely  

Page 246



109 
 

in the County. This option would perform positively in terms of providing housing to 

meet the identified needs of the County and would provide affordable housing 

throughout the settlement hierarchy, ensuring a range and choice of homes are 

delivered, particularly where there is a need for affordable housing, to assist in 

regaining a balanced population. 

3.23 Overall, this option is considered to be the most conducive to achieving the RLDP 

vision and the Council’s core purpose of building sustainable and resilient 

communities across Monmouthshire.   

 

Consultation Questions 

 

 Spatial Option 2 (Distribute Growth Proportionately across the County’s most 

Sustainable Settlements) is our preferred option. On the basis on the evidence above, 

do you agree with our preferred spatial option? Please explain why and provide your 

reasons.  

  

 If you have a preference for a different option, please state your preferred option and 

provide details of how this option addresses the issues/challenges facing 

Monmouthshire and meets the RLDP objectives?  

 

 

Page 247

http://monmouthshire.planning-register.co.uk/Representations/Representations?documentNumber=21&referencePointNo=3
http://monmouthshire.planning-register.co.uk/Representations/Representations?documentNumber=21&referencePointNo=3


110 
 

4 Next Steps  

4.1 Feedback from the non-statutory consultation on the Growth and Spatial Options 

Paper will be considered and, where appropriate, will inform the preferred growth 

and spatial strategy options which will be set out in the Preferred Strategy. The RLDP 

Preferred Strategy will be the subject of engagement/consultation in May-June 2021.  

Page 248



GLOSSARY 

MR     Household membership  rates  are  used  to  calculate  the  proportion  of  the 

household population in each household category by age group and sex i.e. 1 

person  households,  2  person  households,  etc.  The  household  population  is 

converted  into households using average household  size assumptions  taken 

from  the  Welsh  Government  Household  model.  MR  indicates  that  an 

assumption  has  been  applied  to  the  scenario  which  returns  the  household 

membership rates  for young adult age groups  (19‐24, 25‐29, 30‐34)  to their 

2001 rates. 

CR_R  Commuting ratio is reducing – the commuting ratio is the balance between the 

level of employment and the number of resident workers. A commuting ratio 

greater than 1.00 indicates that the size of the resident workforce exceeds the 

level  of  employment  available  in  an  area.  The  commuting  ratio  for 

Monmouthshire at the time of the 2011 Census was 1.12. CR_R indicates that 

an assumption has been applied to the scenario which reduces the commuting 

ratio from its 2011 Census value to 1.10 by the end of the Plan period.  

AH  Affordable Housing ‐ in addition to the initial modelling selected options have 

been the subject of additional testing to establish the impact on demography, 

dwellings,  household  formation  and  employment  of  an  affordable‐housing 

policy‐led strategy. As a starting point, the additional testing models the impact 

of meeting 10% of the need identified in the Local Housing Market Assessment 

on affordable housing‐led sites where at least 50% of the homes are affordable. 

PG  POPGROUP –  forecasts  have been developed using  the POPGROUP  suite  of 

products. These enable forecasts to be derived for population, households and 

the labour force. 

 

Page 249



 

 

  

Nexus | Discovery Way | University of Leeds | Leeds | LS2 3AA 
0113 819 5087 | www.edgeanalytics.co.uk 

Monmouthshire 
Updating the RLDP Demographic Evidence 

November 2020 

Page 250

http://www.edgeanalytics.co.uk/
Edge.J_2
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX 1

Edge.J_3
Typewritten Text



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics i 

 

November 2020   

Acknowledgements 

Demographic statistics used in this report have been derived from data from the Office for National 

Statistics licensed under the Open Government Licence v.3.0. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The authors of this report do not accept liability for any costs or consequential loss involved following the use of the data 
and analysis referred to here; this is entirely the responsibility of the users of the information presented in this report. 

Page 251



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics ii 

 

November 2020   

Contents 

 
Acknowledgements .................................................................................................................................. i 

Contents .................................................................................................................................................. ii 

1 Introduction ..................................................................................................................................... 1 

2 Area Profile ...................................................................................................................................... 2 

3 Demographic Scenarios ................................................................................................................. 10 

4 Employment-led Scenarios ............................................................................................................ 18 

5 Summary ........................................................................................................................................ 21 

 Scenario Summary ........................................................................................................ 23 

 Age Profiles ................................................................................................................... 24 

 Outside Brecon Beacon NP ........................................................................................... 25 

 POPGROUP Methodology ............................................................................................. 26 

 Data Inputs & Assumptions........................................................................................... 28 

 

 

 

Page 252



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 1 

 

November 2020   

1 Introduction 

Context 

1.1 Monmouthshire County Council has commenced preparation of its Replacement Local Development 

Plan (RLDP), covering the plan period 2018–2033. The RLDP is to be informed by the latest 

demographic statistics and forecasts, updating the previous evidence provided to the Council in 2019. 

1.2 In August 2020, the Welsh Government (WG) published its 2018-based population and household 

projections, a first update since the 2014-based equivalents.   

1.3 These new WG projections provide the baseline for the RLDP demographic evidence, to be considered 

alongside a range of growth scenarios. The Council is seeking to update the suite of trend, dwelling-

led and employment-led scenarios configured in June 2019, incorporating the latest WG evidence. The 

Council has also outlined the requirement for additional scenarios, using alternative assumptions on 

fertility, mortality and migration. These additional scenarios incorporate a 2019 mid-year estimate, 

published by ONS in June 2020. 

1.4 The Council is seeking to draw conclusions from the updated growth options, taking the evidence 

forward in a process of consultation for the RLDP. 

Approach 

1.5 Edge Analytics is a specialist in Data Science, with a particular expertise in demographic modelling and 

forecasting and has worked with the majority of local planning authorities across Wales in the 

development and presentation of evidence to support LDP formulation. 

1.6 Edge Analytics has used POPGROUP technology to configure an updated range of growth scenarios 

for Monmouthshire, incorporating demographic statistics from both ONS and WG, to produce 

forecasts for a 2018–2033 plan period. 

1.7 Section 2 updates the Monmouthshire Area Profile with the latest demographic statistics.  Section 3 

presents the demographic growth scenarios, with the employment-led options detailed in Section 4. 

A summary of the evidence is provided in Section 5. The Appendices provide supplementary detail on 

the scenario outputs, alongside the methodology, data and assumptions used in the formulation of 

the analysis. 

Page 253



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 2 

 

November 2020   

2 Area Profile 

Geography 

2.1 Located in the South East Wales region, Monmouthshire borders Powys to the North, and Newport, 

Torfaen, and Blaenau Gwent to the West (Figure 1). Monmouthshire also borders England, with 

Herefordshire and Gloucestershire to the East, and Bristol and the surrounding authorities available 

via the Severn crossings. The Brecon Beacons National Park intersects the North West of the Unitary 

Authority (UA). 

 
Figure 1: Monmouthshire UA – Geographical Context 

Page 254



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 3 

 

November 2020   

Population Change 

2.2 As of mid-year 2019, Monmouthshire’s population was estimated to be approximately 94,000; an 

increase of 9,606 (11.3%) since 2001 (Figure 2). 

 
Figure 2: Mid-Year Population Estimates, 2001-2019 (Source: ONS) 

2.3 Across Wales, population growth since 2001 has ranged from -3.6%–18.3%, with just two unitary 

authorities experiencing population decline (Figure 3). Monmouthshire’s growth rate has been 

exceeded only by  Cardiff (18.3%), Bridgend (14.2%), Newport (12.4%) and The Vale of Glamorgan 

(12.0%). Ceredigion and Blaenau Gwent have experienced population decline since 2011, at -3.6% and 

-0.2%, respectively. 

 
Figure 3: Population Growth Comparison – Wales, 2001–2019 (Source: ONS) 

80,000

82,000

84,000

86,000

88,000

90,000

92,000

94,000

96,000

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

Mid-Year Population Estimates 2001–2019

1
8

.3
%

1
4

.2
%

1
2

.4
%

1
2

.0
%

1
1

.3
%

1
1

.3
%

1
0

.5
%

8
.7

%

8
.3

%

7
.3

%

6
.9

%

6
.8

%

6
.6

%

6
.6

%

5
.8

%

5
.0

%

4
.8

%

4
.0

%

3
.4

%

3
.3

%

2
.8

%

-0
.2

%

-3
.6

%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

C
ar

d
if

f

B
ri

d
ge

n
d

N
e

w
p

o
rt

V
al

e 
o

f 
G

la
m

o
rg

an

M
o

n
m

o
u

th
sh

ir
e

P
em

b
ro

ke
sh

ir
e

Sw
an

se
a

C
ar

m
ar

th
en

sh
ir

e

W
al

es

M
er

th
yr

 T
yd

fi
l

C
o

n
w

y

C
ae

rp
h

ill
y

N
e

at
h

 P
o

rt
 T

al
b

o
t

G
w

yn
e

d
d

W
re

xh
am

Fl
in

ts
h

ir
e

P
o

w
ys

R
h

o
n

d
d

a 
C

yn
o

n
 T

af

To
rf

ae
n

Is
le

 o
f 

A
n

gl
e

se
y

D
en

b
ig

h
sh

ir
e

B
la

en
au

 G
w

en
t

C
er

ed
ig

io
n

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

 2
0

0
1

–2
0

1
9

Population Change 2001–2019

Page 255



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 4 

 

November 2020   

2.4 Monmouthshire’s population has increased year-on-year since 2001/02, with the highest annual 

population growth recorded in 2002–04 (Figure 4). Since 2005/06, annual population growth in 

Monmouthshire has fluctuated around +400 per year.  

 
Figure 4: Population Change, 2001/02–2018/19 (Source: ONS) 

2.5 Since 2010/11, Monmouthshire’s annual housing completions have averaged 285 dwellings per 

annum (dpa), with an uplift in the last two years (Figure 5). 

 
(Source: Monmouthshire Joint Housing Land Availability Report, 2019 & Monmouthshire County Council) 

Figure 5: Housing Completions, 2010/11–2019/20 

2.6 An index of population growth for each of four broad age-groups (0–15, 16–64, 65+, 80+), reveals the 

important demographic changes that are taking place within Monmouthshire, ageing its population 

over time (Figure 6).   

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

2
0

0
1

/0
2

2
0

0
2

/0
3

2
0

0
3

/0
4

2
0

0
4

/0
5

2
0

0
5

/0
6

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
4

/1
5

2
0

1
5

/1
6

2
0

1
6

/1
7

2
0

1
7

/1
8

2
0

1
8

/1
9

A
n

n
u

al
 P

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
 C

h
an

ge
Annual Population Change 2001/02–2018/19

285267
254

342

230
205

234 238

279

443

356

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
4

/1
5

2
0

1
5

/1
6

2
0

1
6

/1
7

2
0

1
7

/1
8

2
0

1
8

/1
9

2
0

1
9

/2
0

H
o

u
si

n
g 

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

s

Housing Completions 2010/11–2019/20

Page 256



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 5 

 

November 2020   

 
Figure 6: Population Age Profile Index, 2001-2019 

2.7 Since 2001, the 65–79 and 80+ age-groups have increased in size by 54% and 63% respectively.  In 

contrast, the 0–15 age-group is 10% smaller than its 2001 total.  The size of the 16–64 age-group, the 

student and labour force age-group, has remained relatively stable since 2006,approximately 5–6% 

higher than in 2001. 

Births, Deaths & Migration 

2.8 Examination of the ‘components’ of population change for Monmouthshire, reveals the factors that 

are estimated to have driven the change in population since 2001, including an upward adjustment 

(unattributable population change) to its population following the 2011 Census (Figure 7). 

2.9 Natural change (the difference between births and deaths) has generally had a negative impact upon 

population change, with growth in the net loss since 2011.  A net inflow from internal migration has 

been the main contributor to Monmouthshire’s population growth since 2001/02, falling to its lowest 

net inflow in 2008/09, increasing thereafter. Net international migration impacts have been smaller 

but with a net inflow estimated in all years since 2012. 

 

0.80

0.90

1.00

1.10

1.20

1.30

1.40

1.50

1.60

1.70

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 In
d

ex
 (

2
0

0
1

 =
 1

.0
0

)

Population Age Profile Index 2001–2019 (2001 = 1.00)

0–15

16–64

65–79

80+

Page 257



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 6 

 

November 2020   

 
Figure 7: Components of Population Change, 2001/02-2017/18 (Source: ONS) 

2.10 A closer examination of birth and death trends reveals that the number of deaths has exceeded births 

in all years except 2004/05  (Figure 8).  A peak in birth numbers in 2003/04 to 2008/09 has been 

followed by a steady decline, with the 2018/19 birth total being the lowest recorded over the 2001–

2019 period.  With correspondingly higher death totals, the population decline resulting from natural 

change has increased since 2015/16. 

 
Figure 8: Births & Deaths, 2001/02-2017/18 (Source: ONS) 

2.11 A more detailed scrutiny of Monmouthshire’s internal migration statistics reveals the annual 

fluctuations in both inflows and outflows.  The inflow of internal migrants was at its lowest in 2008/09 

at +3,796, rising steadily thereafter to its peak of +5,097 in 2018/19. The Higher Education Leavers 

Methodology (HELM)1, designed to better reflect the speed and pattern of movement of students 

 
1  Population estimates for the UK, mid-2019 methods guide, July 2020 

-500

0

500

1,000

1,500

2
0

0
1

/0
2

2
0

0
2

/0
3

2
0

0
3

/0
4

2
0

0
4

/0
5

2
0

0
5

/0
6

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
4

/1
5

2
0

1
5

/1
6

2
0

1
6

/1
7

2
0

1
7

/1
8

2
0

1
8

/1
9

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

Components of Population Change 2001–2019

Natural
Change

Net Internal
Migration

Net International
Migration

Unattributable
Population
Change

806

920

500

600

700

800

900

1,000

1,100

2
0

0
1

/0
2

2
0

0
2

/0
3

2
0

0
3

/0
4

2
0

0
4

/0
5

2
0

0
5

/0
6

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
4

/1
5

2
0

1
5

/1
6

2
0

1
6

/1
7

2
0

1
7

/1
8

2
0

1
8

/1
9

Births & Deaths 2001/02–2018/19

Births Deaths

Page 258

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/methodologies/methodologyguideformid2015ukpopulationestimatesenglandandwalesjune2016#internal-migration


Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 7 

 

November 2020   

following graduation, may have contributed to the relatively high net migration total experienced 

since 2016/17 (Figure 9). 

 
Figure 9: Internal Migration Profile, 2001/02 – 2018/19 (Source: ONS) 

2.12 The importance of the student outflow to higher education is emphasised in Monmouthshire’s age-

profile of internal migration. This indicates a large net outflow in the 15-19 student age-group. All 

other age-groups record a net inflow through internal migration, confirming Monmouthshire’s 

attractiveness as a destination for migrants across all family, labour-force and older ages (Figure 10).   

 
Figure 10: Internal Migration Age Profile, 2001/02-2018/19 (Source: ONS) 

2.13 The recent rise in Monmouthshire’s net migration inflow may be influenced to some degree by the 

‘return’ of students aged 20–24, but in the last two years the net inflow increase has been experienced 

across the majority of age-groups, with the exception of 15–19 year-olds (Figure 11). This suggests an 

in-migration of young people and families to Monmouthshire, in line with the increased level of 

housing provision. 

Internal Migration Profile 2001/02–2018/19

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

 2
0

01
/0

2

 2
0

02
/0

3

 2
0

03
/0

4

 2
0

04
/0

5

 2
0

05
/0

6

 2
0

06
/0

7

 2
0

07
/0

8

 2
0

08
/0

9

 2
0

09
/1

0

 2
0

10
/1

1

 2
0

11
/1

2

 2
0

12
/1

3

 2
0

13
/1

4

 2
0

14
/1

5

 2
0

15
/1

6

 2
0

16
/1

7

 2
0

17
/1

8

 2
0

18
/1

9

In
te

rn
a

l M
ig

ra
ti

o
n

In Out

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

 2
0

01
/0

2

 2
0

02
/0

3

 2
0

03
/0

4

 2
0

04
/0

5

 2
0

05
/0

6

 2
0

06
/0

7

 2
0

07
/0

8

 2
0

08
/0

9

 2
0

09
/1

0

 2
0

10
/1

1

 2
0

11
/1

2

 2
0

12
/1

3

 2
0

13
/1

4

 2
0

14
/1

5

 2
0

15
/1

6

 2
0

16
/1

7

 2
0

17
/1

8

 2
0

18
/1

9

Net

-400

-300

-200

-100

0

100

200

0
-4

5
-9

1
0

-1
4

1
5

-1
9

2
0

-2
4

2
5

-2
9

3
0

-3
4

3
5

-3
9

4
0

-4
4

4
5

-4
9

5
0

-5
4

5
5

-5
9

6
0

-6
4

6
5

-6
9

7
0

-7
4

7
5

+

A
ve

ra
ge

 N
et

 M
ig

ra
ti

o
n

Age Group Net Flows 2001/02–2018/19

Page 259



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 8 

 

November 2020   

 
Figure 11: Internal Migration Age Profile, 2017/18–2018/19 (Source: ONS) 

2.14 Geographically, Monmouthshire’s most significant net migration inflow exchange (2001–2019) has 

been from South Gloucestershire and Bristol with an average net inflow of +89 pa and +62 pa 

respectively. In contrast, its net migration outflow exchange has been greatest with Swansea and 

Carmarthenshire (Figure 12). 

 
Figure 12: Top Ten Net Migration Inflows and Outflows, 2001/02–2018/19 (Source: ONS) 

2.15 In the last two years of migration evidence, in-migration from South Gloucestershire and Bristol has 

risen substantially, with additional flows from the Forest of Dean and Caerphilly (Figure 13). 

-500

-400

-300

-200

-100

0

100

200

0
-4

5
-9

1
0

-1
4

1
5

-1
9

2
0

-2
4

2
5

-2
9

3
0

-3
4

3
5

-3
9

4
0

-4
4

4
5

-4
9

5
0

-5
4

5
5

-5
9

6
0

-6
4

6
5

-6
9

7
0

-7
4

7
5

+

A
ve

ra
ge

 N
et

 M
ig

ra
ti

o
n

Age Group Net Flows 2017/18–2018/19

Net Migration 2001/02–2018/19

89

62

35

34

30

25

14

14

11

8

0 50 100

South Gloucestershire

Bristol, City of

Torfaen

Caerphilly

Newport

Forest of Dean

The Vale of Glamorgan

North Somerset

Wiltshire UA

County of Herefordshire

Average Net Migration 2001/02-2018/19

Top Ten Net Inflows

-5

-5

-6

-7

-8

-8

-9

-9

-12

-14

-15 -10 -5 0

Leeds

Cheltenham

Cornwall UA

Blaenau Gwent

Exeter

Oxford

Scotland

Pembrokeshire

Carmarthenshire

Swansea

Average Net Migration 2001/02-2018/19

Top Ten Net Outflows

Page 260



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 9 

 

November 2020   

 
Figure 13: Top Ten Net Migration Inflows and Outflows, 2017/18–2018/19 (Source: ONS) 

2.16 International migration continues to be the most difficult component to estimate robustly; so much 

so that ONS has downgraded its output to ‘experimental statistics’ status, whilst improvements 

continue2. The International Passenger Survey (IPS) is the mainstay of the UK’s immigration and 

emigration estimates but this is due to be dropped in autumn 2020, in favour of  a mix of 

administrative datasets, including the patient register, higher education statistics and national 

insurance number (NINo) registrations.   

2.17 International migration has had a more limited impact on Monmouthshire’s population change but its 

contribution has been positive in the majority of years since 2011, peaking at +160 in 2015/16 (Figure 

7). NINo statistics provide a complementary illustration of international migration inflow to 

Monmouthshire; different to ONS mid-year population estimate statistics in that they refer only to 

work-based in-migration and include migrants whose stay may be shorter than 12 months (Figure 14). 

 
Figure 14: NINo registrations by country of origin, 2002-2019 (Source: DWP) 

2.18 Total NINo registrations have fluctuated between 100–150 per year since the peak in 2007, with the 

large majority of migrants having a country of origin from within the European Union (EU). 

 
2 Statement from the ONS on the reclassification of international migration statistics, August 2019  

Net Migration 2017/18–2018/19

202

135

115

59

31

30

27

17

15

13

0 100 200 300

South Gloucestershire

Bristol, City of

Forest of Dean

Caerphilly

North Somerset

Wiltshire UA

County of Herefordshire

Stroud

Merthyr Tydfil

Dacorum

Average Net Migration 2017/18-2018/19

Top Ten Net Inflows

-10

-11

-11

-13

-13

-16

-20

-21

-25

-57

-60 -40 -20 0

Shropshire UA

Leeds

Swansea

Oxford

Neath Port Talbot

Exeter

Cornwall UA

Pembrokeshire

Torfaen

Newport

Average Net Migration 2017/18-2018/19

Top Ten Net Outflows

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

N
IN

o
 R

eg
is

tr
at

io
n

s

NINo Registrations 2002–2019

Other

New Commonwealth

Old Commonwealth

Other EU

EU13

Page 261

https://www.ons.gov.uk/news/statementsandletters/statementfromtheonsonthereclassificationofinternationalmigrationstatistics


Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 10 

 

November 2020   

3 Demographic Scenarios 

Scenario Definition 

3.1 POPGROUP technology (see Appendix C) has been used to configure a suite of growth scenarios for 

Monmouthshire.  Additional detail on all scenario data inputs and assumptions is provided in Appendix 

E of this document. 

3.2 The WG scenarios include the full suite of variants that make up the 2018-based WG projections.  

3.3 POPGROUP (PG) trend scenarios consider growth outcomes based on a continuation of long-term 

migration histories (PG Long Term), incorporating a 2019 base year. Alternative PG Long Term 

scenarios are presented, evaluating the potential effects of higher net in-migration associated with 

the relaxation of Severn Bridge tolls (PG Long Term Adj).  

3.4 The Dwelling-led scenarios consider how a continuation of a 5-year, 10-year, and 15-year history of 

housing completion rates would impact upon future population growth, with a 2019 base year. 

3.5 An extended range of Employment-led scenarios have also been configured for Monmouthshire.  

These scenarios are presented separately in Section 4. 

3.6 Under each scenario, population, household, migration, dwelling and employment growth is 

presented over a 2018–2033 plan period, in line with Monmouthshire’s RLDP period. 

3.7 For all scenarios, household and dwelling growth is estimated using assumptions from the WG 2018-

based household projection model. An additional household membership rate return (MR) has been 

applied to all demographic scenarios, which considers the impact of higher household formation in 

the young adult age-groups. The household membership rates for the young adult age-groups (19–24, 

25–29, 30–34) have been ‘returned’ to their respective 2001 level over the 2018–2033 plan period. 

3.8 In modelling the relationship between households and dwellings, a Monmouthshire vacancy rate of 

4.5% has been applied, derived from 2011 Census statistics. 

3.9 All scenario outcomes are summarised in Appendix A. For population, household, net migration and 

dwelling growth outcomes for Monmouthshire excluding the Brecon Beacon National Park, please 

refer to Appendix C. 

Page 262



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 11 

 

November 2020   

Table 1: Scenario Definition 

 
1. 
 

 
WG-2018 
(Principal) 

 
Replicates the WG 2018-based Principal population projection, using 
historical population evidence for 2001-2018. 

 
2. WG-2018 (High) Replicates the WG 2018-based High population projection, using historical 

population evidence for 2001-2018. 

 
3. WG-2018 (Low) Replicates the WG 2018-based Low population projection, using historical 

population evidence for 2001-2018. 

 
4. PG Long Term Uses an ONS 2019 MYE base year, with area-specific fertility and mortality 

assumptions derived from the WG 2018-based Principal projection. 
Migration assumptions are derived from an 18-year historical period 
(2001/02–2018/19). 

 
5. PG Long Term 

Adj (5yr) 
Uses an ONS 2019 MYE base year, with area-specific fertility and mortality 
assumptions derived from the WG 2018-based Principal projection. 
Internal in-migration rates are adjusted to reflect higher in-migration 
(based on the last 5-years) from Bristol and South Gloucestershire, 
following the removal of the Severn Bridge toll. All other migration flows 
are consistent with the PG Long Term scenario. 

 
6. PG Long Term 

Adj (2yr) 
Uses an ONS 2019 MYE base year, with area-specific fertility and mortality 
assumptions derived from the WG 2018-based Principal projection. 
Internal in-migration rates are adjusted to reflect higher in-migration 
(based on the last 2-years) from Bristol and South Gloucestershire, 
following the removal of the Severn Bridge toll. All other migration flows 
are consistent with the PG Long Term scenario. 

 
7. Net Nil Uses an ONS 2019 MYE, with area-specific fertility and mortality 

assumptions derived from the WG 2018-based Principal projection. 
Internal and international migration flows are balanced between in- and 
out-flows, resulting in zero net migration. 

 
8. Dwelling-led  

(5yr) 
Models the population impact of an average dwelling growth of +310 dpa, 
based on a 5-year history of housing completions. The dwelling growth is 
applied from 2020/21 onwards, fixed throughout the plan period. 

 
9. Dwelling-led  

(10yr) 
Models the population impact of an average dwelling growth of +285 dpa, 
based on a 10-year history of housing completions. The dwelling growth 
is applied from 2020/21 onwards, fixed throughout the plan period. 

 
10. Dwelling-led  

(15yr) 
Models the population impact of an average dwelling growth of +269 dpa, 
based on a 15-year history of housing completions. The dwelling growth 
is applied from 2020/21 onwards, fixed throughout the plan period. 

 
 

Page 263



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 12 

 

November 2020   

Scenario Summary 

3.10 The 2001–2033 population growth trajectories for all demographic scenarios are presented in Figure 

16. In Table 2 each of the demographic scenarios is summarised in terms of population and household 

growth for the 2018–2033 RLDP period, alongside the average annual net migration and dwelling 

growth outcomes.   

3.11 Population change for the 2018–2033 period ranges from -6.6% under the Net Nil scenario to 13.0% 

under the PG Long Term Adj (2yr) scenario. Over the plan period, this range of population growth 

equates to an estimated dwelling growth requirement of -109 to +388 dpa. 

3.12 The WG-2018 (Principal) scenario results in a higher growth outcome (4.9%) compared to the previous 

WG 2014-based projection (0.8%), despite the introduction of dampened assumptions on fertility and 

mortality in the latest WG projections. Monmouthshire’s recent history of higher net in-migration to 

the UA is the key drive of the higher growth outcome (Figure 15). 

 

 
Figure 15: WG Principal Projections - Components of Population Change, 2001/02–2042/43 (Source: WG) 

-800

-600

-400

-200

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

2
0

0
1

/0
2

2
0

0
3

/0
4

2
0

0
5

/0
6

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
5

/1
6

2
0

1
7

/1
8

2
0

1
9

/2
0

2
0

2
1

/2
2

2
0

2
3

/2
4

2
0

2
5

/2
6

2
0

2
7

/2
8

2
0

2
9

/3
0

2
0

3
1

/3
2

2
0

3
3

/3
4

2
0

3
5

/3
6

2
0

3
7

/3
8

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

WG 2014-based Components of Change

Natural Change Net Internal Migration Net International Migration

Historical Projection 

-800

-600

-400

-200

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

2
0

0
1

/0
2

2
0

0
3

/0
4

2
0

0
5

/0
6

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
1

/1
2

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
5

/1
6

2
0

1
7

/1
8

2
0

1
9

/2
0

2
0

2
1

/2
2

2
0

2
3

/2
4

2
0

2
5

/2
6

2
0

2
7

/2
8

2
0

2
9

/3
0

2
0

3
1

/3
2

2
0

3
3

/3
4

2
0

3
5

/3
6

2
0

3
7

/3
8

2
0

3
9

/4
0

2
0

4
1

/4
2

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

WG 2018-based Components of Change

Natural Change Net Internal Migration Net International Migration

Historical Projection 

Page 264



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 13 

 

November 2020   

3.13 The WG-2018 (High) and WG-2018 (Low) scenarios provide alternative outcomes to the Principal 

projection, incorporating High and Low fertility, mortality and migration assumptions for 

Monmouthshire. The WG-2018 (High) and WG-2018 (Low) scenarios estimate population growth of 

6.7% and 2.4% respectively, with an accompanying dwelling requirement of +236 and +136 dpa. 

3.14 The PG Long Term scenario, drawing its migration assumptions from a 2001–2019 history, projects 

population growth of 6.3% and a dwelling requirement of +223 dpa. With the adjustment of internal 

in-migration rates to reflect higher in-migration from Bristol and South Gloucestershire (based on a 5-

year or 2-year history), the PG Long Term Adj (5yr) and PG Long Term Adj (2yr) scenarios estimate 

higher population growth of 11.9% and 13.0% respectively and a dwelling requirement of +361 dpa 

and +388 dpa.  

3.15 The Net Nil scenario, which assumes balanced net migration over the plan period, estimates 

population decline of -6.6% over the plan period. As a result, this scenario estimates a surplus in 

current dwelling stock. 

3.16 The Dwelling-led scenarios (Dwelling-led (5yr), Dwelling-led (10yr), and Dwelling-led (15yr)), which 

continue the average rate of historical completions, estimate population growth of 9.8%, 8.9% and 

8.4% respectively, with average net migration of +1,018, +969 and +937. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 265



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 14 

 

November 2020   

 

Monmouthshire Growth Outcomes 2018–2033 

Demographic Scenarios 

 
Figure 16: Monmouthshire Population Growth Scenarios, 2001-2033 

Table 2: Population, Household, Migration, and Dwelling growth under each scenario, 2018–2033 

 
Note: Scenario outcomes include the 2018/19 mid-year population estimate. The Net Nil scenario applies ‘balanced’ migration assumptions 
from 2019/20 onward. The Dwelling-led scenarios include two years of dwelling completions data (2018/19, 2019/20).  

 

 

 

80,000

85,000

90,000

95,000

100,000

105,000

110,000

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
1

2
0

2
3

2
0

2
5

2
0

2
7

2
0

2
9

2
0

3
1

2
0

3
3

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

WG-2018 (Principal)

WG-2018 (High)

WG-2018 (Low)

PG Long Term

PG Long Term Adj (5yr)

PG Long Term Adj (2yr)

Net Nil

Dwelling-led (5yr)

Dwelling-led (10yr)

Dwelling-led (15yr)

Population 

Change

Population 

Change %

Households 

Change

Households 

Change %
Net Migration Dwellings

PG Long Term Adj (2yr) 12,236 13.0% 5,556 13.8% 1,188 388

PG Long Term Adj (5yr) 11,194 11.9% 5,164 12.9% 1,126 361

Dwelling-led (5yr) 9,190 9.8% 4,481 11.2% 1,018 322

Dwelling-led (10yr) 8,404 8.9% 4,170 10.4% 969 300

Dwelling-led (15yr) 7,901 8.4% 3,972 9.9% 937 286

WG-2018 (High) 6,309 6.7% 3,381 8.4% 774 236

PG Long Term 5,935 6.3% 3,199 8.0% 811 223

WG-2018 (Principal) 4,584 4.9% 2,732 6.8% 726 191

WG-2018 (Low) 2,306 2.4% 1,941 4.8% 677 136

Net Nil -6,182 -6.6% -1,555 -3.9% 51 -109

Scenario

Change 2018–2033 Average per year

Page 266



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 15 

 

November 2020   

Membership Rate Sensitivity 

3.17 Although the latest evidence continues to suggest that the level of household formation has fallen 

from historical levels, many LDPs are responding to national policy initiatives aimed at reversing this 

trend. It is likely that it is the younger age-groups that have seen the most significant change in 

household formation, due to a combination of housing undersupply and affordability issues, which in 

some areas may have led to ‘supressed’ rates of household formation. 

3.18 An alternative set of household membership rates (MR) have been generated for Monmouthshire, in 

which the WG 2018-based rates for the young adult age-groups (19–24, 25–29, 30–34) have been 

adjusted to ‘return’ to their 2001 values between 2018–2033. This sensitivity analysis estimates how 

a return to higher household formation rates could manifest itself in higher dwelling growth outcomes 

for each scenario (Table 3). 

3.19 For the Dwelling-led scenarios, the application of WG 2018-based ‘return’ household membership 

rates (MR) results in lower population growth outcomes over the plan period. 

Table 3: Population & Dwelling Growth under alternative Household Membership Rates, 2018–2033 

 
  

Population Change Population Change % 2018-based MR

Dwelling-led (5yr) 9,190 9.8% 322

Dwelling-led (10yr) 8,404 8.9% 300

Dwelling-led (15yr) 7,901 8.4% 286

Dwelling-led (5yr) (MR) 7,445 7.9% 322

Dwelling-led (10yr) (MR) 6,688 7.1% 300

Dwelling-led (15yr) (MR) 6,203 6.6% 286

PG Long Term Adj (2yr) 12,236 13.0% 388 441

PG Long Term Adj (5yr) 11,194 11.9% 361 413

WG-2018 (High) 6,309 6.7% 236 288

PG Long Term 5,935 6.3% 223 274

WG-2018 (Principal) 4,584 4.9% 191 242

WG-2018 (Low) 2,306 2.4% 136 186

Net Nil -6,182 -6.6% -109 -70

Average Annual Dwelling Growth

Scenario

Change 2018–2033

Page 267



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 16 

 

November 2020   

Age Profiles  

3.21 The changing age profile associated with Monmouthshire’s future population growth is an important 

consideration in planning for housing and in the development of the resident labour force. The 

updated suite of demographic projections has incorporated both revised fertility and mortality 

assumptions from the WG 2018-based projections and updated mid-year population estimates. These 

factors have had an effect upon the resulting age-structure associated with Monmouthshire’s 

projected population growth to 2033. 

3.22 To illustrate, the lower growth WG-2018 (Principal) scenario is compared to the higher growth PG 

Long Term Adj (2yr) scenario (Figure 17). The changing age profile under each scenario is presented 

in Appendix B. 

 
 

 
Figure 17: Population Change by Age-Group, 2018–2033 

3.23 Under both scenarios, the 60+ age-groups reveal a similar growth profile, a reflection of the fact that 

this level of change is immutable, whichever scenario is being considered. The PG Long Term Adj (2yr) 

scenario estimates higher levels of growth (or smaller decline) in each of the school-age and younger 

adult age-groups, particularly 30–44 year-olds. The higher growth in these age-groups is particularly 

important when considering the link between Monmouthshire’s population change and the size and 

profile of the resident labour force. 

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

0
–4

5
–9

1
0

–1
4

1
5

–1
9

2
0

–2
4

2
5

–2
9

3
0

–3
4

3
5

–3
9

4
0

–4
4

4
5

–4
9

5
0

–5
4

5
5

–5
9

6
0

–6
4

6
5

–6
9

7
0

–7
4

7
5

–7
9

8
0

–8
4

8
5

+

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

WG-2018 (Principal)

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

0
–4

5
–9

1
0

–1
4

1
5

–1
9

2
0

–2
4

2
5

–2
9

3
0

–3
4

3
5

–3
9

4
0

–4
4

4
5

–4
9

5
0

–5
4

5
5

–5
9

6
0

–6
4

6
5

–6
9

7
0

–7
4

7
5

–7
9

8
0

–8
4

8
5

+

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

PG Long Term Adj (2yr)

Page 268



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 17 

 

November 2020   

Linking Population and Employment 

3.24 The estimated impact of each demographic scenario upon employment growth in Monmouthshire, is 

presented for the plan period 2018–2033. In each scenario, average annual employment growth has 

been estimated using 2011 Census economic activity rates adjusted in line with the latest Office for 

Budget Responsibility’s (OBR) analysis of labour market trends in its 2018 Fiscal Sustainability Report3. 

A fixed 2011 Census commuting ratio has been applied (CR_F), plus a 2019 unemployment rate, also 

fixed throughout the plan period.  

3.25 A commuting ratio sensitivity has also been applied to all scenarios (CR_R), evaluating the 

employment growth impact of a reduction in the net-out commute. Under this sensitivity, the 

commuting ratio reduces from its 2011 Census value (1.12) to 1.10 by the end of the plan period.  

3.26 Over the 2018–2033 plan period, application of a fixed commuting ratio (CR_F) to each scenario results 

in a range of employment growth outcomes that varies from a decline of -203 per year under the Net 

Nil scenario to average annual employment growth of +417 per year under the PG Long Term Adj 

(2yr) scenario (Figure 18). A reduction in the net-out commute over the plan period (CR_R), results in 

an uplift to the average annual employment change estimated under each scenario. 

 
Figure 18: Average Annual Employment Change, 2018-2033 

3.27 The age-structure differences between the lower and higher growth scenarios result in a more positive 

impact upon labour force projections, with higher growth evident in the younger adult age-groups 

over the RLDP plan period. 

3.28 The following section presents a range of Employment-led scenarios, for comparison to the 

demographic scenarios and their population, dwelling and employment outcomes.   

 
3 OBR, Fiscal sustainability report – July 2018  

4
1

7

3
8

0

3
1

5

2
8

8

2
7

1

2
0

4

1
9

0

1
6

0

1
3

0

-2
0

3

4
7

4

4
3

7

3
7

0

3
4

3

3
2

6

2
5

7

2
4

3

2
1

3

1
8

2

-1
5

7

-300

-200

-100

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

P
G

 L
o

n
g 

Te
rm

 A
d

j
(2

yr
)

P
G

 L
o

n
g 

Te
rm

 A
d

j
(5

yr
)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

5
yr

)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

1
0

yr
)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

1
5

yr
)

P
G

 L
o

n
g 

Te
rm

W
G

-2
0

1
8

 (
H

ig
h

)

W
G

-2
0

1
8

 (
P

ri
n

ci
p

al
)

W
G

-2
0

1
8

 (
Lo

w
)

N
e

t 
N

il

Em
p

lo
ym

en
t 

C
h

an
ge

Average Annual Employment Change 2018–2033

CR_F CR_R

Page 269

https://obr.uk/fsr/fiscal-sustainability-report-july-2018/


Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 18 

 

November 2020   

4 Employment-led Scenarios 

Scenario Definition 

4.1 The previous demographic analysis informing Monmouthshire’s RLDP formulation (June 2019) 

considered employment growth forecasts published by BE Group, Hatch and perConsulting as part of 

the ‘Economies of the Future’ report4.  

4.2 The analysis considered the potential impact of alternative employment growth scenarios: a ‘Baseline’ 

scenario underpinned by an Oxford Economics 2018 forecast; plus, accelerated growth scenarios 

referred to as ‘UK Growth Rate’ and ‘Radical Structural Change’.  

4.3 Whilst the employment growth forecasts have not been updated since the 2018 analysis, the 

‘Baseline’, ‘UK Growth Rate’ and ‘Radical Structural Change’ employment growth forecasts have been 

used here to configure a range of updated Employment-led scenarios for Monmouthshire.  

4.4 The updated Employment-led scenarios use a 2019 base year and incorporate the latest fertility and 

mortality assumptions from the WG 2018-based ‘Principal’ projection. The scenarios model the 

population, household and dwelling growth outcomes of the employment growth forecasts, and 

consider a reduced commuting ratio (Table 4). 

4.5 Under each Employment-led scenario, population, household, migration, dwelling and employment 

growth is presented over a 2018–2033 plan period, in line with Monmouthshire’s RLDP period. 

4.6 For all scenarios, household and dwelling growth is estimated using assumptions from the WG 2018-

based household projection model.  In modelling the relationship between households and dwellings, 

a Monmouthshire vacancy rate of 4.5% has been applied, derived from 2011 Census statistics. 

4.7 All scenario outcomes are summarised in Appendix A. For population, household, net migration and 

dwelling growth outcomes for Monmouthshire excluding the Brecon Beacon National Park, please 

refer to Appendix C. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
4BE Group, Hatch and perConsulting, 2018. Future Monmouthshire: Economies of the Future Analysis 

Page 270

http://monmouthshire.biz/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Appendix-B-Economies-of-the-Future-Strategic-Direction-Report-2018.pdf


Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 19 

 

November 2020   

Table 4: Employment-led Scenario Definition 

 
11. 

4.8  
4.9 Employment-led Baseline 

(CR_R) 

 
4.10 Average annual employment growth of +73 is applied from 
4.11 2019/20  onward,  based  on  the  2018  Oxford  Economics 

‘Baseline’ forecast. Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 
Census value (1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) over the plan 
period. 

 
12. Employment-led UK Growth 

Rate  
(CR_R) 

Average annual employment growth of +154 is applied from 
2019/20 onward, incorporating uplifts in identified 
underperforming sectors to match UK growth levels. 
Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value (1.12) to 
2001 Census value (1.10) over the plan period. 

 
13. Employment-led Radical 

Structural Change (Lower)  
(CR_R) 

4.12 Average annual employment growth of +262 is applied from 
4.13 2019/20,  to  consider  the  potential  impact  of  substantial 

economic changes in Monmouthshire’s economy. Commuting 
ratio reduces from 2011 Census value (1.12) to 2001 Census 
value (1.10) over the plan period. 

 
14. Employment-led Radical 

Structural Change (Higher) 
(CR_R) 

Average annual employment growth of +560 is applied from 
2019/20,  to  consider  the  potential  impact  of  substantial 
economic changes in Monmouthshire’s economy. Commuting 
ratio reduces from 2011 Census value (1.12) to 2001 Census 
value (1.10) over the plan period. 

 

Scenario Summary 

4.14 The 2001–2033 population growth trajectories for all scenarios are presented in Figure 19. In Table 5 

each of the Employment-led scenarios is summarised in terms of population and household growth 

for the 2018–2033 RLDP period, alongside the average annual net migration and dwelling growth 

outcomes.   

4.15 Assuming a reduction in the net-out commute (to 1.10) over the plan period, it is estimated that a 

population growth range of 1.8% to 16.1% would be required to support the employment growth 

range of +73 to +560 per year outlined in the Employment-led Baseline (CR_R) and Employment-led 

Radical Structural Change (Higher) (CR_R) scenarios. Over the plan period, this would result in an 

average dwelling growth requirement of +105 to +480 dpa. 

4.16 The Employment-led Radical Structural (Lower) (CR_R) scenario, assuming average annual 

employment growth of +262, projects population growth of 7.3% over the plan period. This level of 

population growth would result in an average dwelling growth requirement of +250 dpa. 

4.17 The Employment-led UK Growth Rate (CR_R) scenario, assuming average annual employment growth 

+154, estimates population growth of 4.1%, with average annual dwelling growth of +167 dpa.  

Page 271



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 20 

 

November 2020   

 

Monmouthshire Growth Outcomes 2018–2033 

Employment-led Scenarios 

 
Figure 19: Monmouthshire Employment-led Population Growth Scenarios, 2001–2033 

Table 5: Employment-led Scenario Growth Outcomes, 2018–2033 

 

80,000

85,000

90,000

95,000

100,000

105,000

110,000

115,000

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
1

2
0

2
3

2
0

2
5

2
0

2
7

2
0

2
9

2
0

3
1

2
0

3
3

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

WG-2018 (Principal)

Employment-led Baseline (CR_R)

Employment-led UK Growth Rate (CR_R)

Employment-led RSC (Higher) (CR_R)

Employment-led RSC (Lower) (CR_R)

Population 

Change

Population 

Change %

Households 

Change

Households 

Change %

Net 

Migration
Dwellings

WG-2018 (Principal) 4,584 4.9% 2,732 6.8% 726 191

Employment-led RSC (Higher) (CR_R) 15,142 16.1% 6,871 17.1% 1,382 480

Employment-led RSC (Lower) (CR_R) 6,872 7.3% 3,585 8.9% 866 250

Employment-led UK Growth Rate (CR_R) 3,871 4.1% 2,388 6.0% 678 167

Employment-led Baseline (CR_R) 1,653 1.8% 1,508 3.8% 538 105

Scenario

Change 2018–2033 Average per year

Page 272



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 21 

 

November 2020   

5 Summary 

Growth Outcomes 

5.1 Monmouthshire County Council is in the process of updating its RLDP. As part of this process, the 

Council has sought to collate the latest demographic evidence to inform its housing growth options. 

Monmouthshire’s recent profile of population growth has been characterised by higher net in-

migration, particularly from Bristol and South Gloucestershire. Even with the introduction of 

dampened assumptions on fertility and mortality in the latest round of WG projections, its growth 

outlook is positive relative to the WG 2014-based evidence. 

5.2 POPGROUP technology has been used to configure a suite of updated trend, Dwelling-led and 

Employment-led scenarios for Monmouthshire.  Under each scenario, population, household, 

migration, dwelling and employment growth is presented over a 2018–2033 plan period. 

5.3 Under the trend and Dwelling-led scenarios, household growth has been estimated using household 

membership rate assumptions from the WG’s 2018-based household projection model, with the 

implications of a household membership rate sensitivity (MR) also evaluated. Under the Employment-

led scenarios, household growth has been estimated using household membership rate assumptions 

from the WG’s 2018-based household projection model. Associated dwelling growth has been 

estimated using a dwelling vacancy rate of 4.5% for Monmouthshire. 

5.4 Estimates of the changing size of Monmouthshire’s labour force and the employment growth that 

results from the variant population growth outcomes have been calculated using a combination of 

economic activity rates, an unemployment rate and a commuting ratio for the UA. 

5.5 Over the 2018–2033 plan period, population change of 16.1% to -6.6% is estimated under the range 

of scenarios, with a corresponding household growth of 17.1% to -3.9%. The associated average 

annual dwelling growth ranges from +480 to -109 dpa (Figure 20). 

Page 273



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 22 

 

November 2020   

 
Figure 20: Monmouthshire Growth Scenarios Summary, 2018-2033 

16.1%

13.0%
11.9%

9.8%
8.9%

8.4% 7.9%
7.3% 7.1% 6.7% 6.6% 6.3%

4.9%
4.1%

2.4%
1.8%

-6.6%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

-200

-100

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 R

SC
 (

H
ig

h
e

r)
(C

R
_R

)

P
G

 L
o

n
g 

Te
rm

 A
d

j (
2

yr
)

P
G

 L
o

n
g 

Te
rm

 A
d

j (
5

yr
)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

5
yr

)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

1
0

yr
)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

1
5

yr
)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

5
yr

) 
(M

R
)

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 R

SC
 (

Lo
w

er
)

(C
R

_R
)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

1
0

yr
) 

(M
R

)

W
G

-2
0

1
8

 (
H

ig
h

)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

1
5

yr
) 

(M
R

)

P
G

 L
o

n
g 

Te
rm

W
G

-2
0

1
8

 (
P

ri
n

ci
p

al
)

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 U

K
 G

ro
w

th
 R

at
e

(C
R

_R
)

W
G

-2
0

1
8

 (
Lo

w
)

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 B

as
e

lin
e

(C
R

_R
)

N
et

 N
il

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

A
ve

ra
ge

 A
n

n
u

al
 D

w
el

lin
g 

G
ro

w
th

Monmouthshire Growth Scenarios Summary 2018–2033

2018-based

MR

Population Change %

18.2%

16.1%

13.0%
11.9%

9.8% 9.3% 8.9%
8.4% 7.9%

7.3% 7.1% 7.1% 6.8% 6.8% 6.7% 6.6% 6.3% 6.0% 5.9%
4.9% 4.9%

4.1% 3.6%
2.8% 2.4%

1.8%
0.8%

-1.2%

-6.6%

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

-200

-100

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 R

SC
 (

H
ig

h
e

r)

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 R

SC
 (

H
ig

h
e

r)
(C

R
_R

)

P
G

 L
o

n
g 

Te
rm

 A
d

j (
2

yr
)

P
G

 L
o

n
g 

Te
rm

 A
d

j (
5

yr
)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

5
yr

)

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 R

SC
 (

Lo
w

er
)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

1
0

yr
)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

1
5

yr
)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

5
yr

) 
(M

R
)

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 R

SC
 (

Lo
w

er
)

(C
R

_R
)

P
G

 L
o

n
g 

Te
rm

 (
F 

H
ig

h
 M

 H
ig

h
)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

1
0

yr
) 

(M
R

)

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 R

SC
 (

H
ig

h
e

r)
(C

R
_B

)

P
G

 L
o

n
g 

Te
rm

 (
F 

H
ig

h
)

W
G

-2
0

1
8

 (
H

ig
h

)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 (

1
5

yr
) 

(M
R

)

P
G

 L
o

n
g 

Te
rm

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 U

K
 G

ro
w

th
 R

at
e

P
G

 3
yr

P
G

 S
h

o
rt

 T
er

m

W
G

-2
0

1
8

 (
P

ri
n

ci
p

al
)

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 U

K
 G

ro
w

th
 R

at
e

(C
R

_R
)

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 B

as
e

lin
e

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 B

as
e

lin
e

(U
R

_R
)

W
G

-2
0

1
8

 (
Lo

w
)

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 B

as
e

lin
e

(C
R

_R
)

W
G

-2
0

1
4

 (
P

ri
n

ci
p

al
)

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 R

SC
 (

Lo
w

er
)

(C
R

_B
)

N
et

 N
il

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

A
ve

ra
ge

 A
n

n
u

al
 D

w
el

lin
g 

G
ro

w
th

Monmouthshire Growth Scenarios Summary 2018–2033

Demographic Scenario: WG 2018-based

Demographic Scenario: MR Sensitivity

Employment-led Scenario

Population Change %

P
age 274



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 22 

 

November 2020   

LDP Development and COVID-19 

5.6 The updated growth scenarios, presented as evidence to inform the RLDP for Monmouthshire, have 

been formulated at a time of extraordinary social and economic upheaval.  Following the political 

turbulence of Brexit, the global COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in an unprecedented interruption to 

the daily lives of all UK citizens. 

5.7 The latest round of WG population projections have introduced a dampened outlook for fertility and 

mortality, with the recovery from COVID-19 likely to confirm this, at least in the short-term. At the 

same time, the future impact of international migration is highly uncertain due both to the COVID-19 

impact and with the impending introduction of the UK’s new points-based system for immigration 

control. 

5.8 The UK government has implemented unprecedented labour market interventions in an effort to 

mitigate the worst effects of the crisis, protecting incomes and providing a platform for economic 

recovery. But UK GDP is forecast to decline substantially during 2020, with the last two quarters of 

negative growth placing the country officially ‘in recession’. 

5.9 Whilst the latest news on vaccine development is very positive, the trajectory of social economic 

recovery will not be uniform across industry sectors and across geographical areas. Food service, 

retail, hotels, transport and the construction industry have been particularly badly affected. In line 

with previous economic recessions, it is likely that people on lower wages are going to be hardest hit 

by the economic impacts of a COVID-19-induced recession, with longer-lasting impacts upon economic 

inequalities and the geographical concentrations of income deprivation.  

5.10 Planning for the future development of housing at such a moment, presents a real challenge. The 

gradual easing of the COVID-19 social restrictions will see businesses and communities adapting to 

different rules and guidelines for all aspects of daily life, including workplace activities, retailing, travel, 

education, healthcare, and leisure activities. The housing industry will be a critical component of the 

economic bounce-back and a key driver of the future growth and distribution of population.  

5.11 The Minister for Housing and Local Government has emphasised that the planning system remains at 

the heart of shaping Wales’ future, ensuring that the principles of sustainable development are not 

sacrificed in the pursuit of economic recovery at any cost5. The forthcoming completion of the 

postponed new Future Wales: the national plan 2040 (National Development Framework) remains 

critical to framing regional development in Wales, post-pandemic, and Planning Policy Wales (PPW 

10) provides the guiding principles and policies to help drive recovery6. 

5.12 Currently, there is insufficient evidence to inform an assessment of the COVID-19 impact upon long 

term demographic trends. The latest scenario evidence provides a timely and robust suite of outcomes 

from which Monmouthshire County Council can consider its RLDP options, reviewed and scrutinised 

in the light of social, economic and demographic changes that will result from the post-COVID-19 

recovery. 

 
5 Letter from Julie James, Minister for Housing and Local Government to Local Authority Leaders and Chief Executives, July 7, 2020. 
6 Building Better Places - Placemaking and the COVID-19 recovery, July 2020 

Page 275

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf


Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 23 

 

November 2020   

 Scenario Summary 
Table 6: All Scenario Outcomes, 2018–2033 

 

Population 

Change

Population 

Change %

Households 

Change

Households 

Change %

Net 

Migration
Dwellings

Employment-led RSC (Higher) (CR_R) 15,142 16.1% 6,871 17.1% 1,382 480

PG Long Term Adj (2yr) (MR, CR_R) 12,236 13.0% 6,317 15.7% 1,188 441

PG Long Term Adj (2yr) 12,236 13.0% 5,556 13.8% 1,188 388

PG Long Term Adj (5yr) (MR, CR_R) 11,194 11.9% 5,915 14.7% 1,126 413

PG Long Term Adj (5yr) 11,194 11.9% 5,164 12.9% 1,126 361

Dwelling-led (5yr) 9,190 9.8% 4,481 11.2% 1,018 322

Dwelling-led (5yr) (CR_R) 9,190 9.8% 4,481 11.2% 1,018 322

Dwelling-led (10yr) 8,404 8.9% 4,170 10.4% 969 300

Dwelling-led (10yr) (CR_R) 8,404 8.9% 4,170 10.4% 969 300

Dwelling-led (15yr) 7,901 8.4% 3,972 9.9% 937 286

Dwelling-led (15yr) (CR_R) 7,901 8.4% 3,972 9.9% 937 286

Dwelling-led (5yr) (MR) 7,445 7.9% 4,539 11.3% 908 322

Employment-led RSC (Lower) (CR_R) 6,872 7.3% 3,585 8.9% 866 250

Dwelling-led (10yr) (MR) 6,688 7.1% 4,229 10.5% 860 300

WG-2018 (High) (MR, CR_R) 6,309 6.7% 4,123 10.3% 774 288

WG-2018 (High) 6,309 6.7% 3,381 8.4% 774 236

Dwelling-led (15yr) (MR) 6,203 6.6% 4,030 10.0% 829 286

PG Long Term (MR, CR_R) 5,935 6.3% 3,921 9.8% 811 274

PG Long Term 5,935 6.3% 3,199 8.0% 811 223

WG-2018 (Principal) (MR, CR_R) 4,584 4.9% 3,462 8.6% 726 242

WG-2018 (Principal) 4,584 4.9% 2,732 6.8% 726 191

Employment-led UK Growth Rate (CR_R) 3,871 4.1% 2,388 6.0% 678 167

WG-2018 (Low) (MR, CR_R) 2,306 2.4% 2,660 6.6% 677 186

WG-2018 (Low) 2,306 2.4% 1,941 4.8% 677 136

Employment-led Baseline (CR_R) 1,653 1.8% 1,508 3.8% 538 105

Net Nil (MR, CR_R) -6,182 -6.6% -996 -2.5% 51 -70

Net Nil -6,182 -6.6% -1,555 -3.9% 51 -109

Scenario

Change 2018–2033 Average per year

Page 276



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 24 

 

November 2020   

 Age Profiles 

B.1 The age profiles for all demographic scenarios are presented (Figure 21), indicating the estimated 

population change by age-group over the plan period 2018–2033. 

  

  

  

  

   
Figure 21: Age Profile for all Demographic Scenarios: Population Change, 2018–2033 

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

0
–4

5
–9

1
0

–1
4

1
5

–1
9

2
0

–2
4

2
5

–2
9

3
0

–3
4

3
5

–3
9

4
0

–4
4

4
5

–4
9

5
0

–5
4

5
5

–5
9

6
0

–6
4

6
5

–6
9

7
0

–7
4

7
5

–7
9

8
0

–8
4

8
5

+

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

WG-2018 (Principal)

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

0
–4

5
–9

1
0

–1
4

1
5

–1
9

2
0

–2
4

2
5

–2
9

3
0

–3
4

3
5

–3
9

4
0

–4
4

4
5

–4
9

5
0

–5
4

5
5

–5
9

6
0

–6
4

6
5

–6
9

7
0

–7
4

7
5

–7
9

8
0

–8
4

8
5

+

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

WG-2018 (High)

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

0
–4

5
–9

1
0

–1
4

1
5

–1
9

2
0

–2
4

2
5

–2
9

3
0

–3
4

3
5

–3
9

4
0

–4
4

4
5

–4
9

5
0

–5
4

5
5

–5
9

6
0

–6
4

6
5

–6
9

7
0

–7
4

7
5

–7
9

8
0

–8
4

8
5

+

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

WG-2018 (Low)

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

0
–4

5
–9

1
0

–1
4

1
5

–1
9

2
0

–2
4

2
5

–2
9

3
0

–3
4

3
5

–3
9

4
0

–4
4

4
5

–4
9

5
0

–5
4

5
5

–5
9

6
0

–6
4

6
5

–6
9

7
0

–7
4

7
5

–7
9

8
0

–8
4

8
5

+

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

PG Long Term

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

0
–4

5
–9

1
0

–1
4

1
5

–1
9

2
0

–2
4

2
5

–2
9

3
0

–3
4

3
5

–3
9

4
0

–4
4

4
5

–4
9

5
0

–5
4

5
5

–5
9

6
0

–6
4

6
5

–6
9

7
0

–7
4

7
5

–7
9

8
0

–8
4

8
5

+

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

PG Long Term Adj (2yr)

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

0
–4

5
–9

1
0

–1
4

1
5

–1
9

2
0

–2
4

2
5

–2
9

3
0

–3
4

3
5

–3
9

4
0

–4
4

4
5

–4
9

5
0

–5
4

5
5

–5
9

6
0

–6
4

6
5

–6
9

7
0

–7
4

7
5

–7
9

8
0

–8
4

8
5

+

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

PG Long Term Adj (5yr)

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

0
–4

5
–9

1
0

–1
4

1
5

–1
9

2
0

–2
4

2
5

–2
9

3
0

–3
4

3
5

–3
9

4
0

–4
4

4
5

–4
9

5
0

–5
4

5
5

–5
9

6
0

–6
4

6
5

–6
9

7
0

–7
4

7
5

–7
9

8
0

–8
4

8
5

+

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

Net Nil

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

0
–4

5
–9

1
0

–1
4

1
5

–1
9

2
0

–2
4

2
5

–2
9

3
0

–3
4

3
5

–3
9

4
0

–4
4

4
5

–4
9

5
0

–5
4

5
5

–5
9

6
0

–6
4

6
5

–6
9

7
0

–7
4

7
5

–7
9

8
0

–8
4

8
5

+

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

Dwelling-led (5yr)

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

0
–4

5
–9

1
0

–1
4

1
5

–1
9

2
0

–2
4

2
5

–2
9

3
0

–3
4

3
5

–3
9

4
0

–4
4

4
5

–4
9

5
0

–5
4

5
5

–5
9

6
0

–6
4

6
5

–6
9

7
0

–7
4

7
5

–7
9

8
0

–8
4

8
5

+

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

Dwelling-led (10yr) 

-3,000

-2,000

-1,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

0
–4

5
–9

1
0

–1
4

1
5

–1
9

2
0

–2
4

2
5

–2
9

3
0

–3
4

3
5

–3
9

4
0

–4
4

4
5

–4
9

5
0

–5
4

5
5

–5
9

6
0

–6
4

6
5

–6
9

7
0

–7
4

7
5

–7
9

8
0

–8
4

8
5

+

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

Dwelling-led (15yr)

Page 277



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 25 

 

November 2020   

 Outside Brecon Beacon NP 

Scenario Outcomes 

C.1 The population growth outcomes under each of the Council’s chosen scenarios, excluding the part 

that falls within Brecon Beacon National Park, are presented in Figure 22 and Table 7. 

 

 
Figure 22: Monmouthshire (excluding the Brecon Beacon National Park) Scenario Outcomes, 2001–2033 

Table 7: Monmouthshire (excluding Brecon Beacon NP) Scenario Outcomes, 2018–2033 

 
 
 
 

  

75,000

80,000

85,000

90,000

95,000

100,000

105,000

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
1

2
0

2
3

2
0

2
5

2
0

2
7

2
0

2
9

2
0

3
1

2
0

3
3

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

WG-2018 (Principal)

WG-2018 (Principal) (MR, CR_R)

PG Long Term Adj 5yr (MR,
CR_R)

Net Nil (MR, CR_R)

Dwelling-led (5yr)

Employment-led RSC (Higher)
(CR_R)

Population 

Change

Population 

Change %

Households 

Change

Households 

Change %
Net Migration Dwellings

Employment-led RSC (Higher) (CR_R) 13,760 15.9% 6,274 17.1% 1,179 437

PG Long Term Adj 5yr (MR, CR_R) 10,213 11.8% 5,454 14.8% 961 380

Dwelling-led (5yr) 8,393 9.7% 4,131 11.2% 860 297

WG-2018 (Principal) (MR, CR_R) 4,106 4.7% 3,180 8.6% 589 222

WG-2018 (Principal) 4,106 4.7% 2,503 6.8% 589 174

Net Nil (MR, CR_R) -5,255 -6.1% -679 -1.8% 17 -47

Scenario

Change 2018–2033 Average per year

Page 278



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 26 

 

November 2020   

 POPGROUP Methodology 

D.1 Demographic forecasts have been developed using the POPGROUP suite of products. POPGROUP is a 

family of demographic models that enables forecasts to be derived for population, households and 

the labour force, for areas and social groups. The main POPGROUP model (Figure 23) is a cohort 

component model, which enables the development of population forecasts based on births, deaths 

and migration inputs and assumptions. 

D.2 The Derived Forecast (DF) model sits alongside the population model (Figure 24) providing an 

associated model for both household and labour-force projections and the basis for the dwelling-led 

and employment-led scenario options. 

D.3 For further information on POPGROUP, please refer to the Edge Analytics website: 

www.edgeanalytics.co.uk. 

 
Figure 23: POPGROUP Population Projection Methodology 

Page 279

http://www.edgeanalytics.co.uk/


Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 27 

 

November 2020   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Figure 24: Derived Forecast (DF) methodology 

 

Page 280



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 28 

 

November 2020   

 Data Inputs & Assumptions 

Population  

E.1 In each scenario, historical population statistics are provided by ONS mid-year population estimates 

(MYE), with all data disaggregated by single year of age and sex. The WG scenarios use MYE 

populations up to the 2018 base year. Each of the PG, Dwelling-led and Employment-led scenarios 

uses an ONS 2019 MYE as it base year. 

Births & Fertility 

E.2 In each scenario, historical mid-year to mid-year counts of births by sex have been sourced from the 

ONS MYEs. Under the WG scenarios, historical births counts have been used up to 2018. 

E.3 For the PG, Dwelling-led and Employment-led scenarios, birth counts are used from 2001/02 to 

2018/19. From 2019/20, an area-specific and age-specific fertility rate (ASFR) schedule is derived from 

the WG 2018-based National Population Projections (NPP). 

E.4 In combination with the ‘population-at-risk’ (i.e. all women between the ages of 15-49), these ASFR 

assumptions provide the basis for the calculation of births in each year of the forecast period. 

E.5 In each of the WG scenarios, the future counts of births are specified from 2018 onwards to ensure 

consistency with the respective population growth outcomes. 

Deaths & Mortality 

E.6 In each scenario, historical mid-year to mid-year counts of deaths by sex and 5-year age group have 

been sourced from the ONS MYEs. Under the WG scenarios, historical deaths counts have been used 

up to 2018. 

E.7 For the PG, Dwelling-led and Employment-led scenarios, death totals are used from 2001/02 to 

2018/19. From 2019/20, an area-specific and age-specific mortality rate (ASMR) schedule is derived 

from the latest WG 2018-based NPP. 

E.8 In each of the WG scenarios, the future counts of deaths are specified from 2018 onwards to ensure 

consistency with the respective population growth outcomes. 

Internal Migration 

E.9 In each scenario, historical mid-year to mid-year estimates of internal in- and out-migration by five-

year age group and sex have been sourced from the ‘components of change’ data that underpin the 

ONS MYE statistics. 

E.10 In the WG scenarios, these historical estimates are used up to 2018, with future counts of migrants 

specified to remain consistent with the corresponding projection. 

Page 281



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 29 

 

November 2020   

E.11 Under the PG Long Term and PG Long Term Adj scenarios, an area and age-specific migration rate 

(ASMigR) schedule is derived from the full 18 year history of internal migration data (2001/02–

2018/19), which then determines the future number of internal in- and out-migrants for the 

remainder of the plan period. 

E.12 Included in the PG Long Term Adj scenarios is an uplift to the internal in-migration schedule of rates, 

based on the last 2-years (PG Long Term Adj (2yr)) or the last 5-years (PG Long Term Adj (5yr)) of 

migration flows from Bristol and South Gloucestershire to Monmouthshire. The following steps 

summarise the method:  

• Step 1: Calculate the historical 2-year (2017/18–2018/19) or historical 5-year 

(2014/15–2018/19) average migration flow from the combined Bristol & South 

Gloucestershire area to Monmouthshire. 

• Step 2: Calculate the schedule of migration rates by single-year of age and sex based 

on a long-term migration history (2001/02–2018/19) but including the ‘uplift’ 

estimated in Step 1. This results in a higher migration schedule for Monmouthshire.  

• Step 3: Apply the ‘adjusted’ schedule of migration rates to the respective PG Long 

Term Adj scenario to calculate future internal in-migration flows to Monmouthshire. 

Out-migration counts are consistent with the PG Long Term scenario. 

E.13 Under the Dwelling-led and Employment-led scenarios, future internal migration assumptions have 

been derived from the full eighteen-year historical period (PG Long Term), with migration altered to 

meet annual dwelling or employment growth requirements. 

International Migration 

E.14 Historical mid-year to mid-year counts of immigration and emigration by five-year age groups and sex 

have been sourced from the ‘components of population change’ data that underpin the ONS MYEs. 

E.15 In the WG scenarios, these counts are used up to 2018, with future counts of migrants specified 

directly from the projection statistics. 

E.16 In the PG Long Term and PG Long Term Adj scenarios, historical counts of immigration are used from 

2001/02 to 2018/19. From 2019/20 onwards, an ASMigR schedule of rates is derived from an 18-year 

international migration history respectively, and used to distribute future counts by single year of age 

and sex.  

E.17 For the Dwelling-led and Employment-led scenarios, future international migration assumptions are 

derived from the full eighteen-year historical period (PG Long Term). 

Households & Dwellings 

E.18 A household is defined as, “one person living alone, or a group of people (not necessarily related) living 

at the same address who share cooking facilities and share a living room or sitting room or dining 

area”.  A dwelling is defined as a unit of accommodation which can either be occupied by one 

household or vacant.  

Page 282



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 30 

 

November 2020   

E.19 Apart from the Dwelling-led scenarios, the household and dwelling implications of each population 

growth trajectory have been estimated through the application of household membership rates, 

communal population statistics and a dwelling vacancy rate. These assumptions have been sourced 

from the 2011 Census and the WG’s 2018-based household projection model.   

E.20 In the Dwelling-led scenarios, these assumptions are used to determine the level of population growth 

required by the defined dwelling growth trajectory. 

Membership Rates 

E.21 The membership rates are used to calculate the proportion of the household population in each 

household category by age group and sex (Table 8), taken from the WG household model. The 

household population is converted into households using average household size assumptions, taken 

from the household model. 

Table 8: WG Household Categories (Source: WG) 

 
 

E.22 For each trend and Dwelling-led scenario, a membership rate sensitivity has been applied. Under the 

membership rate sensitivity (MR), an adjustment is applied to the household membership rates of the 

young adult age-groups (19–24, 25–29, 30–34). For these age-groups, the household membership 

rates ‘return’ to their 2001 values between 2018–2033. 

Communal Population Statistics 

E.23 Household projections in POPGROUP exclude the population ‘not-in-households’ (i.e. the 

communal/institutional population). These data are drawn from the WG household projection. 

Examples of communal establishments include prisons, residential care homes and student halls of 

residence. 

E.24 For ages 0-74, the number of people in each age group ‘not-in-households’ is fixed throughout the 

forecast period. For ages 75-85+, the population not-in-households varies across the forecast period 

depending on the size of the population. 

Household Category

1 person

2 person (No children)

2 person (1 adult, 1 child)

3 person (No children)

3 person (2 adults, 1 child)

3 person (1 adult, 2 children)

4 person (No children)

4 person (2+ adults, 1+ children)

4 person (1 adult, 3 children)

5+ person (No children)

5+ person (2+ adults, 1+ children)

5+ person (1 adult, 4+ children)

Page 283



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 31 

 

November 2020   

Vacancy Rate 

E.25 The relationship between households and dwellings is modelled using a ‘vacancy rate’, derived from 

the 2011 Census using statistics on households (occupied household spaces) and dwellings (shared 

and unshared).  A vacancy rate of 4.5% for Monmouthshire has been applied and fixed throughout the 

forecast period. Using the vacancy rate, the ‘dwelling requirement’ of each household growth 

trajectory has been evaluated. 

Labour Force & Jobs 

E.26 The labour force and jobs implications of each population growth trajectory have been estimated 

through the application of three key economic assumptions: economic activity rates, commuting ratio 

and an unemployment rate. 

Economic Activity Rates 

E.27 Economic activity rates are the proportion of the population that are actively involved in the labour 

force, either employed or unemployed and looking for work. Economic activity rates by five-year age 

group (ages 16-89) and sex for Monmouthshire have been derived from Census statistics, with 

adjustments made in line with the Office for Budget Responsibility’s (OBR) analysis of labour market 

trends in its 2018 Fiscal Sustainability Report7 (Figure 25).  

 
Figure 25: Economic Activity Rates for Monmouthshire, 2018-2033 

Commuting Ratio 

E.28 The commuting ratio indicates the balance between the level of employment and the number of 

resident workers. A commuting ratio greater than 1.00 indicates that the size of the resident 

workforce exceeds the level of employment available in the area, resulting in a net out-commute. A 

commuting ratio less than 1.00 indicates that employment in the area exceeds the size of the labour 

 
7 OBR, Fiscal sustainability report – July 2018  

Ec
o

n
o

m
ic

A
ct

iv
it

y 
R

a
te

Age
Group

Economic Activity Rates: 2018 & 2033

Monmouthshire UA

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

1
6

-1
9

2
0

-2
4

2
5

-2
9

3
0

-3
4

3
5

-3
9

4
0

-4
4

4
5

-4
9

5
0

-5
4

5
5

-5
9

6
0

-6
4

6
5

-6
9

7
0

-7
4

7
5

-8
9

Females

Females (2018) Females (2033)

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

1
6

-1
9

2
0

-2
4

2
5

-2
9

3
0

-3
4

3
5

-3
9

4
0

-4
4

4
5

-4
9

5
0

-5
4

5
5

-5
9

6
0

-6
4

6
5

-6
9

7
0

-7
4

7
5

-8
9

Males

Males (2018) Males (2033)

Page 284

https://obr.uk/fsr/fiscal-sustainability-report-july-2018/


Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 32 

 

November 2020   

force, resulting in a net in-commute. The 2011 Census recorded 43,210 resident workers and 38,458 

jobs in Monmouthshire. This results in a commuting ratio of 1.12, which is applied in the trend and 

Dwelling-led scenarios, fixed throughout the forecast period.  

E.29 A commuting ratio sensitivity has also been applied to the trend, Dwelling-led and Employment-led 

scenarios (CR_R). Under each scenario, the commuting ratio reduces from its 2011 Census value (1.12) 

to 1.10 by the end of the plan period.  

Unemployment 

E.30 The unemployment rate is the proportion of unemployed people within the total economically active 

population. Historical unemployment rates are sourced from ONS model-based estimates. For 

Monmouthshire the 2019 rate of 2.9% has been applied in the trend, Dwelling-led and Employment-

led scenarios, fixed throughout the forecast period.  

Employment-led Scenarios 

5.13 The Employment-led scenarios model the demographic impact of a pre-determined level of annual 

employment growth, measured as work-place based employment. Workplace-based employment is 

a ‘people-based’ measure, rather than a jobs measure of economic activity. The two measures are 

directly related, but the jobs-based measure is typically reported in employment forecasts, including 

both full-time and part-time positions. The workplace-based employment figure measures the 

number of people employed, linking directly to people-based measures of unemployment, commuting 

and economic activity. 

E.31 The Employment-led scenarios (Employment-led Baseline, Employment-led UK Growth Rate, 

Employment-led RSC (Higher), and Employment-led RSC (Lower)) model the demographic impact of 

the annual workplace based employment growth outlined in the respective employment forecasts. 

Under each of the Employment-led scenarios, historical mid-year population estimates are used up 

to 2018/19 with the annual change in employment applied from 2019/20 onward, as illustrated in 

Figure 26.  

 
(Source: Oxford Economics, 2018. Economies of the Future Report, 2018) 

Figure 26: Annual Change in Employment, 2019/20–2032/33 

-200

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

2
0

1
9

/2
0

2
0

2
0

/2
1

2
0

2
1

/2
2

2
0

2
2

/2
3

2
0

2
3

/2
4

2
0

2
4

/2
5

2
0

2
5

/2
6

2
0

2
6

/2
7

2
0

2
7

/2
8

2
0

2
8

/2
9

2
0

2
9

/3
0

2
0

3
0

/3
1

2
0

3
1

/3
2

2
0

3
2

/3
3

A
n

n
u

al
 E

m
p

lo
ym

en
t 

C
h

an
ge

Employment Forecasts 2019/20–2032/33

Oxford Economics Baseline (2018) UK Growth Rate

Radical Structural Change (Lower) Radical Structural Change (Higher)

Page 285



Monmouthshire – RLDP Demographics 33 

 

November 2020   

E.32 In running the Employment-led scenarios, economic activity rates and unemployment assumptions 

are consistent with the trend and Dwelling-led scenarios. A commuting ratio adjustment has been 

applied to all Employment-led scenarios, reducing from its 2011 Census value (1.12) to the 2001 

Census value (1.10) over the plan period. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 286



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Edge Analytics Ltd 

Nexus | Discovery Way | University of Leeds | Leeds | LS2 3AA 

www.edgeanalytics.co.uk  

 

Page 287



 

 

  

Nexus | Discovery Way | University of Leeds | Leeds | LS2 3AA 
0113 819 5087 | www.edgeanalytics.co.uk 

Monmouthshire 
Affordable Housing Evidence 

November 2020 

Page 288

http://www.edgeanalytics.co.uk/
Edge.J_4
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX 2



Monmouthshire – Affordable Housing Evidence i 

 

November 2020   

Acknowledgements 

Demographic statistics used in this report have been derived from data from the Office for National 

Statistics licensed under the Open Government Licence v.3.0. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The authors of this report do not accept liability for any costs or consequential loss involved following the use of 
the data and analysis referred to here; this is entirely the responsibility of the users of the information 
presented in this report. 

Page 289



Monmouthshire – Affordable Housing Evidence ii 

 

November 2020   

Contents 

 
Acknowledgements .................................................................................................................................. i 

Contents .................................................................................................................................................. ii 

1 Context ............................................................................................................................................. 1 

Context ............................................................................................................................................. 1 

Approach .......................................................................................................................................... 1 

2 Scenario Definition .......................................................................................................................... 2 

3 Demographic Outcomes .................................................................................................................. 4 

Population, Households and Migration ........................................................................................... 4 

Linking Population and Employment ............................................................................................... 6 

4 Household Growth ........................................................................................................................... 7 

5 Summary .......................................................................................................................................... 8 

 

 

 

Page 290



Monmouthshire – Affordable Housing Evidence  1 

 

November 2020   

1 Context 

Context 

1.1 This Addendum Report extends Monmouthshire’s demographic evidence and should be read in 

conjunction with the main RLDP Demographic Evidence report, produced for Monmouthshire County 

Council in November 2020. 

1.2 The Council are seeking additional evidence on the impact of policy-driven affordable housing 

provision, based upon the projected dwelling requirements of the Council’s chosen scenario options.  

1.3 The Council’s chosen scenario options, presented in the previous analysis, are as follows: 

• Net Nil (MR, CR_R) 

• WG-2018 (Principal) 

• WG-2018 (Principal) (MR, CR_R) 

• Dwelling-led (5yr) 

• PG Long Term Adj 5yr (MR, CR_R) 

• Employment-led RSC (Higher) (CR_R) 

Approach 

1.4 POPGROUP technology has been used to configure a range of additional dwelling-led scenarios for 

Monmouthshire, considering a range of policy-led affordable housing options. 

1.5 Section 2 of this Addendum outlines the assumptions used in the configuration of the policy-led 

affordable housing scenarios. 

1.6 Section 3 illustrates the demographic and employment outcomes of the policy-led affordable housing 

scenario, accounting for ‘market’ housing only.  

1.7 Section 4 presents the household growth outcomes of the policy-led affordable housing scenarios that 

incorporate both the ‘market’ and ‘affordable’ housing elements. 

1.8 A summary of the evidence is provided in Section 5. 

Page 291



Monmouthshire – Affordable Housing Evidence  2 

 

November 2020   

2 Scenario Definition 

2.1 Twelve additional dwelling-led scenarios have been configured. The scenarios use the Council’s 

chosen scenario options as a starting point, applying a dwelling growth uplift to account for policy-led 

affordable housing provision (Table 1). 

2.2 Under each policy-led affordable housing scenario, the base year is consistent with the Council’s 

respective chosen scenario, presented in the previous analysis.  

2.3 All household and labour force assumptions are also consistent with the previous analysis, including 

sensitivities applied to household membership rates and the commuting ratio. These assumptions are 

detailed in the previous RLDP Demographic Evidence report.  

 

 

Table 1: Scenario Definition 

 

1. 
 

 

Dwelling-led -43 dpa 
(Net Nil (MR, CR_R)) 

 

Models the demographic and employment impact of an average 
dwelling growth of -43 dpa. Average dwelling growth is based on 
a total uplift of +396 dwellings to the projected dwelling growth 
under the Net Nil (MR, CR_R) scenario, reflecting 396 additional 
‘market’ homes over the plan period, from policy-led affordable 
housing provision. 
 

2. 
 

Dwelling-led -17 dpa 
(Net Nil (MR, CR_R)) 

Models the demographic and employment impact of an average 
dwelling growth of -17 dpa. Average dwelling growth is based on 
a total uplift of +792 dwellings to the projected dwelling growth 
under the Net Nil (MR, CR_R) scenario, reflecting 396 additional 
‘market’ homes and 396 additional ‘affordable’ homes over the 
plan period.  
 

3. Dwelling-led 226 dpa 
(WG-2018 (Principal)) 

Models the demographic and employment impact of an average 
dwelling growth of 226 dpa. Average dwelling growth is based on 
a total uplift of +533 dwellings to the projected dwelling growth 
under the WG-2018 (Principal) scenario, reflecting 533 additional 
‘market’ homes over the plan period.  
 

4. Dwelling-led 262 dpa 
(WG-2018 (Principal)) 

Models the demographic and employment impact of an average 
dwelling growth of 262 dpa. Average dwelling growth is based on 
a total uplift of +1,066 dwellings to the projected dwelling growth 
under the WG-2018 (Principal) scenario, reflecting 533 additional 
‘market’ homes and 533 additional ‘affordable’ homes over the 
plan period.  
 

Page 292



Monmouthshire – Affordable Housing Evidence  3 

 

November 2020   

 

5. 
 

Dwelling-led 280 dpa  
(WG-2018 (Principal) 
(MR, CR_R)) 

 

Models the demographic and employment impact of an average 
dwelling growth of 280 dpa. Average dwelling growth is based on 
a total uplift of +570 dwellings to the projected dwelling growth 
under the WG-2018 (Principal) (MR, CR_R) scenario, reflecting 
570 additional ‘market’ homes over the plan period.  
 

6. Dwelling-led 318 dpa 
(WG-2018 (Principal) 
(MR, CR_R)) 

Models the demographic and employment impact of an average 
dwelling growth of 318 dpa. Average dwelling growth is based on 
a total uplift of +1,140 dwellings to the projected dwelling growth 
under the WG-2018 (Principal) (MR, CR_R) scenario, reflecting 
570 additional ‘market’ homes and 570 additional ‘affordable’ 
homes over the plan period.  
 

7. Dwelling-led 362 dpa 
(Dwelling-led 5yr) 

Models the demographic and employment impact of an average 
dwelling growth of 362 dpa. Average dwelling growth is based on 
a total uplift of +601 dwellings to the projected dwelling growth 
under the Dwelling-led (5yr) scenario, reflecting 601 additional 
‘market’ homes over the plan period.  
 

8. Dwelling-led 402 dpa 
(Dwelling-led 5yr) 

Models the demographic and employment impact of an average 
dwelling growth of 402 dpa. Average dwelling growth is based on 
a total uplift of +1,202 dwellings to the projected dwelling growth 
under the Dwelling-led (5yr) scenario, reflecting 601 additional 
‘market’ homes and 601 additional ‘affordable’ homes over the 
plan period.  
 

9. Dwelling-led 460 dpa  
(PG Long Term Adj (5yr) 
(MR, CR_R)) 

Models the demographic and employment impact of an average 
dwelling growth of 460 dpa. Average dwelling growth is based on 
a total uplift of +702 dwellings to the projected dwelling growth 
under the PG Long Term Adj 5yr (MR, CR_R) scenario, reflecting 
702 additional ‘market’ homes over the plan period.  
 

10. Dwelling-led 507 dpa 
(PG Long Term Adj (5yr) 
(MR, CR_R)) 

Models the demographic and employment impact of an average 
dwelling growth of 507 dpa. Average dwelling growth is based on 
a total uplift of +1,404 dwellings to the projected dwelling growth 
under the PG Long Term Adj 5yr (MR, CR_R) scenario, reflecting 
702 additional ‘market’ homes and 702 additional ‘affordable’ 
homes over the plan period.  
 

11. Dwelling-led 542 dpa 
(Employment-led RSC 
(Higher) (CR_R)) 

Models the demographic and employment impact of an average 
dwelling growth of 542 dpa. Average dwelling growth is based on 
a total uplift of +933 dwellings to the projected dwelling growth 
under the Employment-led RSC (Higher) (CR_R) scenario, 
reflecting 933 additional ‘market’ homes over the plan period.  
 

12. Dwelling-led 604 dpa 
(Employment-led RSC 
(Higher) (CR_R)) 

Models the population impact of an average dwelling growth of 
604 dpa. Average dwelling growth is based on a total uplift of 
+1,866 dwellings to the projected dwelling growth under the 
Employment-led RSC (Higher) (CR_R) scenario, reflecting 933 
additional ‘market’ homes and 933 additional ‘affordable’ homes 
over the plan period.  
 

Page 293



Monmouthshire – Affordable Housing Evidence  4 

 

November 2020   

3 Demographic Outcomes 

Population, Households and Migration 

3.1 In this section, the demographic and employment growth outcomes are presented for the policy-led 

affordable housing scenarios that account for ‘market’ housing provision only.  

3.2 The 2001–2033 population growth trajectories for the scenarios are presented in Figure 1. In Table 2, 

each of the scenarios is summarised in terms of population and household growth outcomes for the 

2018–2033 RLDP period, alongside the average annual net migration outcomes. 

3.3 Over the plan period, the additional policy-led affordable housing provision results in greater average 

annual net migration and population growth than the Council’s chosen scenarios, with population 

growth ranging from -5.4% to 18.5% under the Dwelling-led -43 dpa (Net Nil (MR, CR_R)) and 

Dwelling-led 542 dpa (Employment-led RSC (Higher) (CR_R)) scenarios, respectively.  

3.4 The Dwelling-led 542 dpa (Employment-led RSC (Higher) (CR_R)) projects the highest population 

growth of all the policy-led affordable housing scenarios at 18.5%.  

3.5 The Dwelling-led 460 dpa (PG Long Term Adj (5yr) (MR, CR_R)) scenario, incorporating adjusted 

household membership rates, estimates population growth of 13.2%. 

3.6 Based on the Dwelling-led 5yr scenario, the Dwelling-led 362 dpa (Dwelling-led 5yr) scenario 

estimates population growth of 11.3% over the plan period, with average annual net migration of 

+1,110 people. 

3.7 The Dwelling-led 226 dpa (WG-2018 (Principal)) scenario estimates population growth of 6.4%. 

Accounting for higher rates of household formation in the young adult age-groups, the Dwelling-led 

280 dpa (WG-2018 (Principal) (MR, CR_R)) projects population growth of 6.5%. 

3.8 Based on the Net Nil (MR, CR_R) scenario, the Dwelling-led -43 dpa (Net Nil (MR, CR_R)) scenario 

projects population decline over the plan period, with decline of 5.4% estimated.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 294



Monmouthshire – Affordable Housing Evidence  5 

 

November 2020   

 

Monmouthshire Growth Outcomes 2018–2033 

Policy-led Affordable Housing Scenarios 
 

 
Figure 1: Monmouthshire Population Growth Scenarios, 2001–2033 

Table 2: Population, Household, Migration, and Dwelling growth under each scenario, 2018–2033 

 
 

 

 

80,000

85,000

90,000

95,000

100,000

105,000

110,000

115,000

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
1

2
0

2
3

2
0

2
5

2
0

2
7

2
0

2
9

2
0

3
1

2
0

3
3

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

Dwelling-led -43 dpa (Net Nil (MR, CR_R))

Dwelling-led 226 dpa (WG-2018 (Principal))

Dwelling-led 280 dpa (WG-2018 (Principal)
(MR, CR_R))

Dwelling-led 362 dpa (Dwelling-led 5yr)

Dwelling-led 460 dpa (PG Long Term Adj
(5yr) (MR, CR_R))

Dwelling-led 542 dpa (Employment-led RSC
(Higher) (CR_R))

Population 

Change

Population 

Change %

Households 

Change

Households 

Change %

Net

Migration
Dwellings

Dwelling-led 542 dpa

(Employment-led RSC (Higher) (CR_R))
17,403 18.5% 7,762 19.3% 1,524 542

Dwelling-led 460 dpa

(PG Long Term Adj (5yr) (MR, CR_R))
12,443 13.2% 6,585 16.4% 1,223 460

Dwelling-led 362 dpa

(Dwelling-led 5yr)
10,641 11.3% 5,054 12.6% 1,110 362

Dwelling-led 280 dpa

(WG-2018 (Principal) (MR, CR_R))
6,147 6.5% 4,007 10.0% 825 280

Dwelling-led 226 dpa

(WG-2018 (Principal))
6,047 6.4% 3,240 8.1% 818 226

Dwelling-led -43 dpa

(Net Nil (MR, CR_R))
-5,110 -5.4% -618 -1.5% 108 -43

Scenario

Change 2018–2033 Average per year

Page 295



Monmouthshire – Affordable Housing Evidence  6 

 

November 2020   

Linking Population and Employment 

3.9 The estimated impact of each policy-led affordable housing scenario upon employment growth in 

Monmouthshire, is presented for the plan period 2018–2033.  

3.10 Estimates of average annual employment growth have been calculated using a combination of 

economic activity rates, an unemployment rate and a commuting ratio for the UA. In each scenario, 

the labour force assumptions are consistent with those applied in the Council’s respective chosen 

scenario. 

3.11 Over the 2018–2033 plan period, the policy-led affordable housing scenarios result in a range of 

employment growth outcomes that varies from a decline of -120 per year under the Dwelling-led -43 

dpa (Net Nil (MR, CR_R)) scenario to average annual employment growth of +642 under the Dwelling-

led 542 dpa (Employment-led RSC (Higher) (CR_R)) scenario (Figure 2). 

 
Figure 2: Average Annual Employment Change, 2018–2033 

 

  

6
4

2

4
8

1

3
6

4

2
6

5

2
0

8

-1
2

0

-200

-100

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 5

4
2

 d
p

a
(E

m
p

lo
ym

e
n

t-
le

d
 R

SC
 (

H
ig

h
er

) 
(C

R
_

R
))

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 4

6
0

 d
p

a
(P

G
 L

o
n

g 
Te

rm
 A

d
j (

5
yr

) 
(M

R
, C

R
_R

))

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 3

6
2

 d
p

a
(D

w
el

lin
g-

le
d

 5
yr

)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 2

8
0

 d
p

a
(W

G
-2

0
1

8
 (

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

) 
(M

R
, C

R
_R

))

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 2

2
6

 d
p

a
(W

G
-2

0
1

8
 (

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

))

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 -

4
3

 d
p

a
(N

e
t 

N
il 

(M
R

, C
R

_
R

))

Em
p

lo
ym

en
t 

C
h

an
ge

Average Annual Employment Change 2018–2033

Page 296



Monmouthshire – Affordable Housing Evidence  7 

 

November 2020   

4 Household Growth 

4.1 Section 4 outlines the household growth, by household type, under the policy-led affordable housing 

scenarios that include both the ‘market’ and ‘affordable’ housing elements.  

4.2 Under each scenario, the change in households (by type) over the 2018–2033 plan period is presented 

in Table 3. Household growth is estimated under all policy-led affordable housing scenarios, with the 

exception of the Dwelling-led -17 dpa (Net Nil (MR, CR_R)). Under all scenarios, one and two-person 

(no children) households have been projected to increase the most in absolute terms. 

Table 3: Household Change by Household Type, 2018–2033 

 
 

 

D
w

e
lli

n
g-

le
d

 -
1

7
 d

p
a

(N
e

t 
N

il 
(M

R
, C

R
_

R
))

D
w

e
lli

n
g-

le
d

 2
6

2
 d

p
a

(W
G

-2
0

1
8

 (
P

ri
n

ci
p

al
))

D
w

e
lli

n
g-

le
d

 3
1

8
 d

p
a

(W
G

-2
0

1
8

 (
P

ri
n

ci
p

al
)

(M
R

, C
R

_
R

))

D
w

e
lli

n
g-

le
d

 4
0

2
 d

p
a

(D
w

e
lli

n
g-

le
d

 5
yr

)

D
w

e
lli

n
g-

le
d

 5
0

7
 d

p
a

(P
G

 L
o

n
g 

Te
rm

 A
d

j

(5
yr

) 
(M

R
, C

R
_

R
))

D
w

e
lli

n
g-

le
d

 6
0

4
 d

p
a

(E
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t-

le
d

 R
SC

 

(H
ig

h
e

r)
 (

C
R

_
R

))

1 person 1,074 1,680 2,372 2,145 3,104 2,914

2 person (No children) 248 1,372 1,718 1,928 2,537 2,845

2 person (1 adult, 1 child) -72 24 73 80 156 169

3 person (No children) -367 91 -30 241 159 454

3 person (2 adults, 1 child) -244 136 174 306 414 578

3 person (1 adult, 2 children) -24 90 70 131 124 198

4 person (No children) -89 132 33 192 101 272

4 person (2+ adults, 1+ children) -366 65 209 289 537 661

4 person (1 adult, 3 children) -10 42 24 57 44 84

5+ person (No children) -67 108 -41 133 -27 164

5+ person (2+ adults, 1+ children) -322 -17 -64 94 84 271

5+ person (1 adult, 4+ children) -1 25 13 32 21 44

Total -240 3,749 4,551 5,628 7,255 8,653

Household Change 2018–2033

Household Type

Page 297



Monmouthshire – Affordable Housing Evidence  8 

 

November 2020   

5 Summary 

5.1 POPGROUP technology has been used to configure a range of additional dwelling-led scenarios for 

Monmouthshire, which consider the impact of additional policy-driven affordable housing provision, 

based upon the projected dwelling requirements of the Council’s chosen scenario options. For each 

scenario, population, household, migration, dwelling and employment growth is presented over a 

2018–2033 plan period. 

5.2 Under each of the scenarios, household and labour force assumptions are consistent with the 

Council’s respective chosen scenario. 

5.3 Over the 2018–2033 plan period, the uplift in policy-led housing provision, incorporated in the 

scenarios, results in higher population growth outcomes than the Council’s chosen scenario options. 

Accounting for both ‘market’ and ‘affordable’ policy-led housing provision, population change of 

18.5% to -5.4% is estimated, with corresponding household growth of 21.6% to -1.5% (Figure 3). 

 
Figure 3: Scenario Summary, 2018–2033 

18.5%

13.2%
11.3%

6.5% 6.4%

-5.4%

-10.0%

-5.0%

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

-100

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 6

0
4

 d
p

a
(E

m
p

lo
ym

en
t-

le
d

 R
SC

 (
H

ig
h

er
) 

(C
R

_
R

))

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 5

0
7

 d
p

a
(P

G
 L

o
n

g 
Te

rm
 A

d
j (

5
yr

) 
(M

R
, C

R
_

R
))

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 4

0
2

 d
p

a
(D

w
e

lli
n

g-
le

d
 5

yr
)

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 3

1
8

 d
p

a
(W

G
-2

0
1

8
 (

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

) 
(M

R
, C

R
_R

))

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 2

6
2

 d
p

a
(W

G
-2

0
1

8
 (

P
ri

n
ci

p
al

))

D
w

el
lin

g-
le

d
 -

1
7

 d
p

a
(N

e
t 

N
il 

(M
R

, C
R

_
R

))

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 C
h

an
ge

A
ve

ra
ge

 A
n

n
u

al
 D

w
el

lin
g 

G
ro

w
th

Scenario Summary 2018–2033

Page 298



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Edge Analytics Ltd 

Nexus | Discovery Way | University of Leeds | Leeds | LS2 3AA 

www.edgeanalytics.co.uk  

 

 

 

Page 299



APPENDIX 3 – Replacement LDP Objectives  

A Review of the Issues, Vision and Objectives was undertaken in June 2020 and incorporated 

into the RLDP Review of IVO and Evidence Base (September 2020)1 which concluded the Plan’s 

Issues, Vision and Objectives remain relevant in light of Covid‐19 and that it is appropriate to 

continue with  the  preparation  of  the  RLDP  on  the  basis  of  these  values.  However,  some 

objectives were concluded to have increased emphasis and importance in light of Covid‐19, 

consistent  with  the  priorities  identified  in  the Welsh  Government  Building  Better  Places 

document published in July 2020. These objectives are denoted with an * in the table below 

for clarity. Please refer to the RLDP Review of IVO and Evidence Base for further details of 

how the current pandemic has impacted on the RLDP objectives.  

LDP 
Objective 
Number  

Headline  LDP Objective 

*Denotes those RLDP objectives that are considered to have increased emphasis and importance 
in light of Covid‐19  
A Prosperous Wales (Well‐being Goal 1)  

Objective 1  Economic 
Growth/ 
Employment* 

To  support  a  thriving,  well‐connected,  diverse  economy, 
which  provides  a  range  of  good  quality  employment 
opportunities  to  enable  and  encourage  indigenous 
business  growth  and  attract  inward  investment  and 
competitive  innovative  businesses  in  appropriate  growth 
sectors,  including  through  the  provision  of  start‐ups  and 
grow on spaces.  

Objective 2  Retail centres*  To sustain and enhance the County towns of Abergavenny, 
Chepstow,  Monmouth,  Caldicot  and  Usk  as  vibrant  and 
attractive retail centres serving their own populations and 
those  of  their  surrounding  hinterlands,  along  with 
increasing  the  potential  customer  base  through  future 
growth whilst recognising that the role of these centres is 
evolving.  

A Resilient Wales (Well‐being Goal 2)  

Objective 3  Green 
Infrastructure, 
Biodiversity 
and 
Landscape* 

To protect, enhance and manage Monmouthshire’s natural 
environment  and  ecosystems.  This  includes,  the  Wye 
Valley Area  of Outstanding Natural  Beauty,  the  County’s 
other  high  quality  and  distinctive  landscapes,  protected 
sites,  protected  species  and  other  biodiversity  interests, 
along with the connectivity between them by creating new 
linkages  for  them  to  adapt  while  at  the  same  time 
maximising benefits for the economy, tourism, health and 
well‐being.  

Objective 4  Flood risk  To ensure that new development takes account of the risk 
of flooding, both existing and  in the future,  including the 
need to avoid inappropriate development in areas that are 

                                                            
1 https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning‐policy/development‐of‐an‐evidence‐base/ 

Page 300



LDP 
Objective 
Number  

Headline  LDP Objective 

at  risk  from  flooding  or  that  may  increase  the  risk  of 
flooding elsewhere and the need to design development to 
appropriately manage surface water run‐off.  

Objective 5  Minerals  and 
Waste  

To  meet  the  County’s  regional  and  local  obligations  to 
manage  and  dispose  of  its  waste  and  to  safeguard  and 
exploit its mineral resource in a sustainable fashion.  

Objective 6  Land  To promote the efficient use of land, including the need to: 
•  maximise  opportunities  for  development  on 
previously  developed  land,  whilst  recognising  that 
brownfield opportunities are limited in Monmouthshire.  
•  protect  the  best  and  most  versatile  (BMV) 
agricultural land whilst at the same time recognising that 
this will  not  always  be possible  given high proportion  of 
BMV land in the County and the limited opportunities for 
brownfield development. 

Objective 7  Natural 
resources 

To promote the efficient use of natural resources including 
providing  increased  opportunities  for  water  efficiency, 
energy efficiency, renewable energy, recycling and waste 
reduction.   

A Healthier Wales (Well‐being Goal 3) 

Objective 8  Health  and 
Well‐being* 

To improve access for all ages to recreation, sport, leisure 
activities, open space and  the countryside and  to enable 
healthier lifestyles.  

A More Equal Wales (Well‐being Goal 4) 

Objective 9  Demography*  To  increase  opportunities  for  the  younger  population  to 
both  live  and  work  within  Monmouthshire  to  assist  in 
ensuring a balanced demography.  

A Wales of Cohesive Communities (Well‐being Goal 5) 

Objective 
10 

Housing*  To provide a level of housing that is sufficient to provide a 
wide ranging choice of homes both for existing and future 
residents, while ensuring that local needs for appropriate, 
affordable  and  accessible  housing  are  met  as  far  as 
possible,  particularly  in  towns  but  also  in  rural  areas,  so 
long  as  such  housing  can  assist  in  building  sustainable 
balanced communities.  

Objective 
11 

Place‐making  To  promote  good  quality  sustainable  design  and  layouts 
that  enhance  the  character  and  identity  of 
Monmouthshire’s  settlements  and  countryside;  create 
attractive, safe and accessible places to live, work and visit; 
and  promote  people’s  prosperity,  health,  happiness  and 
well‐being.  

Objective 
12 

Communities  To build  sustainable  resilient  communities where people 
have good access  to employment,  shops, housing, public 

Page 301



LDP 
Objective 
Number  

Headline  LDP Objective 

transport,  active  travel,  healthcare,  community  and 
cultural facilities.   
 

Objective 
13 

Rural 
Communities 

To sustain existing rural communities as far as possible by 
providing  development  opportunities  of  an  appropriate 
scale and location in rural areas in order to assist in building 
sustainable rural communities and strengthening the rural 
economy.  
 

Objective 
14 

Infrastructure*  To  ensure  that  appropriate  physical  and  digital 
infrastructure  (including  community  and  recreational 
facilities, sewerage, water, transport, schools, health care 
and  broadband  etc.)  is  in  place  or  can  be  provided  to 
accommodate new development.  
 

Objective 
15 

Accessibility  To seek to reduce the need to travel by promoting a mix of 
land  use  allocations  and  improved  internet  connectivity, 
and where travel is required, to provide opportunities for 
active travel and integrated sustainable transport. 
 

A Wales of Vibrant Culture & Thriving Welsh Language (Well‐being Goal 6) 

Objective 
16 

Culture, 
Heritage  and 
Welsh 
Language 

To protect and enhance the built environment, culture and 
heritage  of  Monmouthshire  for  the  future  while 
maximising benefits  for  the economy,  tourism and social 
well‐being,  including  supporting  and  safeguarding  the 
Welsh Language. 

A Globally Responsible Wales (Well‐being Goal 7) 

Objective 
17 

Climate 
Change* 

To  strive  to  limit  the  increase  in  global  temperatures  to 
1.5oC,  supporting  carbon  reduction  through  a  variety  of 
measures  including  the  use  of  renewable  energy,  the 
design  and  location  of  new  development,  encouraging 
balanced  job  and  population  growth  to  reduce  out‐
commuting,  the  provision  of  broadband  connectivity  to 
reduce  the  need  to  travel,  the  provision  of  ultra‐low 
emission  vehicle  charging  infrastructure  to  reduce 
emissions  and  improve  air  quality,  and  the  provision  of 
quality Green Infrastructure.  

 

 

Page 302



APPENDIX 4 – Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) Objectives  

 

ISA theme  ISA objective 

Economy and 
Employment 

To promote economic growth and maximise the economic contribution 
of the area to the Cardiff City Region, strengthening and diversifying 
the economy, promoting tourism, enhancing the vitality and viability of 
town centres and increasing prosperity for all. 

To increase levels of local employment and ensure distribution of 
opportunities, whilst improving educational attainment and increasing 
skill levels 

Population and 
Communities 

To provide a sufficient quantity of good quality market and affordable 
homes in sustainable locations to meet identified needs. 

To enhance design quality to create great places for people. 

Health and well‐
being 

To improve the health and well‐being of the population including 
physical and mental health, social well‐being and community safety. 

Equalities, 
diversity and 
social inclusion 

To reduce poverty and inequality; tackle social exclusion and promote 
community cohesion. 

Transport and 
Movement 

To improve access for all to the jobs, services and facilities they need 
whilst supporting a reduction in the use of private transport by 
promoting active travel and encouraging modal shift to sustainable 
transport, and improving access to high quality digital communications 
and utilities. 

Natural Resources 
(Air, Land, 
Minerals and 
Water) 

To identify and pursue any opportunities to reduce, or at least, 
minimise population exposure to air pollution. 

To make the best use of previously developed land and existing 
buildings to minimise pressure for greenfield development and 
protecting where possible higher grade agricultural land. 

To promote the circular economy by reducing waste generation and 
maximising reuse and recycling, ensuring the use of natural resources 
and the provision of an adequate supply of minerals. 

To conserve, protect and enhance the water environment, water 
quality and water resources. 

Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity 

To conserve, protect and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity 
interests within and surrounding Monmouthshire.  

Historic 
Environment 

To conserve and enhance the significance of the County’s historic 
environment, cultural assets (including the use of the Welsh language) 
and heritage assets and their settings.  

Landscape  To protect and enhance the quality and character of the landscape. 

Page 303



ISA theme  ISA objective 

Climate Change  

 

To mitigate and adapt to the effects of climate change through 
increasing energy efficiency and generation and use of low carbon and 
renewable energy sources. 

Flood Risk  To reduce and manage the risk of flooding. 

 

Page 304



APPENDIX 5 ‐ Long list of Growth Scenarios 

Scenario  Description  Initial Assessment  Take 
Forward 

Scenario 1 
(version 1) 

WG  2018‐based  (Principal):  this 
Replicates  the  WG  2018‐based 
Principal  population  projection, 
using historical population evidence 
for 2001‐2018. 

This scenario is included within the options for further consideration in 
response  to Welsh Government guidance which  recommends  that  the 
latest  local  authority  population  and  household  projections  should  be 
used as a fundamental part of the evidence base for development plans. 
This includes the principal projection. However, LPAs retain the ability to 
alter some assumptions within the standardised modelling. This could be 
a result of  localised factors which better reflect specific circumstances. 
Additional  testing  of  the  scenario  has,  therefore,  been  undertaken  to 
establish  the  impact  on  demography,  dwellings,  household  type  and 
employment of an affordable‐housing policy‐led strategy which aims to 
meet 10% of  the LHMA need arising  from this option on housing sites 
which deliver 50% affordable housing.  This scenario with the benefit of 
the  additional  testing  has  been  selected  as  an  option  for  consultation 
purposes.   

Yes  – 
Option 2 
in  main 
report 

Scenario 1 
(version 2) 

WG  2018‐based  (Principal):  this 
Replicates  the  WG  2018‐based 
Principal  population  projection, 
using historical population evidence 
for 2001‐2018. 

As stated above LPAs retain the ability to alter some assumptions within 
the  standardised  modelling  to  reflect  localised  factors  that  the  Plan 
wishes to address. Sensitivity testing has been applied to the output from 
this  scenario  to  establish  the  impact  on  the  projection  of  modelling 
adjustments to the household membership rates for three key younger 
age groups (19‐24, 25‐29, 30‐34), whilst at the same time reducing out‐
commuting  by  retaining  more  of  the  resident  workforce.  Additional 
testing of the scenario has then been undertaken to establish the impact 
on  demography,  dwellings,  household  type  and  employment  of  an 
affordable‐housing policy‐led  strategy which  aims  to meet  10% of  the 
LHMA need arising from this option on housing sites which deliver 50% 
affordable housing.  This scenario with the benefit of the sensitivity and 

Yes  – 
Option 3 
in  main 
report 

P
age 305



Scenario  Description  Initial Assessment  Take 
Forward 

additional  testing  has  been  selected  as  an  option  for  consultation 
purposes.   

Scenario 2 WG  2018‐based  (High):  replicates 
the  WG  2018‐based  ‘High’ 
population  projection,  using 
historical  population  evidence  for 
2001‐2018. 

Welsh Government guidance states that in terms of considering the level 
of  housing  provision  for  a  plan,  the  most  up‐to‐  date  suite  of  Welsh 
Government population and household projections  are  a  fundamental 
part of  the evidence base. This  includes both the principal and variant 
projections. As these variant projections are based on alternative future 
scenarios of fertility, mortality and migration compared with the principal 
projection  they  are  a  useful  indication  of  the  impact  on  growth  of 
changes  to  fertility  and  life  expectancy.  The  ‘high  population’  variant 
(based  on  high  fertility,  life  expectancy  and  migration  assumptions), 
provides an indication of uncertainty, but does not represent an upper 
limit of future demographic behaviour. Whilst this scenario based on a 
variant projection is included within the modelling it is not intended to 
take it forward for consultation. 

No 

Scenario 3 WG 2018‐based (Low): replicates the 
WG  2018‐based  ‘Low’  population 
projection,  using  historical 
population evidence for 2001‐2018. 

Welsh Government guidance states that in terms of considering the level 
of  housing  provision  for  a  plan,  the  most  up‐to‐  date  suite  of  Welsh 
Government population and household projections  are  a  fundamental 
part of  the evidence base. This  includes both the principal and variant 
projections. As these variant projections are based on alternative future 
scenarios of fertility, mortality and migration compared with the principal 
projection  they  are  a  useful  indication  of  the  impact  on  growth  of 
changes  to  fertility  and  life  expectancy.  The  ‘low  population’  variant 
(based  on  low  fertility,  life  expectancy  and  migration  assumptions), 
provides  an  indication  of  uncertainty,  but  does  not  represent  a  lower 
limit of future demographic behaviour. Whilst this scenario based on a 
variant projection is included within the modelling it is not intended to 
take it forward for consultation. 

No 

P
age 306



Scenario  Description  Initial Assessment  Take 
Forward 

Scenario 4  PG  Long  Term:  Uses  an  ONS  2019 
MYE  base  year,  with  area  specific 
fertility  and  mortality  assumptions 
derived  from  the  WG  2018‐based 
Principal  projection.  Migration 
assumptions are derived from an 18 
year  historical  period  (2001/02‐
2018/19). 

Represents what would happen over the plan period if migration flows 
remain the same as over the past 18 years. This scenario uses the same 
assumptions  as  Scenarios  5  and  6  but  without  the  benefit  of  the 
additional  assumptions  to  model  the  impact  going  forward  of  the 
removal of the Severn Bridge toll. As this has been shown to have had an 
impact on migration it is felt that it is important to model this. This option 
has not been selected as an option for consultation purposes.    
 

No 

Scenario 5  PG Long Term Adjusted  (5yr):   Uses 
an  ONS  2019  MYE  base  year,  with 
area‐specific  fertility  and  mortality 
assumptions  derived  from  the  WG 
2018‐based  Principal  projection. 
Internal  in‐migration  rates  are 
adjusted  to  reflect  higher  in‐
migration (based on the last 5‐years) 
from  Bristol  and  South 
Gloucestershire,  following  the 
removal of the Severn Bridge toll. All 
other migration flows are consistent 
with the PG Long Term scenario. 

This scenario is based on the same base assumptions as scenario 4 but 
takes account of the increase in in‐migration associated with the removal 
of the Severn Bridge Tolls. Migration levels are therefore based on an 18 
year period for all groups with the exception of in‐migration from Bristol 
and  South Gloucestershire over  the past  5  years.  By extrapolating  the 
recent migration  levels  for  these  two groups over  the Plan period  this 
gives an indication of likely trends going forward. As this scenario takes 
account of a longer period than that since the tolls were removed, it is 
more robust than Scenario 6 as it is expected that migration levels would 
not continue at  the higher  level seen over  the past 2 years. Sensitivity 
testing has been applied to the output from this scenario to establish the 
impact  on  the  projection  of  modelling  adjustments  to  the  household 
membership rates for three key younger age groups (19‐24, 25‐29, 30‐
34), whilst at the same time reducing out‐commuting by retaining more 
of  the  resident workforce.  Additional  testing  of  the  scenario  has  then 
been  undertaken  to  establish  the  impact  on  demography,  dwellings, 
household  type  and  employment  of  an  affordable‐housing  policy‐led 
strategy which  aims  to meet 10% of  the  LHMA need arising  from  this 
option  on  housing  sites  which  deliver  50%  affordable  housing.    This 

Yes  – 
Option 5 
in  main 
report P

age 307



Scenario  Description  Initial Assessment  Take 
Forward 

scenario  with  the  benefit  of  the  sensitivity  and  additional  testing  has 
been selected as an option for consultation purposes.   

Scenario 6  PG Long Term Adj (2yr) ‐ Uses an ONS 
2019  MYE  base  year,  with  area‐
specific  fertility  and  mortality 
assumptions  derived  from  the  WG 
2018‐based  Principal  projection. 
Internal  in‐migration  rates  are 
adjusted  to  reflect  higher  in‐
migration (based on the last 2‐years) 
from  Bristol  and  South 
Gloucestershire,  following  the 
removal of the Severn Bridge toll. All 
other migration flows are consistent 
with the PG Long Term scenario. 

This scenario is based on the same base assumptions as scenario 4 but 
takes account of the increase in in‐migration associated with the removal 
of the Severn Bridge Tolls. Migration levels are therefore based on an 18 
year period for all groups with the exception of in‐migration from Bristol 
and  South Gloucestershire over  the past  2  years.  By extrapolating  the 
recent migration  levels  for  these  two groups over  the Plan period  this 
gives  an  indication  of  likely  trends  going  forward.  However,  as  this 
scenario is based on a short time frame it is felt that Scenario 5 is more 
robust for establishing trends going forward. This scenario has not been 
selected as an option for consultation purposes. 

No 

Scenario 7 Net  Nil  –  Uses  an  ONS  2019  MYE, 
with  area‐specific  fertility  and 
mortality assumptions derived  from 
the  WG  2018‐based  Principal 
projection.  Internal  and 
international  migration  flows  are 
balanced between in‐ and out‐flows, 
resulting in zero net migration. 

This scenario provides a baseline of what would happen if there was to 
be  no  net  migration  into  Monmouthshire,  with  all  growth  reliant  on 
natural  change  i.e.  the balance between births  and deaths.  Sensitivity 
testing has been applied to the output from this scenario to establish the 
impact  on  the  projection  of  modelling  adjustments  to  the  household 
membership rates for three key younger age groups (19‐24, 25‐29, 30‐
34), whilst at the same time reducing out‐commuting by retaining more 
of the resident workforce.  
Additional testing of the scenario has been undertaken to establish the 
impact on demography, dwellings, household type and employment of 
an affordable‐housing policy‐led strategy which aims to meet 10% of the 
LHMA need arising from this option on housing sites which deliver 50% 
affordable  housing.  The  addition  of  the  affordable  housing  element 

Yes  – 
Option 1 
in  main 
report 

P
age 308



Scenario  Description  Initial Assessment  Take 
Forward 

results in a low level of net migration. This scenario with the benefit of 
the  sensitivity  and  additional  testing  is  to  be  taken  forward  for 
consultation. 

Scenario 8   Dwelling‐led  (5yr  Average):  Annual 
dwelling  growth  is  applied  from 
2020/21  onward,  based  on  the  last 
five years of completions (2015/16–
2019/20). An annual dwelling growth 
of +310 is applied. 

This scenario is based on dwelling completions from the past 5 years, as 
such it takes account of the recent completion rate as sites allocated in 
the Adopted LDP have come forward. At the same time as it is the same 
time  period  as  Scenario  5  it  will  also  take  account  of  any  impacts  on 
dwelling  delivery  of  the  removal  of  the  Severn  Bridge  Toll.  Additional 
testing of the scenario has been undertaken to establish the impact on 
demography,  dwellings,  household  type  and  employment  of  an 
affordable‐housing policy‐led  strategy which  aims  to meet  10% of  the 
LHMA need arising from this option on housing sites which deliver 50% 
affordable  housing.    This  scenario  with  the  benefit  of  the  additional 
testing has been selected as an option for consultation purposes.   

Yes  – 
Option 4 
in  main 
report 

Scenario 9  Dwelling‐led (10yr Average): Annual 
dwelling  growth  is  applied  from 
2020/21  onward,  based  on  the  last 
ten years of completions  (2010/11–
2019/20).  An  average  annual 
dwelling  growth  of  +285  pa  is 
applied. 

This scenario is based on dwelling completions from the past 10 years. 
As such completions are based on a period prior to the adoption of the 
LDP. Dwelling growth under the previous Plan, the Unitary Development 
Plan, was planned  to be at a much  lower  level and as  such would not 
address  the  issues  and  objectives  that  the  RLDP  needs  to  address.  A 
continuation of this trend would not achieve the Plan’s vision of creating 
sustainable  and  resilient  communities.  This  scenario  has  not  been 
selected as an option for consultation purposes.  

No 

Scenario 10  Dwelling‐led (15yr Average): Annual 
dwelling  growth  is  applied  from 
2020/21  onward,  based  on  the  last 
fifteen  years  of  completions 
(2005/06–2019/20).  An  average 

This  scenario  represents  what  would  happen  over  the  plan  period  if 
dwelling  delivery  remains  the  same  as  over  the  past  15  years,  i.e. 
‘business as usual’. A continuation of this trend would not address the 
issues and objectives that the RLDP needs to address. A continuation of 
this trend would not achieve the Plan’s vision of creating sustainable and 

No 

P
age 309



Scenario  Description  Initial Assessment  Take 
Forward 

annual dwelling growth of +269 pa is 
applied. 

resilient communities. This scenario has not been selected as an option 
for consultation purposes. 

Scenario 11  Baseline (CR reducing): Commuting ratio 
reduces  from 2011 Census value (1.12) 
to  2001  Census  value  (1.10)  over  the 
plan  period.  Economic  activity  rate 
adjustments  in  line  with  the  OBR 
forecast,  unemployment  rate  remains 
fixed at current value (2.9%). 

The baseline is an employment‐led scenario which sets economic growth 
on a low trajectory in the County, this would not support the Council’s 
economic  aspirations  or meet  key  RLDP  objectives with  regard  to  the 
economy and demography. It is deemed unrealistic to assume that there 
would  be  a  reduced  commuting  ratio  by  the  end  of  the  plan  period 
without  any  significant  employment  growth,  although  it  is  recognised 
that there is  likely to be an increased propensity for people to work at 
home as a result of Covid‐19. This scenario has not been selected as an 
option for consultation purposes.  

No 

Scenario 12  UK  Growth  Rate  (CR  reducing): 
Commuting  ratio  reduces  from  2011 
Census  value  (1.12)  to  2001  Census 
value  (1.10)  over  the  plan  period. 
Economic  activity  rate  adjustments  in 
line  with  the  OBR  forecast, 
unemployment  rate  remains  fixed  at 
current value (2.9%). 

Whilst  this  scenario  models  the  implications  of  bringing 
Monmouthshire’s  employment  growth  in  underperforming  sectors  in 
line with that of the UK, this would not support the Council’s economic 
aspirations or meet key RLDP objectives with regard to the economy and 
demography.  It  is deemed unrealistic to assume that there would be a 
reduced  commuting  ratio  by  the  end  of  the  plan  period  without 
significant  employment  growth  across  all  sectors,  although  it  is 
recognised that there is likely to be an increased propensity for people to 
work at home as a result of Covid‐19. This scenario has not been selected 
as an option for consultation purposes. 

No 

Scenario 13  Radical  Structural  Change  Lower  (CR 
reducing):  Commuting  ratio  reduces 
from 2011 Census value (1.12)  to 2001 
Census  value  (1.10)  over  the  plan 
period.  Economic  activity  rate 
adjustments  in  line  with  the  OBR 
forecast,  unemployment  rate  remains 
fixed at current value (2.9%).

This  scenario  considers  the  impact  of  employment  growth  above  the 
baseline, so would support the Council’s economic aspirations and would 
begin to address the RLDPs key objectives. It also considers the impact on 
commuting of  this higher  level of  job provision. However, even at  this 
higher level of economic growth it is questioned whether this would be 
sufficient to impact to this degree on the commuting ratio, although it is 
recognised that there is likely to be an increased propensity for people to 

No 

P
age 310



Scenario  Description  Initial Assessment  Take 
Forward 

work at home as a result of Covid‐19. This scenario has not been selected 
as an option for consultation purposes. 

Scenario 14  Radical  Structure  Change  Higher  (CR 
reducing):  Assumes  the  commuting 
ratio  reduces  from  2011  Census  value 
(1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) over 
the plan period. Economic activity  rate 
adjustments  in  line  with  the  OBR 
forecast,  unemployment  rate  remains 
fixed at current value (2.9%). 

This scenario considers the potential impact of a radical structural change 
in  Monmouthshire’s  economy.  This  would  support  the  Council’s 
economic aspirations and would address the RLDPs key objectives. It is a 
useful scenario which shows the implications of going for this high level 
of  growth  over  the  plan  period.  This  scenario  is  included  within  the 
options  for  further  consideration  as  it  is  realistic  to  assume  that  the 
commuting  ratio  would  reduce  if  this  high  level  of  growth  was 
considered, with more of Monmouthshire’s  residents employed within 
the County. 

Yes  ‐ 
Option 6 
in  main 
report 

 P
age 311



APPENDIX 6 ‐ Long list of Spatial Options 

Option  Description  Initial Assessment  Take 

Forward 

Option  1  – 

Continuation of 

existing  LDP 

Strategy 

Growth  would  be  distributed 

around  the  County  with  a 

particular  focus  on  Main 

Towns1,  with  some 

development  in  Severnside2 

and some development in the 

most sustainable rural areas to 

enable provision of affordable 

housing  throughout  the 

County.  New  residential 

development  would  be 

accompanied  by  new 

employment  opportunities, 

where possible.   

This option replicates the existing strategy of the Adopted LDP.  Evidence from 

the Annual Monitoring Report’s suggest progress continues to be made towards 

the  implementation  of  the  spatial  strategy,  however,  it  does  identify  that  the 

current housing provision policies are not being delivered as quickly as anticipated 

which in turn impacts on housing land supply, progress is nevertheless still being 

made in bringing the strategic sites forward.  Further consideration will be given 

to  a  range  of  factors  as  part  of  the  assessment  of  the  option  including 

infrastructure capacity, policy constraints, affordable housing and employment 

provision.     

 

This option is considered to be realistic and has been selected as an option for 

consultation purposes.   

Yes 

Option  2  – 

Distribute 

growth 

Proportionately 

across  the 

County’s  most 

Growth, including jobs and 
affordable housing, would be 
distributed across the 
County’s most sustainable 
settlements3 , with the level of 
growth proportionate to that 
settlement’s size and 

This option would support the delivery of housing land in sustainable locations for 

development through distribution of growth in both sustainable urban areas and 

the most sustainable rural areas, in accordance with PPW 10. It would also direct 

affordable housing to areas identified in the LHMA as having the greatest need.  

Further consideration will be given to a range of factors as part of the assessment 

of  the  option  including  infrastructure  capacity,  policy  constraints  and 

employment provision.     

Yes 

                                                            
1 As identified in Policy S1 of the Adopted Local Development Plan (2014)  
2 As identified in Policy S1 of the Adopted Local Development Plan (2014)  
3 A Sustainable Settlement Appraisal will be published in preparation for the Preferred Strategy to identify these settlements. This will consider settlements in terms of 
their location, level of service provision, capacity and their role and function within the area.       

P
age 312



Option  Description  Initial Assessment  Take 

Forward 

Sustainable 

Settlements  
amenities, affordable housing 
need as identified in the 
LHMA, the capacity for growth 
and/or the need for 
development to sustain the 
community.    

  

This option is considered to be realistic and has been selected as an option for 

consultation purposes.   

Option  3  – 

Focus  Growth 

on  the  M4 

corridor 

Growth  would  be 

predominantly  located  in  the 

South  of  the  County  in  the 

Severnside  area  close  to  the 

M4/M48,  to  capitalise  on  its 

strategic  links  to  the  Cardiff 

Capital Region and South West 

England,  existing  economic 

opportunities  and  regional 

infrastructure  connections, 

including  via  the  South Wales 

Main rail line at Severn Tunnel 

Junction.  Affordable  Housing 

would  be  directed  to  those 

sustainable areas in the South 

of the County identified in the 

LHMA  as  having  the  greatest 

housing need.    

This option focusses growth in areas in Severnside close to the M4/M48 corridor. 

Impact on housing need across the County as a whole, including, rural areas will 

need to be factored into a full appraisal.    Further consideration will be given to a 

range of factors as part of the assessment of the option including infrastructure 

capacity, policy constraints, affordable housing and employment provision.     

 

This option is considered to be realistic and has been selected as an option for 

consultation purposes.   

Yes 

Option  4  – 

Focus  Growth 

Growth  would  be 

predominantly  located  in  the 

most  sustainable  settlements 

This option focusses growth in the most sustainable settlements in the North of 

Monmouthshire  i.e.  Abergavenny,  Raglan  and Monmouth.  Impact  on  housing 

need across the County as a whole,  including, rural areas and the South of the 

Yes 

P
age 313



Option  Description  Initial Assessment  Take 

Forward 

in  the North  of 

the County 

within the North of the County 

to  capitalise  on  its  strategic 

links  to  the  Heads  of  the 

Valleys  and  wider  Cardiff 

Capital  Region  via  the  A465, 

and towards Herefordshire via 

the A449 and A40, along with 

rail  links  to  Newport,  Cardiff 

and  the  north  via  the  Welsh 

Marches  line.  Affordable 

Housing would  be  directed  to 

those  sustainable  areas  in 

North of the County identified 

in  the  LHMA  as  having  the 

greatest housing need.   

County will need to be factored into a full appraisal. Further consideration will be 

given  to  a  range  of  factors  as  part  of  the  assessment  of  the  option  including 

infrastructure capacity, policy constraints, affordable housing and employment 

provision.     

 

This option is considered to be realistic and has been selected as an option for 

consultation purposes.   

Option  5  – 

Former  Option 

A  of  Adopted 

Local 

Development 

Plan 

Focus  development  within  or 

adjoining  the  three  main 

towns  of  Abergavenny, 

Chepstow  and  Monmouth 

where there is the best access 

to  jobs  services  and  public 

transport.  

This relates to an option considered previously in the Adopted LDP.  

 

There is limited scope for significant or long term expansion of the Main Towns 

within the County due to a mix of physical, environmental and Policy constraints. 

Further significant or long term expansion in these areas would place additional 

pressure  which  outweighs  the  balance  of  benefits  in  terms  of  accessibility  to 

existing services and jobs. This option would not meet housing or economic need 

across the County as a whole.   

 

This option is not considered to be realistic and as a consequence has not been 

selected as an option for consultation purposes.   

No 

P
age 314



Option  Description  Initial Assessment  Take 

Forward 

Option  6  – 

Former  Option 

D  of  Adopted 

Local 

Development 

Plan 

Focus  development  on  sites 

and  settlements  where 

opportunities  exist  for  large 

scale  mixed  development  to 

enable  new  residential 

development  to  be 

accompanied by an associated 

increase  in  employment 

opportunities.  

This relates to an option considered previously in the Adopted LDP. The current 

LDP  Strategy  includes  a  number  of  Strategic  Mixed  Use  Sites,  however  the 

provision of employment opportunities together with residential developments 

has  not  been  fulfilled  in  all  of  the  Strategic  Mixed  Use  Sites  allocated  in  the 

adopted LDP. This option would  take  this  further by only allocating Mixed Use 

Sites which based on previous experience are likely to be subject to viability and 

deliverability  issues and would not be a realistic option going forward. While a 

focus  on  mixed  use  sites  would  not  be  appropriate,  where  such  sites  are 

considered  to  be  viable  and  deliverable  they  should  be  given  further 

consideration.  It would nevertheless be more beneficial to allocate Employment 

land in line with the findings of the Employment Land Review and other Council 

aspirations.    

 

This  option would  not meet  housing  need  across Monmouthshire  as  a whole, 

particularly in rural areas of need. The inclusion of large scale development would 

also  likely  impact  build  rates,  with  a  preference  towards  large  house  builders 

limiting the amount of small/medium house builders working across the County. 

                         

This option is not considered to be realistic and as a consequence has not been 

selected as an option for consultation purposes.   

No 

 

 

P
age 315



APPENDIX 7 – Summary Matrix of Growth Options against the RLDP Objectives 

 

  Option 1 – Balanced 
Migration (with added 
policy assumptions) 
(Net Nil Migration (MR, 
CR_R), AH ) 

Option 2 – WG 2018‐
based Principal 
Projection (AH) 

Option 3 – WG 2018‐
based Principal 
Projection (with added 
policy assumptions) 
(WG 2018‐based 
Principal (MR, CR_R), 
AH) 

Option 4 – Dwelling‐led 
Average (based on 
dwelling completion 
rates) (Dwelling‐led 5 
year average, AH) 

Option 5 _ Population‐
led projection(with 
added policy 
assumptions) (PG Long 
Term (adjusted) (5yr) 
(MR, CR_R), AH) 

Option 6 – 
Employment‐led 
projection (with added 
policy assumptions) 
(Radical Structural 
Change Higher (CR_R), 
AH) 

Economic 
Growth/Employment 

           

Retail centres             
Green Infrastructure, 
Biodiversity and Landscape 

           

Flood risk             
Minerals and Waste             
Land             
Natural resources             
Health and Well‐being             
Demography             
Housing             
Place‐making             
Communities             
Rural Communities             
Infrastructure             
Accessibility             
Culture,  Heritage  and 
Welsh Language 

           

Climate Change             

 

P
age 316



APPENDIX 8 – Summary Matrix of Growth Options against the ISA Objectives 

ISA theme 

Categorisation and rank 

Option 1 – 
Balanced 

Migration (with 
added policy 
assumptions) 

(Net Nil Migration 
(MR, CR_R), AH ) 

Option 2 – WG 
2018-based 

Principal 
Projection (AH) 

Option 3 Option 3 
– WG 2018-based 

Principal 
Projection (with 

added policy 
assumptions) 

(WG 2018-based 
Principal (MR, 

CR_R), AH) 

Option 4 – 
Dwelling-led 

Average (based 
on dwelling 

completion rates) 
(Dwelling-led 5 
year average, 

AH) 

Option 5 _ 
Population-led 
projection(with 
added policy 
assumptions) 

(PG Long Term 
(adjusted) (5yr) 

(MR, CR_R), AH) 

Option 6 – 
Employment-led 
projection (with 

added policy 
assumptions) 

(Radical 
Structural 

Change Higher 
(CR_R), AH) 

Economy and employment 
Rank  5 4 3 2 1 1 

Significant effect?  Yes - negative Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain Yes - positive Yes - positive 

Population and communities 
Rank  5 4 3 2 1 1 

Significant effect?  Yes - negative Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain Yes - positive Yes - positive 

Health and wellbeing 
Rank  5 4 3 2 1 1 

Significant effect?  Yes - negative Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain No No 

Equalities, diversion and 
social inclusion 

Rank  5 4 3 2 1 1 

Significant effect?  Yes - negative Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain No Uncertain 

Transport and movement 
Rank  2 2 2 1 1 1 

Significant effect?  No No No No No No 

Natural resources (air, land, 
minerals and water) 

Rank  1 2 3 4 5 6 

Significant effect?  No Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain 

Biodiversity and geodiversity 
Rank  1 2 3 4 5 6 

Significant effect?  No No No Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain 

Historic environment 
Rank  1 2 3 4 5 6 

Significant effect?  No Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain 

P
age 317



ISA theme 

Categorisation and rank 

Option 1 – 
Balanced 

Migration (with 
added policy 
assumptions) 

(Net Nil Migration 
(MR, CR_R), AH ) 

Option 2 – WG 
2018-based 

Principal 
Projection (AH) 

Option 3 Option 3 
– WG 2018-based 

Principal 
Projection (with 

added policy 
assumptions) 

(WG 2018-based 
Principal (MR, 

CR_R), AH) 

Option 4 – 
Dwelling-led 

Average (based 
on dwelling 

completion rates) 
(Dwelling-led 5 
year average, 

AH) 

Option 5 _ 
Population-led 
projection(with 
added policy 
assumptions) 

(PG Long Term 
(adjusted) (5yr) 

(MR, CR_R), AH) 

Option 6 – 
Employment-led 
projection (with 

added policy 
assumptions) 

(Radical 
Structural 

Change Higher 
(CR_R), AH) 

Landscape 
Rank  1 2 3 4 5 6 

Significant effect?  No Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain 

Climate change (including 
flood risk) 

Rank  6 5 4 3 2 1 

Significant effect?  No No No No No No 

 

 

 

   

P
age 318



APPENDIX 9 – Summary Matrix of Spatial Options against RLDP Objectives 

 

  Option 1 ‐Continuation of 
existing LDP Strategy 

Option 2 – 
Distribute Growth across 
most sustainable 
settlements 

Option 3 – 
Focus Growth on the M4 
corridor 

Option 4 –  
Focus Growth in the north of 
the County 

Economic 
Growth/Employment 

       

Retail centres         
Green Infrastructure, 
Biodiversity and 
Landscape 

       

Flood risk         
Minerals and Waste         
Land         
Natural resources         
Health and Well‐
being 

       

Demography         
Housing         
Place‐making         
Communities         
Rural Communities         
Infrastructure         
Accessibility         
Culture, Heritage and 
Welsh Language 

       

Climate Change         

 

 

 

P
age 319



APPENDIX 10 – Summary Matrix of Spatial Options against the ISA Objectives 

ISA Themes Rank/Significant 
effects 

Categorisation and rank 

Option 1 – Continuation of 
the Existing LDP Strategy 

Option 2 – Distribute 
Growth Proportionately 

across the County’s most 
Sustainable Settlements 

Option 3 – Focus Growth on 
the M4 Corridor  

Option 4 – Focus Growth in 
the North of the County  

Economy and 
employment 

Rank 1 1 2 2 

Significant effect? Yes - Positive Yes - Positive Uncertain Uncertain 

Population and 
communities 

Rank 1 1 2 2 

Significant effect? Yes - Positive Yes - Positive Uncertain Uncertain 

Health and wellbeing 
Rank 1 1 3 2 

Significant effect? Yes - Positive Yes - Positive Uncertain Uncertain 

Equalities, diversion 
and social inclusion 

Rank 1 1 2 2 

Significant effect? Yes - Positive Yes - Positive Uncertain Uncertain 

Transport and 
movement 

Rank 1 1 2 3 

Significant effect? Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain 

Natural resources (air, 
land, minerals and 

water) 

Rank 1 1 3 2 

Significant effect? Yes - Negative Yes - Negative Yes - Negative Yes - Negative 

Biodiversity and 
geodiversity 

Rank = = = = 

Significant effect? Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain 

Historic environment 
Rank = = = = 

Significant effect? Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain 

Landscape 
Rank 2 2 1 2 

Significant effect? Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain 

Climate Change 
Rank 2 2 1 2 

Significant effect? Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain Uncertain 

P
age 320



i 
 

Executive Summary 

i. The Council is preparing a Replacement Local Development Plan (RLDP) for 
Monmouthshire (excluding the part of the County that is within the Brecon Beacons 
National Park).  The RLDP will identify where and how much new development will 
take place during the ‘Plan period’ (2018-2033).  It will allocate land for development, 
identify areas to be protected, and contain policies to guide decisions on applications 
for planning permission.  We aim to adopt the RLDP in Autumn 2023.  

ii. The RLDP will be accompanied by an Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) which 
will consider the environmental, equalities, health and well-being impacts of the Plan.  
The Integrated Sustainability Appraisal is a working document, updated as the RLDP 
progresses.  The RLDP will include an Infrastructure Plan, setting out what is needed 
to support the development of the allocated sites, and will sit alongside a Local 
Transport Plan and Economic Strategy.  Together, these Plans will seek to deliver on 
the Council’s economic ambition and its core purpose to build sustainable and resilient 
communities that support the well-being of current and future generations.  

iii. We originally consulted on a range of growth and spatial options in the summer of 
2019, the decision has been made, however, to revisit this stage of the Plan process. 
The Welsh Government population and household projections form the starting point 
for the RLDP evidence on growth levels, onto which policy choices can be added as 
needed, for example to ensure that the County’s identified issues are addressed, 
objectives met and vision achieved. The publication of corrected Welsh Government 
2018-based population and household projections in August 2020 comprise important 
new evidence that requires consideration to ensure that the evidence base for the 
RLDP is robust and based on the most up to date information. Consequently we need 
to revisit both the Growth and Spatial Options and Preferred Strategy stages of the 
plan preparation process. 

iv. This Paper sets out alternative growth and spatial options for the RLDP, together with 
the implications of each option and the extent to which they will achieve the RLDP and 
Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA) objectives. The options presented in this 
Paper provide an indication of the scale of growth (housing and employment) that the 
RLDP will potentially need to include and broad options of where that growth could 
be located (spatial option), having regard to the evidence base and policy aspirations. 

Growth Options  

v. Section 2 of the Paper presents a range of alternative demographic, dwelling and 
employment-led growth options for consideration to inform the RLDP (2018-2033).  

vi. In light of the publication of corrected Welsh Government 2018-based projections 
Monmouthshire has commissioned Edge Analytics to prepare a range of up-dated 
demographic, dwelling and employment growth scenarios to inform the RLDP growth 
options.  

vii. A total of fourteen different scenarios have been generated for Monmouthshire, 
together with further sensitivity testing for all of the demographic and dwelling-led 
scenarios with regard to household formation and commuting ratios. From these 
fourteen different scenarios, six growth options have been selected for consultation 

Page 321

Edge.J_5
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX 2

Edge.J_6
Typewritten Text

Edge.J_7
Typewritten Text



ii 
 

(see Table below). These six options have been the subject of further testing to 
establish the impact on demography, household formation and employment of an 
affordable-housing policy-led strategy. It should be noted that the growth outcomes 
of each scenario generated includes that part of Monmouthshire that falls within the 
Brecon Beacons National Park.  

viii. This Paper considers the population, household, dwelling and employment 
implications associated with each of the alternative growth options set out below, 
together with their wider implications for the County and the extent to which they will 
achieve the RLDP’s and ISA objectives. A summary of the implications associated with 
each option is provided in Table 6.   

ix. Based on the assessment of the growth options our preferred option to address the 

County’s issues/challenges and meet the RLDP and ISA objectives is Growth Option 5, 

Population-led (with added policy assumptions).1  

x. To provide an indication of the baseline position, the 2019 Office for National Statistics 
Mid-Year Estimate gives Monmouthshire a population of 94,590; the 2011 Census 
recorded 38,233 households in Monmouthshire; and the 2011 Census recorded 
40,044 dwellings in Monmouthshire. The preferred Growth Option (5) would result in 
a population increase 12,443 (13.2%) and an additional 7,605 homes over the Plan 
period (2,945 new homes once existing commitments and windfall allowances are 
taken into account). 

 

                                                           
1 This is the PG Long Term (adjusted) (5yr) (MR, CR_R), AH) scenario from the Edge Analytics Reports. 

Page 322



iii 
 

Summary of Selected Growth Options  

Options (type)  Assumptions  
Additional 

homes by 2033 
Additional 

jobs by 2033 

Option 1 
(Demographic) 

Balanced 
Migration (with 
added policy 
assumptions) 
(Net Nil 
Migration (MR, 
CR_R), AH ) 

Internal and international migration flows are balanced between in- and out-flows, 
resulting in zero net migration.  
Household membership rates for the young adult age-groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34) have 
been adjusted to ‘return’ to their 2001 values between 2018-2033.  
Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value (1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) 
over the plan period.  
An average of 53dpa is added to the projected dwelling growth under this scenario 
between 2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of achieving 10% of the 
projected need arising from this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites with 50% 
affordable housing. 

-255 homes -1800 jobs 

Option 2  
(Demographic) 

WG 2018-based 
Principal 
Projection (AH) 

Replicates the WG 2018-based population projection. Migration assumptions are based 
on the five-year period prior to 2018 (i.e. 2013/14–2017/18). 
An average of 71dpa is added to the projected dwelling growth under this scenario 
between 2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of achieving 10% of the 
projected need arising from this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites with 50% 
affordable housing. 

+3930 homes +3,120 jobs 

Option 3 
(Demographic) 

WG 2018-based 
Principal 
Projection (with 
added policy 
assumptions) 
(WG 2018-based 
Principal (MR, 
CR_R), AH) 

Replicates the WG 2018-based population projection. Migration assumptions are based 
on the five-year period prior to 2018 (i.e. 2013/14–2017/18).  
Household membership rates for the young adult age-groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34) have 
been adjusted to ‘return’ to their 2001 values between 2018-2033.  
Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value (1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) 
over the plan period.  
An average of 76dpa is added to the projected dwelling growth under this scenario 
between 2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of achieving 10% of the 
projected need arising from this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites with 50% 
affordable housing. 

+4770 homes +3975 jobs 

Option 4  
(Dwelling)  

Dwelling-led 
Average (based 
on dwelling 
completion 
rates) (Dwelling-

Annual dwelling growth is applied from 2020/21 onward, based on the last five years of 
completions (2015/16–2019/20). This gives an average annual dwelling growth of +310 
pa in Monmouthshire. 
An average of 80dpa is added to the projected dwelling growth under this scenario 
between 2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of achieving 10% of the 

+6030 homes +5460 jobs 

P
age 323



iv 
 

led 5 year 
average, AH) 

projected need arising from this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites with 50% 
affordable housing. 

Option 5  
(Demographic)  

Population-led 
projection(with 
added policy 
assumptions) 
(PG Long Term 
(adjusted) (5yr) 
(MR, CR_R), AH) 

Internal in-migration rates are adjusted to reflect higher in-migration (based on the last 
5-years) from Bristol and South Gloucestershire, to take account of the removal of the 
Severn Bridge tolls. All other migration flow assumptions are consistent with the PG 
Long Term scenario.  
Household membership rates for the young adult age-groups (19-24, 25-29, 30-34) have 
been adjusted to ‘return’ to their 2001 values between 2018-2033.  
Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value (1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) 
over the plan period.  
An average of 94dpa is added to the projected dwelling growth under this scenario 
between 2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of achieving 10% of the 
projected need arising from this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites with 50% 
affordable housing. 

+7605 homes +7215 jobs 

Option 6 (Employment)  Employment-led 
projection (with 
added policy 
assumptions) 
(Radical 
Structural 
Change Higher 
(CR_R), AH) 

Commuting ratio reduces from 2011 Census value (1.12) to 2001 Census value (1.10) 
over the plan period. 
Economic activity rate adjustments in line with the OBR forecast, unemployment rate 
remains at current value (2019) (2.9%). 
An average of 124dpa is added to the projected dwelling growth under this scenario 
between 2018-2033. This will meet a policy-led objective of achieving 10% of the 
projected need arising from this option, as evidenced by the LHMA, on sites with 50% 
affordable housing. 

+9060 homes +9630 jobs 

*‘Radical Structural Change’ (RSC) scenarios consider the potential impact of substantial economic changes in Monmouthshire’s economy, resulting in a significantly higher employment growth 
range than under the ‘Baseline’ and UK Growth equivalent. Under these scenarios, employment growth ranges from +3,866 to +8,273 jobs over the plan period, averaging +258 and +552 pa 
respectively. 

P
age 324



v 
 

Spatial Strategy Options  

xi. Section 3 of the Paper sets out four spatial strategy options for accommodating the 
proposed level of housing and employment growth: 

 Option 1: Continuation of the Existing LDP Strategy – Growth would be 

distributed around the County with a particular focus on Main Towns2, with some 

development in Severnside3 and some development in the most sustainable rural 

areas to enable provision of affordable housing throughout the County. New 

residential development to be accompanied by new employment opportunities, 

where possible.    

 Option 2: Distribute Growth Proportionately across the County’s most 

Sustainable Settlements4 – Growth, including jobs and affordable housing, would 

be distributed across the County’s most sustainable settlements, with the level of 

growth proportionate to that settlement’s size and amenities, affordable housing 

need as identified in the LHMA, the capacity for growth and/or the need for 

development to sustain the community.  

 Option 3: Focus Growth on the M4 corridor – Growth would be predominantly 

located in the South of the County in the Severnside area close to the M4/M48, to 

capitalise on its strategic links to the Cardiff Capital Region and South West 

England, existing economic opportunities and regional infrastructure connections, 

including via the South Wales Main rail line at Severn Tunnel Junction. Affordable 

Housing would be directed to those sustainable areas in the South of the County 

identified in the LHMA as having the greatest housing need.   

 Option 4: Focus Growth in the North of the County – Growth would be 

predominantly located in the most sustainable settlements within the North of the 

County to capitalise on its strategic links to the Heads of the Valleys and wider 

Cardiff Capital Region via the A465, and towards Herefordshire via the A449 and 

A40, along with rail links to Newport, Cardiff and the North via the Welsh Marches 

line. Affordable Housing would be directed to those sustainable areas in the North 

of the County identified in the LHMA as having the greatest housing need.   

 
xii. The advantages and disadvantages of each spatial option and the extent to which they 

will achieve the RLDP and ISA objectives are set out in Section 3, together with an 

indicative map of each option.  Based on the assessment of the spatial options our 

preferred option to address the County’s issues/challenges and meet the RLDP and ISA 

                                                           
2 As identified in Policy S1 of the Adopted Local Development Plan (2014), now renamed to Primary 
Settlements and includes the addition of Llanfoist.   
3 As identified in Policy S1 of the Adopted Local Development Plan (2014), with the addition of Crick.   
4 A Sustainable Settlement Appraisal will be published to inform the Preferred Strategy to identify these 
settlements. This will consider settlements in terms of their location, level of service provision, capacity and 
their role and function within the area.       

Page 325



vi 
 

objectives is Spatial Option 2 to Distribute Growth Proportionately across the County’s 

most Sustainable Settlements5.  

Engagement/Consultation 

xiii. There is no statutory requirement for consultation on the Growth and Spatial Options. 
However, in accordance with the RLDP Revised Delivery Agreement (October 2020) and 
as with the original growth and spatial options, it is considered appropriate to continue 
to engage with stakeholders/our communities at this key stage of the process to help 
build consensus on the growth levels and spatial strategy of the RLDP and to fully 
understand the implications of the options.  

xiv. Non-statutory engagement and consultation on the Growth and Spatial Options Paper 
will take place for a four-week period from 4th January 2021 to 1st February 2021, 
whereby comments will be invited on the consultation questions set out in Sections 2 
and 3. An Easy Read version of this document has also been prepared which is available 
to view via the Planning Policy pages of the Council’s website.  

xv. Feedback from the consultation/engagement on the Growth and Spatial Options Paper 
will be considered and, where appropriate, will inform the preferred growth and spatial 
strategy options which will be set out in the Preferred Strategy. The RLDP Preferred 
Strategy will be the subject of engagement/consultation in May/June 2021. 

 

                                                           
5 A Sustainable Settlement Appraisal will be published to inform the Preferred Strategy to identify these 
settlements. This will consider settlements in terms of their location, level of service provision, capacity and 
their role and function within the area.       

Page 326



P
age 327



P
age 328



P
age 329



P
age 330



P
age 331



P
age 332



P
age 333



P
age 334



P
age 335



P
age 336



P
age 337



P
age 338



P
age 339



P
age 340



P
age 341



P
age 342



APPENDIX 4 

  

 
     
 
Name of the Officer completing the evaluation 
Mark Hand 
 
Phone no: 07773478579 
E-mail: markhand@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 

The Growth and Spatial Options Paper sets out a number of alternative 
growth and spatial strategy options for consideration having regard to the 
Plan’s evidence base and policy aspirations. The options presented provide an 
indication of the scale of growth (housing and employment) that the RLDP will 
need to address, together with spatial strategy options for accommodating that 
growth. The consideration of realistic growth and spatial options is an 
important part of the preparation of the RLDP which are intended to facilitate 
discussion and inform the Preferred Strategy.  

The Growth and Spatial Options Paper identifies our preferred growth and 
spatial options that are considered to best address the County’s key 
issues/challenges and meet the RLDP objectives.  

The Growth and Spatial Options Paper sets out the population, household, 
dwelling and employment implications associated with each of the selected 
growth options, together with their wider implications for the County and the 
extent to which they will achieve the RLDP objectives. The options have also 
been assessed through the Integrated Sustainability Appraisal process. 

We originally consulted on a range of growth and spatial options in the summer 
of 2019, the decision has been made, however, to revisit this stage of the Plan 
process. The Welsh Government population and household projections form 
the starting point for the RLDP evidence on growth levels, onto which policy 
choices can be added as needed, for example to ensure that the County’s 
identified issues are addressed, objectives met and vision achieved. The 
publication of corrected Welsh Government 2018-based population and 
household projections in August 2020 comprise important new evidence that 
requires consideration to ensure that the evidence base for the RLDP is robust 

Equality and Future Generations Evaluation  
 

P
age 343



and based on the most up to date information. Consequently we need to revisit 
both the Growth and Spatial Options and Preferred Strategy stages of the Plan 
preparation process. 

Name of Service area 

Planning (Planning Policy)  

Date   

17/11/2020 

 
1. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the 

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below.  

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age The Growth and Spatial Options Paper 
considers the demographic profile of 
Monmouthshire and aims to have a positive 
impact on people of all ages, particularly 
through  increasing opportunities for the 
younger population to both live and work 
with Monmouthshire to assist in ensuring a 
balanced demography whilst also supporting 
the needs of the older population. 

The Preferred Growth Option still shows 
a notible decline in the 50-59 year old 
age group, but is considered to be the 
best compromise in terms of achieving 
the objectives relating to demography, 
affordable housing, sustainable place-
making and the climate emergency. 

The Growth and Spatial Options Paper 
considers how much growth is needed 
over the RLDP period and where this 
growth should take place. It sets out 
options to provide a more balanced 
demographic profile for Monmouthshire. 
The Growth and Spatial Options will 
inform the RLDP Preferred Strategy 
which will set out the Preferred Options 
for growth and spatial distribution.  
COVID-19 has demonstrated the 
importance of sustainable communities 
and a balanced demography to support 
the older age groups. 

P
age 344



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Disability The Growth and Spatial Options paper 
includes the need to ensure the provision of 
a wide-ranging choice of homes including 
meeting affordable and accessible housing 
needs as far as possible. The Growth and 
Spatial Options recognise the importance of 
the health and well-being of people and 
aims to create attractive, safe and 
accessible places to live, work and visit.  
The Covid-19 pandemic has  emphasised 
the importance of place-making and Green 
Infrastructure for the provision of open 
spaces in close proximity to homes for 
physical and mental wellbeing 

 

None. The Growth and Spatial Options aim to 
support the well-being of current and 
future generations that are more 
inclusive, cohesive, prosperous and 
vibrant. The Growth and Spatial Options 
will inform the RLDP Preferred Strategy 
which will set out the Preferred Options 
for growth and spatial distribution.   
 

Gender 
reassignment 

.None. None. N/A. 

Marriage or civil 
partnership 

None. None. N/A. 

Pregnancy or 
maternity 

None.  None. N/A. 

Race .None. None. N/A. 

Religion or Belief .None. None. N/A. 

P
age 345



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Sex One of the challenges facing the County is 
the imbalance between male and female 
earnings, although this situation is 
improving. The Growth and Spatial Options 
aim to provide economic growth and 
employment provision, which could indirectly 
impact on wage equality. 

The jobs in the foundation economy are 
disproportionately occupied by females. 
This sector is vital to support our 
communities, as are jobs in tourism.  
Neither sectors are generally well-paid, 
although they often offer flexible working 
conditions that can assist work-life 
balance.  Wage levels are not within the 
remit of planning policy and policies to 
try to seek only high paid jobs could be 
to the detriment of this vital economic 
sector.   

The Growth and Spatial Options aim to 
support economic growth and 
prosperity. The Growth and Spatial 
Options will inform the RLDP Preferred 
Strategy which will set out the Preferred 
Options for growth and spatial 
distribution.   

Sexual Orientation .None. None. N/A. 

 

Welsh Language 

The Welsh Language is a material planning 
consideration. The Growth and Spatial 
Options are assessed against the RLDP 
Objective relating to Culture, Heritage and 
Welsh Language to ensure there is no 
impact.   

Any level of growth for the County relies 
on in-migration, being a border County a 
proportion of this is likely to be from 
England. 

The Growth and Spatial Options aim to 
support culture and the Welsh 
Language. The Growth and Spatial 
Options will inform the RLDP Preferred 
Strategy which will set out the Preferred 
Options for growth and spatial 
distribution.  We will liaise with the Local 
Education Authority to understand if the 
proposed growth necessitates 
additional Welsh medium school 
provision. 

P
age 346



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Poverty The provision of affordable housing and a 
housing mix policy to require a mix of 
market housing will increase opportunities 
for those in poverty to access safe, secure 
and suitable housing.  Improved energy 
efficiency requirements for new build 
properties will reduce the cost of living.  The 
provision of suitable employment land, 
planning policy tools to support business, 
and the use of other (non-planning) tools to 
stimulate economic activity will increase 
employment opportunites within the County. 

People in poverty or on low incomes 
might not be able to access digital 
opportunities to work from home and/or 
are more likely to be employed in roles 
that cannot work from home. 

A policy requirement for broadband 
infrastructure provision will maximize 
opportunities for all to access the 
technology to work from home where 
possible, reducing commuting and 
associated costs. 

 
2. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together 

with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.  There’s no need to put something in every box if it is 
not relevant! 

Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 
Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

Positive: The Growth and Spatial Options Paper 
considers how much growth is needed over the 
RLDP period and where this growth should take 
place. It sets out the growth and spatial options 
which as well as housing growth aim to provide 
economic growth and employment provision in both 
urban and rural areas.    

Negative: Higher levels of growth would require 
more land to be developed, careful site selection is 

The Growth and Spatial Options are assessed 
against the RLDP Objectives relating to economic 
growth/employment and retail centres, which have 
been set in order to address the identified issues 
relating to creating a prosperous Wales. 

 

P
age 347



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 
Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

required to minimise loss of best and most versatile 
agricultural land and mineral resource.  

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change) 

Positive: The Growth and Spatial Options Paper 
considers how much growth is needed over the 
Replacement LDP period and where this growth 
should take place. It sets out the growth and spatial 
options which are assessed against the 
Replacement LDP Objectives including the impact of 
development on the natural environment in already 
constrained areas. It is however recognised that 
developments could improve connectivity through 
opportunities to create new linkages. The limited 
supply of brownfield land within the County is a 
common theme for all of the spatial options 
presented in the paper. A climate change objective 
is included in the assessment of each option which 
recognises that we are in a climate emergency and 
has committed to strive to limit the increase in global 
temperatures to 1.5oC. Resilience of new 
development to aspects of climate change can be 
achieved via the design and location of new 
developments. Developments can provide 
opportunities to minimise carbon by providing 
opportunities for renewable energy generation, 
seeking to reduce commuting, supporting use of 
ultra-low emission vehicles and public transport, and 
the provision of quality Green Infrastructure. There is 
a legal and national policy requirement to maintain 
and enhance ecology. The current pandemic has 
emphasised the need to enable such responses in 

The Growth and Spatial Options are assessed 
against the RLDP Objectives relating to Green 
Infrastructure, Biodiversity and Landscape, Flood 
risk, Minerals and Waste, Land and Natural 
Resources which have been set in order to address 
the identified issues relating to creating a resilient 
Wales. 

P
age 348



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 
Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

delivering sustainable and resilient communities. 
The Covid-19 pandemic has also  emphasised the 
importance of place-making and Green 
Infrastructure for the provision of open spaces in 
close proximity to homes for physical and mental 
wellbeing. 

Negative: Higher levels of growth would likely result 
in further pressure on the natural environment. New 
developments could nevertheless improve Green 
Infrastructure and ecological connectivity through 
opportunities to create new linkages. The value and 
importance of having access to locally accessible 
open/green spaces to assist in recreation and health 
and well-being has been heightened during the 
current pandemic. 
 

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximised and health 
impacts are understood 

Positive: The Growth and Spatial Options Paper 
considers how much growth is needed over the 
RLDP period and where this growth should take 
place. It is recognised that any developments will be 
encouraged to support healthier lifestyles and 
provide sufficient open space.The  Covid-19 
pandemic has emphasised the vulnerability of those 
in our communities with underlying health conditions, 
as well as the importance of place-making and green 
infrastrcture for the provision of open spaces in close 
proximity to homes for physical and mental 
wellbeing.  

Negative: Higher levels of growth have the potential 
to increase commuting which could affect areas with 

The Growth and Spatial Options area are assessed 
against the RLDP Objectives including Health and 
Well-being in order to address the identified issues 
relating to creating a healthier Wales. The Covid-19 
pandemic has emphasised the vulnerability of those 
in our communities with underlying health 
conditions, as well as the importance of place-
making and green infrastructure for the provision of 
open spaces in close proximity to homes for 
physical and mental wellbeing. 

P
age 349



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 
Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

air quality problems, however, the RLDP would seek 
to provide for jobs within the County. Moreover, the 
Covid-19 pandemic has demonstrated that a 
significant proportion of our communities can work 
from home which is likely to continue over the longer 
term.   

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected 

Positive: The Growth and Spatial Options Paper 
considers how much growth is needed over the 
RLDP period and where this growth should take 
place. It sets out the growth and spatial options 
which considers the balance of housing, 
employment and infrastructure in both urban and 
rural areas. The Covid-19 pandemic has 
emphasised the importance of socially sustainable 
communities and ensuring a balanced demography.  
The role of younger age cohorts providing voluntary 
support to the over 70s who have been self-isolating 
has been vital.  Unchecked, our ageing demography 
presents a very real challenge to how such support 
would be offered in the future. 

Negative: Lower growth levels would result in 
communities that are not viable.  

The Growth and Spatial Options area are assessed 
against the RLDP draft Objectives including 
housing, place-making, communities, rural 
communities, infrastructure and accessibility in 
order to address the identified issues relating to 
creating a Wales of cohesive communities.The 
Covid-19 pandemic has emphasised the importance 
of socially sustainable communities and ensuring a 
balanced demography.  The role of younger age 
cohorts providing voluntary support to the over 70s 
who have been self-isolating has been vital.  
Unchecked, our ageing demography presents a 
very real challenge to how such support would be 
offered in the future. 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing 

Positive: The Growth and Spatial Options Paper 
considers how much growth is needed over the 
RLDP period and where this growth should take 
place. It sets out the growth and spatial options 
which are assessed against the RLDP Objectives 
including the impact of options on climate change.  A 
climate change objective is included in the 

The Growth and Spatial Options are assessed 
against the RLDP Objectives including climate 
change which has been set in order to address the 
identified issues relating to creating a globally 
responsible Wales. A climate change objective is 
included in the assessment of each option which 
recognises that we are in a climate emergency and 

P
age 350



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 
Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

assessment of each option which recognises that we 
are in a climate emergency and has committed to 
strive to limit the increase in global temperatures to 
1.5oC. The Covid-19 pandemic has demonstrated 
that a significant proportion of our communities can 
work from home which is likely to continue over the 
longer term.  Home/agile working combined with 
school closures and reduced leisure-based travel 
has significantly reduced congestion and evidence 
suggests air quality has improved markedly.  The 
RLDP seeks to reduce the commuting ratio and to 
enable home-working: Covid-19 has demonstrated 
that this is achievable. 

Negative: None. 

has committed to strive to limit the increase in 
global temperatures to 1.5oC. The Covid-19 
pandemic has demonstrated that a significant 
proportion of our communities can work from home 
which is likely to continue over the longer term.  
Home/agile working combined with school closures 
and reduced leisure-based travel has significantly 
reduced congestion and evidence suggests air 
quality has improved markedly.  The RLDP seeks to 
reduce the commuting ratio and to enable home-
working: Covid-19 has demonstrated that this is 
achievable. 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 
are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation 

Positive: The Growth and Spatial Options Paper 
considers how much growth is needed over the 
RLDP period and where this growth should take 
place. It sets out the growth and spatial options 
which are assessed against the RLDP Objectives 
including the impact of options on Culture, Heritage 
and the Welsh Language. 

Negative: Any level of growth for the County relies 
on in-migration, being a border County a proportion 
of this is likely to be from England. 

The Growth and Spatial Options are assessed 
against the RLDP Objectives including Culture, 
Heritage and the Welsh Language which has been 
set in order to address the identified issues relating 
to creating a Wales of vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh Language. We will liaise with the Local 
Education Authority to understand if the proposed 
growth necessitates additional Welsh medium 
school provision. 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances 

Positive: The Growth and Spatial Options Paper 
considers how much growth is needed over the 
RLDP period and where this growth should take 
place. It sets out the growth and spatial options 

The Growth and Spatial Options are assessed 
against the RLDP Objective relating to demography 
which has been set in order to address the identified 
issues relating to creating a more equal Wales.The 

P
age 351



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 
Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

which through housing and economic growth in both 
urban and rural areas aims to assist in balancing the 
demography across the County. The assessment of 
Growth Options in particular considers the impact 
each Growth Option will make to the demography of 
the County, in order to address the higher proportion 
of older age groups and lower proportion of young 
adults compared to the Welsh average. One of the 
key objectives of the RLDP is to deliver affordable 
housing, having a safe secure and suitable home 
gives people the best start in life.  

Negative: None. 

Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted the links 
between poverty and resilience as well as the 
higher level of homelessness.  The RLDP Options 
seek to maximise affordable housing delivery to 
help tackle this. 

 

 

3. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

P
age 352



Sustainable Development 
Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 
this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Balancing 
short term 
need with 
long term and 
planning for 
the future 

The Growth and Spatial Options Paper will play a key role 
in informing the Replacement Local Development Plan 
(RLDP) Revised Preferred Strategy which will be made 
available for consultation in Spring/Summer 2021. The 
Revised Preferred Strategy will set out the Preferred 
Options for housing/employment growth and spatial 
distribution of this growth across the County, including the 
identified level of growth and broad locations for 
development for the period 2018 - 2033.  The Revised 
Preferred Strategy will also set out the RLDP vision, the 
role of which is to clarify the core purpose of the 
Replacement Plan and provide a framework for developing 
the Revised Preferred Strategy and future detailed policies.  
The Vision will set the overarching context for 
Monmouthshire for the period up to 2033 

Some of the long term implications of COVID-19 are not yet 
known, for example the impact longer term on our High 
Streets.  The RLDP can incorporate flexible policies to seek 
to adjust to the unknown longer term implications. 

The Growth and Spatial Options have been prepared and 
assessed against the RLDP Objectives in order to 
address the issues, challenges, opportunities and drivers 
facing the County.  
 
Some of the long term implications of COVID-19 are not 
yet known, for example the impact longer term on our 
High Streets.  The RLDP can incorporate flexible policies 
to seek to adjust to the unknown longer term implications. 

P
age 353



Sustainable Development 
Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 
this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Working 
together with 
other 
partners to 
deliver 
objectives  

The Growth and Spatial Options Paper has been informed 
by a range of evidence.  There is no statutory requirement 
for formal consultation on the growth and spatial options, 
however, in accordance with the RLDP Revised Delivery 
Agreement (October 2020) we are engaging with 
consultees at this early stage to help build consensus on 
the options. 

Following consultation the Preferred Options for 
housing/employment growth and spatial distribution of 
this growth will be set out in the Preferred Strategy which 
will be made available for further 
engagement/consultation with a wide range of internal 
and external stakeholders in Spring/Summer 2021. 
 
A number of events have been held/attended to seek to 
integrate the RLDP and Climate Emergency declaration.  
 
The Public Service Board will be involved at key stages of 
Plan-making. 
 
The Revised Delivery Agreement (Octover 2020) ensures 
full stakeholder /community’s involvement to shape the 
RLDP.  
 
Future key stages of the RLDP process will be subject to 
engagement/consultation with a wide range of internal 
and external stakeholders. 

P
age 354



Sustainable Development 
Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 
this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Involving 
those with 
an interest 
and seeking 
their views 

The Growth and Spatial Options Paper has been informed 
by  a range of evidence. An informal consultation on the 
Options is taking place for a four week period between 4 
January 2021 and 1 February 2021.  

The revised DA (October 2020) Community Involvement 
Scheme sets out the way in which the Council proposes to 
involve the local community and other stakeholders in the 
preparation of the RLDP. Future community engagement on 
the RLDP will incorporate any COVID-19 and social 
distancing  requirements, the revised DA considers 
alternative methods further allowing for a flexible approach.    
 
 

There is no statutory requirement for formal consultation 
on the growth and spatial options, however, in 
accordance with the revised DA (October 2020) we are 
engaging with consultees at this early stage to help build 
consensus on the options. Feedback from these 
meetings will be noted and considered, and, where 
appropriate inform the preferred growth and spatial option 
which will be set out in the Preferred Strategy. The 
Revised Preferred Strategy will be subject to 
engagement/consultation with a wide range of internal 
and external stakeholders.  

The Revised Delivery Agreement ensures full stakeholder 
/community’s involvement to shape the RLDP. 
 

Putting 
resources 
into 
preventing 
problems 
occurring or 
getting 
worse 

The Growth and Spatial Options Paper will play a key role 
in informing the RLDP Revised Preferred Strategy which 
will be made available for consultation in Spring/Summer 
2021. The Revised Preferred Strategy will set out the 
Preferred Options for housing/employment growth and 
spatial distribution of this growth across the County, 
including the identified level of growth and broad locations 
for development for the period 2018 – 2033 to address 
housing and employment needs, assist in ensuring a 
balanced demography and support sustainable, resilient 
communities. A climate change objective is included in the 
assessment of each option which recognises that we are in 
a climate emergency and has committed to strive to limit 
the increase in global temperatures to 1.5oC. 

  

The Growth and Spatial Options Paper will inform the 
RLDP Revised Preferred Strategy which will be subject to 
statutory consultation in Spring/Summer 2021. The RLDP 
will seek to address the issues/challenges/opportunities 
identified (in a land use context) and support delivery of 
the Council’s vision for the future of the County and its 
communities.   
 
A number of events have been held/attended to seek to 
integrate the LDP and Climate Emergency declaration.  
 
The Public Service Board will be involved at key stages of 
Plan-making. 
 
The Revised Delivery Agreement (October 2020) seeks 
to ensure that the Plan will be delivered in accordance 
with the amended timetable and ensures full stakeholder 
/community’s involvement to shape the RLDP. 

P
age 355



Sustainable Development 
Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 
this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Considering 
impact on all 
wellbeing 
goals 
together and 
on other 
bodies 

The Growth and Spatial Options Paper will play a key role 
in informing the RLDP Revised Preferred Strategy which 
will be made available for consultation in Spring/Summer 
2021. The Preferred Strategy will set out the Preferred 
Option for housing/employment growth and spatial 
distribution of this growth across the County, including the 
identified level of growth and broad locations for 
development for the period 2018 – 2033. The Growth and 
Spatial Options Paper has been informed by the  PSB Well-
being Plan and are assessed against the RLDP Objectives  
which seek to address the issues/challenges/opportunities 
identified (in a land use context) and support delivery of the 
Council’s vision/objectives for the future of the County and 
its communities. The RLDP Options have been subject to 
an Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (including Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA). The RLDP will also be 
subject to a Well-being of Future Generations Assessment 
(WBFG), Health Impact Assessment (HIA), Equality Impact 
Assessment (EqIA), and Welsh Language Impact 
Assessment (WLIA)), whose findings will be used to inform 
the development of the RLDP strategy, policies and site 
allocations in order to ensure that the Plan will be promoting 
sustainable development.  

The RLDP will also set out the Vision which will set the 
overarching context for Monmouthshire for the period up to 
2033. MCC recognises that we are in a climate emergency 
and has committed to strive to limit the increase in global 
temperatures to 1.5oC. The importance of carbon reduction 
is recognised as a key issue that the RLDP should seek to 
address.  

The Growth and Spatial Options Paper will inform the 
RLDP Revised Preferred Strategy which will be subject to 
statutory consultation in Spring/Summer 2021. The RLDP 
Options have been subject to an Integrated Sustainability 
Appraisal (including Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA). The RLDP will also be subject to a Well-being of 
Future Generations Assessment (WBFG), Health Impact 
Assessment (HIA), Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA), 
and Welsh Language Impact Assessment (WLIA)), 
whose findings will be used to inform the development of 
the RLDP strategy, policies and site allocations in order 
to ensure that the Plan will be promoting sustainable 
development. 
 
We will continue to work closely with our neighbours, both 
in Wales and England, including the joint procurement of 
evidence as applicable. 
 
The RLDP will align with the new Integrated Network 
Maps for Active Travel, and will be accompanied by an 
Infrastructure Plan and revised Local Transport Plan. 
 
 

P
age 356



 
4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on the following important responsibilities: Social Justice, 

Corporate Parenting and Safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect any of these responsibilities?   
 

 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has  

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has  

What will you do/ have you done 
to mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Social Justice The Social Justice strategy focuses on three 
main areas: tackling loneliness and 
isolation; tackling poverty and promoting 
equitable economic prosperity; and giving 
children the best start in life. The RLDP 
Options seek to tackle house price 
unaffordability, which currently prevents 
some of our communities accessing suitable 
housing within the County.  This is likely to 
benefit younger people in particular, which 
in turn will make our ageing communities 
more socially sustainable. Good quality and 
affordable housing is important in achieving 
poverty reduction and equitable prosperity, 
and supporting the best start in life.  Good 
spatial planning helps to build cohesive 
communities.   

None. We will consider the need for planning 
policies to control the housing mix of the 
market housing on development sites, 
to ensure it helps create mixed 
communities and supports the retention 
of younger people who can afford an 
open market home were there sufficient 
supply of 2 and 3 bedroom homes. 
 
We will consider the need for small 
affordable housing schemes in rural 
settlements similar to the current LDP’s 
60/40 sites. 
 
We will consider a range of policies 
around the climate change theme to 
minimise the carbon footprint of new 
development, and therefore mitigate 
negative impacts associated with the 
proposed growth. 

Safeguarding  None. None. N/A. 

Corporate Parenting  The provision of affordable housing, 
together with the Council’s Homesearch 
Allocations Policy which affords a level of 
housing priority to care leavers, will assist in 
ensuring increased opportunites for looked 
after children to remain living in the County 
when they reach adulthood. 

None. N/A. 

 
5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 

P
age 357



 
An extensive range of data sets have been used to prepare the Growth and Spatial Options Paper, from a wide range of sources both internal and external 
to the Council.  These are clearly referenced in the Paper and appendices, but include: 

 Issues, Vision and Objectives Paper (June 2019) https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/pre-deposit-ldp-documents/  
 Monmouthshire Public Service Board Well-being Plan (April 2018) https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2017/10/Monmouthshire-

PSB_well-being-plan_3.0.pdf  
 Monmouthshire County Council Corporate Business Plan 2017 – 2022 (February 2018) 

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2018/03/Monmouthshire-Council_Corporate-Plan_1.0.pdf  
 Monmouthshire Local Development Plan Review Report (March 2018) https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2018/03/Final-Review-

Report-1.pdf  
 Monmouthshire Local Development Plan Annual Monitoring Reports (2015- 2018) https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/annual-

monitoring/ldp-annual-monitoring-report  
 Updating the RLDP Demographic Evidence produced by Edge Analytics (November 2020) 
 Monmouthshire Affordable Housing Evidence produced by Edge Analytics (November 2020)  
 Monmouthshire Replacement Local Development Plan Candidate Sites Register (February 2019): https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning-

policy/candidate-sites/monmouthshire-replacement-ldp-candidate-sites-register-february-2019/ 
 Monmouthshire Public Service Board Well-being Plan (April 2018) https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2017/10/Monmouthshire-

PSB_well-being-plan_3.0.pdf  
 Monmouthshire County Council Corporate Business Plan 2017 – 2022 (February 2018) 

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2018/03/Monmouthshire-Council_Corporate-Plan_1.0.pdf  
 Monmouthshire Local Development Plan Review Report (March 2018) https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2018/03/Final-Review-

Report-1.pdf   
 Monmouthshire Local Development Plan Annual Monitoring Reports (2015- 2020) https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/annual-

monitoring/ldp-annual-monitoring-report/  
 Replacement LDP Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (As amended December 2018) 

https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2020/03/Final-SA-Scoping-Report-Dec-2018-1.pdf  
 Monmouthshire LDP ‘Retail Background Paper’, March 2020. https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2020/03/Final-Report-March-

2020.pdf 
 Monmouthshire LDP ‘Employment Background Paper’, September 2020. https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2020/09/Final-Report-

September-2020.pdf 
 Monmouthshire Housing Land Availability Schedules (2018-2019) https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/planning-policy/housing-land-

supply/?preview=true . 

P
age 358



 Review of the RLDP Issues, Vision, Objectives and Evidence Base in light of Covid-19 (September 2020) 
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2020/11/Monmouthshire-RLDP-Review-of-Issues-Vision-Objectives-and-Evidence-Base-in-Light-
of-Covid.pdf   

 Integrated Sustainability Appraisal Report produced by AECOM (November 2020) 
 

The Revised Delivery Agreement (October 2020) is also available to view via the Planning Policy webpages of the Council’s website 
https://www.monmouthshire.gov.uk/app/uploads/2020/11/Revised-DA-October-2020-Final.pdf  

External sources of data include Welsh Government, Cadw, Natural Resources Wales, Hometrack, Office for National Statistics and Stats Wales. 

An extensive range of background evidence and data has been used to date, from a wide range of sources both internal and external to the Council.  
These include: 

 Initial Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report (December 2018)  
 MCC Economies of the Future Reports (2018) and associated economic ambition (November 2019) 
 Monmouthshire RLDP Issues, Vision and Objectives Paper (June 2019, as amended March 2020) 
 Review of the RLDP Issues, Vision, Objectives and Evidence Base in light of Covid-19 (September 2020) 
 Monmouthshire RLDP Candidate Sites Register (February 2019) 
 Monmouthshire RLDP Revised Delivery Agreement (October 2020)  
 Monmouthshire Updating the RLDP Demographic Evidence produced by Edge Analytics (November 2020) 
 Monmouthshire RLDP Affordable Housing Evidence Addendum Report produced by Edge Analytics (November 2020)  

 Integrated Sustainability Appraisal Report produced by AECOM (November 2020)  

 
 
 
6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have 

they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 
 
Positive -   

The Growth and Spatial Options will play a key role in informing the RLDP Preferred Strategy which will set out the Preferred Options for growth and spatial 
distribution. In the creation of sustainable places, the first step is to consider the level of development required, and the location of where any growth should 
go within the County.  This paper sets out a number of growth and spatial options to achieve this over the RLDP period.The Preferred Strategy will be the 
subject of further engagement/consultation and political reporting as the RLDP is progressed.  

Negative – None.  There are no negative implications for social justice, corporate parenting or safeguarding.  

 

P
age 359



7. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if 
applicable. 

 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is 
responsible  

Inform the Economy and Development Select Committee of 
the non-statutory consultation on the Replacement Local 
Development Plan (RLDP) Growth and Spatial Options 
Paper, and to seek Committee’s feedback/comments on the 
Paper.  

 

Scrutiny by Economy & Development Select Committee on 10th 
December 2020.  
 
Consultation on the Growth and Spatial Options will take place in 
January/February 2021.  

Head of 
Placemaking, 
Housing, Highways 
and Flooding  

Head of Planning 

Planning Policy 
Team 

Seek Cabinet’s endorsement of the Growth and Spatial 
Options Paper and issue for a four week non-statutory 
consultation, including identifying growth option 5 and spatial 
option 2 as the preferred options at this stage of the process. 

16th December 2020 Head of 
Placemaking, 
Housing, Highways 
and Flooding 

 

Head of Planning 

 

Planning Policy 
Team 

 

8. VERSION CONTROL: The Equality and Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stage, such as informally 
within your service, and then further developed throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this 
process to demonstrate how you have considered and built in equality and future generations considerations  wherever 
possible. 

 

Version 
No. 

Decision making stage  Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 
consideration 

0.0 LDP Review Report and Delivery Agreement 20/04/2018 Draft for Council 10th May 2018 

P
age 360



1.0 Issues, Vision and Objectives scrutiny 01/02/2019 Draft for Economy & Development Select Committee 14th 
February 2019 

1.1 Issues, Vision and Objectives endorsement 
following consultation 

09/04/2019 Draft for Cabinet 5th June 2019 

1.2 Issues, Vision and Objectives endorsement 
following consultation 

14/06/2019 Amended for Cabinet 3rd July 2019 to reflect 16th May 2019’s 
Climate Emergency declaration by Council 

2.0 Growth and Spatial Options endorsement to 
consult 

07/06/2019 Draft for Cabinet 3rd July 2019 

2.1 Growth and Spatial Options scrutiny 09/07/2019 Draft for Economy & Development Select Committee 17th July 
2019 

3.0 Preferred Strategy endorsement to consult 11/12/2019 Draft for Council report 5th March 2020 

3.1 Preferred Strategy endorsement to consult 17/02/2020 Social Justice Strategy reviewed with Judith Langdon 

4.0 Revised Delivery Agreement  05/03/2020 Timetable amended further to account for slippage as a result of 
the pre-election period preceding the December 2019 General 
Election, the  additional time and work needed to inform the 
Preferred Strategy and delays associated with joint working with 
neighbouring local authorities on joint evidence base work. 

4.1 Revised Delivery Agreement and review of 
Issues, Vision and Objectives and of evidence 
base in the light of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

07/10/2010 Timetable amended further to account for Covid-19 pandemic and 
revised Welsh Government population and household projections. 

5.0 Revised Growth and Spatial Options scrutiny  17/11//2020 Draft for Economic Development Select Committee 10th 
December 2020  

5.1 Revised Growth and Spatial Options 
endorsement to consult, including identifying 
growth option 5 and spatial option 2 as the 
preferred options at this stage of the process.  

03/12/2020 Draft for Cabinet report 16th December 2020  

 

 

P
age 361



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

 

To update members on the Councils ambition to disrupt the local housing market through 

the construction of low cost homes by the Council and the future creation of a development 

company. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1  That Cabinet agrees to the proposals to commence a project to undertake the construction 

of low cost homes on the site adjacent to Caldicot Comprehensive School in Caldicot as 

illustrated in appendix 1. 

 

2.2 That Cabinet agrees to the continuation of the planning for the development company so 

that it can be implemented when opportunities or a land supply pipeline are secured and 

the requirement for a development company is both justified and required by law. 

 

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 

3.1 In April 2019, Council considered an initial feasibility study into the potential benefits for 

establishing a development company to intervene in the housing and commercial market 

place. The rationale behind this proposal was to facilitate the construction of affordable 

housing as the disparity between house prices and income was continuing to accelerate, 

particularly for the indigenous population. 

 

3.2 At the time of the report the 2018 Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA), identified 

the mean average house price in Monmouthshire at £307,600 and the gross average 

income for those living and working in the county at £25,360. The most recent  

 LHMA indicates that despite the current pandemic the mean average price in 

Monmouthshire in September 2020 was £336,760. Average earnings have increased to 

£29,640 for those living and working in the county and to £36,119 for those out 

commuting.  

 

3.3 The Monmouthshire housing stock is distinct from other parts of Wales. Terraced housing, 

which is usually entry level, makes up 40.85% of the Welsh average stock, whereas in 

Monmouthshire it accounts for only 27.83%. Conversely, detached properties comprise 

44% of Monmouthshire’s housing stock, whereas the average for Wales is 27%. When 

SUBJECT:  Update on proposals to create a Development Company 

MEETING:  Cabinet 

DATE:   14th December 2020 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: All 

 

Page 363

Agenda Item 3d



considering the tenure breakdown of properties in Monmouthshire, 73.6% of the housing 

stock is owned outright or mortgaged, 0.4% is shared ownership and 24.6% is rented 

(13.8% socially rented and 10.8% private). 

 

3.4 As is evident from these figures, it is becoming increasingly difficult for new entrants to 

either home ownership or the rented sector in Monmouthshire. This increasing disparity 

between house prices and average earnings led Council to ask officers to prepare a 

detailed business case on the establishment of a development company with particular 

reference to financial viability, governance structures and social outcomes. 

 

3.5 Council officers have worked with Saville’s to consider the potential benefits, financial and 

legal consequences, and policy delivery and governance arrangements that establishing a 

development company may create. The business case considered the financial viability of 

three potential sites currently allocated in the LDP, two of which Rockfield Farm and 

Chepstow Road, Raglan are now being advertised for disposal. 

 

3.6 The business case concluded that the proposal to establish a development company 

would: 

 

 Enable the company to exert greater influence and control over the property and 

tenure mix on developments 

 It would provide the company with the opportunity to deliver affordable and 

intermediate housing products that might not otherwise be delivered by developers in 

the market. 

 The company will be able to control all design and quality standards, including size, 

build-standard, materials, and including enforcing carbon reduction objectives. 

 The Council will be able to control the way in which profits and receipts from land sales 

are invested and reinvested in future programmes, thereby ensuring that the 

advantages of housing market growth in Monmouthshire are retained for the benefit of 

local residents 

 The company could facilitate the building of local supply chains in Monmouthshire if a 

pipeline of sites is secured. 

 

3.7 A key component of the future viability of a company is the need to generate a supply 

pipeline that will provide both longevity, supply chain development, spreading of financial 

risk and the opportunity to provide a meaningful intervention to the local housing market. 

 

3.8  The current pandemic has resulted in a delay to the progression of the Council’s 

replacement Local Development Plan, which will also be influenced by the emerging 

National Development Framework and the Strategic Development Plan to be prepared by 

the soon to be constituted Corporate Joint Committee. The consequence of these wider 

planning policy framework delays is that at this time, we are unable to secure a pipeline of 

sites beyond those within the existing LDP. 

 

3.9 The Council’s ambition to undertake an interventionist approach to positively contribute to 

affordable housing however remains. It is therefore proposed that rather than take a 

passive approach and wait for the wider planning policy environment to be established, 

Page 364



that the Council seeks to develop a site to test and challenge our development aspirations, 

build capacity and learning and provide affordable housing units. 

 

3.10 The Council continues to hold a residential development site in Caldicot, adjacent to the 

new school, which can accommodate up to 14 affordable residential units. The proposed 

development could be undertaken in conjunction with an external development partner or 

could be delivered in partnership with Housing colleagues if grant funding could be 

secured to support construction costs. Both options will enable the Council to positively 

contribute to much needed affordable housing supply, which is particularly acute as a 

result of an increase in homelessness referrals over the pandemic. 

 

3.11 The benefit to this proposal is that it avoids the set up and holding costs of a development 

company, it allows the Council to undertake a pilot, the lessons from which can be used to 

influence the articles of association and governance structures of the development 

company.  It also allows time to secure a pipeline of sites to ensure long term viability and 

supply chain development. The Council subject to an appropriate procurement process for 

a development partner is able to undertake not for profit development without creating a 

separate entity. Developing out the housing ourselves will also enable us to determine the 

specification and policy ambitions that we wish to pursue ensuring that we target specific 

tenures and unit types in collaboration with the Council’s Housing team. 

 

3.12 There will be financial implications to the Council should this proposal proceed and they 

will be dependent on the development process progressed. Whichever delivery method is 

followed the land value of the asset will be foregone to support the development costs. If 

the development is undertaken with an external partner then the Council would seek to 

secure nomination rights over the properties, if the Council constructs the properties they 

will be retained by the Housing department and used to support homeless need.  

 

3.13 This proposal is considered a positive and proactive interim stage, which will allow the 

Council to intervene in the affordable housing market, minimise risk exposure and provide 

invaluable learning for the future development company. Work will continue on finalising 

the proposed governance structure and learning from other wholly owned development 

companies so that in the event that a land supply can be realised, our development 

company could, subject to member approvals, be established and operating quickly. 

  

4 EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION (INCLUDES SOCIAL JUSTICE, 

SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING): 

 

4.1 This proposal does not have any safeguarding and corporate parenting implications. The 
proposal fully aligns with the principles of sustainable development and the well-being 
principles.  

 

5 OPTIONS APPRAISAL 

 

Option Benefits Disadvantages Recommendation 

Do Nothing  No financial loss 

 No risks incurred 

 Affordability disparity 
continues to widen 

This approach will do 
nothing to support 
local communities 
and those in need. 

Page 365



 The number of 
homeless households 
continues to grow 

 Financial gain from 
housing development is 
not retained within the 
county 

Establish the 
development 
company and 
build out the 14 
units 

 Housing would be 
constructed 

 The company would have 
the ability to capitalise on 
opportunities presented 

 The company could 
intervene in the housing 
market and develop 
commercial sites to yield a 
profit 

 Affordable housing does 
not generate profit, 
therefore the company 
would need to run at a 
loss until other 
opportunities could be 
identified 

 No supply pipeline 

 Taxation implications  

 Governance and staffing 
costs would increase the 
financial burden to the 
company without a 
commercial pipeline. 

The development 
company has 
significant 
advantages at the 
point a supply chain 
can be identified. It 
is not recommended 
that this vehicle be 
used to build the 14 
units due to the 
potential cost 
burdens that will 
arise to the Council. 

The Council 
develops the 14 
unit site in 
Caldicot with or 
without a 
development 
partner 

 Upskill staff 

 Provide 14 affordable 
housing units 

 Provide learning and proof 
of concept 

 Intervenes in housing 
market to signal intent. 

 Financial risk as the site 
will not be profit 
generating 

 Risks that a 
development partner or 
construction partner 
unable to meet the 
Councils carbon neutral 
aspirations due to 
affordability, lack of 
supply / expertise or 
intent 

 Lack of in house capacity 
to deliver site in a timely 
manner 

 Costs and risks escalate 
during the process due 
to the impact of the 
current pandemic. 

Whilst it is 
acknowledged that 
there are risks 
associated with this 
proposal, the 
potential benefits 
exceed these and 
this is the 
recommended 
option. 

 

6 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

 

6.1 The project will be evaluated against financial and policy criteria following the completion 
of the proposed dwellings. 

 

7. REASONS 

 

7.1 The current market mechanisms are failing to meet demand and indigenous populations 

are increasingly being forced to re-locate as housing prices and rental levels become more 

and more unaffordable. This proposal would enable the Council to undertake a pilot 

development project, which would provide learning to support the planned creation of the 

development company, intended to speed up supply and meet design parameters that 

reflect the wider social justice agenda. 

Page 366



 

7.2 The current pandemic has resulted in an increase in homeless referrals and there is 

insufficient stock to meet these demands. The development of these 14 units would 

increase the available stock, provide learning, capacity and expertise, which could be 

encapsulated into a development company if a supply chain or opportunities present. 

 

7.3 If the Council’s other LDP allocations are not sufficiently progressed or fail to meet 

affordable housing expectations, the Council will have gained sufficient expertise to step 

into these developments and drive them forward. 

 

7.4 The proposal will be the first pro-active intervention into the housing supply, which will 

meet a long held policy aspiration of the Council and provide up to 14 affordable 

residential properties. 

 

8. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

 

8.1 The proposal to build out up to 14 affordable housing units will result in an opportunity cost 

to the Council, as the value of the land will be lost to subsidise the development of the 

properties. It is anticipated that the site will be developed in conjunction with a 

development partner who will contribute the capital funding for the construction of the 

scheme. If however, the Housing team is able to secure grant funding or a business case 

can evidence that the revenue returns from the completed properties can fund any 

borrowing costs, and then this option will be explored. 

 

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

Council Report – April 2019 – Proposed Development Company – Initial Appraisal  

 

11. AUTHOR:   

 

 Debra Hill-Howells  Head of Commercial, Property, Fleet and Facilities 

 

12. CONTACT DETAILS: 

 

 Tel: 01633 644281 

 E-mail: debrahill-howells@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 367

https://democracy.monmouthshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=2484
mailto:debrahill-howells@monmouthshire.gov.uk


 

Appendix 1 

 

 

Page 368



 

 
     
 

Name of the Officer completing the evaluation 
 
Debra Hill-Howells 
Phone no:  01633 644281 
E-mail:  debrahill-howells@monmouthshire.go.uk 

Proposal Name: 

Proposal to create a wholly owned development trading company 

 Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 

To ascertain the viability of established a wholly owned company to 

undertake residential and commercial developments. The residential 

developments would have a financial and social agenda, intervening in 

the housing market to provide increased supply and future proofing 

homes. 

Name of Service 

Commercial & Landlord Services 

Date Future Generations Evaluation form completed 

25.03.19, Updated 27.11.20 

 

NB. Key strategies and documents that may help you identify your contribution to the wellbeing goals and sustainable 

development principles include: Single Integrated Plan, Continuance Agreement, Improvement Plan, Local Development Plan, 

People Strategy, Asset Management Plan, Green Infrastructure SPG, Welsh Language Standards, etc 

 

1. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together 

with suggestions of how to mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.   

Future Generations Evaluation  
(includes Equalities and Sustainability Impact Assessments) 

P
age 369



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, 
educated people, generates wealth, 
provides jobs 

The proposal would involve the Council setting up a 

trading company which would then to draw upon the 

local supply chain for materials and the construction 

expertise. Developers profit would be retained by the 

public purse and recycled back into service 

provision. Design standards could be employed that 

maximize social value including carbon neutrality. 

Proposal is to undertake a pilot development of 14 

affordable units which would create employment and  

wealth creation. 

This report is only in the feasibility stage a detailed 

business case will need to be developed which 

further explores these impacts and how best to 

maximize opportunities whilst mitigating risks and 

impact 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and 
can adapt to change (e.g. climate 
change) 

It is anticipated that Carbon neutrality will underpin 

the ethos of the company through the 

implementation of renewable technologies, three 

phase energy for electric vehicle charging. It is 

however accepted that any development on 

greenfield sites will inevitably have a negative impact 

on the local wildlife and off setting policies will be 

explored. 

As above 

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental 
wellbeing is maximized and health 
impacts are understood 

Affordable, quality housing is a key determinant in 

health and well-being. Ensuring that houses are well 

designed and provide essential supporting 

infrastructure to create and support sustainable 

communities is expected to be one of the driving 

principles of the new company 

The proposed pilot development will be affordable 

housing and meet the needs of those most in need. 

As above 

P
age 370



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? 

Describe the positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to 

mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, 
safe and well connected 

Design principles and a social lens will ensure that 

we develop properties that strive to maximize both 

social and financial value. The company and the 

Council will have a long term legacy involvement 

through the management of stock and the services it 

provides 

As above 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global 
well-being when considering local 
social, economic and environmental 
wellbeing 

We will work to develop local supply chains, utilizing 

local materials, reduce carbon emissions through the 

implementation of energy efficient and renewable 

technologies and where possible design properties 

to become positive contributors to the power grid.  

As above 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language 
are promoted and protected.  People 
are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation 

Developments will ensure compliance with LDP 

policies around green space, amenity infrastructure 

and affordable housing designed to support local 

communities 

As above 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no 
matter what their background or 
circumstances 

The provision of affordable well designed energy efficient 

homes will create equity for those who are currently 

unable to live within the communities that they were born 

due to escalating rental levels and house prices. We will 

ensure compliance with affordable housing requirements. 

As above 

 

2. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

P
age 371



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Balancing 

short term 

need with 

long term and 

planning for 

the future 

The aspiration of carbon neutrality and power generating 

homes will underpin the delivery model through the 

provision of renewable technologies to mitigate the need for 

fossil fuels and grid consumption. We will explore new 

construction methods that build local renewable supply 

chains and embed sustainable development principles. 

As above 

Working 

together with 

other 

partners to 

deliver 

objectives  

Given that this will be a new venture working with delivery 

partners either through the provison of construction 

services,or with RSL’s partnership working will underpin 

delivery. We will continue to engage with the Welsh 

Governments energy service to maximize our plans around 

carbon neutrality 

As above 

Involving 

those with 

an interest 

and seeking 

their views 

When undertaking a development the company will be 

required to listen to local views as part of the statutory 

process. We will also engage with PSB partners to 

maximize benefits within localities based on evidenced 

need. The proposal has been driven by data and evidence 

from the Local Housing Market Assessment and we will 

work with Housing and RSL partners to ensure that the 

voice of local stakeholders are heard. 

As above 

Putting 

resources 

into 

preventing 

problems 

occurring or 

getting 

worse 

The purpose of the trading company is to intervene in a 

market where house prices are continuing to escalate and 

supply has failed to meet pace with demand. The Council 

does not have a track record of delivering residential 

properties, but it will develop a model to facilitate this 

working with experienced advisors and supply chain. 

As above 

P
age 372



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met 

this principle?  If yes, describe how.  If not explain 

why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 

contribute to positive impacts? 

Considering 

impact on all 

wellbeing 

goals 

together and 

on other 

bodies 

The development company proposal seeks to maximize 

financial value without compromising on its well being 

principles and social justice agenda. It will inevitably be 

challenging as capacity and skills need to be developed to 

put the theory into practice, but as evidenced though our 

commercial portfolio – we are more than capable of turning 

theory into practice to the benefit of our local communities 

The development pilot will be to deliver affordable housing 

which will take priority over commercial considerations. 

 

 

3. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the 

evidence you have used and any action you are taking below. For more detailed information on the protected characteristics, the Equality 

Act 2010 and the Welsh Language Standards that apply to Monmouthshire Council please follow this 

link:http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx  or contact Alan Burkitt on 01633 644010 or 

alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

 

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Age Providing affordable housing for all age 

demographics, but may have significant 

benefits for younger people 

Neutral  

Disability  Developments will be in accordance with 

planning and building regulation 

requirements. 

Neutral  

P
age 373

http://hub/corporatedocs/Equalities/Forms/AllItems.aspx
mailto:alanburkitt@monmouthshire.gov.uk


Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on the 
protected characteristic 

What has been/will be done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or 

better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Gender 

reassignment 

Neutral Neutral  

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

Neutral Neutral  

Pregnancy or 

maternity 

Neutral  Neutral  

Race Neutral Neutral  

Religion or Belief Neutral Neutral  

Sex Neutral Neutral  

Sexual Orientation Neutral Neutral  

 

Welsh Language 

Neutral Neutral  

 
4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on important responsibilities of Corporate Parenting and 

safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect either of these responsibilities?  For more information please see the guidance 
http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx  and for more on Monmouthshire’s Corporate 
Parenting Strategy see http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx 

 

P
age 374

http://hub/corporatedocs/Democratic%20Services/Safeguarding%20Guidance.docx
http://hub/corporatedocs/SitePages/Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy.aspx


 Describe any positive impacts your 
proposal has on safeguarding and 
corporate parenting 

Describe any negative impacts 
your proposal has on safeguarding 
and corporate parenting 

What will you do/ have you done 
to mitigate any negative impacts 
or better contribute to positive 
impacts? 

Safeguarding  Neutral Neutral  

Corporate Parenting  Neutral Neutral  

 
5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 

• Local Housing Market Assessment – September 2018 & September 2020 
• Report to Council in February 2019 detailing current position of the LDP and the expected shortfall 
• Discussions with trading companies, professional advisors and attendance at a Westminster briefing. 
• Business case prepared by Savilles 
• Homeless figures for MCC 

 

 

6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have 
they informed/changed the development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 

 

Benefits 

 The creation of a wholly owned trading development company will allow the council to increase financial value either through retention 

of the developers profit or a revenue stream from rented accommodation 

 Applying a strong social ethos to the values of the company will ensure that the company remains aligned to the Council’s social justice 

and well being agendas and positively contribute to the carbon neutrality target of 2030. 

 The proposal to undertake a pilot development of 14 affordable housing units will positively contribute to the existing housing and 

delivery chains. 

 

 

P
age 375



Negative Impacts 

 The company will be competing with the private sector for sites and construction contracts. 

 Risks associated with the property market and financial returns 

 

7. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if 
applicable. 

 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  Progress  

Undertake a detailed business 

plan that considers the proposal 

in terms of viability and 

aspirations 

By the end of 2019 Officer team (Peter Davies, 

Debra Hill-Howells, Matthew 

Phillips, Nick Keyse, Matthew 

Howcroft) 

Completed 

Undertake a pilot development 

of 14 units to build evidence, 

learning and capacity for the 

development company 

By the end of 2022 Officer team and potential 

external partner 
 

    

 

8. MONITORING: The impacts of this proposal will need to be monitored and reviewed. Please specify the date at which you will 

evaluate the impact, and where you will report the results of the review. 

 

The impacts of this proposal will be evaluated on:  At the production of the detailed business case 

At pre-construction and completion stage  

 

9. VERSION CONTROL: The Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stages of decision making, and then 

honed and refined throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this process so that we can 

demonstrate how we have considered and built in sustainable development wherever possible. 

 

P
age 376



Version 

No. 

Decision making stage  Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following 

consideration 

 County Council  April 2019  

 Cabinet December 2020  

    

 

 

 

P
age 377



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

1. PURPOSE: 

 

1.1 To provide an overview of the council’s winter strategy and formally endorse the purpose and 
strategic aims that will be in place until March 2021. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1 That Cabinet formally endorse the purpose and strategic aims, set out in the ‘Winter Strategy’. 
  

3. KEY ISSUES: 

 

3.1 At its meeting on 4 November 2020 Cabinet evaluated the progress made against the purpose 
and strategic aims set out in the Council’s Coronavirus ‘Transition’ Strategy. Cabinet also 
agreed that a further revision of the purpose and strategic aims be developed taking account 
of the latest evidence to guide future activity.  This was developed over the subsequent 
weeks, this meeting presents the first opportunity to formally endorse the strategy. 

 
3.2  ‘Our Winter Strategy’ attached in appendix 1, sets out the Council’s priorities until March 2021. 

Through this time the Council will continue its work with the citizens and communities of 
Monmouthshire to reduce the spread of COVID-19, continue to support and protect vulnerable 
people and give attention to rebuilding a local economy that reduces inequalities within and 
between communities. The strategy sets the purpose of the council:  

 
To protect your health, your employment, your community and your public services. 

 
3.3 This purpose is underpinned by eight strategic aims and the more detailed activity that 

supports these including: 
 

 Delivering an excellent Test, Trace & Protect System 

 Working with the NHS to roll-out a COVID vaccination programme  

 Supporting those that are lonely, lose their job, their home and / or cannot access food 

 Maintaining our social care services including child protection, support at home and 
residential care 

 Providing high quality teaching and learning to all, whether in school or out 

 Supporting businesses to trade safely and signposting them to financial support that 
can assist their survival 

 Helping businesses with the BREXIT transition process highlighting regulatory changes 
that create obstacles / opportunity 

 Responding to winter emergencies, such as snow and flooding 

 Setting a budget for the financial year 2021/22 capable of delivering the priorities 
 
 

 

SUBJECT:  WINTER STRATEGY 

MEETING:  Cabinet 

DATE:  16 December 2020 

DIVISION/WARDS AFFECTED: ALL 

Page 379

Agenda Item 3e



2 
 

4 EQUALITY AND FUTURE GENERATIONS EVALUATION (INCLUDES SOCIAL JUSTICE, 

SAFEGUARDING AND CORPORATE PARENTING): 

 
4.1 A completed Equality & Future Generations Evaluation is attached. The strategic aims have 

been informed by the latest available evidence and government guidance. The detailed 
proposals that follow the strategic aims will all consider the impact and mitigating actions 
required to minimise the adverse consequences for those with protected characteristics. 

 
4.2 The proposed strategic aims have taken equality and the components of well-being into 

account. The legislation and the council’s responsibilities in all these areas will remain an 
important part in our response as it continues to develop. 

 
5 OPTIONS APPRAISAL 

 
The strategic aims are informed by the latest available evidence and government guidance, to 
inform the Council’s ongoing activity. While a number of arrangements have continued to be 
developed and implemented to support these aims, the Council continues to operate in a 
dynamic environment and delivery of each aim is not without challenges and risks. The 
delivery will continue to be monitored and programmes will need to be flexible in timescale and 
content as circumstances and guidance changes. 

 

6 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

 

6.1 Where available, measures or milestones will be used to track and help evaluate progress on 
the actions that underpin the strategic aims. Nonetheless, it needs to be recognised that in a 
changing external environment it is likely that actions, and therefore the corresponding 
measures of progress, will need to be continuously reviewed. 
 

6.2 The Council’s established performance framework will continue to facilitate service planning, 
performance management and risk management across Council services.  
 

7 REASONS: 

 

7.1 There remains significant challenges that must be responded to, clearly specifying the 
council’s purpose and strategic aims will guide the Council’s priorities and approach ensuring 
clarity and accountability and informing the future shape of service delivery as the Council 
continues to evolve and adapt to changing circumstances. 

 
8 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 
 
8.1 Delivery of the strategic aims will continue to have significant resource implications, including 

increased costs to maintain current service delivery and demands in setting up new or 

amended services. Close financial and budget monitoring will continue. A specific action has 

been set it the strategy on setting a budget for the financial year 2021/22 capable of delivering 

these priorities. 

 

9 CONSULTEES: 

 

Strategic Leadership Team 

Cabinet 

 

The strategic aims have been developed by Cabinet in discussion with Strategic Leadership 

Team. 

 

Page 380



3 
 

10 BACKGROUND PAPERS: 

 

Monmouthshire Coronavirus Strategic Aims 

Monmouthshire Corporate Plan 2017/22 

 

11 AUTHORS: 

 

Matthew Gatehouse, Head of Policy and Governance 

Richard Jones, Performance Manager 

 

12 CONTACT DETAILS: 

 

 Tel: (01633) 644397  

 e-mail: matthewgatehouse@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Tel: (01633) 740733 

e-mail: richardjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 381

mailto:matthewgatehouse@monmouthshire.gov.uk
mailto:richardjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk


4 
 

Appendix 1 – Our Winter Strategy (December 2020 – March 2021) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 382



 

 
     
 

Name of the Officer completing the evaluation 
Richard Jones & Hazel Clatworthy 
 
Phone no: 01633 740733 
E-mail: richardjones@monmouthshire.gov.uk 

Please give a brief description of the aims of the proposal 

To endorse the Winter Strategy to guide the Council’s activity through December 

2020 – March 2021. 

Name of Service area 

All services 

Date   

1 December 2020 

 

1. Are your proposals going to affect any people or groups of people with protected characteristics?  Please explain the impact, the evidence you have used and any 

action you are taking below.  

Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your proposal 
has on the protected characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

What has been/will be done to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute 

to positive impacts? 

Age Our purpose is to protect your health, your 

employment, your community and your public 

services. 

Many of our aims are focused on the wellbeing 

of young people and older people which is 

reflected in our strategic aims, in particular 

“Ensure all vulnerable young people and adults 

are safeguarded”.  

We have continued to provide vital Adult and 

Children’s social care 

Evidence has shown that older age is 
associated with greater risk and impact of 
COVID-19.  
 
The significant time away from school will 
have affected the learning trajectory of 
many learners and this is not likely to be a 
uniform impact with disadvantaged pupils 
likely to be impacted upon more 
significantly. 
 
The pandemic could also impact on peoples 
mental health and feelings of loneliness. 
Our continuing response and recovery will 
need to focus on this risk and helping those 
most vulnerable. 

Schools have been assessing pupils on 
return in September to identify the support 
and intervention needed for pupils to 
continue to make accelerated progress and 
close gaps in learning. 
 
All schools have been progressing the 
delivery of a distance learning offer to their 
learners. To assist this, we have established 
digital learning technologies and 
approaches, which are being further 
developed into a blended learning 
approach going forward. 
 
In order to provide vital social care services 
for all those who need them, including child 

Equality and Future Generations Evaluation  
 

P
age 383



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your proposal 
has on the protected characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

What has been/will be done to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute 

to positive impacts? 

All schools in Monmouthshire re-opened in 

September in line with Welsh Government 

guidance.  

We established the Community Action 

Volunteer Team (CAVT) to assist offers of help 

being coordinated with the offers of support. 

 

protection, care at home, and residential 
care, we are regularly assessing the impacts 
of the pandemic as it continues. 
 
We have continued to manage, adapt and 
provide services to vulnerable citizens. 
Some services are seeing an increase in 
demand that is putting pressure on 
services, particularly in adult’s social care 
which continues to be managed. 
 
We are developing, with our public sector 
partners, a model of neighbourhood 
networks that work with community 
volunteers to support long-term benefit. 
 
The delivery of the aims is not without 
challenges and risks, they will continue to 
be monitored and will be flexible and adapt 
as evidence, circumstances and guidance 
changes.  
 

Disability Our purpose is to protect your health, your 

employment, your community and your public 

services. 

Our aim “Ensure all vulnerable young people 

and adults are safeguarded” in particular is 

focused on supporting the wellbeing of people 

with disabilities. 

Evidence has shown that certain underlying 
health conditions are associated with 
greater risk and impact of COVID-19.  
 
The Coronavirus pandemic is likely to have a 
social impact on disabled people including 
effecting well-being, concerns about their 
health and access to health care and access 
to essentials.  
 
It could also impact on disabled peoples 
mental health and feelings of loneliness. 
 

In order to provide vital social care services 
for all those who need them, including child 
protection, care at home, and residential 
care we are regularly assessing the impacts 
of the pandemic as it continues. 
 
We have continued to manage, adapt and 
provide services to vulnerable citizens. 
Some services are seeing an increase in 
demand that is putting pressure on 
services, particularly in adult’s social care 
which continues to be managed. 
 

P
age 384



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your proposal 
has on the protected characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

What has been/will be done to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute 

to positive impacts? 

We are committed to ensuring that every 

person or family in crisis that we are aware of 

receives support.   

We have continued to provide vital Adult and 

Children’s social care. 

We established the Community Action 

Volunteer Team (CAVT) to assist offers of help 

being coordinated with the offers of support.  

 

 
Our continuing response and recovery will 
need to focus on this risk and helping those 
most vulnerable. 

 
As part of the Council’s continued 
commitment to Social Justice, evidence is 
being reviewed and activity related to 
poverty in Monmouthshire being planned. 
 
Modifications have continued to be made 
to support the safe operation of town 
centers, including making some 
adjustments to initial schemes based on 
feedback to ensure they are safe and 
accessible places for people with 
disabilities. 
 
The delivery of the aims is not without 
challenges and risks, they will continue to 
be monitored and will be flexible and adapt 
as evidence, circumstances and guidance 
changes. 

Gender reassignment Our purpose is to protect your health, your 

employment, your community and your public 

services. 

Our aims and associated activity will promote 

diversity and inclusion. 

None identified at this stage  The delivery of the aims is not without 
challenges and risks, they will continue to 
be monitored and will be flexible and adapt 
as evidence, circumstances and guidance 
changes. 

P
age 385



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your proposal 
has on the protected characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

What has been/will be done to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute 

to positive impacts? 

Marriage or civil 

partnership 

Our purpose is to protect your health, your 
employment, your community and your public 
services. 
 
Our aims and associated activity will promote 
diversity and inclusion 

Coronavirus regulations have impacted on 
Marriage and Civil Partnerships. 
 

The marriage and civil partnership service 
operated by the authority’s Registrars 
service has provided the service, as 
permitted in adherence to the latest 
COVID-19 legislation and guidelines. 
 
The delivery of the aims is not without 
challenges and risks, they will continue to 
be monitored and will be flexible and adapt 
as evidence, circumstances and guidance 
changes. 

Pregnancy or maternity Our purpose is to protect your health, your 
employment, your community and your public 
services. 
 
Our aims and associated activity will promote 
diversity and inclusion. 
 

Pregnant women have been included in the 
list of people at moderate risk (clinically 
vulnerable) of COVID-19. 

The delivery of the aims is not without 
challenges and risks, they will continue to 
be monitored and will be flexible and adapt 
as evidence, circumstances and guidance 
changes. 

Race Our purpose is to protect your health, your 

employment, your community and your public 

services. 

Our aims and associated activity will promote 

diversity and inclusion. 

 

Evidence has shown that ethnicity is 
associated with greater risk and impact of 
COVID-19. 
 
There has been a focus on understanding 
the impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups, 
including inequalities affecting BAME groups 
in the UK.  
 
Our continuing response and recovery will 
need to focus on this risk, utilise the 
evidence and help those most vulnerable.  
 

The delivery of the aims is not without 
challenges and risks, they will continue to 
be monitored and will be flexible and adapt 
as evidence, circumstances and guidance 
changes. 
 
 

P
age 386



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your proposal 
has on the protected characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

What has been/will be done to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute 

to positive impacts? 

Religion or Belief Our purpose is to protect your health, your 

employment, your community and your public 

services. 

Our aims and associated activity will promote 

diversity and inclusion. 

Under Coronavirus regulations places of 
worship have been closed for periods.  
 
Places of worship play an important role in 
providing spiritual leadership for many 
individuals. 

The delivery of the aims is not without 
challenges and risks, they will continue to 
be monitored and will be flexible and adapt 
as evidence, circumstances and guidance 
changes. 

Sex Our purpose is to protect your health, your 

employment, your community and your public 

services. 

Our aims and associated activity will promote 

diversity and inclusion. 

 

Evidence has shown that male sex is 
associated with greater risk of COVID-19. 
 
The pandemic may have an impact on 
gender inequality, for example with 
childcare responsibilities. 
 
Our continuing response and recovery will 
need to focus on this risk and helping those 
most vulnerable. 
 
 

As many residents saw their employment 
and financial situations change, services 
have provided a range of support, for 
example promoting access to benefits, 
spreading council tax payments over longer 
periods, and providing employment and 
skills support 
 
The delivery of the aims is not without 
challenges and risks, they will continue to 
be monitored and will be flexible and adapt 
as evidence, circumstances and guidance 
changes. 

Sexual Orientation Our purpose is to protect your health, your 

employment, your community and your public 

services. 

Our aims and associated activity will promote 

diversity and inclusion. 

None identified at this stage  The delivery of the aims is not without 
challenges and risks, they will continue to 
be monitored and will be flexible and adapt 
as evidence, circumstances and guidance 
changes. 

Welsh Language Our purpose is to protect your health, your 

employment, your community and your public 

services. 

The use of welsh language in service delivery 

will continue to be integral.  

The significant time away from school and 
classes will have affected the learning 
trajectory of many learners. Welsh language 
skills, particularly of pupils in welsh-medium 
education, may be impacted as they may 
have limited opportunity to use the 

Schools have been assessing pupils on 
return in September to identify the support 
and intervention needed for pupils to 
continue to make accelerated progress and 
close gaps in learning. 
 

P
age 387



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your proposal 
has on the protected characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

What has been/will be done to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute 

to positive impacts? 

All schools in Monmouthshire re-opened in 

September in line with Welsh Government 

guidance.  

 

language at home particularly if no one in 
their home speaks welsh. 

All schools have been progressing the 
delivery of a distance learning offer to their 
learners. To assist this, we have established 
digital learning technologies and 
approaches, which are being further 
developed into a blended learning 
approach going forward. 
 
The learning of languages online has been 
reported as being popular during lockdown, 
with learning Welsh online seeing an 
increase in demand.  The Council is 
considering how it can adjust the Welsh 
language learning provision it provides.  
 
The delivery of the aims is not without 
challenges and risks, they will continue to 
be monitored and will be flexible and adapt 
as evidence, circumstances and guidance 
changes. 

Poverty Our purpose is to protect your health, your 

employment, your community and your public 

services.   

Many of our aims are focused on the supporting 

those who need help. 

We are committed to ensuring that every 

person or family in crisis that we are aware of 

receives support and have continued to deliver 

vital services to achieve this.  

Schools have been assessing pupils on return in 

September to identify the support and 

Analysis has shown the association between 

deprivation and the risk of COVID-19.  

Economic disadvantage is also associated 

with other health risks such as obesity and, 

diabetes, which increase the risk of disease 

severity. 

There is evidence that the economic impact 

of the virus disproportionately affects those 

working in lower-paid sectors, which can 

exacerbate issues of poverty and inequality.  

Those on lower incomes are less-likely to 

Undertake data modelling to identify 

communities at greatest risk and use this to 

target pro-active responses. 

As part of the Council’s continued 

commitment to Social Justice, evidence is 

being reviewed and activity related to 

poverty in Monmouthshire being planned.  

This includes to creation of two new posts 

dedicated to this work as agreed in a 

motion at Council on 4th June. 

We established the Community Action 

Volunteer Team (CAVT) to assist offers of 

P
age 388



Protected 
Characteristics  

Describe any positive impacts your proposal 
has on the protected characteristic 

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has on the protected 

characteristic 

What has been/will be done to mitigate 
any negative impacts or better contribute 

to positive impacts? 

intervention needed for pupils to continue to 

make accelerated progress and close gaps in 

learning. 

We have made free school meal payments 

directly to the families of eligible pupils 

Shelter is being sourced and provided for 

homeless and vulnerable people in the county, 

helping to ensure their safety during this time. 

We have helped to coordinate community 

volunteering and support local food banks. 

There has been a huge response from residents 

to volunteer across Monmouthshire and these 

efforts have been integral in supporting those 

most in need in our communities during the 

pandemic. 

As many residents saw their employment and 

financial situations change, services have 

provided a range of support, for example 

promoting access to benefits, spreading council 

tax payments over longer periods, and providing 

employment and skills support. 

have access to technology and outdoor 

spaces. 

There is evidence that the pandemic has a 

bigger impact on the well-being of those in 

more deprived communities. 

There is a risk that those already facing 

poverty and inequality will face a worsening 

situation due to increased financial hardship, 

health deterioration and a decline in 

educational attainment. 

Our continuing response and recovery will 

need to focus on this risk, utilise the 

evidence and help those most vulnerable. 

help being coordinated with the offers of 

support. We are developing, with our 

public sector partners, a model of 

neighbourhood networks that work with 

community volunteers to support long-

term benefit. 

New guidance seeks to extend our 

homelessness offer to provide suitable long 

term housing for all those accommodated 

in temporary housing. Plans are being 

explored to meet this requirement. 

The delivery of the aims is not without 

challenges and risks, they will continue to 

be monitored and will be flexible and adapt 

as evidence, circumstances and guidance 

changes. 

 

 

 

  

P
age 389



2. Does your proposal deliver any of the well-being goals below?  Please explain the impact (positive and negative) you expect, together with suggestions of how to 

mitigate negative impacts or better contribute to the goal.  There’s no need to put something in every box if it is not relevant! 

Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? Describe the 

positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to mitigate any 

negative impacts or better contribute to positive 

impacts? 

A prosperous Wales 
Efficient use of resources, skilled, educated 
people, generates wealth, provides jobs 

COVID-19 will inevitably have a significant impact on the 

economy of Monmouthshire.  We have been doing all 

that we can to help reduce the impact on local 

businesses through contacting local businesses advising 

them they were eligible for financial support, and paying 

grants to local businesses.  This work and advice 

continues with each new phase of support and funding. 

Officers from departments across council are working 

together with businesses to ensure that as regulations 

allow our town centers are able to operate safely, whilst 

ensuring the safety of staff and customers.   

Promoting the Shop Local, Shop Monmouthshire 

campaign.  This was launched in the summer, and has 

been relaunched in the run up to Christmas after the 

firebreak, together with free weekend parking. 

We continue to administer payment of a range of 

financial support under each of the government grant 

schemes. 

A resilient Wales 
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and 
ecosystems that support resilience and can 
adapt to change (e.g. climate change) 

Air quality has improved through the reduction of traffic, 

and people have become more aware of the wildlife 

around them.  Wales Biodiversity Week has built on 

raising that awareness.  One by product of redeploying 

grounds staff to waste has been a reduction in mowing 

and an increasing in wildflowers and pollinators.  

Delaying the start of mowing and reducing the areas 

mown have been adopted for the long term. 

We were successful in obtaining funding to encourage 

active travel to continue, whilst allowing space for social 

distancing.  Other active travel funding has also been 

secured. 

A healthier Wales 
People’s physical and mental wellbeing is 
maximized and health impacts are understood 

Saving lives and protecting health has been the number 

one driver through the pandemic, and this has shaped 

and informed service provision, PPE provision, new ways 

of working etc.  

There has also been a recognition of the importance of 

mental well-being at this time, with measures such as the 

Ongoing work will continue to focus on protecting 

health in line with the latest legislation and guidance. 

Work to encourage healthy modes of travel such as 

walking and cycling will continue to be developed in the 

P
age 390



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? Describe the 

positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to mitigate any 

negative impacts or better contribute to positive 

impacts? 

Digital Cwtch and the Go To Team for staff and important 

messages about mental health going out on social media. 

short term through WG funding and for the longer term 

through our Active Travel programme. 

Making staff, residents and young people aware of the 

various mental health support that is available to them 

continues. 

A Wales of cohesive communities 
Communities are attractive, viable, safe and 
well connected 

There has been a huge response from residents to 

volunteer across Monmouthshire and these efforts have 

been integral in supporting those most in need in our 

communities during the pandemic. 

One positive to emerge from the pandemic has been the 

level of community involvement and volunteering. The 

Community and partnerships team have had a key role to 

play in supporting this community activity. 

Our Monmouthshire digital platform has been 

relaunched and will provide a sustainable way of linking 

communities and building on our social capital. 

We are about to launch, with our public sector partners, 

place based community support networks to work with 

community volunteers to identify local needs and issues 

and develop collaborative solutions. 

A globally responsible Wales 
Taking account of impact on global well-being 
when considering local social, economic and 
environmental wellbeing 

Fewer people have been travelling by road or by air, 

which has had huge air quality benefits globally.   

Data shows that compared with the same period last 

year, recycling rates are up and waste collected is down.  

A number of changes to service provision have been 

agreed which will help to ensure that these trends 

continue.   

 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh 
language 
Culture, heritage and Welsh language are 
promoted and protected.  People are 
encouraged to do sport, art and recreation 

Many of our heritage and cultural assets such as libraries, 

leisure centres and visitor attractions have been re-

opened in line with legislation in a Covid secure way, and 

services have been adjusted to find different ways of 

The learning of languages online has been reported as 

being popular during lockdown, with learning Welsh 

online seeing an increase in demand.  The Council is 

considering how it can adjust the Welsh language 

learning provision it provides.  

P
age 391



Well Being Goal  

Does the proposal contribute to this goal? Describe the 

positive and negative impacts. 

What actions have been/will be taken to mitigate any 

negative impacts or better contribute to positive 

impacts? 

delivering the service, such as the Request and Collect 

service for the library. 

MonLife have continued to use digital channels to 

continue to promote participation in physical activity. 

Following the closure during the firebreak lockdown, 

some of these services are now operating again in line 

with the latest legislation and guidance. 

A more equal Wales 
People can fulfil their potential no matter 
what their background or circumstances 

Much work has gone on to support more vulnerable 

people in our communities.  This has included the Hub 

provision for vulnerable children, calls to shielded 

groups, provision of emergency food parcels and free 

school meal payments.  

Evidence has shown age, underlying health conditions 

and ethnicity, along with other factors, is associated with 

greater risk and impact of COVID-19. 

Our continuing response and recovery will need to focus 

on these risks, utilise the evidence and help those most 

vulnerable. 

Vital social care services, including child protection, care 
at home and residential care will continue. 

We will undertake data modelling to identify 
communities at greatest risk and use this to target pro-

active responses. 

Public Services in Monmouthshire are agreeing a 

partnership approach to Tackling Poverty and Inequality. 

 

 

  

P
age 392



3. How has your proposal embedded and prioritised the sustainable governance principles in its development? 

Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met this principle?  

If yes, describe how.  If not explain why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to mitigate any 
negative impacts or better contribute to positive impacts? 

Balancing short 

term need with 

long term and 

planning for the 

future 

Whilst rapid, short term decisions have had to be made over 

recent months, consideration of the longer term has continued, 

for example through the prioritisation of maintaining our 

financial sustainability. 

There is also a recognition that dealing with how to manage the 

virus itself is not just a short term issue and is likely to impact on 

the way we deliver services for many months or even years. 

There is a recognition that COVID-19 will have a long term 
impact on our communities, and an understanding that our 
actions will need to think and plan for the things we will be 
doing to mitigate the impact of the virus in the short term 
while continuing to focus on the things we need to have in 
place for long-term well-being and prosperity. 
 
Our Corporate Plan Annual Report and PSB Annual Report 
have both incorporated the impact of Covid 19 and next year’s 
annual reports and further development of the Wellbeing 
Assessment will focus on what the longer term impacts of the 
pandemic have been in order to inform the next Wellbeing 
Plan. 
 
Despite many challenges, efforts have resulted in new ways of 
doing things, some of which can form part of a lasting legacy 
of transformation with needs being met in new ways. 

Working together 

with other 

partners to 

deliver objectives  

We set a strategic aim to keep our communities, our people and 

our partners safe and healthy. Rapid working with multiple 

partners has been key to our COVID-19 response.   

We have continued to work with our public sector partners via 

the Gwent Strategic Co-ordinating Group (SCG) to provide a 

joined up response across our area. 

This collaboration will continue to be key in mitigating the 
impact of the virus in the short term and focusing on the 
things we need to have in place for long-term well-being and 
prosperity. 
 
The development of the new Community Support Networks 
will formalise a place based approach to partnership working. 

Involving those 

with an interest 

and seeking their 

views 

As demonstrated through the huge amount of volunteer effort, 

involvement of the wider community has been key to our 

response.  The development of Community Support Networks 

aims to build on that social capital. 

Our Monmouthshire will be a key tool to continuing to engage 
and involve our communities and volunteers.   
 
The development of the new Community Support Networks 
will be key to building on community involvement in our 
communities. 
 

P
age 393



Sustainable Development 

Principle  

Does your proposal demonstrate you have met this principle?  

If yes, describe how.  If not explain why. 

Are there any additional actions to be taken to mitigate any 
negative impacts or better contribute to positive impacts? 

Members have had a number of member seminars and the 

restarting of democratic meetings has ensured that elected 

members have continued to be involved. 

Involvement remains important to our initiatives for example 
engagement with residents and business on Town centers re-
opening and as new initiatives are taken e.g. active travel 
submissions to WG, involvement and engagement of the 
community has been and will continue to be a central part of 
the way we work as an organisation. 

Putting resources 

into preventing 

problems 

occurring or 

getting worse 

Reducing the spread of COVID-19 has been and continues to be 

the key driver of all that we do at this time.   

Our purpose is to protect your health, your employment, your 

community and your public services. 

The delivery of the aims is not without challenges and risks, 
they will continue to be monitored and will be flexible and 
adapt as evidence, circumstances and guidance changes. 

Considering 

impact on all 

wellbeing goals 

together and on 

other bodies 

We are working closely with partners, businesses and 

communities to ensure that our actions protect people’s health, 

whilst at the same time making sure that we think about impacts 

on our communities, environment, culture and economy. 

The delivery of the aims is not without challenges and risks, 
they will continue to be monitored and will be flexible and 
adapt as evidence, circumstances and guidance changes. 

 
4. Council has agreed the need to consider the impact its decisions has on the following important responsibilities: Social Justice, Corporate Parenting and 

Safeguarding.  Are your proposals going to affect any of these responsibilities?   
 

 Describe any positive impacts your proposal 
has  

Describe any negative impacts your 
proposal has  

What will you do/ have you done to 
mitigate any negative impacts or better 
contribute to positive impacts? 

Social Justice Our purpose is to protect your health, your 
employment, your community and your public 
services. 
  
Many of our aims are focused on  supporting 
those who need help. 
 

The Coronavirus pandemic will have an 
impact on economic, social, environmental 
and cultural well-being of the County.  
 
There will be impact on those experiencing 
the impact of the pandemic where there will 
be additional issues around finances, the 
loss of employment and economic 

As part of our continued commitment to 
Social Justice, there is a further focus on 
reviewing the evidence of the impact and 
learning of the coronavirus pandemic on 
the Council and county and plan activity 
accordingly related to greatest areas of 
need related to social justice in 
Monmouthshire.  

P
age 394



We are committed to ensuring that every 
person or family in crisis that we are aware of 
receives support and have continued to deliver 
vital services to achieve this. 
 
Schools have been assessing pupils on return in 
September to identify the support and 
intervention needed for pupils to continue to 
make accelerated progress and close gaps in 
learning. 
 
We helped to coordinate community 
volunteering and support local food banks. 
There has been a huge response from residents 
to volunteer across Monmouthshire and these 
efforts have been integral in supporting those 
most in need in our communities during the 
pandemic. 
 
As many residents saw their employment and 
financial situations change, services have 
provided a range of support, for example 
promoting access to benefits, spreading council 
tax payments over longer periods, and providing 
employment and skills support. 

uncertainty, poor housing or over-crowding, 
not having access to support and basic 
amenities alongside the risks and concerns 
around the virus itself.   
 
There is a need to continue to understand 
the impact and adapt/develop plans 
accordingly. 

 
We established the Community Action 
Volunteer Team (CAVT) to assist offers of 
help being coordinated with the offers of 
support. We are developing, with our 
public sector partners, a model of 
neighbourhood networks that work with 
community volunteers to support long-
term benefit. 
 
Specific programmes of work aimed at 
achieving the aims will have associated 
Future Generations evaluations where they 
are brought to Cabinet or council for a 
decision. 
 
 

Safeguarding  Our purpose is to protect your health, your 

employment, your community and your public 

services.  

Safeguarding has remained an essential part of 
our delivery supporting adults and children in 
Monmouthshire . 
 
Many of our aims are focused on the supporting 
those who need help and safeguarding remains 
central to the authority’s work, which is 
reflected in our strategic aims, in particular 

The pandemic has put families under 
increased strain and increased risks to 
vulnerable individuals at the same time as 
decreasing the visibility of children and 
adults at risk.  
 
The impact of the lock-down has meant that 
harmful behaviours, abuse and neglect 
including domestic abuse can remain hidden 
and there is a risk child welfare concerns / 
adult at risk safeguarding concerns are not 
recognised or referred. 
 

Through the Coronavirus pandemic 
Safeguarding remains an essential part of 
our delivery supporting adults and children 
in Monmouthshire. Arrangements have 
been adjusted, where required, different 
solutions have been needed to deal with 
situations during the pandemic. 
 
Continuing to extend safeguarding 
awareness and access to online /virtual 
training through these networks will 
provide some extra support in these times 
and potentially into the future.  

P
age 395



‘Ensure all vulnerable young people and adults 
are safeguarded’ 
 
 
 

There will be pressure on families 
experiencing the impact of ‘lock down’ 
where there will be additional worries 
around finances, the loss of employment 
and economic uncertainty, poor housing or 
over-crowding, not having access to support 
and basic amenities, access to education 
alongside the risks and concerns around the 
virus itself.   
 
There is a need to continue to understand 
the impact and adapt/develop plans 
accordingly.  

 
In order to provide vital safeguarding  
services for all those who need them we 
are regularly assessing the impacts of the 
pandemic as restrictions change and social 
distancing continues and 
adapting/developing arrangements 
accordingly. 
 
There has been a significant volunteer 
response to Covid-19 pandemic, work will 
be required to continue to support an 
increased volunteer network and ensure 
longer term arrangements are in place 
including support on their safeguarding 
responsibilities. 
 

Corporate Parenting  Our purpose is to protect your health, your 
employment, your community and your public 
services.  
  
Corporate Parenting has remained an essential 
part of our delivery. 
 
Many of our aims are focused on the supporting 
those who need help and corporate parenting 
remains essential. 

There will be pressure on families 
experiencing the impact of the pandemic 
where there will be additional worries 
around finances, the loss of employment 
and economic uncertainty, poor housing or 
over-crowding, not having access to support 
and basic amenities, access to education, 
alongside the risks and concerns around the 
virus itself.   

Families who are caring for individuals with 
heightened or additional needs such as 
mental health issues, additional learning 
needs or disabilities may experience these 
pressures even more intensely. 

There is a risk of possible disruption to 
Foster placements and/or carer recruitment 
and retention. 

Arrangements have been adjusted, where 
required, different solutions have been 
needed to deal with situations during the 
pandemic. 
 
Continuing to extend awareness and access 
to online /virtual training and support will 
provide some extra support in these times 
and potentially into the future.  
 
In order to fulfil vital corporate parenting 
responsibilities for all those who need them 
we are regularly assessing the impacts of 
the pandemic as restrictions change and 
social distancing continues and 
adapting/developing arrangements 
accordingly. 
 
 

P
age 396



There is a need to continue to understand 
the impact and adapt/develop plans 
accordingly. 

 
5. What evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
 

Evidence generated locally, regionally, nationally and globally continues to be used to inform the delivery of the strategic aims and is reflected in this assessment. 
 
Existing mechanisms such as the Public Service Board’s (PSB) Well-being Assessment remains an important lens for understanding well-being in Monmouthshire. 
Harnessing the latest views, evidence and thinking on issues of importance to and in our communities is important to make sure that the aims remain relevant to the 
significant issues for well-being in Monmouthshire. 
 
The data and evidence to better understand the Covid-19 virus is rapidly developing as is data, evidence and research on the well-being impact of the pandemic. There is 
still much to learn and understand, some of which will not become clearer until the longer term, although there is an ever expanding and continually developing 
evidence base that can be utilised. 
  

 
6. SUMMARY:  As a result of completing this form, what are the main positive and negative impacts of your proposal, how have they informed/changed the 

development of the proposal so far and what will you be doing in future? 
 

This is an evaluation of the process of producing the strategic aims, rather than the more specific action that support them. Specific programmes of work aimed at 

achieving the aims will have associated Future Generations evaluations where they are brought to Cabinet or council for a decision. 

The delivery of the aims is not without challenges and risks, they will continue to be monitored and will be flexible and adapt as evidence, circumstances and guidance 

changes. 

 
7. ACTIONS: As a result of completing this form are there any further actions you will be undertaking? Please detail them below, if applicable. 
 

What are you going to do  When are you going to do it?  Who is responsible  

To support this work we will ensure we have the supporting structures and 

mechanisms in place to track our progress, assess impact and ensure we remain 

focused on our purpose 

Ongoing Policy and Performance Team 

   

   

 

P
age 397



8. VERSION CONTROL: The Equality and Future Generations Evaluation should be used at the earliest stage, such as informally within your service, and then 

further developed throughout the decision making process.  It is important to keep a record of this process to demonstrate how you have considered and built 

in equality and future generations considerations  wherever possible. 

 

Version 

No. 

Decision making stage  Date considered Brief description of any amendments made following consideration 

1. Cabinet 16 December 2020  

    

    

 

 

 

P
age 398


	Agenda
	3a REVIEW OF SCHOOL PLACES IN CALDICOT TOWN
	Caldicot_ConsultationDocument_Draft
	Caldicot_ConsultationDocument_CabinetReport_EQIA

	3b LOCAL HOUSING MARKET ASSESSMENT
	3a. Final LHMA 2020-25
	3b. 201201 LHMA EQIA

	3c MONMOUTHSHIRE REPLACEMENT LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN GROWTH AND SPATIAL OPTIONS
	2a. Appendix 1 - RLDP Growth and Spatial Options Paper
	Draft Growth and Spatial Options Report Intro FINAL
	Working Draft Growth Options Report FINAL
	Final Spatial Options Report
	GLOSSARY
	Appendix 1- Edge Demographic Report
	Appendix 2- Edge AH Report
	APPENDIX 3 - RLDP Objectives
	APPENDIX 4 - ISA Objectives
	APPENDIX 5 - Long List of Growth Options
	APPENDIX 6 - Long list of Spatial Options
	APPENDIX 7 - Growth Options against RLDP objectives
	APPENDIX 8 - Growth Options against ISA objectives
	APPENDIX 9 - Summary Matrix of Spatial Options against RLDP Objectives
	APPENDIX 10 - Spatial Options against ISA objectives

	2b. Appendix 2 - RLDP Growth and Spatial Options Executive Summary
	Appendix 3 - RLDP Growth and Spatial Options Easy Read
	Appendix 4 - RLDP Growth and Spatial Options Future Generations Evaluation

	3d UPDATE ON PROPOSALS TO CREATE A DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
	4a. FGE - development company Dec 20

	3e WINTER STRATEGY
	Coronavirus Strategic Aims_Future Generations Evaluation_201202




